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The Statue of John Ballance stands at one end of the grounds
of New Zealand's Parliament Buildings. Around its base are
inscribed the words: HE LOVED THE PEOPLE. It is not a tall or
imposing statue; and in fact it has been increasingly hidden from
view by the growth of trees and shrubs near by. Nor is it a good
likeness.  Edward Tregear said on its unveiling that é; was 'hideous
beyond words; it is very good style for a cemetery buf\no more

like our dear dead chief than I am like the Apollo Belvedere- and

that's 'a far cry' '.1

Further down the hill, in the paved area leading to the steps
and the main doors of Parliament, stands Seddon: tall, defiant,

with a flag placed at his feet and pigeons on his head.2

When erected, the Ballance statue stood in the ceﬁtre of a
circular lawn, directly in front of what was then the Parliament
Building, but now houses the General Assembly Library. Ballance was
the first New Zealand Premier so honoured. He was the first Liberal
Premier, and also the first Premier to die whilst still in office.
The colony had never seen quite such a funeral. The procession began
in Tinakori Road, and then crept down to the railway station, to the
trains waiting to convey the mourners to Wanganui. The main train
carried two hundred persons. As it stopped for water on its way
north crowds greeted it in silence, whilst bands played slow marches.
On arrival in Wanganui the procession continued up Victoria Avenue,

and by way of Guyton Street to the cemetery. Meanwhile special boats

1. Quoted in A.H. McLintock (ed.), An Encyclopaedia of New Zealand
Volume 1, Wellington, 1966, p. 146.
23 See W.H. 011ver s delightful poem, Poor R1chard, Wellington, 1982.
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and trains had brought another two thousand mourners to the town.

Since his death Ballance has been overshadowed by subsequent
Premiers, and by Seddon in particular. The predominance of Seddon's
statue over that of Ballance is symbolic of the preference historians
have shown for, and the much greater attention they have paid to,

Seddon.

Very little has been written about Ballance. There are two
short theses over fifty years old: J.L. Dighton, 'The Life and Work
of John Ballance', and G.S. Maloney, 'A History of the Ballance
Ministry'. The latter is the more interesting, because its author
interviewed Ballance's wife, Ellen, during the course of his research.
A mucﬁ more recent M,A. thesis, f.J. Young, 'The Political Career of
John Ballance', has:beeﬁ of considerable help to the present writer,
but it concentrates on the electoral contests in Wanganui and stops
at 1890, before the climax of Ballance's career. Ballance's entries

in the Dictionary of New Zealand Biography, Scholefield's Notable New

Zealand Statesmen, the Encyclopedia of New Zealand and New Zealand's

Heritage, contain little that cannot be gleaned from his obituaries.

There are, of course, a number of reasons for the neglect of
Ballance. He was only two years in office, compared to Seddon's
thirteen. He is not, some would argue, a particularly attractive
subject for a biography: he was neither a great orator and
'crowd-puller' like Grey, nor of the intellectual force of Stout and
Reeves. Modest, retiring, uninspiring, at times lacking in

"self-confidence, Ballance seems an unlikely candidate for Premier,

3. NZT, 1 May 1893.



never mind for an historian's pen and energies.

Finally, and perhaps most telling, is the lack of source

material relating to Ballance.

Thus Ballance has remained somewhat of a 'shadowy' figure,
appearing from nowhere in 1890, to dart only fleetingly across the

stage of New Zealand history.

This thesis was undertaken after consideration of these and
other problems, the writer having concluded that, in fact, a
biography of Ballance was not only viable but well overdue.
Ballance is a key figure in New Zealand's political history and in
the development of liberalism in particular. His importance was
-acknowledged by contemporaries at the time of his death. Later,
both Liberal and Labour politicians actively sought to lay claim to

be carrying on where he had left off.

As this thesis hopes to show, Ballance was much more 'typical’
of the liberals who won the 1890 election than Reeves. At the same
time he was distinctly more radical in his liberalism than Seddon.
Ballance represented Wanganui, a town that looked to the surrounding
countryside for its prosperity, and the solution to its problems.
Land, not labour, was central both to his own philosophy and to
that of the Liberal party in 1890. Closer settlement was the key,
and land nationalisation the best means, to progress and the
resolution of the country's ills. Ballance's position on many issues
coincided with that of Sir Robert Stout, although there were (for

example on the question of prohibition) some differences. The two



men were close personal friends. Yet it was Ballance who held
office in those crucial early years of the Liberal regime, and this

fact alone demands his detailed study.

Unquestionably the lack of personal material relating to
Ballance is the biggest problem faced by a prospective biographer.
The Ballance Papers and the three Letter Books in the Alexander
. Turnbull Library, contain correspondence from his years as Premier
and his term as Colonial Treasurer in the Grey Government. It is
the dearth of private matter outside these periods that is the
greatest difficulty. There is, however, considerable 'public'

material, in the form of editorials of the Evening Herald (later the

Wanganui Herald), the newspaper Ballance founded in 1867. Ballance

edited the paper himself until he first entered Parliament in 1875.
Thereafter, he returned to the editorial chair during each recess
(and when he was out of Parliament between 1881 and 1884), right up
until the appointment of James Duigan as full-time editor in January
1891.4 There is a wealth of useful material in the Herald, and
through it the early development of Ballance's views, as well as the

progress of the town itself, can be traced.

The Ballance Papers and the Herald form the two major sources
for this thesis. Ballance put out a weekly version of the Herald
from 1869 onwards, which was aimed at country readers and contained
all the news and other content of the daily paper, plus some
additional items. This paper, which later underwent a change in

name from the Weekly Herald to the Yeoman, is available on microfilm

4. Y, 21 Mar. 1891,




at the Turnbull Library. The Evening Herald, later called the

Wanganui Herald, is much less accessible. For much of the 1880s,

for example, the only extant copies seem to be in the basement of
Wanganui Museum. For this reason it is the Yeoman that is
generally referred to throughout this thesis. The writer has read

all issues of the Weekly Herald/Yeoman up to the end of 1893. Much

of the Evening Herald/Wanganui Herald was also consulted, although a

close comparison of the daily and weekly issues soon made clear the

duplication of content.

The Wanganui Chronicle was the Herald's rival in the town and

Ballance's constant political opponent. Most issues for this period
can be found either in the Wanganui City Library, or the General

Assembly Library in Wellington. The Herald and Chronicle could

usually be counted upon to take up opposing positions on any given

political question.

The search for other material did not turn up a great deal.
The Ballance's had no childreﬁ of their own and their adopted
daughter, Kathleen, never married. However Ellen's father, David
Anderson, a prominent Wellington merchant, wrote diaries for many
years until his death in 1889. These are deposited with the Turnbull
Library. They provide an interesting insight into Ballance's
relationship with the Anderson 'clan', but there is practically no
'political’ content. Much the same can be said about the diaries
of Sarah Jane Spinks, a sister-in-law of Ellen Ballance. These are
in the possession of Mrs Carol Andersoﬁ of Wellington, who kindly

entrusted them to the writer for a period of time.



Tracking down members of the Anderson, Willis and Duigan
families, and descendants of Robert McKnight, John Ballance's nephew,
was an enjoyable, if not terribly fruitful, experience. A good
deal of 'oral' information was gathered, essentially family gossip.
How many times was it revealed that Ellen Ballance had a considerable
dislike (and she was, like her husband, a mild and kindly person)

for the Seddons.

More substantial was a letter in the possession of Mr John
Haterly of New Plymouth. Written by Ballance in 1888, it told,
amongst other things, of his intention of retiring from politics for

good. It has been reproduced in the appendix.

Secondary works that have been particularly helpful, aside
from the ones already mentioned, include D.A. Hamer's very thorough
biography of Sir Robert Stout and his article on the New Zealand
Agricultural Company. Hamer points to Ballance's 'almost chronic
lack of self-confidence' and stresses his dependency on Stout.
Both characteristics are bornme out by this thesis, although they can
be taken too far. Ballance's deference was to Stout alone. There
was a strong personal and intellectual relationship, and Ballance
undoubtedly believed Stout to have the greater claim to the leadership
of the liberals. However with Stout defeated in 1887, Ballance saw
himself as next in line. Ballance hesitated at this time, not so
much because of a lack of confidence in himself, but owing to his
personal financial difficulties, ill health and what appeared to be
a gloomy political outlook. Both Ballance and Stout failed to

predict the significance of the 1890 election.



Once in power Ballance offered on a number of occasions to
step down if Stout re-entered the House. This may well have been
purely for public consumption, a recognition of Stout's popularity
and high profile in the country. Only when he knew he was dying,
did Ballance himself press Stout to return to Parliament. Stout
was content to leave things to Ballance for as long as Ballance was

in control. It is hard to imagine that Ballance was unaware of this.

Two further points can be made. First, a certain amount of
deference was required from an aspiring party leader. It did not
look good to appear too eager. Commenting on his elevation to acting
Premier in September 1892 (when Ballance became ill) Seddon told the
House: 'I took the position with great hesitation, and, if there
have beén ény shértcomings on my part, I hope the same may be

overlooked..;'.s' Ballance had said much the same in 1889.

Secondly, Ballance's 'lack of confidence' was often in reality
a misinterpretation of a kind and conciliatory nature. '[0]f all
the successful and able men, I have known, he was absolutely the
most unassuming and unpretentious', Reeves said of Ballance two months

after the Premier's death. However he continued:

There used to be a notion spread about at

one time rather sedulously that Mr Ballance
was deficient in determination and even in
political courage. Those who formed this
strange idea had not, of course, served in a
Cabinet with him. If they had, they would
have known that as a Premier- and I say it
emphatically- he knew how to be master in his
own house. 6

5. PD, 1892, 78, p. 892,
6. Reeves speech in Dunedin, quoted by Y, 10 June 1893.



The 'standard' work on the rise of the Liberal party is the
thesis by T.G. Wilson. He argues that such a party did not coalesce
finally until 1890, and was only victorious after the discrediting
and bankruptcy of 'conservative' rule. He sees the Grey Government
as growing out of the struggle of Otago and Auckland against the
abolition of the provinces, and quite rightly points out that after

its fall the Liberal party 'virtually ceased to exist'.

This thesis qualifies, rather than contradicts, these

observations. First, Ballance was neither opposed to abolition

nor from Otago or Auckland. He therefore complicates Wilson's view
of the Grey Government; a government in which Ballance, as Colonial
Treasurer, played a major part. Secqndly, there was an element of
continuity between the Grey and Ballance ministries, but of ideas
rather than personnel. When Colonial Treasurer Ballance had a land
tax passed. It was abolished by the subsequent administration, and
its re-introduction became central to Ballance's philosophy thereafter.
Further, it was a consistent rallying point for liberals and was at

the core of the 1890 party platform.

Since Wilson's thesis historians have tended to concentrate on
biographies rather than broad studies of the period. Most important

is Keith Sinclair's William Pember Reeves, which emphasises the labour

element in the liberal 'coalition' of 1890. This writer suggests,
however, that land reform was by far the dominant concern both of

Ballance and of the Government and Party he led.

Other relevant literature will be referred to and commented upon

in the course of this biography. For example, M.R. Stenson's thesis
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on 'Advances to Settlers' is very persuasive, although it is argued
here that the question of borrowing was not as crucial to Ballance
as Stenson suggests. Judith Bassett's biography of Atkinson was
helpful. On the 1890 election, H. Crook, 'The Significance of the
1890 Election' and C. Campbell, 'Parties and Special Interests in
New Zealand, 1890-93', are the two most useful theses. Very little
of worth has been written specifically on land legislation. W.R.

Jourdain's Land Legislation and Settlement in New Zealand, published

by the Department of Lands and Survey in 1925, has yet to be made

redundant.

+ o+ 4+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+

Individuals, especially politicians, do not lead isolated lives.
Rather they are constantly interacting with events and other people,
and so, to a lesser or greater degree, can be considered characteristic
of their surroundings. This biography hopes not only to analyse
Ballance's political life, his philosophy and 'place' in New Zealand
history, but in doing so to also say something about that history

itself.

Very little is known of Ballance's early life in the north of
Ireland and Birmingham. Such research for this thesis as was
possible without actually travelling to Britain, has turned up some
new material. Members of the Ballance family, and their economic
circumstances, have been identified. Pieces of information have

been gleaned from the Ulster Historical Foundation's file relating to
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Ballance's birthplace, from contemporary tithe and valuation records

and from some later articles in the Belfast Telegraph, written in

celébration of Ballance's birth and death. Some research was

carried out in Birmingham, on behalf of the author, but in the

limited time available 1little was discovered. Ballance attended
classes at the Midland Institute; he did not, however, appear to have
sat and passed any exams. He was also known to have been secretary
of a literary society; yet his name does not appear on the list of
office bearers of the Central Literary Association in existance at

the time. He may well have belonged to a less prominent organisation.

The Aris Birmingham Gazette was scanned for the years 1858 to 1866,

for any mention of Ballance, but without success.

Further research may well prove more fruitful, and it is the
present writer's intention to pursue the matter on his return to the
United Kingdom. In the meantime the first chapter of this thesis,
on Ballance's early life, is unfortunately, but under the

circumstances necessarily, brief.

The second chapter discusses Ballance's arrival in Wanganui,
the establishment of the Herald, and his participation in the war
against Titékowaru. It shows the precarious state of his personal
finances and that of the town itself. Also, this period reinforced
Ballance's belief in self-reliance, in the desirability of not

relying upon any resources but one's own.

The war over, Wanganui's progress was tied directly to the
development of the hinterland it served. The dependency of the

town's (and the port's) growth upon the closer settlement of the
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surrounding countryside, examined in chapter three, was Ballance's
central experience of these years. He was intimately involved in

this relationship, for the Herald relied on advertising and circulation,
both of which fluctuated with the general level of prosperity of the
town. Ballance had no independent means, drawing his income entirely

from the paper's profits.

A second feature of this period (1869 to 1875), was Ballance's
opposition to the provincial system, which he saw as an unnecessary
obstacle to more rapid economic development. Wanganui was an
'outlying district' within Wellington Province and constantly felt
neglected by the provincial capital. Ballance was, perhaps, 'unusual'
in that he was (unlike Stout and Grey) both a liberal and a centralist.
In fact he supported abolition not only because of the 'raw deal’
Wanganui received from Wellington, but as a matter of political
principle. He consistently advocated a unitary democratic system,
based on a strong centralised Parliament with a sovereign Lower House.

The only upper chamber that he could tolerate was a weak one.

It was Ballance's opposition to the provincial system that
led him to side initially with Atkinson. Once abolition had been
achieved he quickly pursued a more fundamental and lasting alliance
with Stout and other liberals. As Colonial Treasurer in the Grey
Government (chapter four), Ballance gained invaluable political and
administrative experience at a relatively young age. More important,
his championing of a land tax;”indicates considerable continuity
between this early period and his later premiership. In 1878 he
was already arguing that a land tax was not only more equitable than

the property tax, but would also provide a more permanent and stable
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source of government revenue, as well as encouraging closer
settlement through penalising large unimproved holdings. Finally,
Ballance was deeply affected by the budget deficit at the end of
his term as Treasurer. He saw it (with much good reason), as
essentially the product of circumstances outside his control.

This experience brought home to him the need for prudent financing
and the desirability of insulating, as far as possible, the country

from 'harmful' external influences.

Chapter five covers the period 1879 to 1884. With the onset
of the depression, which affected the Herald and thus Ballance
personally, and his electoral defeat in 1881, these were years of
considerable turmoil. It was during this time, and in a sense out
of these uncertainties, that he wrote his pamphlet on land
.nationalisation. The chapter argues that all the key elements of
what was to be Ballance's programme in 1890, centring on land reform,

had coalesced by 1884.

The following chapter, six, then examines in detail the broad
base of his liberal philosophy. It shows how its different aspects
are inter-related, all pointing to a democratic, secular society,

with considerable emphasis on individual and national self-reliance.

Having looked briefly at Ballance's connection with the
New Zealand Agricultural Company, chapter seven then discusses his
term as Minister for Lands and Native Minister in the Stout-Vogel
Government. The special settlements he promoted can be seen as the
physical embodiment of his philosophy, and at the same time a reaction

to the depression. They aimed to provide land for the urban working
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classes; a means of self-improvement based substantially on
self-reliance. Land settlement was the key to prosperity, of
which the State would retain its share through a leasing system.
Equally, Ballance's 'native' policy strove to find an accommodation
between this goal of closer European settlement, and the interests

of Maoris themselves.

Chapters eight and nine lead up to the election of 1890. It
is argued that in regarding the land question as central to the
Liberal platform, Ballance was not only responding to the lessons
of his own experience (closer settlement as vital to Wanganui's
prosperity), but he also epitomised the reaction of many to the
depression and the labour unrest. Land was seen as the major
resource the country possessed. Further, the cry to 'open up the
land' attracted so much support because it did not involve conflict
between the urban classes. On the contrary, by pointing to the
large landowner as the common enemy, it enabled the formation of an

urban alliance.

Once in power (chapters ten to twelve), Ballance immediately
replaced the property tax with a general and graduated land tax,
and an income tax. His main concern in his years as Premier was
the establishment of greater political and economic independence, in
the face of opposition to the Government's policy from the Legislative
Council (backed up by the Governor), and from overseas financial
interests who, it was alleged, were rapidly withdrawing capital from
the colony. Ballance posed the 'crisis' in nationalistic terms: his
solution involved the securing of new appointments to the Council, as

the right of a politically independent nation; setting up the Liberal
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Federation, to voice 'grass-roots', 'popular', support for the
Government; and pursuing a financial self-reliant policy of

non-borrowing.

Chapter eleven argues that the record budget surplus of 1892,
along with the Government's victory over the Legislative Council
appointments, were seen as evidence that Ballance's policies had
paid off. Critics were silenced and the Government's position

greatly strengthened.

Yet this was despite the fact that in the meantime Ballance had
conceded any hope of pursuing land nationalisation. The passage of
the lease-in-perpetuity (affecting the disposition of remaining crown
lands), reflected the growing preference for the freehold rather than
the leasehold. Any land subsequently re-purchased by the State
(assuming the money could be found, with or without overseas borrowing,
or the scheme made self-financing), would undoubtedly come under the
same political pressure. It was a defeat, in the face of popular
opinion, both for Ballance and the left wing of the party he

represented.

Closer settlement remained a major objective of the Liberal
Government; only now there was no question that the leasehold and
nationalisation be considered essential to it. The land was being
subdivided without nationalisation, encouraged by, amongst other things,

the land tax.



CHAPTER ONE

From Belfast to Birmingham

While in religious devotion the people
of Glenavy will never be accused of
wasting their powers of soul in barren
ecstasies, they are most reverentiaz,
and the fear of GodAexercises over them
a healthy influence. There is almost
an entire absence of the superstitious;

fairies are never seen, the banshee never

cries, and not a house ig said to be S

haunted. 1

Charles Watson, The Story of the United Parishes of Glenavy,
Camlin, and Tullyrusk, Belfast, 1892, Ps 20.
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The parish of Glenavy lies on the eastern shore of Lough Neagh,
in the north of Ireland, and to the west of the Lagan Valley. The
gently undulating landscape on the edge of the Antrim plateau is
occasionally accentuated by a small hill or a mound, the result of
glacial activity or the creation of a Celtic past. Much evidence of
early settlement has now disappeared- including the ancient cemetery
at Pitmave called the Giant's Grave- though Crew Hill, upon which

the Kings of Ulidia were crowned, still stands.2

The Ballances came to Ireland in the wake of Cromwell's rule.3
They were of English puritan stock, rather than of the more populous
Scottiéh Presbyferians who dominated the counties of Down and Antrim.4
The Reverend Andrew Stewart, minister of the north Down coastal village
of Donaghadee from 1645 to 1671, described the new settlers, not

entirely unjustly, as follows:

And from Scotland came many, and from

England not a few, yet all of them generally

the scum of both nations, who, for debt, or

breaking and fleeing from justice, or seeking

shelter, came hither, hoping to be without

fear of man's justice in a land where there was
nothing, or but little, as yet, of the fear of God. 5

2. The parish takes its name from one Daniel, called Nanus Angelus
('Angelic Dwarf'), who was put in charge of the church by its
founder, St. Patrick. Thus 'Church of the Dwarf' becomes Llan
Abhaich in celtic (Llan meaning church and Abaich, pronounced avay,
for dwarf); hence Glenavy. See Watson, p. 9.

3. Sir Robert Stout, 'Character Sketch: The Hon. John Ballance',
Review of Reviews for Australasia, May 1893, p. 107.

4, See J.C. Beckett, The Making of Modern Ireland, 1603-1923, London,
1981 (2nd edn.), ch. 5, and T.C. Barnard, Cromwellian Ireland:
English Government and Reform in Ireland, 1649-1660, London, 1975,
ch. V.

5. Quoted by A.T.Q. Stewart, The Narrow Ground. Aspects of Ulster,
1609-1969, London, 1977, p. 81.
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Settling initially in Lurgan, at the south-east corner of
Lough Neagh, the Ballances later moved to Ballypitmave, less than
two miles from the village of Glenavy.6 This corner of County
Antrim was one of only two regions in east Ulster where Anglicans
remained dominant and English settlement survived the Presbyterian
influx. 'Its village structure dating back to the early seventeenth
century, a testimony to landlord sponsorship, was unparalleled in the
rest of Ulster'.7 The land about Glenavy, originally part of the
considerable possessions of the O'Neils, was taken by the English in
the early seventeenth century, passing to Sir Fulke Conway (who
introduced English and Welsh settlers) and in 1683 to the Hertford
family, being handed down until the death of the fourth Marquis of

Hertford in 1870.8

Originally covered with forest, the land was gradually cleared,
the slowly expanding population dependent entirely upon farming for
its livelihood. John Ballance, the future Premier's grandfather, was
a tenant on the Hertford estate at Ballypitmave, a townland to the east
of Glenavy village. Sandwiched between the United Armies of Antrim
and Down in the Rebellion of 1798, hé had been wounded in the village,
almost certainly as an Orangeman recruited to the Yeomanry by the
English authorities.9 The area suffered considerably from the

Rebellion, and declined for a time thereafter, reviving only with the

6. Correspondence of 26 May 1976, in the Ulster Historical Foundation's

'Ballance' file, relating to the birthplace of John Ballance.

i L.M. Cullen, The Emergence of Modern Ireland, 1600-1900, London,
1981, p. 56.

8. Watson, pp. 11-14.

9. Stout, p. 107; Thomas Pakenham, The Year of Liberty, London, 1969,
Pp. 215-31; H. Senior, Orangeism in Ireland and Britain, 1795-1836,

London, 1966, ch. IV.
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erection of a cotton mill, a flour mill and a 'bleach green'.lo
Along with weaving and agriculture, these were the sole industries
upon which the area's prosperity rested.11 John Ballance's son,
Samuel, took to tenant farming like his father. He remained at
Ballypitmave, where by 1835 the Ballances lived in fairly cramped
conditions and farmed generally poor soil. John had recently died,
and the valuer at the time noted that with two dwelling houses the
family now had more accommodation than was necessary, recommending
that a quarter of it be taken away from them.12 The Ballance's

holding consisted of around twenty-seven acres of third class, and

an acre of fourth class, land, held in three separate lots.13

' Tenants were more secure in the north-east of Ireland than

" elsewhere. The eighteenth centﬁry 'Ulster Custom', whereby a tenant
had a right of occupancy subject to an agreed rent (though leases
themselves explicitly limited the length of tenure) had become by the
first half of the nineteenth century a more secure 'tenant right':

a right of occupancy with leasing largely abandoned, compensation for
improvements and, subject to the landlord's approval, the right to

sell a holding to the highest bidder.14 Thus though the land was

not of high quality, it offered some security. Further, the farmers
of Antrim and Down were, generally speaking, more prosperous than their

counterparts in the rest of Ireland (though still poor by contemporary

10. Bleach greens, required for part of the process of producing linen,
were frequently leased by landlords on favourable terms in order to
encourage the growing 'cottage' industry.

11. Watson, pp. 11-14,

12. Glenavy Townland Valuation, 4 Feb. 1835, 1B/171 in Public Records
Office, Belfast.

13. Tithe Applotment Book, Glenavy, 1834, 5A/147 in Public Records Office,
Belfast.

14. Beckett, pp. 179-82.
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English standards).l”

Samuel Ballance was a well-known local figure. An Orangeman,16 ’

a conservative in politics and with 'strict evangelical tendencies',

he followed his family tradition of adherence to the Anglican Church.l7

He married Mary McNiece, who came from a family once prosperous enough .
to purchase the twenty-three acre Ram's Island, off the Glenavy shore
‘in Lough Neagh, for one hundred guineas.18 She was a Quaker, in
practice associating with the Methodists and Moravians in Glenavy.19
Her religion was more liberal, and less 'outwardly enthusiastic’',

than that of her husband, though as was commonly the case, compromise

was easily reached by attending the Parish Service in the morning and

Chapel at 5.00 p.m. in the afternoon.20

Samuel and Mary's first child, a boy named John after his
grandfather, was born at Ballypitmave on 27 March 1839,
The house he grew up in still stands, within sight of the lough; a
two-storey building with a slate roof, though now in a state of

considerable disrepair. When John lived there it had a thatched

roof, white mortar walls, tiny windows, and a huge open hearth.21

15. Useful background information on landlords and villages in this
period can be found in Cullen, chs. 3 § 4.

16. A protestant political organisation established in 1795 amongst the
peasantry, whose tradition came to give 'a kind of moral sanction
to the subjugation of catholics', and which was utilised at various
times by the English authorities for this purpose. See Senior, ch. 1.

17. Stout, p. 114.

18. Her uncle, Conway McNiece, bought it from an old fisherman in 1804.
Watson, p. 57.

19. At this time there was no Quaker community itself in Glenavy. The
Primitive Methodists were a significant minority, their preaching-
house dating from 1826. The Moravian conversions of John Cennick
(he was initially a Methodist) from 1750 onwards, had established a
following that, however, collapsed quite suddenly after a period of
early rapid growth. Watson, pp. 38 & 44.

20. E.P. Thompson, The Making of the English Working Class, London, 1980,
ch. 2, gives a useful account of the English dissenting tradition.

21. Belfast Telegraph, 5 Aug. 1947.
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He was the eldest of a family of at least five. Both of his
brothers became tenant farmers like their father. Henry succeeded
to the property of his grand-uncle, Conway McNiece, at Crew Mount,
which, along with a marriage to the daughter of James Smith, agent
for the Hertford Estate, and undoubted ability, enabled him to rise
to the position of Magistrate and Chairman of the Lisburn Rural
District Council.22 He was, again like his father before him, an
Orangeman, and was to take a leading role in the building of a new
hall and lecture-room at the Crew.23 Samuel, the other brother,
remained at Ballypitmave, in the house that became known as 'Lakeview'.
Jane, his sister, was born in February 1841, and married a John McKnight
at Magheragall Presbyterian Church in September 1862. Their son
Robert, was to follow John out to New Zealand, largely‘in.consequence
of unhappy relations with his step;mother, his father re-marrying
shortly after the death of Jane in 1880.24 There was also a

second sister, named Anna.

John grew up in a family and culture of tenant farmers whose
greater security and relative prosperity placed them at a distance
from the majority of Irish peasantry, though still a considerable way
from yeoman status. Before he was ten years old, however, the famine
struck. Though the diet of Ulster farming families was more varied

than is commonly believed,25 and despite the fact that the famine was

22. Details of the family given here are from the 'Ballance' file,
Ulster Historical Foundation. Henry had two sons, 'one died a
Capt in the army, and the other was mentally weak, as would also
the past and present generation appear to be'.

23. Watson, pp. 18-19.

24. Details of the McKnight side of the Ballance are taken from a
family bible in the possession of Ms Shirley McKnight of Ohingaiti.

25. See Cullen, ch. 7.



224

most severe in the south-west of Ireland, with Antrim and Down
amongst the least affected counties, nevertheless the impact of
repeated failures of the potato crop between 1845 and 1848 on the
population of the two eastern counties was of major significance.26
The young Ballance would have known of the starvation and evictions,
even if he did not witness them for himself. And though the
political repercussions of the famine, in terms of rising Irish
nationalism focusing on land tenure, were felt only with time, the
'Hungry Forties' undoubtedly formed an important background to the
development of Ballance's political beliefs. The evils of
landlordism, with its ally the established church, were to be at the

core of his political ‘crusade' in his adopted country, New Zealand.27

John attended the local National School, from which, despite
|

being required to contribute to the work of the farm, he was rarely.
absent. His reputation for laziness arose from a dislike of farm
work and a remarkable propensity, from an early age, to do nothing
all day but read.28 Leaving home in 1853, at the age of fourteen,
he continued his education for a while at Belfast Model School, a \

move facilitated by the assistance of his uncle, Robert McNiece, who

29

lived in Belfast at that time. Shortly afterwards he was

apprenticed to an ironmonger (that is, a seller of 'hardware'), and

remained in that position until he left Ireland in 1857.

26. On the famine see the classic work by Cecil Woodham-Smith, The
Great Hunger, London, 1962. The province of Ulster lost 16% of
its population. This includes Donegal, which was particularly
badly hit, and the loss for Antrim and Down would be considerably
less.

27. Much the same could be said of another future New Zealand Premier,
Sir George Grey.

28. See G.S. Maloney, 'A History of the Ballance Ministry', M.A. thesis,

Canterbury, 1931. Maloney says that this was confirmed by Ellen
Ballance and Robert McKnight (Ballance's second wife and nephew
respectively). ’

29. J.L. Dighton, 'The Life and Work of John Ballance', M.A. thesis,
Victoria University of Wellington, 1929, p. 2; Watson, p. 20.
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Belfast was within easy reach of home, and Ballance's parents
continued to influence his development. From an early age he
showed an interest in, and knowledge of, political affairs. His
father was directly involved in local politics, and often proposed
the nomination of Conservative candidates for Belfast. By the age
of sixteen John was helping him write his speeches.30 Yet if it
was his father who brought John, at an early age, into contact with
political life, it was his mother's influence which helped shape the
direction of his own political.career. Considerably more liberal
than her husband, she took, in Ballance's own words, 'an all-absorbing
interest' in political affairs,31 and it was from her (she was

practically a unitarian) that he took a dissenting belief that was

to culminate in agnosticism and freethought.

He was to reject the Orangeism of his father and brother, and
indeed all forms of political, religious and cultural sectarianism. /
Orangeism was for him an anachronism, engendering a bitterness and
violence that could only alienate the catholic minority and be
inherently damaging to the protestant faith.32 His acknowledgement

of the diversity of the Ulster 'race' was a part of this, as well as

being, even in the north-eastern counties, historically accurate.33

'The men of Ulster, to their glory be it said', he wrote later,

. are hybrids, and they possess the
characteristics of the nations with whom
they ciaim kindred. The industry and
perserverance of the Saxon, the proud spirit
of the Norman, the fervency and enthusiasm of
the Irish, and the endurance and purpose of the
Scotch, have been beautifully mixed up by nature
in this race of hybrids. 34

30. Stout, p. 114; Y, 6 May 1893; Wanganui Herald, 3 June 1967.
31. Ballance to Johnston, 19 Oct. 1892, LB I1T; p« 355,

32. EH, 4 Apr. 1873; Y, 14 July 1877.

33. TSee Stewart, p. 41

34. EH, 21 Oct. 1869.
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The journey to Belfast was common to many sons of tenant
farmers throughout the region. The population of Glenavy gradually
declined throughout the century, being drained by job opportunities
in Belfast and the lure of emigration overseas. The province had
a tradition of emigration, 12,000 a year going to North America by
the early 1770s, for example. Higher rents and a declining cotton
and linen industry contributed to the exodus, which had at least one
beneficial effect in reducing the pressure on 1and.35 It was,
perhaps, because the more prosperous Ulster tenants could finance
the tfiﬁj_zﬂézniﬁey departed in such large numbers. When John
arrived in Belfast it was booming, its population increasing by

36

nearly 40 per cent between 1851 and 1861. A local newspaper, in the

year of his arrival, was jubilantly immodest:

... this great emporium of trade, manufacturing
and commerce now exciting the attention and
claiming the admiration of every community
whose good example we have been following, and
of every community to which, in our turn, we
present a model of imitation. 37

Increasing prosperity was based on a rapid expansion of the linen
industry, made possible by the new technology of power looms, and

shipbuilding, now on the eve of a great expansion.

It was also an 'Age of Riots', though the town had already shown

a propensity in this direction as early as 1813.38 John witnessed

a succession of sectarian riots that culminated in 1857, when

35. Beckett, pp. 181, 206 § 207.

36. I. Budge & C. O'Leary, Belfast: Approach to Crisis. A Study of
Belfast Politics, 1613-1970, London, 1973, p. 28.

37. 1bid., P. 73:

38. 1Ibid., ch. 3.
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inflamatory anti-catholic preaching of the Reverend Thomas Drew
invited a particularly serious series of clashes lasting between

12 July and 6 September. The protagonists were 'ably' fuelled by
the Orange Order, and another anti-catholic preacher, the Reverend
Hugh Hanna. 'Three hundred ship's carpenters, protestant to a man'

joined in the fight.39 Looking back, Ballance wrote later:

Much bloodshed was caused by street
preaching, and though the offensive
practice of shouting on a highway that

all papists were on the broad road to
destruction was naturally objected to by
those who were said to be doomed, the
practice was persisted in even after it
was found that riot had ensued. One
character, 'Roaring Hanna', the pastor of
a Presbyterian Church, obtained much
notoriety by his open air effusions in
critical times, and found immortality in
Punch. "Allow", said this divine on one
occasion vividly [remembered] ... "a small
passage for the papists to pass along, and
it shall be known hereafter as the

Pope's Pad!".

Contrasting the rising prosperity of Belfast at that time with

continued rioting, he concluded:

The truth is that the Protestants of the

North have long considered themselves the
dominant class and cannot to this day

tolerate the religious or political equality

of the Catholics. The remembrance of the

days of the yeoman and the rebellion of 1798

are still faithfully preserved, and Protestant
ascendancy is still a principle and a sentiment
in the breasts of the descendants of those who
put it in practice in many questionable ways. 40

Soon after this rioting, in the autumn of 1857, Ballance left for

Birmingham. On leaving Belfast, his attitude to the 'Irish question'

39. Ibid., pp. 78-79.
40. EH, 30 Oct. 1872.
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would have already been at some variance with the majority of
protestant opinion. The influence of his mother, and a sensitive
nature, account at least in part for this. With absence, and over
time, his position 'hardened'. Initially he saw agrarian discontent,
in the form of poverty and misery, as the basis of dissatisfaction,
and its removal the only means of restoring loyalty to the English
Crown.41 Later he would advocate Home Rule, arguing that Ulster
protestants were by no means solidly against the idea and pointing to
their leadership of the rebellions against the English in 1782 and
1798. In 1881 he moved a resolution, at a 'monster' meeting in
Wellington, in support of the Irish National Land League, and in
sympathy with evicted tenants, the victims of 'misgovernment,

42

persecution, and tyranny'. The Irish Church and the land laws,

he wrote in the Herald, were 'the foremost evils to be grappled with'

43 And Ulstef had 'suffered just as much from landlord

44

in Ireland.

tyranny and from castle government as any part of Ireland’'.

These views were also to differ from another Ulsterman with a
political future in New Zealand. William Massey, from County
Londonderry in the north-west of the province, was to arrive in
New Zealand with his father only five years after Ballance. His
background was, significantly, Scottish Presbyterian rather than

English dissenting. Massey

41. See EH, 6 Sept. 1867, 6 Jan. 1868,

42. EP, 2 Aug. 1881. See also Ballance's speech at The Home Rule
meeting held during Dillon's visit to New Zealand in 1889, New
Zealand Tablet, 29 Nov. 1889, : -

43. EH, 30 Jan. 1868.

44. Y, 30 Mar. 1889. See also, e.g., Y, 16 Feb. 1889, 16 Nov. 1889;
Ballance to J.A. Tole, 29 Aug. 1892, LB III, p. 306.
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... judged moral issues in public life in

the light of a simple but sometimes narrow
faith, and his instinct was to see political
opinions and the men who held them in an

Irish manner, if not through Irish spectacles.
Either they were 'sound', or they were not. 45

Though this would be characteristic of many Ulstermen (rather than
Irishmen), it was certainly not so of the young John Ballance.

He left Ireland with a, perhaps remarkable, lack of sectarian feeling.
His experiences of sectarian warfare fuelled an increasing religious
scepticism, which in turn placed his view of the Irish situation well

outside that of the majority of Ulster protestants.

ok o+ 4+ o+ + 4

By the end of 1857 John had migrated to Birmingham, where he
got a job, most likely through connections of his Belfast employers,
with a large hardware firm. This involved a considerable amount of
travelling throughout the region.46 As a commercial traveller, the
pressure for sales was always present. His employers, McLennan
Brothers, were a firm who, Ballance later wrote, 'thought of nothing

but making money'.47

45. W.J. Gardner, 'The Rise of W.F. Massey, 1891-1912', Political
Science, 13, 1 (1961), p. 6. Gardner's argument that the
differences between tenant-farming in Londonderry and in Mayo
account for Massey's slogan reading 'every man his own landlord'
rather than 'burst up the big estates', is difficult to sustain
when Ballance's similar background is considered. As an Ulster
protestant Ballance's position was certainly the exception rather
than the rule, but the relationship between the type of farming
background and attitudes to land-holding in New Zealand is clearly
much more complex.

46. Y, 6 May 1893.

47. Ballance to Mason, 8 June 1892, LB III, p. 75.
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Birmingham in 1857 was quite different to his native Belfast.
It had a history of popular radicalism based on middle-class
leadership; the Birmingham Political Union, formed by Thomas Attwood,
figured largely in the agitation for reform in 1832, and soon.
afterwards promoted a national petition which marked the begiﬁnings
of the Chartist Movement.48 In the year of Ballance's arrival,
John Bright switched his parliamentary constituency from Manchester
to Birmingham, opening his election address with a recognition that he

had come to a city with an already established radical tradition.49

Whereas Belfast was expanding on the basis of heavy industry and
large scale enterprise, Birmingham's growth depended upon finished
metal goods produced in small workshops. Originally a small market
town, Birmingham by the 1850s was servicing the whole Midlands area

and beyond:

'Made in Birmingham' was the characteristic
mark on irommongery, household goods,
ornaments, jewellery, buttons, trinkets and
general bric-a-brac which littered Victorian
homes... . It also contributed materials
more basic to Britain's industrial pre-eminence-
nails, screws, staple items in railway
construction, and a small-arms trade which
flourished in an era of colonial expansion and
European insecurity. More civilised needs
were catered for by the Cadbury family's
flourishing chocolate business. 50

The smaller scale of enterprise engendered close contact between

employer and employed. Trade unionism was weak. Expansion took the

48. G. Kitson Clark, The Making of Victorian England, London, 1962, p. 125.
49. See Asa Byiggs, Victorian Cities, London, 1963, ch. V.
50. Richard Jay, Joseph Chamberlain. A Political Study, Oxford, 1981, p.5.
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form of increased numbers and diversity of small units, where
relatively well-off skilled artisans worked alongside 'masters!
and interdependence was emphasised by both. Thus in Birmingham,

comments Cobden, industry

... is carried on by small manufacturers
employing a few men and boys each, sometimes
only an apprentice or two; whilst the great
capitalists in Manchester form an aristocracy,
individual members of which wield an influence
over sometimes two thousand persons. The
former state of society is more natural and
healthy in a moral and political sense. There
is freer intercourse between all classes than
in the Lancashire town, where a great and
impassible gulf separates the workman from his
employer. The great capitalist class formed
an excellent basis for the Anti-Corn-Law
movement, for they had inexhaustible purses,
which they opened freely in a contest where

not only their pecuniary interests but their
pride as 'an order' was at stake. But I very
much doubt whether such a state of society is
favourable to a democratic political movement. 51

Part of Birmingham's 'greater democracy' was the considerable social
mobility and opportunity for self-improvement that arose primarily
from the presence of small-scale enterprise. As a London journalist
found in the early 1850s, 'household' trades existed that 'gave the
inmates independence, and often led- if the trade continued good-

to competence dr fortune'.52

Political activity at the time was still governed by the
fundamental influences of the earlier campaigns for political reform

and the repeal of the corn laws. Though repeal was granted in 1846,

51. J. Morley, The Life of Richard Cobden, vol. 2, London, 1882,
Pp. 199-200.
52. Quoted by Briggs, p. 191.
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Bright, Cobden and their followers maintained a radical popular
movement that was, especially with the revival of the protectionists
in 1852 and the campaign for the repeal of the Navigation Acts (1854),

still substantially intact.

Based on the philosophical writings of the Manchester School
of economists, the free trade movement consisted of a broad and at
times uneasy, alliance. The advantages of free trade had seemed
obvious to all but the landowners and the Tory Party. For businessmen.
it would reduce wages and therefore costs, while increasing demand
and generally boosting industrial development. For the radicals
the possibility of a redistribution of political power was equally
important; and the attraction of working class support was based
not simply on the desire for cheafef food,Abut in the hope that
free trade would increase the political power of the lower middle
class, and through pressure for extensions of the franchise, that of
the working class itself. Free trade achieved legitimacy through

the new economic science, popularised for political purposes:

There probably never was an age when
economics was as popular, when its ideas
and language informed so large a part of
the public, from the poor who were aroused
by the injustice of the 'bread' tax to the
aristocracy which smarted under the label
of monopolist. 53

Yet already by the 1850s, some liberals were questioning the

realities of a growing economy based on laissez-faire. In particular

many saw the threat of capitalist monopoly and adopted a (perhaps

53. W.D. Grampp, The Manchester School of Economics, Stanford, 1960,
pp. 80-81.
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rather romantic) preference for 'healthy' small-scale manufacturing.
For these liberals, who included Cobden, Birmingham was much closer
to an ideal form of society than, say, Manchester. Thus though

laissez-faire was in large part accepted, it was not denied that

under that system economic development could take unpleasant and
uncomfortable forms. As we shall soon see, making it more acceptable .
was seen in Birmingham to be the role of local rather than central

government.

Concomitant with artisan independence and political radicalism

was a tradition in Birmingham of religious dissent:

Long-established as a refuge of religious
freedom in the Anglican dominated rural
Midlands, its manufacturers and ministers

had forged the Protestant ethic and the
spirit of capitalism into a dominant ideology
of progressive Dissenting radicalism,

despite the numerical equality of Anglican
congregations to those of Non-conformity
combined. 54

Both liberals and nonconformist ministers espoused a 'civic gospel!
that emphasised the practical role of local government in improving
the town and people. Sustained by individuals such as George
Dawson, H.W. Crosskey and Joseph Sturge, the 'crusade' for
improvements, particularly in public health and education, culminated
in a 'civic renaissance' and the mayoralty of Joseph Chamberlain in

the 18705.55

54. Jay, p. 7. See also Conrad Gill, History of Birmingham, vol. 1,
London, 1952, pp. 374-80; Briggs, pp. 203-07.

55. See Gill, chs. XVII § XVIII.



52

In 1863 John, at the age of twenty-four, married Fanny Taylor,
four years his junior.56 Living in Pershore Road,57 working and
travelling during the day, he spent most of his spare time in
furthering his education. He joined the Midland Institute (opened
in 1857) studying at night history, biography and modern politics.58
These evening classes comprised of a mixture of schoolboys and

craftsmen.59

Birmingham's Midland Institute was an integral part of a
mid-Victorian culture of self-improvement. Similar Mechanics
Institutes had been established elsewhere by Henry Brougham, and
were 'in the vanguard of the utilitarian effort to enlighten the
working classes'.60 Self Help, the title of the influential book
by Samuei Smiles (published in i859), was a central theme, emphasisihg
industry, thrift, orderliness and the ultimate goal of upward social
mobility. It had its roots in the earlier Chartist and Co-operative
movements, and in religious dissent (especially Methodism). Though
institutions such as the Mechanics Institutes can be seen as a means
of indoctrinating the working classes with the social philosophy of

the middle classes, popular education was 'a vital article of faith'

in the radical creed:

56. Lyndall Greig, 'Wives of the Prime Ministers of New Zealand',
Alexander Turnbull Library.

57. Information supplied to the writer by P. Baird, from directory
entries in the Birmingham City Library.

58. Y, 23 July 1892.

59. See Gill, p. 435.

60. Trygve Tholfsen, Working Class Radicalism in Mid-Victorian England,
London, 1976, p. 130. On adult education in England see J.F.C.
Harrison, Learning and Living, 1790-1960, London, 1961.
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An educated populace knowing its rights
would resist oppression; the spread of
knowledge would lead inexorably to progress.
The radicals envisaged a society in which
educational opportunities would no longer
be restricted to the propertied classes.
They had in mind a real education, not
charity-school training in deference; nor
were they willing to accept middle-class
indoctrination in political economy. 61

So Ballance joined the ranks of many young men bent on a 'moral

and intellectual' development that would form the basis for social

62

and economic improvement. He was 'all for books'. He joined a

debating society, became secretary of a Birmingham literary society,

played chess and wrote articles for the local newspapers.63 He

attended lectures and meetings of well-known figures, Faraday,64
Bright, Philip Muntz and Chamberlain. - It was part of an
all-encompassing religion of improvement and self-help. Mechanics
Institutes aimed not only at providing information, but”were intended
also to 'form the character, to enlighten the mind, to soften the
manners, to refine the taste, to enlarge the views, and to improve
and civilise the whole man'.65 Physical activity was not neglected.

Ballance learned to box, sparring with a friend, W.M. Charles, who

3 66
later became a successful businessman.

By 1865 the Ballances had resolved to emigrate. Fanny's failing

health was a major factor in this decision, and as she had a brother,

61. Tholfsen, p. 64.

62. A. Charles to Ballance, 1 Dec. 1891, BMSS, 407-08.

63. Stout, p. 107; Y, 23 July 1892; Dighton, p. 3.

64. EH, 11 Nov. 1867. Ballance here mentions a Royal Institution
Tecture given by Faraday in 1861.

65. Tholfsen, p. 132.

66. A. Charles to Ballance, 1 Dec. 1891, BMSS, 407-08; W.M. Charles
to Ballance, 10 Aug. 1891, BMSS, 252. See also G. Scholefield,

Dictionary of New Zealand Biography, vol. 1, Wellington, 1940, p. 32.
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H.S. Taylor, living in Wanganui, New Zealand was a sensible choice.67
Undoubtedly Ballance also believed that his prospects would be
greater in the 'new land' than in Birmingham. It seems that

towards the end of his time in England, he gave up his job as
commercial traveller, to go into business for himself. He formed

a partnership with a friend, but the venture was not a success, being .
dissolved owing to 'personal antagonism arising from different aims

and opinions’.68

There was some talk of taking up sheep farming in the new
country, but lack of sufficient funds quickly ruled this out.69
* The couple left for Australia via the Cape in early 1866, having paid
their own passages, but with few belongings and little capital behind

them.

67. Y, 6 May 1893.
68. NZH, 5 Aug. 1878, 'Biographical Sketch'.
69. See, e.g., Y, 23 July 1892,
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Wanganui and War: frontier politics and insecurity
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John and Fanny reached Melbourne in July 1866, where they
bought some jewellery with the intention of re-selling it at a
profit in New Zealand.1 From Melbourne the Ballances travelled in
the Albion (the 'crack ship' of the intercolonial service, running
between Wellington and Melbourne by way of Hokitika and Nelson) to
Wellington, arriving in the afternoon of 11 August. As they had
light winds and fine weather, this seems to have been a pleasant
final stage of their long journey from England.2 Captain Kidney
of the Albion later recalled his impressions of the young Ballance

on board his ship:

Pleasant, genial, well informed, ready

at all points, above all things original,
'he made the time pass remarkably agreeably
for all, and was the centre of attention in
consequence., 3

After a stay of only a few days in Wellington, the Ballances travelled

on up the coast, arriving at their destination, Wanganui, on 18 August.4

Wanganui in 1866 was a small town of about two thousand inhabitants.5
It has been established as a New Zealand Company settlement. Land on the
northern bank of the Wanganui River, four and a half miles from its mouth,
having been purchased by Gibbon Wakefield's energetic son, Edward

Jerningham, in 1840, the first settlers arrived early the following

1. The jewellery included watches, rings and earrings. See WC,
19 Sept. 1866. T
2. New Zealand Advertiser, 13 Aug. 1866.
3. NZT, 28 Apr. 1893.
4. WC, 22 Aug. 1866.
5. The 1868 census gives the population of Wanganui as 2157 (of which

1226 were male), almost exactly the same as that of New Plymouth,
New Zealand Census, 1868, table 3.
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year.6 Yet though it was a Company settlement, it was not 'planned!
to the same extent as, say, Wellington. Indeed it is more accurate
to view Wanganui as a necessary offshoot of Wellington, being settled
by those who, after their arrival in New Zealand, found themselves
unable to purchase land in the disappointingly limited environs of

Port Nicholson.

Wanganui (originally Petre) was chosen for this 'extension'

because its hinterland was relatively flat and easily cleared, and

because its river-mouth provided a safe anchorage. Trade was vital,

and before the development of iand communications, it had to be by

7
sea.

It is tempting, with hindsight, to view the development and
expansion of a town like Wanganui as inevitable, if at times erratic
and uneven. In fact, not only the continued growth, but the very
survival, of Wanganui, was for a while in doubt. Even once firmly
established, by the early 1860s, its position remained fragile; its
people and politicians were continually faced with the problem of

insecurity and its underlying causes.

6. Wakefield junior himself took up residence, building one of the
first 'houses' and trading with Maoris in pigs for the Wellington
market in exchange for goods from his 'shop'. He provides one
of the earliest recorded views of the Wanganui region in his two
volume Adventure in New Zealand, published a year after his
return to England in 1844.  Equally informative are the writings
of Reverend Richard Taylor, who, with his wife and family,
arrived in April 1843 as resident Anglican missionary. See
Rev. R. Taylor, Te Ika a Maui- New Zealand and its inhabitants,
Wellington, 1974 facsimile. See also T.W. Downes, 0Old Whggganui,
Hawera, 1915.

7. See L.L. Pownall, 'The Origins of Towns in New Zealand',

New Zealand Geographer, XII (1956), pp. 173-88.
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Initially the economy of the settlement was simple:8 exporting
timber, pigs and potatoes purchased from local Maoris;9 importing
manufactured goods and provisions. This was no basis for long term
survival. Any degree of permanency necessitated the development of
the immediate hinterland, and this was delayed by doubts over the
original purchase of the land, and by the resulting skirmishes between .
settlers and Maoris. Some settlers left, an exodus halted only
when Donald McLean, the Native Commissioner, 'repurchased' the land

on behalf of the Government in 1848. By the 1850s wheat, flour and

wool were being exported to the Wellington market.lo In 1861 the

first shipment of meat left for A.uckland.11 Competition from
Canterbury wheat, the nature of the land, and a new market for meat
arising from the West Coast gold rushes, all contributed to an
increasing concentration by local settlers on pastoral rather than

arable farming.

Though attracting new settlers was seen as important to the
town's development, more immediate was the problem of expanding the ‘
local economy rapidly enough to keep pace with a naturally increasing

population.12 Expansion was dependent upon developing the port and ‘

8. On background to the following discussion see L.J.B. Chapple §
H.C. Veitch, Wanganui, Hawera, 1939, chs. 8, 9 § 10; M.J.G. Smart
& A.P. Bates, The Wanganui Story, Wanganui, 1972, chs. 3, 5 & 7;
B.G.R. Saunders (ed.), Introducing Wanganui, Palmerston North, 1968.

9. 'The Natives had pigs ... such pigs! High in the bone and low in
the flesh, as they were generally described; otherwise known as
regular Captain Cooks'. C. Burnett quoted in Interesting Chapters
from the Early History of Wanganui, a pamphlet published by Willis
in Wanganui, 1887.

10. Out of total exports of £4005 in 1856, 31%, by value, were wool,
22% wheat and 17% potatoes. Calculated from New Zealand Statistics,
1856, table 27.

11. See S.M. King, 'The Port of Wanganui and its Influence on Wanganui', -
M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1964, P Za

12. That is, apart from immigration, population was increasing rapidly
owing to the high proportion of young people: 58% of the population
was under 21 years of age in 1861: calculated from New Zealand
Census, 1861, table 4. -
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the land, and there were problems with both. A natural bar across

the river mouth limited the size of ship that could enter the harbour,
and presented difficulties to those that did.13 Secondly, though

the area immediately alongside the banks of the river was flat, the
hinterland further out was hilly and suitable only for grazing.
Wanganui's future rested upon its ability to act as a supplier to,

and exporter for, new farming communities to be established on the
undeveloped flatter and richer land beyond: north towards the
Waingongoro and south into the Rangitikei and Manawatu. Communications
into these areas were vital to open up the land for settlement, and

enable Wanganui to extract its share of trade.

" Viewing development in terms of barriers to be overcome, was
part of.a.generai feeling of iﬁsecurity reinforced by the conflicting
relationship between Wanganui and Wellington. Merchants such as
the firm of T.B. Taylor and W.H. Watt, assisted by a growing local
shipbuilding industry, were soon monopolising the Wanganui trade that
would otherwise have gone to Wellington. Once the town was made a
Port of Entry in 1855, Custom duties could be collected at Wanganui,
where they had previously been imposed in Wellington.14 Ultimately
however, it was Wanganui that saw itself threatened by the

centralisation of political and economic power in Wellington, and

felt insecure about its own ability to determine its future.

+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ o+ 4

13. The bar formed in the still water where the outflowing river met
the incoming wave motion of the sea.
14. King, p. 6.
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In the 1860s Wanganui was still very much a frontier town,
and had an attendant reputation for rowdiness and drinking.15
The settlement was concentrated in a hollow between two hills,16 upon
which Governor Grey had built the Rutland and York stockades, and
through which Victoria Avenue ran towards the river. A gravel road
ran in the opposite direction to St. John's Wood, other streets
consisting of sand and swamp. There were a considerable number of
hotels and breweries, which, along with shops,.offices and a few
private residences, made up the nucleus of the town at the lower end
of Victoria Avenue and along Ridgeway Street and Taupo Quay.17

There were also four churches, one each for the Anglicans,

Presbyterians, Roman Catholics and Methodists.18

Taupo Quay (known more accurately'as '"The Beach'), running
alongside the northern bank of the river, was the centre of commercial

activity in the town, and it was here Ballance established a jeweller's

15. Tobacco, beer, spirits and wine accounted for 28% by value of
Wanganui's imports in 1856, and 15% in 1860. Calculated from
New Zealand Statistics, 1856, table 26; 1866, table 18. At a
temperance meeting in 1867 a speaker was reported to have declared
'that of all the places he had ever been in, Wanganui was the most
drunken'. Quoted by Chapple § Veitch, p. 113.

16. The present sites of Cook's Gardens and Queen's Park.

17. 'Hotels', often little more than public houses, included the
Steam Packet, the Wanganui, the Rutland and the Exchange. See
Smart & Bates, ch. 6.

18. A tight-rope walker, Vertelli, visited Wanganui in .October 1867,
and travelled across the river on the ferry wire, pushing a
wheel-barrow before him. A photograph of this event, taken from
the Durie Hill (south) side of the river, gives a good view of the
town shortly after Ballance's arrival, (Harding-Denton Collection,
Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington). W.J. Harding, a
photographer of Wanganui from 1856 to 1888, took many interesting
and valuable scenes of the town and its people.
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shop, opening for business on 19 September 1866.19 It was not a

success, quite simply because the town was too small to provide a

permanent market for a limited range of goods.

Many of his Melbourne purchases remaining unsold, by December
Ballance had decided to travel further afield in search of business.
At that time Featherston, Superintendent of Wellington Province (of
which Wanganui was a part), was engaged in the purchase of the
Rangitikei-Manawatu Block. Realising that with £25,000 being handed
over to the Maori owners there was a market for his wares of
considerable potential, Ballance rode out to the meeting at Parewanui,
and offered his goods to a number of chiefs. On showing a gold watch
to Featherston, one chief was advised to return it to Ballance.

It was 1mp0551b1e, said the Supérintendent, to tell whether or not it
was genuine. Walter Buller, the Resident Magistrate at Wanganui who

was present at the meeting, later recalled the incident:

Presently the Native came back with a

courteous note from Mr Ballance... protesting
against this interference with legitimate

business and offering to guarantee in writing

the quality of any watches he might dispose of.

I do not think Dr Featherston pressed his
objection any further; but Mr Ballance shortly
afterwards withdrew... and made no further attempt
to do business with the Natives. 20

19. WC, 19 Sept. 1866. The shop was next door to Woons. Ballance
' advertlsed '... a splendid collection of Gold § Plated Jewellery,

Electro-Plate and fancy goods. Gold Watches from 6 guineas,
Silver do., from 2 guineas, warranted. Gents' and Ladies'
finger rings, earings, §c., in great variety'.

20. Buller to the Editor of the Evening Post, Nov. 1892, pamphlet
in the Alexander Turnbull Library. The sale is also recorded
in J.G. Wilson, Early Rangitikei, Christchurch, 1914, ch. XX.
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Though Ballance had already shown himself to be determined,
if courteous, he soon afterwards ceased trading altogether. The
business, apart from being something of a financial failure, would
never have satisfied his ambition and intellect, and it is more than
likely that he never regarded it as anything more than a temporary

but necessary stepping-stone to more interesting ventures.

His activities at this time were later criticised by political
opponents who viewed this sort of occupation as disqualifying a
person from aspiring to political office. Buller recorded the above
incident in order to defend Ballance from a speech made by an
ex-Governor, Lord Onslow, describing Ballance (Premier at the time)

as having been 'an itinerant vendor'. Twenty years earlier, at the

very start of his political career, the Wellington Independeﬂt
mischievously reported that it had heard that Ballance 'made his
appearance in the colony as a travelling vendor of Birmingham jewellery

among the Maoris'. Ballance, through the Wanganui Herald, put the

record straight. At that time, he wrote, he

... was keeping for the first time in his
life, and as a kind of dernier ressort, a
small jewellers's shop in Wanganui- an event
which has been tortured into something which
is considered a little lower in the scale of
trades... . (But, looking back,)

... there is not one circumstance in his life
he would refer to with more pride than that,
in the chequered periods which come to most
men, he baffled with adversity in a strange
country by engaging in a humble but respectable
business. If this is to disqualify a man who
may have the necessary qualifications in other
respects from aspiring to sit in the councils of
the people, many of the best statesmen in the
colonies would be doomed to political ostracism,
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and the unfortunate countries would have
been left to be ruled and ruined by Foxes! 21

Meanwhile Ballance was making his mark on the cultural life
of the community. He had soon acquired a reputation as an able
formal debater with a wide-ranging knowledge, speaking at meetings of
the town's Literary Society on such varied topics as 'Phrenology',
'"Moses and Egypt' and the extension of the franchise.22 He became

known for a 'racy and eloquent style'.23

With the failure of his jewellery business, he turned to other
sources of income. One of these was writing occasional articles

for the Wanganui Times, a bi-weekly newspaper established in 1865 and

backed by the local merchants T.B. Taylor and W.H. Watt.24 Another
- was a partnership, probably with a man called Aitken, in a brewery;

but this proved even more unsuccessful than his jewellery business.25

—

21. EH, 25 Sept. 1872. The allusion is to Sir William Fox, a
political opponent of Ballance, and one who himself had an
impeccable background. Born in Durham he studied at Oxford and
then became a lawyer, before emigrating to New Zealand in 1842.

22. WC, 10, 31 Oct. 1866, 21 Nov. 1866 and 6 Feb. 1867. Wanganui Times,
19 Apr, 1867.

23. Wanganui Times, 3 May 1867, The Times reporter wrote, melodramati-
cally, that Ballance spoke in this manner 'until he considered that
he had made a sufficient breach in his opponent's battery, and then
rushed to the assault with such a perfect phalanx of fact and
argument as to compel any cidatel (sic) less ably defended to
surrender at discretion'.

24. Y, 6 May 1893; G.H. Scholefield, Newspapers in New Zealand,
Wéllington, 1958, p. 49. Articles and editorials were unsigned,
and it is speculation as to which were written by Ballance. Issues
of the Times for the early months of 1867 bear little of his later
distinctive, proselytizing style, though an editorial on 9 April on
the 'Irish Difficulty' (advocating home rule) is almost certainly
his.

25. There is no record of this brief partnership in newspapers at the
time, though shortly afterwards it is mentioned in a court case,
Howe vs Aitken, involving some wine of dubious quality; EH, 4 Nov.
1867. G.H. Scholefield, A Dictionary of New Zealand Bidgfaphy,
vol. 1, Wellington, 1940, p. 32, alludes to it.
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It was at a weekly meeting of the Literary Society that
Ballance met Archibald Duddingston Willis, a man who was to become
one of his closest friends, as well as his business partner and
political supporter.26 Willis was born in Middlesex in 1842, of
English and Scottish parentage. At twelve he began working for
Eyre and Spottiswoode, the Queen's Printers, and then on the death
of his mother emigrated to New Zealand. Arriving penniless in
Auckland (he worked his passage) in 1857, he soon left for Napier,
having been offered a job as printer on a new paper to be started,

the Hawkes Bay Herald. Before finally settling in Wanganui, about

1864, he worked as a compositor on the Wellington Advertiser and later

the Canterbury Press, as well as spending six months on the goldfields

at Gabriel's Gully. He brought a newspaper plant with him to
Wanganui, intending to start a journal of his own, but sold it on

" being persuaded by J.U. Taylor, then editor of the Wanganui Chronicle,

to work for him.27

In early 1867 Ballance had begun to make plans to start a daily
evening paper in Wanganui. There was a clear opening for such a

venture. The two existing newspapers, the Wanganui Times and the

26. See Willis's reminiscences of Ballance, Y, 6 May 1893,

27. Shortly afterwards he married a Miss Dixon, daughter of a
Wellington brewer (she was also sister to the wives of his old
Wellington newspaper employers). See biographical sketches,

Y, 17 June 1893 and Cyclopedia of New Zealand, vol. 1, Wellington,
1897, p. 1361. Willis became an important and influential
person in the town in his own right. He later established and
built up a very successful printing and publishing, stationery
and book-selling business. He followed Ballance as Member for
Wanganui in 1893. 'Daddy Willis', as he was known, had a large
family (it went into double figures) that lived on the south side
of the river. Amongst other publishing feats he produced the
first colour lithograph in New Zealand, which was published in his
New Zealand Illustrated in 1889. The writer is grateful to
Judge Max Willis for his personal impressions of his grandfather.
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Wanganui Chronicle, were both morning bi-weeklies. Willis was an

ideal partner. An experienced printer working for the Chronicle,28

he could provide the necessary technical expertise while Ballance

wrote the editorial material. It was a partnership equally
advantageous for Willis, who had, as we have just seen, originally
hoped to found his own paper. Willis had been impressed by Ballance's
'logical and clever arguments in debate, and was invariably on the same
side with him'. When asked to join Ballance he readily accepted, a
decision, he wrote many years later, that he never had cause to
regret.29 Pooling their resources, Ballance and Willis bought a

30

second-hand printing machine from John Martin in Wellington, and

set it up in premises on Market Place, in the centre of town.31

A prospectus for the Evening Herald, aimed at attracting both

advertisers and subscribers, was issued early in May,32 and on
Saturday 4 May the town was placarded with the announcement that

publication would commence on 3 June. The Wanganui Times,

unconvincingly, welcomed the new paper, on the grounds that it would
assist the Times's 'advocacy of local progress', something its rival
the Chronicle simply sneered at. It also, rather discreetly, mentioned

that it would move to tri-weekly publication (on Tuesday, Thursday and

Saturday) as from 1 June.33 Soon after the Herald appeared, the Times

28, Now under the control of William Hutchison, who had bought Taylor
out a year earlier, Scholefield, 1958, p. 47.

29. Willis said of Ballance that 'a more upright and straightforward
partner no man ever had', Y, 6 May 1893.

30. Scholefield, 1958, p. 50.

31. The Herald offices moved soon afterwards to Campbell Place, WH,
16 Nov. 1867. —'

32. Willis's name, as printer, did not however, as required by law,
appear on the prospectus.

33. Wanganui Times, 7 May 1867.
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admitted that it had been approached by the Chronicle with the
suggestion that they match up their publication days: the Times
appearing on Tuesdays and Thursdays and the Chronicle on Wednesdays
and Saturdays. This would have avoided the need by both to publish
three times-"a week, but the Times declined the offer, forcing the
Chronicle into tri-weekly publication as well.34 The Herald was a
considerable threat to both papers, though they reacted differently

to its appearance. The Times took the opportunity to lecture the

Chronicle on the proper role of the press,35 whilst the Chronicle

simply ignored the Herald completely for months.

The first issue of the Evening Herald: (the second daily evening

newspaper to be published in New Zealand),36 costing one penny,
appeared as promised 6n Monday 3 June. In his opening editorial,
Ballance sought to justify the need for a third newspaper in Wanganui,
and laid down the ground rules for its future policy. The discussion
of political issues would be a central feature, (though he claimed
that he would nevertheless be tied to no party), as would the

provision of up-to-date information:

We make this our first appearance as a
member of the Fourth Estate, with the strong
assurance that, not only our friends, but the
general public, whom we hope soon to include
in the ranks of the former, will hail our

34. Wanganui Times,.13 June 1867. Six days before the Herald
appeared, the Chronicle announced the change, arguing that the
pressure of advertising had 'for a long time' occupied space
that should have been devoted to editorial and general reading
material, 28 May 1867. For the manoeuvrings of both the Times
and the Chronicle, see EH, 3 June 1867.

35. See e.g., Wanganui Times, 4 June 1867.

36. The first was the Wellington Evening Post.
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advent with special favor, and bid us

welcome to that position, which we desire

to take up, as the representative of
independent thought and action in Wanganui.

Is there not room? The Herald... takes its
stand upon the justness of its principles

and the intelligence of the community.

Two important duties lie before us- to place
before our readers all information of local
and general interest, and the advocacy of

such measures as may tend to the prosperity

of the place. It is an easy matter to

have news... but old news is unpalatable,...
it loses its freshness and flavour and we read
without zest that which otherwise would give
relief to the monotony of life. ...Much of
our claim to public support rests upon our
giving late news, which will be up to half-past
two o'clock on the day of publication. ...Some
kind friends have suggested that we should
abstain from discussing politics- why the thing
is impossible- they might as well cancel the
constitution. The political concerns of the
Colony affect every one in it in the most
direct manner; our rights, taxes, national
defences, and liberty, are all in the hands

of politicians, and we cannot defer to the
wishes of the timid when such principles are
involved, while we are aware that all
controversy should be carried on with calmness
and moderation, as the best way to advance the
interests of a cause, if it be just. We are
bound to no party and are unbiased in our
opinions by such influence; our colums (sic)
are open to all and we ‘shall report without
suppressing, or by altering to suit a purpose,
what we may not agree with. Let the public,
therefore, be our censors- the impartial,
neutral public- and we shall await with
feelings of confidence its verdict. 37

These promises of neutrality Ballance found increasingly difficult to

honour.

With a largely unsuccessful business venture behind him, Ballance

cannot have been over-confident of the survival of the Herald.

37. EH, 3 June 1867.
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There were risks involved, and many newspapers at that time had
only an ephemeral existence. Indeed it soon became clear that

the town could only sustain a maximum of two newspapers, as the

Times ceased publication in 1869.

Journalism was much more to Ballance's liking than running a
jewellery business, and it was a role for which he was particularly
well equipped. He was well read, intensely interested in politics
and, especially on paper, daring. Though his editorials were in the
main well thought out and of considerable perspicacity and
sophistication, he never forgot that sensational views, forceful views
and a touch of audacity sold copies and advertising space. He fully
realised the central influential role a newspaper played in a small
town, and later, the use to which it could be put to further his own
political career. Above all else, the Herald aiﬁed to inform and
therefore to convert- it was both didactic and proselytizing from the

start, and never apologised for being so.

Given an able editor, efficient economic management and the

requisite technical skills, the success of a newspaper such as the

Herald depended ultimately upon the prosperity of the community it

served. Circulation, and especially advertising, were extremely
sensitive to the vagaries of the local economy. A slump in trade,

for whatever reason, would very quickly be reflected by a reduction

in advertising as businesses contracted. It is of crucial importance,
for an understanding of Ballance's personal and political career, to
realise that his own financial security rested directly upon the
prosperity and development of Wanganui. His insistent campaigning

for the expansion of the town's port facilities and the opening up of
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the hinterland to the east was more than mere politicking. On

the town he depended- he had no independent source of income- and
upon the new land depended the town. Thus though the tiny rural
settlements that grew up around the town, stretching from Patea in
the north to Bulls in the south, were never of critical importance

to Ballance in terms of additional circulation or advertising, as

the basis of Wanganui's expansion and prosperity, and indirectly that

of the Herald, they were vital.

By the end of the first year of publication Ballance had
developed a well-recognisable style and an even more obvious
political stance. The Herald boasted a weekly circulation of over

2200,38

but though it claimed a readership from Patea to Wellington,
few copies got further than the town's most immediate hinterland.
Owing primarily to problems of distribution, the Herald never really
broke successfully into the rural market. It was essentially a

3 Editorially, the central issues revolved

paper of Wanganui town.
around the removal of obstacles to Wanganui's progress. By the end
of 1868 the basis for Ballance's own political career had already

been laid in the columns of the Herald.

Ballance promoted, through the Herald, and frequently became
personally involved in, any speculative venture that might assist in
the development of the district. The possibility of discovering gold

excited the town for much of 1868, and Ballance chaired a meeting that

38. Wanganui Herald, 3 June 1967. Centennial Issue.

39. Tts failure to achieve a significant rural readership was a
major reason for the launching of the Yeoman, a weekly version of
the Herald, a few years later. See ch. 3.
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sent out a prospecting party to the country between Wanganui and

Taupo.40 None was found.

Significantly, he saw the development and growth of the region
as being dependent almost entirely on the efforts of the townspeople
themselves. This was especially so given a firm belief in the reluctance
of the Provincial Council to promote the welfare of any settlement
outside Wellington. A spirit of self-reliance underlay his vision of
progress. The following passage, remembering his own background of

self-education and independence, is particularly revealing:

Wanganui, in the midst of a large and
fertile district, cannot remain stationary
with 2000 inhabitants. Every new township
will become another feeder; every farm
occupied will minister to her resources.
Extraneous assistance is not to be despised,
but true prosperity is only to be found in
our inherent power- in the capability of
promoting our own greatness, without that
uncertain aid which is derived from adventitious
circumstances. 41

Not for the last time was Ballance to make a virtue out of necessity

(see chapter 10).

More effectual than gold prospecting as a means of local
self-development, was the establishment of the Wanganui and Rangitikei
Land and Building Society. A similar society existed when Ballance
arrived in Wanganui,42 but he soon realised the greater contribution

that these bodies could make in providing finance for new settlement.

40. EH, 2, 6 May 1868.

41. EH, 22 Oct. 1867. My emphasis. In this editorial he also makes
the important connection between economic self-reliance and
military independence. The Imperial troops were due to leave
Wanganui.

42. The Wanganui Land, Building and Investment Society, WC, 22 Aug. 1866.
See also EH, 24 Jan. 1868, for an account of the society's annual

general meeting.
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Within two weeks of the first issue of the Herald, Ballance was

43 He himself became

instructing his readers on their potential.
a director of the Wanganui and Rangitikei Building Society.44 In
November 1867 he announced the formation (he was again a director)
of the Wanganui and Rangitikei Land and Building Society,45 which
held its first meeting in January 1868.46 The addition of the word
'land' was a significant indication of the broadening role of such

© organisations.

Ballance unashamedly promoted the Society through the columns of
the Herald, pointing out how advantageous it was for both investors
(who would receive monthly compound interest on even small sums)

"and borrowers.47 Money was lent only on the security of existing
property, but Ballaﬂce was soon suggesting.that societies might buy
up land themselves, and then dispose of it to members over a period

of time.48

Aside from land and building societies, the other major method
of promoting local settlement was through the establishment of small
farm associations. The idea behind such associations was that a
combination of small investors could compete with the large capitalists
and squatters in the purchase of land. By no means all the members
of the association would ultimately farm the land, but those that did

would do so much more intensively than a single squatter.

43. EH, 14 June 1867.
44, EH, 30 Oct. 1867.
45. EH, 12 Nov. 1867.
46. EH, 6 Jan. 1868.
47. E.g., EH, 21 Nov. 1867.
48. EH, 13 Nov. 1868.
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When in September 1867 Featherston,49 on behalf of Wellington
Provincial Council, purchased the 40,000 acre Parakino Block from
its Maori owners, Ballance urged that 10,000 acres be immediately
set aside for a small farm association. Earlier in the year he had
argued that by placing unemployed men, and those of limited means,
on the land, small farm associations would extend trade, help end

depression, and stem the flow of population out of Wanganui to the

50

gold fields on the West Coast. A Wanganui Small Farm Association

had already been formed,51 but there was great demand for another.
Now Ballance regarded such associations as not only the best means of
bringing prosperity to the district, but as essential to a successful

contest with monopolists over land:

The natives will shortly have a large
quantity of land in the market which will
be speedily swallowed up by the capitalist,
and the plan we propose would neutralise
such monopoly. 52

The industrious man, of even small means,

going upon his 200 acre farm will make it more
productive than the squatter with his (t)housand
acres. He will cultivate every rood, and by
his own industry turn the fern-covered hill, and
flaxy marsh, which are now desolate, or with a
sheep to the acre, into a garden, with fields of
waving corn and hedgerows that ever remind one
of old England. ...Small Farm Settlement appears
to us the best way of possessing the country and
we have the strongest grounds for asking the
Government to comply with our request. 53

A major barrier to local development was, for Ballance, the

Provincial Council in Wellington. Wanganui had become part of the

49. Isaac Earl Featherston, a doector who emigrated to New Zealand in
1840, was Superintendent of Wellington Province from 1853 until

1871, He was M.H.R. for Wanganui and Rangitikei, and subsequently
Wellington City. He died in 1876 when Agent-General in London, a

: post he had held for five years.
50. EH, 12 July 1867.
51. EH. 12 Aug. 1867.
52. EH, 13 Nov. 1867.

53. EH, 20 Sept. 1867. Small farm associations, and Ballance's promotion

‘of them, will be discussed more fully in later chapters.
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Province of Wellington under the Constitution Act of 1852. It

was a position that her inhabitants never came to be fully at ease
with. Wanganul regarded itself, with much justice, as a neglected
satellite of Wellington. There had been demands for separation, an
early effort in 1869 being defeated largely through the opposition of
Fox. In 1865, when the purchase of the Waitotara and Manawatu Block
raised hopes of a substantial revenue, a petition for the constitution
of Wanganui as a separate province reached the Governor, and one from
the 'Wanganui Separation Committee' was presented to the General
Assembly. Though Hawkes Bay, Southland and Marlborough were

successful Wanganui was not.54

In only the second issue of the Herald, Ballance launched an
attack on the provincial system, arguiﬂg'that the opposition of
councils to the central Parliament was a negation of Anglo-Saxon
democracy, and he urged that the former be abolished.55 Specifically,
opposition to provincialism (that 'absurdity of all absurdities', as
Ballance described it,)56 centred on its economic unviability, on the
Council's unfair distribution of a dwindling land fund, and its
inability to secure loans to promote Wanganui's development.

Commenting on the increased financial assistance being given by the

Government to the Councils, he predicted that their end was in sight:

With their land fund well nigh exhausted, and
many of them with a large debt... self-
annihilation must in a short time take place. 57

54. On the background to Wanganui and the Provincial system, see
W.P. Morrell, The Provincial System in New Zealand 1852-76, London,
1932, esp. pp. 119, 163-64 & 202.

55. EH, 4 June 1867.

56. EH, 12 Nov. 1867.

57. EH, 10 Sept. 1867.
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And with the consolidation of provincial loans, complete dependence

on central government was an ultimate certainty.58

Although Ballance believed in a substantial degree of local
self-government, he always stressed that overall political and
economic control must rest firmly with the central Parliament. He
deprecated the separation of the two islands, or the complete

independence of a particular province:

Insular separation is the root of all
evils, with which the Colony is threatened.
..United, in a few generations, this Colony
may defy the world. ...We have got all the
materials for a great nation; resources,
climate, race, and position; and we must not
nullify these advantages by acceding to the
demands of petty provincial jealousy, for
insular separation. 59

Of immediate éoncern was the need to build a bridge across the
Wanganui River, to secure the town's position as a vital link in
internal communication along the west coast. There was considerable
ill-feeling about the inaction of the Provincial Council on this
matter: money had been voted for the bridge's construction, but it
was under threat of misappropriation for alternative us;s. If the
town could raise the money itself this would, Ballance argued, remove
the means by which the Council was forcing Wanganui to maintain its

60

connection with Wellington. He was a major instigator of a meeting

called to raise a petition for local self-government and discuss the

question of financing the bridge. Publicly, for the first time, he

58. EH, 5 Sept. 1867. ,

59. EH, 11 Dec. 1867. For a fuller discussion of Ballance's views
on the provincial system see the following chapter.

60. EH, 31 July 1868.
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laid his claim to speak on behalf of the working man:

He saw before him men of all classes who

had come forward that night to maintain
their rights, and he held that it was not
alone the wealthy man, or the man with high
position, whose views were to be considered,
but that the man who toiled for his daily
bread had likewise an important stake in the
welfare of Wanganui, and should also have a
voice in managing its affairs. Local
Government was loudly called for, and the
sooner a system that eats up £22,000 of
revenue in departmental expenses, in a
community of 21,000 souls, is done away with
the better for the district. 61

On wider political and philosophical issues, Ballance depended
largely upon the ideological baggage he had brought with him from
Birmingham, though often adapted to New Zealand conditions. .He
welcomed the extension of the franchise in England and was optimistic

of the future:

...the principle embodied in every

extension, is the individuality and
responsibility of the person. The world
cannot be governed by a few, mounted on a
kind of promontory, and looking down upon

and controlling the masses by a ubiquitous
power, especially if those masses are capable
of thinking. ...The art of government is to
understand the spirit of the time, and to
mould the institutions in accordance. ...The
world is growing older and wiser, and the
spirit of the present age is more enlightened
than the spirit of any preceding age in human
history. 62

As for the present, he was not blind to the operation of the

class system, and pointed out that the equilibrium in England between

61. EH, 1 Aug. 1868.
62. EH, 27 May 1868.




democracy and aristocracy was maintained only because sufficient
wealth percolated down the system, and the possibility of
self-improvement was sufficiently alive, to induce 'a kind of
contentment... in... the mind of the working man'.63 Opposing the
view of many conservatives at the time, he argued that franchise
reform stemmed rather than created 'mob rule' by admitting for the
first time artisans and labourers, as well as the lower strata of
the middle class, to the political system; though he recognised
that traces of class subjeétion still existéd. No country could be

great where power rested in a single class.64

Finally, if reform was possible in England, a traditional

society, how much easier it would be achieved in a new land:

They would have no more compunction in

some of the Colonies about changing the

entire constitution than the people at -
home would have about a simple extension

of the franchise. Nations that have

neither history nor tradition, are governed

by expediency- the convenience of the

greatest number, and are always subject to
sudden changes and fluctuations of popular
opinion. 65

This pragmatism, arising from the notion that the political
'ground-rules' were different in New Zealand than in the old country,

was, as we shall see, fundamental to Ballance's philosophy.

+ 4+ o+ o+ 4+ o+

63. EH, 19 Feb. 1868.
64. EH, 28 Oct. 1867.
65. TIbid.
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Wanganui was a frontier town not only in the economic sense
of being on the edge of, and providing entry to, an undeveloped
hinterland, but in a military sense as well. A series of disputes
over land with local Maoris, at times leading to armed conflict, and
the 'spillover' effects of war further to the north in Taranaki, both
greatly added to the townspeople's sense of insecurity. These
conflicts, though often low key, were sustained over a long period.
The threat posed by Titokowaru in late 1868 and early 1869 to the
town's very existence, meant that physical security remained an
important issue in Wanganui after it had ceased to be one elsewhere.
By the early 1870s, pushing back the frontier through public works
and the purchase or confiscation of Maori land, reflected the desire

for permanent peace as much as that for economic development.

For Ballance, the interrelationship between peace and prosperity
posed a basic dilemma. He deprecated any overreaction on the part of
the authorities or the people themselves to the possible danger
Wanganui was in, since this tended to disrupt lives and was, for
Ballance himself as well as the town, frankly bad for business.

The increased market provided by imperial and colonial troops stationed
in the town was, for Ballance, outweighed by the destabilizing effect
they had on the everyday life of Wanganui and its ability to attract
permanent settlers. On the other hand, if there came a point when

the town itself was genuinely in danger, action would clearly have to
be taken. In this case Ballance saw a ruthless and above all short
campaign, as crucial to a successful return to normality. Thus
vehement editorials in the Herald criticised government weakness,
attacked incompetent local military comﬁanders, and threatened chiefs
of suspect loyalty. Ballance's Herald became the mouthpiece of a

town under siege. When Ballance arrived in Wanganui fighting was
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temporarily in abeyance. Previous conflicts, attendant to the

war in Taranaki in the early 1860s and the development of 'Hauhauism'
closer to home, had reached a climax in the 'Battle of Moutoa' (an
island in the upper reaches of the Wanganui River), between the
Hauhau leader Matene Rangitauira and loyalist Whanganui Maoris under
Haimona Hiroti and Mete Kingi. Skirmishes continued in the area but
from the point of view of settlers in Wanganui things were relatively

quiet until 1868.%°

Indeed Ballance saw the imminent departure of Imperial troops
from the town in October 1867 as a clear indication that the war was
over for good. Despite their economic benefits in terms of increased

spending power in the town, he welcomed their leaving:

...the war is at an end- for ever at an end
in this district ...and... the time for
settlement has commenced. Let the era of
exaggeration and excitement pass, and let us
bring in a few of the armed constabulary who
view not war as an occupation, and all our
Maori troubles will directly cease. We want
neither Imperial nor Colonial troops here mnow
to make the district go ahead. There are
surely resources enough on all sides to induce
a spirit of self-reliance. 67

Underlying Ballance's attitude to the conduct of war and its
relationship with economic progress, was a belief in the efficacy of
a professional colonial constabulary and the damaging and disruptive

consequences of continually calling up local volunteers:

The sooner ... that the Militia and
Volunteers are abolished the better.

66. See Chapple § Veitch, ch. XIII; Smart § Bates, ch. 8.
67. EH, 22 Oct. 1867.
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Nothing is more injurious to the

prospects of a young country ... than a

system of playing at soldiers... . When
there is fighting to be done, give... a few
hundred of the new constabulary (a)... carte
blanche, and native wars will almost cease ere
they have begun. But no more estimates for
Militia and Volunteers; and away with the
state of chronic alarm which exists among
tradesmen, who fear being called away from
their occupation to do sentry duty, or led

to the guard room, with the course (sic) oaths
of some military tyrant ringing in their ears.
An era of prosperity and peace has set in, and
we desire to reap its fruits in all their fulness. 68

But the war was not over. For the town the ﬁbrsg_hé& yé;migii
come, and for Ballance it was preceded by personal tragedy. In March
1868 Fanny died. Her general health had for a long time been suspect,
indeed it was a major factor in their decision to emigrate to New
Zealand, as we have seen. However she had been fully active in the
town's affairs, and those of her husband, and died after an illness

69 Ballance moved out of their house on

70

lasting only a fortnight.

Ridgeway Street, and went to stay for a while with Willis.

In early June, soon after Ballance launched yet another attack on

the Militia, arguing that there was no need for it and that the office

of paid Commander of the Wanganui Militia District should be abolished,71

disputes over land to the north led to a number of murders of settlers.72

Ngaruahine, led by Titokowaru, claimed land just south of the

Waingongoro, and by the end of the month had decided to take a stand at

68. EH, 18 Nov. 1867.
69. EH, 27 Mar. 1868.

70. See Y, 6 May 1893.

71. EH, 16 May 1868.

72. See EH, 11, 13 June 1868.
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Te Ngutu-o-te—manu.73 On 12 July a successful attack was made
on a constabulary redoubt at Turuturu-Mokai nearby; and it was
recognised as a defeat by Ballance, who put it down to a combination
of a 'wily and desperate enemy' displaying some courage and strategy,
and military incompetence on the part of the commander of the

Colonial forces.

However, confident that the Patea forces would successfully
counter-attack, Ballance saw no reason for panic in the town, and no
excuse for calling out the Militia.74 Meanwhile he had been
instrumental in the formation, as a 'legitimate' precautionary measure,
of the Wanganui Cavalry Volunteer Corps75 which, on its first parade
in late September had a strength of two officers and twenty-six men.76
The security of the town, and the protection of the immediate hinterland,
were dependent upon these volunteers, along with the Kai Iwi Cavalry
Corps (commanded by John Bryce and operating specifically in country
districts) and a few Armed Constabulary. Imperial troops stationed
in the town, part of the 2nd Battalion of the 18th Regiment and the
only British force remaining in the country, had strict instructions
to on no account take to the field, their role being purely a
defensive one. In cases of extreme urgency the townspeople could be

called upon for service in the Militia.

73. See James Belich, 'Titokowaru's War and its Place in New Zealand
History', M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1979.

74. EH, 13 July 1868.

75. The Cavalry was formed on 9 July. Ballance was Chairman of the
committee engaged in the Cavalry's foundation, but he was not,
initially, elected an officer.

76. Wanganui Military Historical Society, 'Wereroa Redoubt', Wanganui,
1948, p. 4. This pamphlet, in the Turnbull Library, gives a
brief history of the Wanganui Cavalry Volunteer Corps.
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Though Lt. Col. Gorton, commander of the Wanganui District,
put a brave face on the defeat at Turuturu-Mokai, he was well aware
of the immediate dangers of a local uprising, and wrote to Haultain,
the Colonial Defence Minister, seeking approval to call out the
Militia. He aimed to ballot for active service one hundred to one
hundred and fifty men, out of a total First Class Militia strength of
two hundred and thirty, confident that they would not come forward

Voluntarily.77

Permission was granted and Gorton issued a proclamation calling
out the Militia to parade on the morning of 23 July. At the appointed
time, 10.00 a.m., hardly a man had appeared, and additions during the
following half-hour brought the total to only sixteen. 'T was
perfectly aware there was a greaf féelingbagainst the militia hére',

wrote Gorton in his report to Haultain:

...but this feeling has been greatly
encouraged by the scurrilous articles
which have lately appeared in the Evening
Herald when the militia have been
positively recommended not to come forward
for duty. 78

Gorton decided to make an example of Ballance, and wrote him a

personal notice ordering him to attend parade. Ballance did not

77. Gorton to Haultain, 15 July 1868, A.D. 1868/2385, Inwards Letters.

78. Gorton to Haultain, 25 July 1868, A.D. 1868/2507; C.L. Lovegrove,
'When Wanganui Stood.to Arms in the 'Sixties', p. 9, a pamphlet
reprinted from the Wanganui Herald, 1953(?), in the Turnbull
Library. Unfortunately a number of editorials in July are missing
from the extant copies of the Wanganui Herald, but correspondence
between Gorton and Haultain, and the formers personal reminiscences,
give a fairly detailed account of the incident.
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appear, and having sent 'an insubordinate reply' to Gorton's
demand for an explanation, was promptly placed in jail, in
preparation for a court martial. The Herald that evening had
banner headlines, 'Military Tyranny: Editor in Gaol'. The town

. 79
was in uproar.

The specific disagreement between Ballance and Gorton was
the legality of the initial proclamation calling out the Militia.
Under the terms of the Militia Act of 1858, Gorton was required
to serve each militiaman individually with a notice. With a
staff of only two this created considerable practical difficulties,
and so Gorton hoped to entice the whole of the Militia onto
parade, and then to give individual notices for actual service.80
Technically he was acting illegally, and knew it; Walter ‘
Buller, Resident Magistrate in the town, advised him as such.81
Ballance was therefore correct in his assertion that the
initial call-out was illegal, but when he failed to respond to
his own individual notice, he opened the way for his arrest.

He did not respond this second time because he believed, like many

others in the town, that he was exempt from service in the Militia,

79. E. Gorton, Some Home Truths about the Maori War 1863-1869
on the West Coast of New Zealand, London, 1901, ch. X.

80. Gorton to Haultain, 15 July 1868, A.D. 1868/2385.

81. Gorton, p. 80.
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being already enrolled in the Wanganui Cavalry Corps.82 Combined

with the standing grievance that it was always the town Militia that

was called upon, disrupting the whole community, whereas the country

Militia usually escaped, this created substantial local dissatisfaction

(aimed specifically at the unpopular and unfortunate Gorton) which

Ballance, first through the columns of the Herald and now personally

and symbolically, represented to the authorities.83

82.

83.

See Militia Act (1858).

Note on Militia Regulations. There was considerable confusion

at the time as to whether members of Volunteer Forces were exempt
from Militia service. This writer's reading of the regulations is
as follows: Gorton believed that he was acting under the Militia
Act of 1858. This Act was however amended in 1860, and both were
repealed by the new Militia Act in 1865. For the purposes of the
regulations on the procedure to be followed in calling out the
Militia, this new Act was basically the same as the 1858 Act.

(It divided the Militia into a First, Second and a ‘Reserve (Class,
but Gorton was perfectly at liberty to call out all three, if done
correctly, if. he deemed the circumstances warranted it and given he
had Haultain's approval). However, the 1865 Act added to the list
of persons exempted from Militia service in the 1858 Act, 'All-
volunteers enrolled under any Volunteer Act for the time being in
force within the colony' (section VII). There does appear to be a
contradiction, however. The Volunteer Act of the same year
excludes officers of the force, along with volunteers who have had
at least three years service, from militia training. The
implication is that all other volunteers were subject at least to
training (and this would include Ballance). Finally, a Volunteer
Act Amendment Act (1867), section 5, laid down that this 1865 Act
(specifically section 25), did not, however, take away any
exemption from training and exercise that volunteers may have had
on 28 February 1866. -

If Ballance was eligible for the Militia, then his individual call-up
by Gorton (i.e. being served with a personal notice) was correct.
This is a slightly different issue, however, to that of his
eligibility in the first place; which is, as we have seen, a much
more confused matter. This writer's suspicion is that the
volunteers were not liable to be called up for militia service,
whether the former were on active service or not, but that Gorton's
and Ballance's concentration on the legality of the particular
militia call-up, subverted this more fundamental issue. Gorton's
own account, op. cit., chapter X, mentions only the problem of
calling out the Militia individually, with a staff of only two at
his disposal.

Lovegrove, p. 10.
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Having made his point, and realising that Gorton was in deadly
earnest, Ballance apologised the following morning and was released.
In the Herald he claimed that Gorton had let him out because he
(Gorton) was afraid of him; which was, at least in part, true. To
have proceeded with a court martial would have been much more trouble
for Gorton, given Ballance's undoubted influential position in the
town, than it was worth. For Gorton, though still unhappy about the
unwillingness of the town's inhabitants to contribute their fair
share, as he saw it, to the war effort, as much as for Ballance, taken
aback by Gorton's determination to pursue with the court martial, it

. . 84
was a sensible compromise.

Nevertheless Ballance continued to criticisé-the Militia, and
Gorton personally, in the Herald. Only five days after his night
in confinement an editorial went into considerable detail about the
Militia's unpopularity in Wanganui. He explained why the original
call-up was illegal, and how martial law threatened political liberty,

and his own rights of habeas corpus when imprisoned. The failure of

the parade he blamed on the incapability of Gorton and his officers in

exercising their powers correctly and with tact; the former

...having no more regard for the feelings
of men, who by their industry are developing
the resources of the country, than he would
for those of an ordinary soldier. 85

Criticism of the local military command was combined with advice
on logistics and strategy as the situation deteriorated. A large part

of the problem, Ballance argued, was that the economic and military

84. Gorton, pp. 82-3.
85. EH, 28 July 1868.
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dependence of the colony on the British Government and thus on
British public opinion, restricted the actions of the military at
the front. Concessions to the Maoris had failed, truces had been
quickly followed by renewed outbreaks of violence, and the time had
now come for every Maori to be removed from the 'disaffected'

district.86

In late August and early September attempts by Lt. Col. Thomas
McDonnell, commander of the Patea District, to capture Te Ngutu-o-te-manu,
ended in disaster. He resigned in consequence, being replaced by

Colonel George Whitmore, who did not arrive in Wanganui until 20

October.87 The northern position at Waihi was abandoned, and settlers

evacuated much of the area between Patea and the Waitotara River as

Titokowaru moved south to establish a new base at Otoia.88 On 1

October, with Wangénui receiving a steady flow of refugees, Gorton
wrote to Haultain outlining his plans for the defence of the town.
Immediate action was required, and though he again predicted a

difficulty in persuading men to come forward, he was determined to

call out the Militia on a regular basis.89

The Herald accepted the appointment of Whitmore as probably as
good a one as could have been made. Although Whitmore was already
unpopular with many settlers, he had as much military experience as

anyone else in New Zealand.90

86. EH, 7 Aug. 1868.

87. See T. McDonnell, An Explanation of the Principal Causes which led
to the Present War on the West Coast of New Zealand, etc., Wanganui,
1869. This pamphlet was published by Walter Taylor of the Times.
Ballance reviewed it in the Herald, 2 June 1869. See also G.S.
Whitmore, The Last Maori War in New Zealand under the Self-Reliant
Policy, London, 1902, ch. III.

88. See Belich, pp. 42-3.

89. Gorton to Haultain, 1 Oct. 1868, A.D. 1868/3281.

90. EH, 8 Oct. 1868.
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In the meantime Ballance had been elected chairman of the
Council of the Wanganui Cavalry,91 which was now, with a strength
of around sixty-five officers and men, being increasingly called
upon for patrols and as escorts for ammunition and food.

Combining the roles of private cavalryman and journalist, Ballance's

accounts of such expeditions soon started appearing in the Herald.

One trip, to Wereroa Redoubt, described by Ballance as being a
day 'as eventful as any immortalised by the enterprising Don Quixote',
brought the news to the town that Titokowaru's southward advance had

reached the Waitotara River.92

By the end of October Titokowaru,
having outflanked Whitmore who (accompanied part of the way by
Ballance?3 had moved forward to meet him, had established himself at
Moturoa, winning over some previously loyalist and neutral Maoris in
the prpcess.94 As Whitmore had burnt the settlements deserted by

Maoris who joined Titokowaru, so too Titokowaru destroyed settler

property as he moved south.

Meanwhile Gorton was still having trouble with Ballance, who
continued to contrast the efficacy of the volunteers with that of a
'press-ganged' militia. On one occasion he described a militia

call-out, when only a minority of those eligible turned up, as follows:

It was a really lamentable sight to see
men, when called on for the protection of

91. 1Ibid.

92. EH, 19 Oct. 1868.

93. Whitmore, p. 34.

94. Wanganui Times, 13 Apr. 1869, gives a survey of the campaign in
retrospect.
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their hearths and homes, 'creeping like
snails reluctantly to school', or being
dragged like lambs to the slaughter by
an escort of their comrades with fixed
bayonets. These are not the men to meet
Titokowaru... . 95

New grievances were added: poor pay when on active service and
generally bad conditions. Ballance was certain that the minor
concession of issuing a blanket to each militaman would do little to

remove the bad feeling arising from Gorton's 'cheese-paring system'.

As the front shifted closer to the town, Ballance was able
to provide increasingly detailed information on the movements of the
Colonial forces and the enemy for his readers.96 On 7 November
Whitmore attacked Titokowaru at Moturoa, and with the latter's defence
'most obstinate' retreated, in Ballance's unusually generous words,

'with great coolness and judgement' to Nukumaru.97 In fact it was

98

nothing short of disaster. Titokowaru now directly threatened

the land immediately to the north of the Kai Iwi stream, and a further
influx of settlers to Wanganui testified to the seriousness of the
situation.99 The Militia was called out to take their turn at the

front, an action Ballance was again critical of, arguing that they

should remain to protect the town.lo0

With Titokowaru having moved on to Tauranga-ika, within eighteen

miles and a days march of the town, Ballance finally succumbed to the

95. EH, 2 Nov. 1868.

96. E.g., see EH, 4 Nov. 1868. This was an expedition consisting of
the Wanganui Cavalry and the First Class Militia, to Kai Iwi and
Wereroa. Part of Whitmore's movements described above (p. 66, and
reference 93).

97. EH, 10 Nov. 1868.

98. Ballance had, in fact, already established a personal friendship with
Whitmore, which was to deepen later as their political careers
progressed. Ballance's high opinion of Whitmore was testified to by
other contemporaries. See Belich.

99. Wanganui Times, 13 Apr. 1869.

100. EH, 10 Nov. 1868.
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urgency of the situation. On 13 November, in a dramatic editorial,

he called all men to the full support of Gorton:

TO ARMS!!! The time has come for every

man that can shoulder a rifle to arm

himself at once, which hé can do by

applying at the Militia Office. Let

there be no panic, but with coolness and
determination let every man be at the post of
duty. ...We are not given to foster false
alarms, but when real danger is approaching
it would be foolish not to look it fairly

in the face, and prepare to meet it.

.+.0ur townsmen are not poltroons, 101

that would lurk in their houses when the e
enemy was at their doors. If they objected
to march out and leave their families, it

was because the latter wanted protection,

and because there was neither right nor
justice in the demand. They will now fall
in to a man, if it is for the immediate
protection of Wanganui. 102

Ballance accompanied this editorial with reports and advice on the
steps being taken by Gorton to defend the town. Wanganui had never
before been in such imminent danger, he wrote, with 'Hannibal
approaching the gates of Rome' and, which was perhaps even more
serious, a distinct possibility of a rising of Maoris up-river.

The town was at fever-pitch, especially so when the news arrived of
Te Kooti's raid on Poverty Bay. People speculated about Titokowaru's
and Whitmore's next move, rumours flew, and the place was believed to
be 'swarming with spies'. Ballance said that if the Government did
not immediately initiate a system of quarantine by which Maoris could

only enter the town with a pass, wholesale lynch law would follow.103

101. That is, 'cowards'.

102. EH, 13 Nov. 1868. Only seven men had appeared on militia
parade the day before, EH, 12 Nov. 1868.

103. EH, 13 Nov. 1868. o
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A defence meeting of the townspeople was held on Saturday 14
November, the day following Ballance's call to arms. A committee,
to which Ballance was elected, was appointed to draw up a petition
to impress upon the Governor the urgency of the situvation and
suggest practical defence measures that might be taken. Ballance
unanimously carried a second resolution, calling for the resignation
of Haultain, the Defence Minister (who with the Governor had just
arrived in Wanganui), and urging the Government to pursue a more
vigorous policy in what he saw as a war between civilisation and
'cannibalism'. Blockhouses were wanted, and a price should be put

on the head of every 'rebel' as a means of securing the loyalty of

the 'mercenary!’ kEEaEas.104

The committee presented a petition along these lines to the
Governor on 17 November,105 and when no satisfactory response was
forthcoming, organised a second public meeting. Ballance again took
the lead, urging the town to take upon itself its own defence. A
resolution to that effect was carried and a sub-committee, including
Ballance, was appointed to coordinate town patrols and other
practical measures of defence that the committee might come up with.
The Herald that evening carried, along with a report of the meeting,

some rousing poetry:

TO THE MEN OF WANGANUI.

The time for action has arrived,
You must your battles fight;

Relying on your own strong arm
To aid you in the fight.

Then forward all with one accord,
United heart and hand;

Go forth to meet the rebel foe,
and sweep him off the land.

104. EH, 16 Nov. 1868, Kupapas were Maoris who fought on the British
side during the war.

105. EH, 17 Nov. 1868.
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The blood of slaughtered countrymen
for vengeance calleth loud;

For vengeance on the treach'rous foe
Who slew them in cold blood.

Then quickly gird your weapons on,
And hasten to the fight;

And let this be your battle cry,-
For God and for our right. 106

The necessity for self-help, and the town's nervousness in general,
were heightened by the departure of Whitmore, with the main force
of Armed Constabulary, to the East Coast to deal with Te Kooti.

It is questionable whether Titokowaru would in fact have risked a
direct assault on the town, but the inhabitants clearly believed
this to be a distinct possibility, and as Belich points out,107
Wanganui's economic as well as physical survival depended upon a
military victory over Titokowaru breaking the siege.198 The seige

was ultimately as threatening as a direct military assault.

Whitmore was certainly worried about the possibility of an

attack, and before leaving Wanganui made extensive plans for the

town's defence.109 So too was Noake, a new local military commander.110

And as Titokowaru recruited more allies and the campaign began on the
East Coast, Ballance saw Wanganui's plight as simply part of a general

uprising:

106. EH, 20 Nov. 1868.

107. Belich, p. 57.

108. B.J. Dalton, War and Politics in New Zealand, 1855-1870, Sydney,
1967, p. 266, argues that Wanganui was in no actual danger, but
recognises that, especially given the background of Te Kooti's
'massacre' and the fact that the town was crowded with refugees,
the place was 'prey to wild rumours'’.

109. Whitmore to Haultain, 28 Nov. 1868, A.D. 1868/4370.

110. Noake to Haultain, 7 Dec. 1868, A.D. 1868/4732,
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The storm is gathering thicker and thicker,
and before many weeks are over the whole
island may be in a state of insurrection. 111

With Whitmore gone, and until his return to the town in January,

action by the local forces was by necessity limited to minor

skirmishing, patroling, and escorting of supplies and men to Kai Iwi.llg

Ballance, riding as a Corporal, and later Cornet,113 in the Wanganui

Cavalry, was increasingly drawn into military activity. The Cavalry,

whose strength rose from thirty-four in November to over eighty by

early January, had been taken on pay in October, and had already

helped defend Wereroa Redoubt until its evacuation.114 The Cavalry

was extremely 'jumpy'. On one occasion a patrol, including Ballance,

reported that Titokowaru's men were at a farm about three miles from

the town. Finnimore, the Cavalry's commander, reported this to

Gorton at 1 a.m., the latter then informing the Defence Minister,

Haultain, who was in Wanganui at the time. It turned out to be a

false alarm: the war-like cries heard by the patrol having emanated

from a group of rather drunk Maori shearers.115

Other actions were more serious. The two cavalry troops, the

Wanganui Cavalry under Finnimore and the Kai Iwi Cavalry under John

111.

112,

113.

114.
115.

EH, 24 Nov. 1868. Though these fears were exaggerated, it is
more significant that they were real and sincerely held. See
also EH, 19 Nov. 1868.

Both Nukumaru and Wereroa redoubts had been abandoned on 17
November, and all forces drawn back to the Kai Iwi stream. See
Lovegrove's chronology of the campaign in Wanganui Herald, 29 May 1948.
He was elected Cornet in early December, thus rising to third in
command after Capt. Finnimore, his future brother-in-law, and
Lieut. R. Day, EH, 3 Dec. 1868.

Wanganui Military Historical Society, p. 4.

See Gorton, pp. 86-9.
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Bryce, soon acquired a reputation for ruthlessness and a
reluctance to take orders from the professional military commanders,
the latter on the grounds that their local knowledge made them better

judges as to tactics and strategy.

Ballance took part in four major expeditions of the Wanganui
Cavalry. The first was in skirmishing connected with Whitmore's
failed attempt to re-take Nukumaru in late November. According to
Ballance's own dramatic account, none of the cavalry were wounded,
only one member of the Armed Constabulary being killed. It was a

'gallant' affair, 'though, indeed, the object was slight and the

results impossible to be great'.116

The secand expedition, a week later, involved the capture of a
pa on a hill opposite Woodhall's Redoubt (where the Cavalry was
stationed). Ballance, who commanded the party that 'took' the hill,

described it as yet another daring cavalry exploit. Unfortunately

the pa was empty.117 More significant was a third, three-day

skirmishing expedition further north towards Patea, which left town

in mid-December.118 The Wanganui Cavalry was formed into three

divisions, one each under Ballance, Day and Finnimore. They operated
alongside the Kai Iwi Cavalry, the exploits of whose commander, Bryce,

had already gained him a particularly ruthless reputation.119 In all,

116. EH, 2 Dec. 1868.

117. EH, 8, 9 Dec. 1868. Wanganui Herald, 29 May 1948.

118. See EH, 14, 15 & 18 Dec. 1868.

119. Rusden's description of Bryce cutting down women and children,
emerging from a pa, 'gleefully and with ease', led to a famous action
for libel, which Bryce won, receiving £5000 in damages. See G.W.
Rusden, History of New Zealand, vol. II, London, 1883, p. 504.
It referred to an incident, at Taurangaika Pa, on 1 December.
Ballance was not involved. See also J. Bryce, A Letter from the
Hon. John Bryce to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, etc.,
n.p., n.d.; G.W. Rusden, Tragedies in New Zealand in 1868 and 1881,
London, 1888.
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five villages were attacked:

...growing crops of potatoes, canoes, and
about twelve whares were destroyed, two
Hauhaus killed, a large quantity of stock
recovered, and the enemy laughfed at in his
very den,... all without a loss of a man or
horse. ...Although the enterprise was bold,
and to some may have seemed rash, yet every
precaution was taken. 120

There was already 'a good deal of talk' about differences

between the cavalry and Lyon,121 and these came to a head during a

similar expedition that rode out of Wanganui a few days later.

The cavalry commanders, Bryce and Finnimore, refused to continue the
campaign as far as Patea; apparently on the grounds that Lyon's
placing of the Maori troops at the head of the contingent invqlved
both dishonour and danger to the pakehas.122 In fact this was only
a part of the reason. Aside from the basic underlying stresses
between the professional military and the local volunteers
(continually reflected in the columns of the Herald), the cavalry
were reluctant to venture too far from Wanganui since that left the
town particularly vulnerable to attack. Both Bryce and Finnimore
were arrested for disobeying orders. Writing to Lyon, and having
received a report of the incident, Haultain said that it was only
the valuable role performed by the cavalry and Lyon's plea that they

should not be disbanded, that prevented further action being taken.123

120. EH, 17 Dec. 1868. See also WC, 17 Dec. 1868.

121. WC, 22 Dec. 1868. Colonel Lyon commanded the Colonial Field Force
based in Wanganui during Whitmore's absence.

122. See WC, 29, 31 Dec. 1868. The Chronicle saw the whole episode
as very unfortunate, and wanted the dispute resolved through
concessions on both sides,

123, Haultain to Lyon, 6 Jan. 1869, A.D. 6/19, Outward Letter Books.
Under section 5 of the Volunteer Act Amendment Act, 1867, the Corps
were not obliged 'to march or serve more than twenty miles' from
their base, in this case Wanganui.
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Ballance continued to act in the combined roles of cavalry
officer, war correspondent, and spokesman for the town on the
general military situation. An article published in the Herald
on 19 December 1868, was particularly outspoken. It commented
upon enquiries being made by Booth, the Resident Magistrate, into
the incident described above, where the cavalry killed two Maoris,

one a woman:

The cavalry have always professed that
they would kill every male Maori they
came across on the other side of the
Kai Iwi, unless there was some proof
that he was a kupapa, and it is impossible
at times, as it was the other day, to
distinguish between the men and women.
Let Mr. Booth get up an inquiry- who cares?-
the thing will be treated, so far as the
cavalry is concerned, with absolute contempt.
War is not made with rose-water, and the
cavalry do not live by war, and have no
interest in seeing it prolonged. Indeed,
it is every man's direct interest to put an

- end to the war as soon as possible. We
question whether it is so with many officers
and men in the 'regular' constabulary service.
It appears that some are jealous of the cavalry,
or disappointed that it has rendered services
to the colony. 124

Having pointed out that desperate measures were sometimes required if
the war was to be brought to a speedy conclusion, Ballance went on to
make an unveiled threat on a Maori named Ngahina, who, Ballance alleged,
was a spy for Titokowaru. 'A Maori in the enemy's country is', he

wrote, 'prima facie, one of the enemy and that is sufficient evidence

until the missionaries prove the contrary'.125

124. EH, 19 Dec. 1868. Ballance at the same time denied charges of
cruelty that had been made against the Cavalry.

125. Ibid. In fact, what was more significant, Ngahina had been
infTuential in getting the Pokaikai Commission set up to investigate
alleged acts of cruelty by McDonnell, Commander of Patea District,
in August 1868. Ngahina was an obvious target for settler
animosity. See AJHR, 1868, A-8.
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Unfortunately for Ballance, Booth passed a copy of the
editorial to Haultain in Wellington. Haultain shortly afterwards
wrote to Lyon instructing him to cancel Ballance's commission.126
Lyon in turn forwarded Haultain's letter to Ballance, the latter
receiving it on Saturday 2 January. Ballance was told that this

action was being taken

-++.as no person who can publish language
threatening the lives of friendly natives
who are in the service of the Government
can be allowed to hold a commission in the
local forces.

Naturally concerned not to alienate Maoris whom the Government hoped
would at least remain neutral, and at most join the kupapa force,

Haultain added that Lyon was to

...inform the Wanganui Cavalry and other
forces under your command that if any outrages
are committed on the native Ngahina or his
family, the perpetrators, if known, will be
immediately proceeded against by the civil
authorities. 127

Unrepentant, Ballance launched a fierce attack on both Booth
and Lyon only two days later, saying that although it had been an
honour to have held command in the cavalry he had a duty to speak out,

and that his independence 'could not be purchased by so cheap a thing

.. 128
as a commission'.

126. Haultain to Lyon, 28 Dec. 1868, A.D. 6/19.

127. EH, 2 Jan. 1869.

128. EH, 4 Jan. 1869. On 6 January the Herald published, in a number
of 'acts', an imaginary scene of a court martial held in an
'ancient store' on Taupo Quay. Part of the proceedings included
an exchange between two cavalrymen, one pointing out that the
Wanganui Volunteer Cavalry were now such bad riders because they
had lost their Ballance! Not for the last time was the Herald
indulging itself in some, still quite amusing, satire.



Ballance continued to serve in the Wanganui Cavalry as a
private, and after Whitmore's return to Wanganui in late January,
and the critical but somewhat mysterious desertion by Titokowaru
of his pa at Tauranga-—Ika,129 was involved in the early skirmishes
that followed the chief's retreat north. Whitmore, reaching
Nukumaru by 6 February, moved on in pursuit, sending the Wanganui

Cavalry back to town and leaving the Kai Iwi Cavalry to guard and

130

patrol their own district. Ballance, and the Cavalry, saw no

further action.131

Editorials of the Herald continued to evince Ballance's
'hard line' attitude to the conduct of the war and race relations
in general. They were views he would significantly modify in later
life (see chapter 7). In the meantime, and particularly.towards
the end of the war, he argued that peace would only come about

through the extermination of all 'rebels':

Benefits conferred on the native race

will at the present time pass for nought,

and the whole consideration of Government

must be for the colonists. If one colonist

is killed, let there be exacted the lives of
two aboriginals; if a tribe rebel, stamp out
the rebellion by extermination. Transportation
will answer the purpose... .Let the confiscated
lands be immediately occupied with white
military settlers... .Surely Hauhauism is as bad
as Fenianism. 132

As the war petered out, he turned his attention also to the question

129. Belich, p. 58. Belich suggests the main reason was an affair
Titokowaru was having with the wife of a lesser chief.

130. See Whitmore, ch. VII.

131. He remained a member until 1872, Lovegrove Papers, vol. 1, p. 661.
The Papers are in the Wanganui Public Library.

132. EH, 29 June 1869. See ch. 1 for Ballance's views on Ireland.
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of Maori political representation. It is clear that his approach
to this, as to other matters of race relations, sprang from a belief
(held by many others) that the basic philosophical premises
underlying his attitude to European affairs did not apply to an

essentially uncivilised race:

There is scarcely a member in the House

(of Representatives) but is conscious of

the folly of placing natives among

Europeans to deliberate on the affairs

of state. The native is a failure in every
respect... .The Maori representatives in the
Assembly have failed to throw any light on
the problem of governing the natives.
...What is their use, then...? 133 -

Later Ballance would change his mind (see chapter 7, p. 287).

Precisely how Ballance felt about his own participation in the

fighting is difficult to aggess. His editorials in the Herald were
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On the bodies being dragged out it was

seen that one of the victims was that of

a young girl. Mr Ballance came up
shortly afterwards, and when he saw the
dead body he was so overcome by the sad
spectacle that he burst into tears.

His companions, however... railled him

on what they thought his weakness, not
sufficiently appreciating his finely-strung
organisation and deeply sympathetic nature.
He only once spoke of the subject to me,
and said it was one of those sad incidents
he should never forget. 134

In later life Ballance referred to this period in only the
most general of terms. Despite a reputation for 'calling a spade
a spade',135 outlandish articles in the Herald and personal
conflicts with authority, his participation in the fighting never
produced such accusations of brutal pugnacity as clung to men like
Bryce and McDonnell for the rest of their lives. As we shall see
later, fundamental differences in character as well as belief, heip-
explain the major contrasts between Ballance's and Bryce's terms as
Native Minister. Ballance was not bellicose by nature, but nor was
he a coward. Rather he displayed a remarkable combination of
characteristics: aggressive on paper, morally and physically brave,
yet at the same time revealing, in Willis's words, 'the softness of
heart of a woman'.136 As he grew older this inner kindness was at

times interpreted by many, not always unjustly, as deference grounded

in a lack of confidence.

Ballance saw clearly that the war could help secure the Herald's
future. It not only enabled the paper to outflank the Chronicle,

which was milder and much less willing to criticise the authorities,

134. Y, 6 May 1893.  Sir Robert Stout, 'Character Sketch: The Hon.
John Ballance', Review of Reviews for Australasia, May 1893, p. 115,
also mentions the incident.

135. Lovegrove Papers, vol. 1, p. 660.

136. Y, 6 May 1893.
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as the medium for the town's discontent;137 but through his
first-hand accounts of the progress of the fighting, Ballance
achieved a reputation outside Wanganui as well. Herald articles
were reprinted in Wellington newspapers, at times providing Haultain
with the first information available on thé activities of forces

ultimately under his command.

Through the Herald and his own clashes with authority, Ballance
gained a personal notoriety that was never to damage the prospects
of a political career. Indeed it was of positive benefit: he was
now well-known, and in the eyes of many people in Wanganui had
faithfully represented their needs and fears in critical times.
Above all, these early experiences of the fragile nature of Wanganui
produ;ed in Béllance an almost religious conviction that only the
comprehensive settlement of the land could guaréntee, for himself and

the town, physical security and economic prosperity.

His experiences also drove home his suspicion that peace and
prosperity would only come through self-reliance, This theme
dominated his thought in the period immediately following the end of
the war. New Zealand's greatness was inherent, not imported. The
opening up of the land, settlement and prosperity should not be
dependent upon England, and would only come about when New Zealand

138

could herself maintain law and order. The solution sounded

137. The Times, on its last legs, was similarly critical of Ballance's
'extreme editorials’'. See for example, Wanganui Times, 1, 27 Apr.
1869, 4 May 1869. N

138. EH, 14 Apr. 1869.
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straightforward:

By placing a proper class of military
settlers on the available confiscated
land, the best guarantee would be given
against future disturbances; and this
would be the most comprehensive native
policy that could be proclaimed. 139

He urged the Government, while pursuing the war 'almost to

140

extinction', to utilise both military, and (given the need to

be financially independent) private land settlement enterprises,

141 Self-reliance

as the best way to establish permanent peace.
and self-help were the moral as well as the political pre-requisites
for personal, and popular, security and fulfilment. Specifically

the means was through the settlement of the land.

139. EH, 6 May 1869.
140. EH, 29 Mar. 1869.
141. EH, 10 Mar. 1869.
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Throughout the 1870s Ballance was to be intimately concerned
with the development of Wanganui Town and the settlement of its
hinterland. He was increasingly involved in political activity on
his own account; and, indeed, it was inevitable that this should
have been so. Journalism was an ideal springboard into political
Life. In fact journalism was for Ballance simply a part of his

consuming interest in politics.

What may be termed the 'politics of development' dominated this
period.  Specifically, the connected issues of Vogel's public works
and immigration programme and the constitutional position of the
provinces, were central to colonial politics. Politicians, it has
.been argued, acted primarily in the interests of the provinces to
which they belonged.- Politics involved eSsentially a scramble for
money for development, and provincial pressures were the determinants
of political power. Ministries differed only in the extent to which
they were prepared to borrow for development; some were more
'cautious' than others.1 One is tempted to conclude that the period
is marked by a distinct lack of real issues. Few politicians could
afford to oppose Vogel's development programme- particularly in the
early 1870s when it coincided with rising export prices- and all, to

a lesser or greater degree, had to face their constituents on the basis

1. W.R. Armstrong, 'The Politics of Development: a study of the
structure of politics from 1870 to 1890', M.A. thesis, Victoria
University of Wellington, 1960; A.M. Evans, 'A Study of
Canterbury Politics in the Early 1880s, with special reference
to the general election of 1881', M.A. thesis, Canterbury, 1959. Both
view politics in this period in terms of 'bold' versus 'cautious’
approaches to economic development. The 'traditional' view of
William Pember Reeves sees the period as dominated by a conservative
oligarchy, in the form of a 'continuous ministry', interrupted only
in 1877-9 and 1884-7, and finally in 1890. W.P. Reeves, The Long
White Cloud, London, 1899.
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of their ability to attract funds from the General Govermment for
local development projects. Equally, the question of the abolition
of the provinces seems relatively straightforward. Politicians

from the richer provinces, fearing they would lose their land revenue
to the central government, opposed abolition. Poorer provinces, with
a smaller revenue, or outlying districts who felt neglected by their
provincial capital, could only hope to gain out of abolition. Though
through different means, both abolitionists and provincialists sought
to maximise development. But to argue that politics was determined
solely by developmental needs is too simplistic. The desire for
economic develépment and prosperity has always been central to the
functioning of political systems. Given this, the method by which it
is achieved, and for whom it is to benefit, are more pertinent questions.
Certainly the distribution of colonial revenue and borrowéd.funds
imposed on contemporary politicians an over-riding law of political
activity based on provincial interest, yet this was simply because,
for reasons of political geography alone, it was the only sustainable
basis. There remained other, ultimately more important, political

cleavages that cut across provincial boundaries.

From the point of view of political biography- the political
philosophy and activity of an individual- this is of particular
importance. Concentrating on development per se emphasises continuity
in the objectives of the political alignments formed, highlighting
the superficial and obscuring the fundamental differences between
individual politicians. Political alliances at the centre were based
primarily on the development needs of provinces, but within this system
those needs were, for Ballance in Wanganui, orientated towards the

_promotion of a particular class of settler.
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Similarities between politicians were obscured in the same way
as differences. Ballance disagreed with his political contemporary,
Robert Stout, over the 'basic' issue of the 1870s, abolition of the
provinces. Yet the ends of both politicians were very similar.
Both were concerned with the distribution of political and economic
power: Stout believed that abolition would involve handing over Otago's
considerable land fund to a central government dominated by squatters.2
Ballance argued that only abolition would allow for a more just
distribution of government expenditure in favour of the genuine settler
of limited means rather than the squatter. Thus although the issues of
development and abolition per se appear critical factors in determining
political cleavages, development for whom is both more fundamental and
certainly more lasting, at least as far as Ballance and Stout are
concerned. Their joining the Grey Govefnment in 1878 reflected basic
similarities in political philosophy that had been present since the

commencement of both men's political careers.

Abolition for Ballance was never an end in itself. It was a
prerequisite constitutional reorganisation, removing a barrier to a
more equitable system of central and local government, that would respond
to the interests of those he sought to represent. This necessarily
affected his attitude to the public works and immigration programme :
‘under the provincial system Ballance, and Wanganui, were unable to
influence significantly the direction of development funds. Ballance
saw abolition and 'Vogelism' in terms of what they could do for
Wanganui, and in particular for the town's poorer settlers who saw their

future in the development of small farms in the hinterland. Attacks

2. D.A. Hamer, 'The Law and the Prophet: a political biography of
Sir Robert Stout (1844-1936)', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1962, ch. 1.
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made by Ballance, in the Herald and in his own speeches, on the
provincial system, were more often than not combined with criticism
of squatters and their hold on the political system. From the

start he sought to combat the political and economic power of large
capitalists, directly through the political system, and at grass-roots
level through a number of 'class' organisations, the most important

of which were the small farm associations.

T I I S S T S A S

On 19 May 1870 Ballance married Ellen Anderson, at St. Peter's
Church in Wellington.3 Ellen waS the second surviving.daughter of
David Anderson and Ann Thompson. Her father had travelled widely
with the British Army before emigrating to New Zealand in 1849.

He had married Ann in 1828, when he waé twenty-two and she just
fourteen, and they proceeded to have a large family born in various
parts of the world.4 He had intended to settle in Ireland but, owing
primarily to the onset of the famine, decided to emigrate to New
Zealand. On arriving in Wellington he bought a store on the beach
front,5 setting up business as a general merchant. As the firm was

very successful he soon established a second store in Molesworth Street.6

EH, 19 May 1870.

Including England, Ireland, East Indies, Gibraltar and Jamaica.

Now Willis Street,

He may well have been the first trader in New Zealand to use mail
order. This information on David Anderson is from EP, 13 Mar. 1889
(his obituary), and from his great-grandson, Mr John Anderson of
Wellington. David Anderson, or 'Paddy' as he was known, built his
Hankey Street Mansion in 1868.

bW
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Ellen was born in County Down, Ireland, in 1847. Her childhood

was privileged, though nevertheless difficult at times. Growing up

in Wellington she attended a private school run by Jane and Florence

Spinks, daughters of a businessman who had been elected to the

Provincial Council.7 Lessons were held in the Spinks's home, on the

corner of Willis Street and Macdonald Crescent, and attended weather

and health permitting.8 Ellen's elder sister, Ann, had married

William Finnimore of Wanganui, and it is undoubtedly through this

connection that she met Ballance.9 A second sister, Margaret, married

Samuel Griffiths and a third, Jessie, Stephen Foreman, both men being

from Wanganui.10 With Ballance now a figure of some importance in

Wanganui, and David Anderson a successful businessman in Wellington,

the marriage was, socially, a good one. It was to be, as far as one

can tell, a happy marriage. Ellen, a woman of considerable intellect,

10.

Sarah Jane Spinks was to marry David Anderson junior. Her
diaries, kindly lent to the writer by Mrs Carol Anderson, have
given some valuable insights into the personal life of both Ellen
and John Ballance. These Andersons saw the Ballances frequently
when the latter were in Wellington.

Reading the Spinks and Anderson diaries, one is reminded of the
extent to which health and the weather determined everyday town life,
at least for the well-to-do. Children, ladies of leisure, and
frequently men would simply not venture out of doors if the rain
was persistent and heavy. Health was equally restricting and
for some, perhaps not unnaturally given the high infant and child
mortality rate, practically an obsession.

See ch. 2. William Finnimore was a businessman who fulfilled
what might be described as a classic 'feeder' role. He was a
government auctioneer, valuator, licensed custom house, shipping
and commission agent, stock and cattle salesman and a land and
estate agent. He epitomised the role of the town as a 'parasite'
living off the country.

I am grateful to Mr John Haterly of New Plymouth, grandson of
Margaret Griffiths (née Anderson) for personal reminiscences of
the Anderson family. Finnimore was later to desert his wife,
going to South Africa where he, bigamously, remarried.
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kindly though determined and strong-willed,11 was genuinely interested

in politics on her own account.12

Ballance's own financial position was improving. The Herald
was beginning to expand from a now secure base. On 10 July 1869 the

Evening Herald announced that a new weekly paper would appear from

7 August. Called the Weekly Herald, it would contain articles and

news already published during the week in the Evening Herald, as well

as new material especially.tailored to meet the needs of country
readers.13 The weekly version was an attempt by Ballance to reach the
outlying districts of Wanganui's hinterland that could not be served

on a daily basis.

Established on the eve of an economic upturn and an expansion of

settlement, the Weekly Herald was to have cohsiderable initial success.

Its very first issue surpassed Ballance's cautious expettations: the

Evening Herald reported that as demand had exceeded supply, only

previously paid-up subscribers would receive a copy.14 This impression
of the success of both papers is heightened by Ballance's purchase, a

little over a year later, of a new printing machine direct from England.15

11. Sharing, indeed, similar characteristics with her husband. Her
father Paddy, tight-fisted in business affairs, was a strict,
patriarchical figure in his family. One's impression is that the
girls, in particular, had quite a lot to put up with!

12. She continued to be involved with a number of women's organisations
after her husband's death. On her participation in the franchise
movement see ch. 9, p. 342, ch. 12, p. 473,

13. EH, 10 July 1869.

14. EH, 7 Aug. 1869.

15. G.H. Scholefield, Newspapers in New Zealand, Wellington, 1958, p. 50,
writes that in the early years the Herald lost a good deal of
money. In fact Ballance was able, by 1882, to personally purchase
6,860 of the 7500 £1 shares of the company established in that year.
Information is scant, but it seems that though the war years were
difficult, the Herald in the 1870s prospered. The 1880s, as we should
expect given the close connection between the paper's prosperity and
that of the economy as a whole, saw a definite downturn in the Herald's
profitability.
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Both papers were enlarged.16 According to Ballance's own figures

(not necessarily accurate, of course), the Weekly Herald's circulation

quadrupled in two years.17 In one particularly revealing editorial,
Ballance emphasised the dependence of the town and his paper on new
settlements, and the Herald's continual advocacy of the settler's

cause:

The rising district of Patea is fast becoming

as important to the town of Wanganui as
Rangitikei has always been. Every additional
settler who locates himself there, is a fresh
customer to our town, and the prosperity of

that district brings corresponding prosperity

to Wanganui. ...We believe that the great body

of the settlers of the districts lately overran
(sic) by the rebels are opposed to a single
native being allowed to settle amongst them.

We represent these settlers par excellence.

Our journal is the only one that has a circulation
worth mentioning among them, and we are in a
position to know their sentiments on every public
question. We know that they will not allow
Titokowaru... to come amongst them again... . 18

By claiming to represent these settlers 'economically' as well as
politically, Ballance aimed to attract to the Herald advertisers hoping

to sell to this new market.

With the war over and bright prospects for major new settlement,
Ballance believed that the colony could extend its military self-reliance
to ecénomic and political independence. Distinctly nationalistic
editorials began appearing in the Herald. Though New Zealand had a

right to receive assistance from Britain during the war, Ballance argued

16. EH, 17 Dec. 1870. The Evening Herald was enlarged from five to
'six columns across, and the Weekly Herald to a total of sixty
columns. At 2d per copy the Weekly Herald was cheaper than
equivalent weeklies in the colony.

17. EH, 21 Sept. 1871.

18. EH, 29 May 1871. Particularly interesting given Ballance's candida-
ture, just over a year later, for the Egmont seat, which included
Patea.
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that now only complete control over her own affairs could guarantee
prosperity.19 He regretted the fall, owing primarily to its handling
of the war, of the Stafford Ministry in June 1869. Ballance had
regarded the Stafford Ministry as preferable to the alternative one

of Fox, since the former's policy of 'colonial unity, self-reliance
and local self-government' made up for many shortcomings, particularly
in 'native' affairs. He was particularly scathing of Fox for sending
Dillon Bell and Featherston to London to.seek new military assistance
from the British Government.20 Though Ballance had himself been
critical of the performance of the colonial troops, he had always

believed them sufficient to deal with the situation:

A strong feeling of patriotism is growing

up in the colony. ...The plain fact is that

some change is coming over the minds of the
colonists with regard to the relations between
the mother country and ‘the colony. ...Between
the lofty proud spirit of self-reliance tinged
with independence, of Mr Stafford and the
truckling begging solicitations of Mr Fox we

have no hesitation in deciding. We know not

a single advantage... in maintaining a

political connexion with the mother country.
...The disparagement of the colonial forces is
bad policy, for upon them all our dependence must
be placed, unless we get Imperial troops to fight
our battles... Sir George Bowen might be sent
home. ...Without troops we can also do without

a Governor. 21

Ballance soon made it even clearer that he was talking about
political as well as military independence. Self-reliance was

broadened into national independence and a kind of crusading, visionary,

19. EH, 19 Apr. 1870.

20. See W.P. Morrell, The Provincial System in New Zealand, 1852-76,
London, 1932, ch. IX.

21. EH, 10 Aug. 1869. Ballance's emphasis. See also EH, 14 Apr. 1869.
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nationalism:

The interests of the colony point to
independence. ...This country, if an
independent state, would command the
moral support of every nation in the
world. ...The energy that is implanted
by noble aspirations would enable the
nation to triumph over internal
difficulties, and to treat lightly those
sacrifices which it would have to make
before attaining the goal of unity and
peace. Independence will come to us
sooner or later. Is the time not
opportune? 22

Thus he viewed plans to establish a New Zealand University as enabling
the colony to 'look within itself to satisfy its aspirations, instead
of importing learnings of an exotic growth'.23 Finally, when the
British Government refused to guarantee a loan, in mid-1870, Ballance
welcomed the opportunity it gave for both sides to pursue a policy of
'non-interference’'. 'We shall flourish best under a system of virtual

independence'.24

Though the war was, apart from minor skirmishing, at an end, and
Ballance's emphasis of this an inducement to new settlers, he insisted
(at least initially) that the threat was still sufficient to justify
government assistance, primarily in the form of military settlers.

The confiscation of Maori land was legitimised by arguing that they had,

through rebellion, forfeited their right to occupy it. And in any case,

'natives can make no use of the land'.25 Placing on the land men who

had served in the military forces during the war made military and

economic sense.

22. EH, 27 Oct. 1870.

23. EH, 16 Aug. 1870.

24. EH, 2 June 1870.

25. EH, 8 Aug. 1870. See also EH, 10 June 1870. Land should be
alienated 'in the interests of civilisation', something, Ballance
continued, that would be 'obvious to all but philo-Maoris and
speculators’'. -
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However Ballance soon realised that the military settlements
had serious flaws. The settlers were often ill-equipped as farmers,
and frequently sold their rights to speculators, with land

46 At the same time, Ballance's stance

aggregation as the result.
on confiscation itself also began to change. Whilst he continued
to view settlement as essential to peace and economic development,
he increasingly saw that extensive alienation of land created

discontent and disorder,z'7 and threatened the very survival of the

Maori race.28

With the establishment of peace the necessary conditions had
been laid for economic expansion and the extension of settlement in
the Wanganui region. There was no shortage of land: further
confiscations were made,.more was bought, and the problem now was how
it was to be developed. Communications were extended into the
hinterland, to establish new settlements and to channel goods to and
from Wanganui town. The initial phase of road and rail building
served to strengthen Wanganui's position as an exporter of produce from
the Manawatu and Waitotara regions. A coach service to Wellington
had been established on a regular basis by 1868, but only with the
opening of the railway link with Wellington in 1886 and the reduction
of rail as compared with sea freight rates, could Wanganui be by-passed
and prcduce be sent direct to Wellington. In the meantime, Wanganui
was the closest, most convenient and therefore the cheapest route for
the increasing amount of wool and meat sent out through the port.

Harbour facilities and shipping capacity responded to the expansion in

26. EH, 21 Oct. 1870. On the Waikato see, e.g., W.M. Robinson, 'The
Pacification of the Waikato 1869-76'. M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1049,

27. EH, 14 Mar. 1872.

28. E.g., EH, 24 Dec. 1874. See ch. 7 for a fuller discussion of
Ballance's views on race relations.
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trade.29 Finally, the opening of the bridge across the river, a
major event for the town,30 ensured not only Wanganui's position as
a vital link in communications along the west coast, but her own

expansion through new settlement on the south bank of the river.

The nature of the town changed as it began to have an economic
existence in its own right; that is, beyond simply acting as a feeder
of imports to local settlers and exporter of farm produce. By the
mid-1870s small local industries had been established: breweries,
soap works, an iron foundry, rope factory and there was a growing flax
industry.31 Nevertheless, the town remained in a symbiotic relationship
with its hinterland, for local industries depended upon a sufficient
internal market as well as an export one. The expansion of the town
still rested ultimately on the sﬁcéess of'land settlemeﬁt. Between

1867 and 1874 the immediate hinterland's population grew at a faster

rate than that of the town itself.32 The future lay in the land.

Despite the brighter economic prospects, with increasing trade

and a booming flax industry,33 Ballance was depressed about a lack of

29. See S.M. King, 'The Port of Wanganui and its Influence on Wanganui',
M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1964, ch. 2.

30. The foundation stone was laid in November 1869 (see EH, 11 Nov. 1869)
and the bridge opened by the Governor two years later (see EH, 28
Nov. 1871). T

31. L.J.B. Chapple and H.C. Veitch, Wanganui, Hawera, 1939, ch. XVI.

32. The town population increased between 1867 and 1874 from 2157 to 2572.
The population of the electoral district, excluding the town, from
1749 to 2335. This represents increases of 19% and 33%
respectively. Figures calculated from New Zealand Census, 1867 and
1874.

33. Supply couldn't keep up with demand, EH, 2 Mar. 1870. On the flax
industry, and the high prices being obtained, see also EH, 14 Feb.
1871; EH, 15 Feb. 1871. Statistics on Wanganui's trade are hard
to procure. New Zealand Statistics are of little use. As Ballance
himself frequently pointed out (e.g. EH, 15 Aug. 1872), official
statistics on Wanganui trade did not reflect actual trade, since
Wanganui had little direct trade with foreign ports, most going via
other New Zealand ports which were credited with the volume.
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vitality in the town. It was a not unnatural reaction to the
failure of Wanganui's earlier agitation for constitution as a separate

province:

The river bank is crumbling... . There

are no public institutions, except the
hospital, and it has neither accommodation

nor comforts of any kind. The signal-station
is supported by shilling subscriptions; the
gaol has so little room that 'justice has to
be tempered with mercy', the police, like rats,
are leaving the rotten hulk,...justice is
limping on sticks... .

The fault lay with the provincial system:

Look to Wellington, and what do we see.
Tottering imbecility represents us. ...We
might wait until oxidatIon had removed the
semblance of the bridge before one note would
rise from the nocturnal labors of our
representative. He perhaps works in secret... .
Although ours is the sixth port in the colony,
it has not a place even in the inter-colonial
time table. Politically, it is absolutely
nowhere- deserted, forgotten, even hated, it
has surely attained its nadir, its lowest
depths. ...(T)he people are apathetic... .
...The atmosphere of provincialism is miasmal,
the waters stagnant, and both are acting on
the system, causing depletion and enervation.
We implore anything different from the present
system; we cannot be worse governed, and any
change will be received with a welcome only to
be measured by the intensity of the desire to
part with what we have. 34

Ballance was unremitting in his condemnation of the Provincial Council.
He insisted that a system of a central government, and local bodies

dealing with such things as roads, lighting, water and gas supply etc.,

34. EH, 24 Aug. 1869.
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must replace provincialism.35 The town was simply not interested

in the Council at Wellington. Local representatives had to be
persuaded to stand for election to the Council,36 which was spending
nearly all the income of the Province in Wellington,37 and performing

functions that could be much better carried out by either central

government or a local body.38

Not only did provincialism inhibit local development, but it
positively encouraged speculation in land. The Provincial Council
in Wellington controlled, on behalf of the Province, the vast area of
confiscated land, and set the terms of settlement. Ballance was well
aware that simply selling this land off to the highest bidder would
lead to speculation and aggregation, at the expensé of the small,
genuine; farmer. In 1869, fof example, 220,000 acres of the Manaﬁatu
were acquired by the Wellington Provincial Council. Ballance,

immediately on hearing the news, demanded that the 'interests of the

35. EH, 28 Dec. 1870; EH, 13 June 1872. Ballance described the
Provincial Council as a 'decrepid body' made up of 'fossils of the
order of crustacea', EH, 10 June 1869. On the setting up of the
provincial system and its early functioning, see R.M. Mullins, 'The
Division of Power between the General and Provincial Governments,
1851-58', M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1953.

36. EH, 15 June 1869.

37. EH, 7 July 1869. This was a complaint basic to Ballance's and
Wanganui's opposition to the provincial system. To what extent
this was true is difficult to assess. The statistics produced by
the Provincial Government did not break down expenditure regionally.
Separate figures were given for Wanganui's gaol, harbour and
hospital, and expenditure on these items was roughly in accordance
with the populations they served (see for example, Journal of
Proceedings of the Provincial Council, 1872, 1875, part F). On the
other hand, harbour finance, for example, would not bear a direct
relationship to population, as there was a basic cost of necessary
improvements. Control over its own finance was perhaps more
important for Wanganui.

38. EH, 24 Apr. 1872.
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working classes be considered' when the time came for the land's
disposal. Specifically, he wanted a portion of the land sold on
deferred payment, and at the same time urged that the Wanganui Small

Farm Association be revived. Both would promote bona fide settlement:

Shall this large area of country be
absorbed by the Wellington plutocracy,

and shall the man of limited means, the
small farmer, reap no benefit therefrom?
...Shall we have to witness the sacrifice
of a splendid estate among a select number
of monied monopolists? 39

Ballance pointed out examples of speculation elsewhere in
New Zealand. In Otago, for example, a Melbourne speculator named
Clark purchased 40,000 acres aiming to sell them at a considerable
profit, once roads and railways had m;de them accessible to settlemeﬂt.
It was the fault of a reckless Provincial Government, 'said Ballance,
and the sooner the control of land was in the hands of the General
Assembly the better. '"Provincialism never was so dangerous or
destructive to the interests of the colony as at the present time'.40
But even with central government control over land, there were dangers.
The Legislative Council threatened to subvert the interests of the
people and their representative. On various occasions Ballance urged
either its outright abolition,41 or at least the appointment of new
councillors to counteract the 'clique of large capitalists' in the
Council, so that those 'few men alienated from public opinion and
sympathy will not be permitted to usurp the functions of Government

and direct the policy of the country'.42

39. EH, 14 Oct. 1869. The same arguments are used elsewhere,
e.g. EH, 22 July 1870. On the advantages of leases with the
right of purchase, see EH, 11 Feb. 1870.

40. EH, 27 Sept. 1871. ‘

41. TFor example, EH, 20 Sept. 1869.

42. EH, 18 Sept. 1873.
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On 28 June 1870 Julius Vogel announced his Public Works and
Immigration Policy. He proposed to borrow £10 million over the
following ten years to facilitate a rapid expansion of settlement
and development in the colony.43 Ballance recognised it as 'one
of the most extraordinary Statements that has ever been presented to
a Parliament'. He couldn't help but admire it- it was 'bold and
uncompromising', though he was concerned that the capitation allowance
to be given to the provinces would sustain their life,44 and predicted

that they would ultimately cause the scheme to fail.45

He was considerably more enthusiastic once the details of the
works to be carried out in the Wanganui district became known.
Roads were to connect the east and west coasts, and to link with a
major road running north-south from Foxton. Ballance emphésised
that it was vital that the terms of settlement, facilitated by this

expenditure, be clear; it had to be bona fide.46 Looking back on

the session as a whole, he saw the measures as being 'conceived in
the spirit of self-reliance'. The development proposals would see

New Zealand 'come of age' as a nation:

...New Zealand statesmen have exhibited a
patriotism, devotion, and foresight, of
which other colonies may well feel envious.
The colony has come forth from its pupilage,
buckled on its armour, and is prepared to
take its stand among the nations. 47

Over the following two years Ballance was to considerably alter

his opinion. He had already pointed out the possible dangers of

43. PD, 1870, 7, pp. 102-08.

44. A careful reading of his financial statement makes it quite clear
that Vogel would not hesitate to abolish the provinces if they
obstructed his programme

45. EH, 1 July 1870. :
46. EH, 12 July 1870
47. EH, 15 Sept. 1870.
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maladministration and waste of public funds in the scheme.48 He
accepted the premise that borrowing was necessary for development,

but increasingly argued that in practice money was being misapplied.
For example, it soon became clear that railway building was a slow
process involving considerable expenditure and much less 'reproductive’
revenue than Vogel had predicted.49 Secondly, the unwillingness of
Parliament to adopt Vogel's plan to set aside land as a guarantee on

the borrowed money, created a fatal flaw in the scheme.so

Most important, the predominance of provincial interests meant
that political alliances were being formed simpiy on the basis of the
distribution of borrowed money. '"The expenditure of money is popular’
he wrote, 'and it matters little how the Government proposes to effect
it'.51 He deplored a situation where each representative was left
to fight for his own district, without considering colonial interests
Aas a whole.52 Worst still, with the house 'full of speculators ...of
fhe worst possiblé political characters', not only would ﬁrovincial
interests dominate, but the small farmer, the genuine settler, would

be ignored.53

There was, however, a considerable amount of new settlement,54

48. EH, 12 Aug. 1870.
49. EH, 19 July 1872.
50. EH, 4 Aug. 1872.
51. EH, 19 Oct. 1871.
52. EH, 17 May 1872.

53. EH, 27 Oct. 1871.

54. Assessing exactly where, when, and how much land was sold, is not that
straightforward. Figures for land holdings based on electoral
districts give some indication, though comparisons over a number of
years are difficult, as boundaries were constantly changing. Holdings
in Wanganui Electoral District (which did not include Rangitikei and
Manawatu, two major areas of new settlement), increased from 121,584 in
1867, to 168,767 in 1874 (in this year 63% of holdings were held
freehold). Figures from New Zealand Statistics, 1867, table 22 and
New Zealand Census, 1874, p. 258. Figures for the province as a whole
are of course available. Land under crops, plus land broken up but not
under crops, rose from 136,204 acres in 1869 to 203,171 acres in 1872,
New Zealand Statistics, 1876, p. 198. In 1872, the province sold
65,155 'country' acres; New Zealand Statistics, 1872, .part III, table 8,
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particularly once a decision on the positioning of railway lines

in the province had been made.55

Ballance welcomed, in part as a
vindication of his own efforts, the announcement in early 1872 that
the Provincial Government was to set aside 45,000 acres for sale on

deferred payment, under the Wellington Special Settlements Act of the

previous year:

The boon of obtaining land on deferred
payments has been strenuously struggled

for by a large section of the working men

in this province for several years, and its
realisation now will be a source of
unalloyed satisfaction, not only to them but
to those who believe that the settlement of
the country can best be carried out in aiding
the frugal and industrious, through a
generous and liberal system of legislation,
to occupy and cultivate the lands. 56

As editor of the town's evening paper, and because of his
activities during the war, Ballance was by the end of 1869 a well-known
local personality. Over the following two years he was to establish
his own political credentials as well. His decision to stand in a
by-election for the General Assembly in 1872 came as no surprise.

The foundation for his first venture into politics had been well laid
by his involvement in local affairs and promotion of a wide variety of

local organisations.

Indeed it seems safe to conclude that Ballance had politics as
a career (albeit in tandem with journalism) in mind ever since his
first year in New Zealand. The Herald provided the perfect medium

for his views. Significantly, he was never interested in standing

55. See, for example, EH, 1 Feb. 1872. On this occasion sections in
Wanganui town, at Eahpbelltown, 21,800 acres in Manawatu (Foxton,
Palmerston, Fitzherbert etc.), were being sold. By 1877 Wellington
Province, an area of some 7 million acres, had disposed of 1.7 million
acres, excluding the confiscated lands; New Zealand Statistics,

1877, p. 196.

56. EH, 1 Feb. 1872.
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for local government or for the Provincial Council. He saw the
General Assembly as the centre of political power, and was confident
and ambitious enough to be satisfied with nothing less than a seat

in that chamber.

Before becoming a candidate himself, he promoted others for
office. His brother-in-law, William Finnimore, received Ballance's
full support when he stood for the Superintendency of Wellington
Province57 on the basis that if elected he would make every effort to
have the Provincial Council abolished.58 Ballance also supported

Bryce's candidature both for the Provincial Council and the General

59

Assembly. Though temperamentally quite different, Ballance and Bryce

formed an early friendship. Bryce had come to Wanganui earlier than

Ballance, and had been Wanganui's representative in the Provincial

Council, with a gap of two years, since 1862.60 They agreed on the

unsatisfactory position of Wanganui within the provincial system, but
with abolition more fundamental rifts soon became apparent, and they

drifted apart, finally ending as political opponents.61

57. EH, 18 Mar. 1871.

58. EH, 19 Apr. 1871. Finnimore (who with Watt, Hutchison and Morgan
represented Wanganui on the Provincial Counc1l see EH, 13 Jan. 1871)
was the local abolitionist candidate, and naturally polled well in
Wanganui town. He did reasonably well elsewhere. Fitzherbert, a
supporter of Featherston, the retiring Superintendent, won on hls
support in Wellington town: Fitzherbert 669, Finnimore 307, and a
third candidate, Anderson, 15. See EH, 20 Apr. 1871.

59. For example, EH, 3 Oct. 1870; EH, 14 Oct. 1870.

60. John Bryce was born in Glasgow in 1833, and emigrated to New Zealand
with his father in 1840. He farmed at Brunswick, near Wanganui from
1853 to 1903. Now an abolitionist, he had been elected to the
General Assembly as Wanganui's representative in 1866.

61. Ballance nominated Bryce as a candidate for the General Assembly at
the start of the latter's political career. Ironically, when
Ballance was Premier, Bryce, following Atkinson's death, was for a
while Leader of the Opposition.
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Another means Ballance employed to promote himself as a suitable
representative of Wanganui, was his continual criticism of present
representatives. This was done not only through the Herald. In
late 1869 he chaired a meeting to grill members of the Provincial
Council on their conduct during the session just ended. He felt
particularly grieved at their support for the Schools Bill (which
allowed the Provincial Government to impose a school rate), and
complained that the proposed system would be fundamentally unjust,
since 'the labourer who earned his bread by the sweat of his brow
(would have) to pay the same as the wealthiest man in the community’'.
Education should be provided for out of general revenue.62 Ballance
was the major figure at the meeting, making things rather uncomfortable
for the representatives, and especially for Hutchison, who had been

instrumental in having the Bill introduced.63

Also, Ballance was at the fore of a campaign to bring a greater
degree of local government to the town, through the acquisition of
powers exercised by the Provincial Council. This could be done by

constituting Wanganui a Borough, under the terms of the Municipal

Corporations Act of 1867.°% As soon as the Act was passed Ballance

urged that a petition be drawn up,65 but it was not until early 1871

66

that one was ready for signing. There was some opposition to the

62. For Ballance's early views on education, see also EH, 7 June 1872;
'"Every child of poor parents ought to have its education free, and
of the best to be had in any country in the world'.

63. EH, 15 Dec. 1869.

64. Eighty ratepayers could petition for a borough, and a corporation
consisting of a mayor and nine councillors which could levy rates
up to 1/= per £. The Provincial Government had the power to

withdraw the equivalent amount of its financial support for the town.

65. EH, 16 Oct. 1867.
66. EE, 16 Jan. 1871. The question was raised by Finnimore at

a meeting of the Town Board, a body which had been established in 1862
(under the terms of the Pub11c Boards Act, of the Provincial Council,
1856) to manage local public works, streets, sewerage etc. See EH,

29 Dec. 1870.
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idea,67 but a second petition was successful and on 1 February 1872
Wanganui was constituted as a Borough.68 In supporting this
extension of local government, Ballance at the same time made it
quite clear what the limitations on the functions of the borough
ought to be. On the eve of the Town Board meeting expected to
discuss the question, he specified the division of responsibility
between local and central government. Matters of local concern
included paving, lighting, water and gas supply, parks and the

provision of free libraries.69

The Herald was frequently used by Ballance to organise, promote,
and explain the purpose of, local organisations. One, called the
Political Reform Association, seems to have had only an ephemeral
existance. It was formed by a meeting in the town on 4 May 1871, when
John Bryce was in the chair. Ballance proposed that the Association
be established, and the resolution was carried unanimouély.70 The
Association met again three weeks later, when its political principles
were outlined. They were very general: the economic administration
of the colony, the abolition of the provincial system, and the support
of candidates sympathetic to the Association's views. Perhaps because
of this very generality, the association seems to have disappeared
without a trace; there are no accounts of its activities in subsequent

issues of the Herald.71

Much more significant was Ballance's promotion of, and participation

in, the Odd Fellowship Society, formed in Wanganui in 1867. Though not

67. See Chapple § Veitch, p. 284.

68. W.H. Watt was elected first Mayor, EH, 14 Feb. 1872.

69. Ballance used writings of John Stuart Mill to support his argument,
EH, 28 Dec. 1870.

70. EH, 5 May 1871.

71. See EH, 25 May 1871 for a report of its second meeting.
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essentially a 'political' society, Oddfellowship reflected Ballance's

own philosophical beliefs as well as his personal experiences.

The Ancient Independent Order of Odd Fellows (with 'lodges' or

branches in New Zealand, Australia and the U.S.A.) emulated its

parent organisation, the English friendly society, the Manchester

Unity of Odd Fellows. This latter body was the largest of its kind

in England, with over 400,000 members in 1872.72 Like other friendly

societies, it aimed to provide sickness and 1life insurance through

regular subscriptions of members, but the Oddfellows had extended

these benefits to include such things as widow and child relief, and

assistance for sickness in old age. Membership was drawn dispropor-

tionately from artisans in building trades and traditional handicrafts:

the society represented upward social mobility; the success of

self-made men who aspired to the ranks of the middle class.73

Ballance was involved in the Wanganui society from its foundation.

He was 'Noble Grand Master' of the Lodge74 and later Deputy District

Grand Master of the North Island. In fact the society was restricted

to the Wanganui area,75 and to Dunedin in the South Island.76 For

72. This and the following information on the English society is taken
from T.B. Tholfsen, Working Class Radicalism in Mid Victorian England,
London, ch. 9.

73. The Oddfellows combined philanthropic and didactic functions-
interestingly, given Ballance's connection with the town, the
Birmingham branch promoted a library and schools.

74. EH, 19 July 1871.

75. Todges were opened in Marton in 1872, and Bulls in 1873, EH, 1 July 187

76. EH, 27 Apr. 1869. The Manchester Unity itself had a much larger

membership in New Zealand than the American-based I.0.0.F. See AJHR,
1877, H-19, Friendly Society Returns. H. Shepherd, 'The Nature and
Role of Friendly Societies in Later Nineteenth Century New Zealand',
Research Essay, Massey University, 1976, appendix table III, gives
I.0.0.F. membership as 396 in 1880, 724 in 1890 and 1,941 by 1900.

See also H.W. Gourlay, 0dd Fellowship in New Zealand, Christchurch, n.d
and J.K. Hoar, 'A Descriptive History of the Major Aspects of the
Friendly Society Movement in New Zealand, 1840-1900', M.A. thesis,
Idaho, 1963.
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Ballance the society epitomised his belief in self-help and
self-reliance. It showed that through organisation the working
classes could provide for their own material wants. More than this,
it combined an educative role with the general aim of raising the
whole position of its working class members: it was the 'great

leveller of civil society':

We view its spread as one of the most
indubitable signs of the advance of
civilisation. Propagating and difussing
principles of the highest ethical standard,
and intended to promote a universal brotherhood
among all classes of men, it commands the
attention of political and social reformers,
not in the way of legislation, for it does
its own work without interference, but to
give a more sudden and marked prominence by
the influence which men of elevated station
can import. 77

Apart from providing insurance and charitable relief, the
Wanganui society concentrated in its early years on éonstructing a
building, the upper floor of which was to be reserved for lodge meetings,
with the lower floor devoted to a reading room available, free of
charge, to the public. Ballance opened 'The Institute', as it was
called, in July 1874. In his speech, and no doubt with his own debt
to the Midland Institute in Birmingham in mind, he emphasised the
importance of this latter 'moble' function. He hoped that soon the
reading room would become a well-stocked library, promoting technical

as well as general education:

This Institute, it is hoped, will be the centre
of enlightened teaching in science, not only
through books, but experimentally... .We suffer

77. EH, 1 Apr. 1869.
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from the evils of defective laws and bad
administration, or we should have had
before now our technical school of art and
science supported out of endowments and
educational revenue. But... (w)e should
not remain satisfied with what we have
already achieved. All progress depends

on the desire to accomplish greater results
than what have gone before. Besides, the
mind is in the healthiest state morally and
intellectually, when it is braced for action.
The principle of "rest and be thankful'" 78
has been exploded; there is no finality in
any work of man or in nature. 79

On 6 September 1872 the Fox Ministry, which was dominated by
Vogel and had been in power since June 1869, resigned. It was defeated
by three votes, after a long debate on the administration of the Public
Works and Immigration Policy, being replaced by a Ministry bent simply
on a more 'prudent' continuation of that policy. Stafford, an
abolitionist who headed the ministry, had been Premier twice before.
With him, somewhat incongruously, were the Superintendents‘of three
provinces, Fitzherbert, Curtis and Gillies. The fifth member of the
Ministry, Henry Sewell, 'had been in so many ministries that no one
regarded him with confidence'.80 Ballance, who had been a supporter
of Stafford, welcomed the fall of Fox, and hoped that Vogel's scheme

might still be rescued from disaster:

78. Interestingly, this was Atkinson's plea when he was Premier of the

'scarecrow ministry' of 1887-90 and Ballance Leader of the Opposition.

79. EH, 1 July 1874. Ballance's interest in science connects with his

??éethought views (see ch. 6). It is a marvellous speech. Ballance,

having outlined the short history of the Oddfellows in New Zealand,
discussed its role in Wanganui and in society as a whole. It is
thoughtful, well-prepared, at times amusing, and philosophical;
revealing in Ballance a great sense of mission and optimism about the
future. Ballance also sustained his interest in land and building
societies. See EH, 17 Oct. 1872 on the Wanganui District Land and
Building Society.

80. W.P. Morrell, The Provincial System in New Zealand, 1852-76, London,
1932, p. 218.
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...the most corrupt and unprincipled
Ministry that ever defaced the political
annals of a country, has just been hurled
from power into ignominy. ...Never did any
Ministry assume office under more favourable
auspices than did the Fox Ministry. ...The
minds of the people were bewildered, and
their senses dazzled with the gorgeous grandeur
of schemes and the fulness of promises. (What
has been the result?) ...(T)welve miles of
railway, a few hundred miles of road, a handful
of indifferent immigrants, on the one hand; and,
on the other, the ordinary revenue and over a
million of borrowed money expended. ...In the
hands of careful administrators... the country
has still a great future. ...The watchwords of
the new Ministry should be, 'Reform and Economy'. 81

Meanwhile, Gisborne, who had been Colonial Secretary, and for
a few weeks Minister of Public Works, in the Fox Ministry, resigned
his seat for Egmont.82 Ballance decided to stand at the by-election.
He published his address to the electors in the Herald on 13 September,
saying that ﬁe felt justified in coming forward because of his
promotion over the last five years, of bona fide settlement. He
welcomed the changé in government, since now prudence would replace
recklessness: '(t)his is a time in the history of the colony when
there should be capacity and economy in the Government and honesty in
the Legislature'. Development should continue, and great prosperity
was possible, but there were grave dangers that excessive borrowing
would lead to 'fin;ncial ruin and dishonourable repudiation'.  His
second plank concerned the constitutional position of the provinces.
Quoting Mill (that human nature was continually changing and developing),

he argued that gradual reform of the provincial system should commence at

once, without waiting until the whole system might be abolished at one

81. EH, 7 Sept. 1872.

82. He had been appointed Commissioner for the Government Life
Insurance Office and was obliged to resign under the terms of the
Disqualification Act.
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83
go.

Ballance's campaign lasted ten days. The constituency of
Egmont consisted of two major settlements, New Plymouth and Patea, one
at each end. It was this latter, 'Wanganui end' that would provide

Ballance with his support. The Taranaki Herald, on hearing of

Ballance's candidature, correctly asserted that he would receive 'little

or no support' from New Plymouth.84

Ballance exploited Patea's position as an outlying district of
Taranaki Province: many in Wanganui had for a long time claimed that
Patea's interests and future lay with her (Wanganui) rather than

New Plymouth. He spoke in the town on 18 September. The Herald

e

correspondent described the speech, lasting three and a half hours, as
'wonderfully good'. The meeting was held in aﬁ 61d corrugated iron
shed. . Apparently Ballance later said '...how nervous he was' that
night, and that he was glad he was speaking in a dimly-lighted room,
because the people could not see his knees knocking together when he
rose to speak'.85 Two days later he addressed the Hawera electors,

who were, again in the opinion of the inevitably partisan Herald,

'surprised and delighted' with Ballance's performance.86

83. EH, 13 Sept. 1872. Ballance said, in 1881, that abolition was
his central policy at this election (see Y, 4 June 1881). He thus
played down differences between himself and Vogel, whom he was to
join in a ministry in 1884.

84. 18 Sept. 1872. The Taranaki Herald supported Moorhouse, the
Taranaki News Atkinson. The Wellington newspapers were equally
divided: the Evening Post, interested in Ballance's candidature
primarily as a.means of defending him from the personal abuse of its
rival, the Independent, supported Atkinson (see for example, EP, 18
Sept. 1872). The Independent, under the strong influence of Fox,
supported Moorhouse. The Post's defence of Ballance, referred to in
ch. 2, concerned his activities as an 'itinerant vendor' of jewellery.
See EP, 20 Sept. 1872.

85. Quoted by W.K. Howitt, A Pioneer Looks Back Again, Auckland, 1947,

p. 265.
86. Both meetings were reported in EH, 26 Sept. 1872.
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Yet despite the optimism brandished through the pages of his

own paper, Ballance soon realised that election would be difficult

to achieve. There were two other candidates; W.S. Moorhouse, who

had been Superintendent of Canterbury Province87 was a personal friend

and supporter of Fox, and a consistent advocate of Vogel's public

works' policy, and Harry Atkinson who, like Ballance, supported

Stafford. It was clear that Moorhouse would probably win with

Ballance and Atkinson splitting the pro-Stafford vote. Atkinson had

been present at Ballance's Hawera meeting,88 and their campaigns were

89

in general closely linked. Through pressure from Stafford ~ and

discussing the matter with Atkinson,90 Ballance decided to retire.

Retirement was facilitated by a 'face-saving formula', which

pointed out that the rejection of about eighty freeholders in Patea

and environs from inclusion on the electoral roll ('though despicable

conduct on the part of someone')?1 meant that Ballance could not hope

to be successful. In withdrawing his candidature, he said:

87.

88.
89.

90.
91.

As Major Atkinson is, like myself, an
independent supporter of the present
administration, I might by determining

Between 1857 and 1863. He was M.H.R. for Akaroa, 1858 to 1860.

In 1870 he was appointed Secretary for Lands and Land Claims
Commissioner, and soon afterwards Registrar-General of Lands. He
resigned these civil service posts in order to fight the by-election.
The Herald criticised his policies and questiomed the

success of his campaign. It reported, for example, that only three
people had attended his Patea meeting, EH, 24 Sept. 1872. :
EH, 24 Sept. 1872. _

Writing to Stout years later, Ballance said that Stafford had made
the initial suggestion. Ballance to Stout, 17 Nov. 1890, Stout MSS.
See Ballance's account in Y, 14 May 188l.

EH, 19 Sept. 1872. -
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to go to the poll, have injured the
cause in allowing an ally of Mr Vogels

to be returned, thus strengthening a
party whose return to office I should
consider fatal to the honor and financial
stability of the colony. 92

He urged his supporters to vote for Atkinson.

As it turned out, Stafford, Atkinson and Ballance were right.
Atkinson won by the slim margin of twenty-four votes, and it was his
majority in Patea (forty-six to seventeen) that was the critical factor.93
Once in the House, Atkinson asked for a return of the rejected claims
to be produced (this may well have been a part of his agreement with

. . 94
Ballance, who continued to publicise his grievance through the Herald).

The Stafford Ministry was short-lived, being defeated on 4 October
by a no-confidence motion spearheaded by Vogel. The mixed personnel
of the Ministry was a major cause of defeat, though Ballance put it

down to its inability to attract the critical support of Donald McLean,

the influential ex-Minister of Native Affairs.95

P T T T N

92. EH, 23 Sept. 1872.

93. Atkinson won in New Plymouth (38 to 34), Omata (14 to 9) and Patea
46 to 17). He lost to Moorhouse in Oakura (16 to 30), EH, 7 Oct. 1872.

94, See, e.g., EH, 24 Oct. 1872. In fact it was Bryce who asked the
original question requesting the returns (PD, 1872, 13, pp. 669-70),
Atkinson supporting him. Atkinson, two days later, asked the
Government if the opinion of the Attorney-General could be sought on
the matter. The return (see AJHR, 1872, G-49) showed that fifty-
eight claims had been rejected in 1872 (only fifteen in 1871). It was
a significant number in a total roll of 266. What appears to have
happened is that Ballance made a desperate effort to have prospective
supporters placed on the roll. In the haste mistakes were made in
the applications, and by the time claims had been returned to the
electors for correction, it was too late to have them included on the
final roll.

95. EH, 8 Nov. 1872.
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The momentum of Ballance's political career was sustained by
his promotion, six months after his withdrawal from the Egmont contest,
of a revived separation movement in the town. This resurgence of
separatist feeling reflected Wanganui's belief that it was being unfairly
excluded from the increased revenue of the Province.96 It was not
now a matter of overcoming stagnant economic conditions inherent in
provincial finances, so much as the town seeking to obtain its fair
share of rising prosperity. Ballance pointed out that of the proposed
new loan of £210,000, to be expended on public works, the area between
northern Wanganui and southern Rangitikei, containing at least one

third of the province's total population, was to receive only £5,000:

We can only tolerate provincialism when
we find it attempting to scatter the gifts
with which our constitution has endowed it,
with an impartial hand. When it
appropriates them for its own aggrandisement
or upon a system of favoritism, we look upon
provincialism as a thing which should be
reformed out of existence by short, sharp, and
decisive means. ...Let us again demand
separation from Wellington, with the formation
of a cheap and economical county government,
embracing the district from the Waingongoro
river to the Rangitikei. ...A united and earnest
attempt to obtain from the legislature the

© 7 political independence which we consider necessary
to our prosperity and growth, is most likely to be
favorably received in the Assembly. 97

Ballance was at pains to make it clear precisely what the

Separation Committee, formed following a meeting in the Oddfellows hall

96. After declining between 1867 and 1870, revenue increased
continuously over the following few years. The greatest
increase was in 1873, the year of the separationist revival,
when it rose to £240,433, an increase of 80% on the previous
year, New Zealand Statistics, 1876, p. 173.

97. EH, 22 Apr. 1873. On the earlier separation movement, see ch. 2,
pp. 52-53.
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on 5 May 1873, wanted. They did not seek a new province, nor a

county on the Westland model,98 but rather a 'shire'. Most important,

land sales and revenue would be administered by the general government.99

Ballance was a leading figure of the campaign. He spoke at all the
meetings held. Wanganui, he said, could survive on its own; in fact

it was going to become the centre of the foremost district in the

country.loo Quoting from provincial statistics, he showed just how

101

badly Wanganui fared under the existing system. He spoke for the

first time at Marton, emphasising how closely the interests of that
settlement were tied to those of Wanganui.lo2 This theme of local

independence was repeated in his speech, in June, at a meeting called

to question the activities of Wanganui's provincial councillors.103

A petition calling for separation was organised. Containing 1108

signatures, it was presented by John Bryce (Wanganui's M.H.R.) to the

House on 31 July.104 Shortly afterwards, Bryce moved the second reading

of the Wanganui, Rangitikei and Patea Shires Bill, arguing that as
Wanganui was already a corporate council, and as so few powers remained

with the Provincial Government, there would be little difficulty in

legislating for complete separation.105 Vogel, though accepting that

98. Westland, originally part of Canterbury Province, had been
constituted a separate County in 1867. It was a 'half-way house'
to full provincial status, with the powers of superintendents
vested in the Governor, who was in turn advised by a County
Council. Westland became a Province in 1873.

99. EH, 11 June 1873.

100. EH, 6 May 1873.

101. EH, 1 May 1873.

102. EH, 23 May 1873.

103. EH, 21 June 1873.

104. PD, 1873, 14, p. 191; EH, 28 July 1873.

105. PD, 1873, 14, pp. 662-68. Emphasising the lack of significant
change that would be involved, Bryce's argument was much more
'conservative' than the one adopted by Ballance.

-
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it may not be the mover's intention, warned that the Bill would be
a retrograde step, leading ultimately to the creation of a new

province. He would by far prefer to see Wellington and Taranaki

Provinces combined.106 More vigorous opposition came from Wellington

city members, from Fox (M.H.R. for Rangitikei but closely identified
with Wellington) and others. The supporters of the Bill, including
the members from New Plymouth, Egmont, Wairarapa, and Bryce himself

from Wanganui, were finally outnumbered eleven to twenty-five. Vogel

abstained.107

Ballance was well aware of Vogel's increasing frustration with
the provinces,108 and soon the question of Wanganui's own position
within Wellington Province became submerged in a general movement

towards complete abolition. In August 1874 Vogel suggested that the

09

provinces of the North Island be abolished.1 Ballance pointed out

that proyinciélism had been created in the first place only .in response
to the limitations imposed by the geographical features of the colony.

With those restraints no longer applicable, provinces in both islands

10

should be abolished.1 As the localisation of the land revenue was

part of the Government's proposals, Canterbury and Otago need have

nothing to fear.111

106. PD, 1873, 14, pp. 668-69.

107. Tbid. See also EH, 28 Aug. 1873.

108. Particularly with regard to their borrowing activities, see
for example, EH, 25 Sept. 1873.

- 109. The specific cause of Vogel's 'conversion' was opposition to his
Forests Bill, but he was fed up with provincial interference in
general. See Morrell, ch. X.

110. EH, 19 Aug. 1874.

111. EH, 9 Sept. 1874. Land revenue accounted for a considerably larger
proportion of total revenue in Otago and Canterbury than elsewhere.
Indeed it was at times larger than the other major source of revenue,
customs duties. In Auckland the situation was the reverse- revenue
from land sales made up, approximately, only one-tenth of total
revenue. New Zealand Statistics, 1876, p. 173.
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It was clear that Vogel's Bill to abolish the North Island

112

provinces only was the thin edge of the wedge. Ballance stressed

that with abolition control of the land must pass to the central

government, though the appropriation of the revenue would remain the
same; part going to general revenue, part returned to local bodies
for public works.113 Maladministration of the 'waste lands' by the
Provincial Governments he saw as a major reason for abolition. The

reckless sale of land should cease, and genuine settlement be

encouraged by central government.114 'Genuine settlement' meant

small farms for the working classes. Payment should be deferred, and

the terms should be easy. Why should the working man,

...with little more than his labour,...pay
a greater price than the grazier or the mere
speculator. Why indeed?...It is high time
the barriers which favor capitalists in the
Wellington province were broken down, and
that the working man had a chance. ...(A)
heavy responsibility rests on the Government
of the colony in the first instance as to the
way in which they deal with the public estate. 115

The Governmént promoted settlement of the less well-off not
only through a system of deferred payments, but in 'special settlement'’
schemes.  Special settlements originally consisted of groups of
immigrants (from the same country), the cost of whose passage and
establishment on the land was at least partly borne by the government.

Many of these early schemes, a means of clearing land heavily covered

with bush, were in Wellington and Hawkes Bay provinces.116 Ballance

112. EH, 4 Dec. 1874.

113. EH, 27 May 1875.

114. EH, 17 May 1875.

115. EH, 24 Feb. 1873,

116. K_bortion of, and in some cases all, the money expended by the
Government was to be repaid later by the settlers. See, for example,
expenditure on special settlements in 1873, AJHR, 1873, D-13. In this
year all the settlements were of Scandanavians: Palmerston, Manawatu,
Mauriceville, Forty Mile Bush, Seventy Mile Bush, Dannevirke and
Norsewood. See also part III of R. Arnold, The Farthest Promised
Land, Wellington, 1981.
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was concerned that these and other immigrants should have at least

some capital, and be determined and equipped to become 'genuine'

small farmers.117 He saw emigration as a means employed by England

to lessen the effects 'of its own pauperization'. The Imperial
Government's support of colonial loans rested on her hope of working

11
off her surplus population. 8

In this period, between Ballance's withdrawal from the Egmont
contest apd his election for Rangitikei in 1875, the broad base of
his liberalism became apparent. The Herald followed closely events
in England. Ballance supported Gladstone's liberal administration
(1868-74), describing it as probably the best ministry England had

ever had.119 Using Gladstone's arguments, he urged that taxation

120

should be reduced rather than increased. He favoured government

assistance for colonial industry, though it should be in the form of
bonuses rather than protection.121 'Increasiﬁg the price of -imported
goods would be 'téking money out of the pockets of one class and
putting it into the pockets of another', much less desirable than
stimulating home industries through bonuses.122 He frequently quoted

Mill, for example in support of his own belief in granting women equal

117. EH, 13 June 1870; EH, 28 May 1872; EH, 15 Sept. 1874.

118. EH, 20 June 1870; Arnold, part II. Ballance noted the effects of
emigration on agrarian unrest in England. Though it might raise
wages through a reduction of the supply of labour, he saw a general
trend towards increasing demands by labourers for land tenure
reform, EH, 26 Mar. 1873.

119. 'We, who believe strongly in the spirit of liberalism, and who have
an unbounded admiration for Mr. Gladstone and Mr. Bright, should
not be disclined (sic) to see them retire for a session in order to
recruit those moral forces upon which party success so greatly
depends'. EH, 18 Feb. 1874. See also EH, 21 Mar. 1873; EH, 27
Dec. 1873.

120. Through the reduction of ad valorem duties. EH, 4 May 1874.

121. EH, S5 July 1870. “ "

122, EE, 27 Nov. 1871.  See also EH, 11 Feb. 1871.

NICTORIA NIVERSITY OF WELLINGTON
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political rights: '(i)n every sense the interests of civilisation

seem to demand that women shall be placed on a perfect legal equality

with man'.123 He praised the Bill passed by the Victorian Government

in Australia, on Industrial and Friendly Societies, pointing out the

value of Owenite cooperatives in England:

The state must recognise the importance of
cooperation amongst the working classes... .
The labourer has no chance in this life

against the capitalist except by cooperation-
the strength of members working in unison. 124

Finally, Ballance's liberal sentiments were revealed through his
views on education. The State had a duty to provide all children
with a 'liberal' and 'popular' education; an education 'of the
culture of the masses who subsist by physical toil of various kinds,
and whose poverty ﬁlaces beyond their reach those educational advantages
eﬁjoyed by the wealthiei classes'. 'Every child of poér parents

ought to have its education free, and of the best to be had in any

125

country in the world’'. From the start Ballance favoured a state,

non-sectarian, system of education. Religion had no place in schools,
though religious liberty would permit catholics to maintain instruction

of their own children:

Education will be judged by results, and

the State has nothing to do with the amount
of religious instruction which may be
imparted. Roman catholics are quite as
anxious for the secular education of their
children as protestants can be for their own,
and if they desire to superadd religious
instruction, religious liberty will allow

123. EH, 6 Jan. 1874. See Ballance's memorial to Mill, EH, 31 May 1873.
124, EH, 15 Nov. 1873.
125. EE, 19 Feb. 1875, 7 June 1872.
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them to do so without injury to the
civil rights of others. 126

At the beginning of 1875, William Fox, the provincialist ex-Premier
consistently opposed by Ballance, resigned his Rangitikei seat in order
to pay a visit to England. Ballance immediately declared his
intention to stand at the by—election.127 He was the youngest
candidate. His opponents were W.H. Watt and George Hutchison. Watt,
a member of the Provincial Council and a provincialist allied to

Fitzherbert, was supported by the Herald's rival, the Wanganui Chronicle.lze

Realising however, the extent of anti-provincialist feeling in the town,

he declared himself an abolitionist part way through the campaign.129

The third candidate, Hutchison, a lawyer whose loyalties were divided
between business in Wellington and Wanganui, was from the first an

‘outsider'.

The campaign brought the Herald and the Chronicle into closer

combat than ever before. The Chronicle doubted that Ballance possessed

a single qualification entitling him to the seat,130 and criticised the

dubious character of his su.pporters.131 The Herald responded in

126. EH, 11 May 1874.

127. EH, 1 Mar. 1875; EH, 3 Mar. 1875.

128. William Hogg Watt had come to Wanganui in 1842.  With his partner,
T.B. Taylor, he had established a shipping business along the coast,
and later built a large store on Taupo Quay. He became a wealthy
man, his firm at the centre of commercial activity in the town.
Mayor from 1872-1873, 1875-1878 and 1880-1881, he was the town's
representative in the General Assembly between 1881 and 1884. He
died in 1894. (Incidentally, Taylor was drowned in Cook Strait in
1871. The firm was wound up in 1881). See Chapple & Veitch,

PP- 39-40. 111.

129. WC, 20 Apr. 1875.

130. WC, 6 Feb. 1875.

131. "We know full well that the froth of the district is very loud
spoken on Mr. Ballance's side, but unfortunately for their candidate
they have few votes, and can do him no greater good than such tap-room
politicians can be expected to render so fitting a representative’,
EE, 30 Mar. 1875. See also EE, 4 Mar. 1875; Eg. 6 Apr. 1875.
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similar vein. Commenting on Watt's meeting at Bulls, it described

his speech as

a weak attempt to answer Ballance, (which)
ended in a ludicrous fiasco. Four held
up their hands for a vote of confidence,
two of them being the candidate's sons.

He dwelt largely on the insinuations about
the honorarium. Impossible to describe
either speech or scene. 132

Ballance's election platform was more sophisticated than it had
been three years earlier. Abolition of the provinces remained a
major plank, with revenue to be divided between the General Government
and local bodies. He favoured an educational system funded by the
state, and supported the public works and immigration policy so long
as economic conditions in the colony could sustain it. Finally, he
argued that special facilities should be provided to encourage Egﬂg.fiéi

y 13
settlement. 2

Ballance delivered election addresses in all three polling areas:
Marton, Bulls and Turakina. His 'painstaking' canvass of the upper
part of the Rangitikei district, that closest to Wanganui, met, reported
the Herald, with a good reception. Settlers dreaded the idea of
having a representdative (i.e. Watt or Hutchison) whose interests were

connected with Wellington.134

His speeches enlarged on the policy
outlined in his published address; criticism of the Provincial
Government for its neglect of the district, and the need for central

government control of land if settlement was to proceed apace.

Education was the responsibility of the state; taxation should be kept

132. EH, 20 Apr. 1875.
133. EH, 14 Apr. 1875. Election Notice.
134, EH, 13 Mar. 1875.
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to a minimum,spending no more than circumstances required.135 At

Marton, where Ballance held his 'most successful meeting', he spent
much of his speech defending himself against a libel being brought

against him by Fox, whom the Herald had called 'an old fool'.136

The Chronicle described Ballance's Turakina speech as having contained

'an even larger amount of bunkum' than generally belonged to

election addresses. Neither the Herald or the Chronicle reported

the speech in full, but the latter took particular exception to

Ballance's opposition to knighthoods.137

Though by the eve of the poll all candidates were agreed on
the major issue of abolition, there were important differences between
them. The Chronicle stressed Watt's political experience and his
position in the town as an old and respected settler. Ballance's
iiberal views were well known, and in an attempt to divert some of the
obvious appeal they had for the recent working class settler, the
Chronicle argued that it was 'men, not measures', that counted.

Ballance, the 'more noisy candidate', had argued the reverse: measures,

not men, ought to be the decisive factor in the contest.138 Watt

deplored Ballance's rowdy meetings. The Chronicle, disputing

attendance figures with the Herald, said the meetings reflected

Ballance's 'philosophy of bounce and balamce'.l"9

135. EH, 14 Apr. 1875. Report of the Bulls meeting.

136. EH, 14 May 1875.

137. WC, 14 Aprl. 1875. See ch. 11 for criticisms by Ballance of
knighthoods.

138. WC, 23 Aprl. 1875. The Chronicle was concerned that Hutchison
Votes, that would otherwise have gone to Watt, would let
Ballance in. See also the letter in WC, 1 May 1875 concerning
this.

139. WC, 19 Apr. 1875.
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The election was held on Saturday 24 April. The results showed

a narrow victory for Ballance, owing to his majority at Marton:

Marton Bulls Turakina Total
Ballance 70 22 20 112
Watt 47 23 35 105
Hutchison 18 4 5 27 140.

The Herald suggested that Ballance, who was 'not a large landowner’,

was supported by a very large majority of the 'best class' (i.e. genuine
small farmer) of settlers. Were it not for plural voting (large
property owners coming into the district from elsewhere to voté),

Ballance would, for example, have won in Turakina.141

When the General Assembly opened on 20 July 1875, the Government
immediately announced its intention to abolish the provinces of the
whole of New Zealand, not simply in the North Island. Vogel had gone
to England during the recess. Though Pollen became Premier, it was
Atkinson, as Colonial Treasurer, who was the leading figure in the

Ministry, and who was to pilot the Abolition Bill through the House.

During the previous session Vogel had pointed out the small
contribution that provincial revenue was making to public works and

immigration expenditure on the one hand, and the persistent political

interference by the provinces in that policy on the otherz142 Now,

140. EH, 24 Apr. 1875; EH, 26 Apr. 1875.

141. EH, 26 Apr. 1874. ~See also WC, 26 Apr. 1875. There was little
Interest in the election outside Wellington Province. In
Wellington itself the Evening Post, which according to the Wanganui
Chronicle (4 Mar. 1875) had initially favoured Watt, welcomed
Ballance's victory on the grounds that he 'at least knows his mind,
and is consistent'. The Post was not impressed by Watt's 'weak'
campaign. EP, 26 Apr. 1875.

142. PD, 1874, 16, pp. 571-81.




119,

in this respect, only the Wellington provincialists had, arguably,

any cause for complﬁint at this generalisation. Though her land
revenue was declining, customs duties receipts had increased
sufficiently for the trend of rising total revenue since 1872 to be
sustained. Revenue in 1875, more than double that of 1873 and nearly
triple that of 1872, was now increasing more rapidly than in any other

: 143
province.

The province had recovered from a previous deficit,
and had been able to fund its own public works out of revenue when
the Government refused to guarantee a £100,000 loan. With its
substantial land revenue of 1873 and 1874, Wellington had now a 'nice

little balance at the bank'.144

Thus Ballance first entered Parliament on the eve of a critical
constitutional and political crisis. He made his maiden speech on
E£e Abolition Bill, the debate on which being opened by Atkinson on
6 August 1875'.145 Ballance rose to speak, 'amidst loud applause', on
Thursday 17 August. The speech was carefully prepared, well argued
and concise’146 He supported abolition not only because of 'financial
convenience' but since it would make the political system more
democratic. As a liberal, he was especially sensitive to Grey's
insistence, in an earlier speech, that removing the Provincial

Governments would involve a fundamental attack on the democratic

constitution. 'If by abolishing provincial institutions', said

143. In 1875 revenue declined in Taranaki, Hawkes Bay, Nelson, Marlborough,
Canterbury and Westland. It was static in Otago and showed a
tiny increase in Auckland. New Zealand Statistics, 1876, p. 173.
144. Morrell, pp. 229-30, 244-45, 255.
145. PD, 1875, 17, pp. 218ff.
146. Ballance was always at his best when delivering prepared speeches.
He was weak in the extempore cut-and-thrust of debate.
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Ballance,

we destroyed our landmarks of liberty,

or did anything whatever, to curtail the 5“2‘“£’XLA
liberties of the people, I think that this

House shculd seriously pause before it took

any step in the matter. 147

Quoting Creasy's Constitutional Historyband De Tocqueville's Democracy

in America, he argued that as the Councils were in fact already defunct,

this would not be the case:

It appears to me that provincial institutions
have not got within them that vital principle
of liberty which would be a loss to us in case
of their abolition. Liberty depends entirely
upon power- that is to say, liberty will be
reposed in the representative body which has
the supreme power in the country. «ee(TJNLE
House is the seat of liberty, and not the
Provincial Council. 148

Ballance, in the unusual position of being a liberal in favour of

abolition, related the issue to broad political principles.149

147. PD, 1875, 17, p. 391.

148. Tbid.

149. Other leading liberals, for example Grey and Stout, opposed
abolition. Ballance's position as a liberal abolitionist
creates problems for those historians who regard abolitionists
as wealthy men seeking greater control over land through their
hold on political power in the General Assembly (for example,

A. Saunders, History of New Zealand, Christchurch, 1896;

W.P. Reeves, The Long White Cloud, London, 1899). It also means
that viewing the opposition provincialists as the sole basis for
the liberal party that emerged under Grey (e.g. G.H. Scholefield,
New Zealand in Evolution, London 1909) is equally simplistic.
[ater historians have recognised that the situation was more
complex. Though it is true that with abolition the centralist-
provincialist cleavage was replaced by a more obviously
liberal-conservative one, it does not follow that all
abolitionists were conservatives and all provincialists liberals.
A wide range of arguments were used by the protagonists during the
abolition debate (see PD, 1875, 17, pp. 218ff.). As far as
Ballance is concerned, it is clear that he used liberal principles
upon which to base his opposition to the provincial system.
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Abolition ought to be seen in terms of the democratic nature of the
New Zealand political system. Democratisation would come through
abolishing the provinces and reforming parliament. Though he saw
the existing franchise as sufficiently liberal, he believed that the
Legislative Council should be reformed, so that it fairly represented
the people.150 Finally, greater democracy would result if important
functions were given to the local bodies. Decentralisation was for
Ballance an essential prerequisite of abolition. Two years later he

pointed out that there had been two types of abolitionist:

There is one kind who went in for placing
more power in the hands of this Assembly,
hoping that they might have more power to
work out their selfish schemes. There is
another kind of Abolitionist who, like myself,
went in for Abolition because we thought we
could focus the mind of the great mass of the
people of the country in this Legislature, and
have more liberal principles and sentiments
established. 151

On the specific economic advantages of abolition, Ballance drew
on Wanganui's experience as proof that provincial institutions did
not respond to the needs of the people. Especially with regard to
the settlement of the land, it had been shown that the General
Govgrnment, not the Provincial Council, encouraged Egﬂi.fiéi settlement.
He repeated the point that he had made many times in the Herald, that
local bodies should retain a portion of the land revenue; though he

disagreed with the section of the Bill that allowed part of this

150. Many abolitionists- large landowners whose political influence
was exerted through the Legislative Council- would of course
disagree with Ballance on this.

151. PD, 1877, 26, p. 538.
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revenue to be used for immigration purposes.152 He concluded:

I believe (this Bill) will make this a
united colony. I believe the day of
provincial institutions has passed; and
that no messures whatever, however skilfully
framed, can rehabilitate a system which has
become degraded and useless in the eyes of
the people. 153

The speech was well received both inside and outside the House.154

Ballance instantly made his mark on. colonial politics.155 The Herald

printed the speech in full, and quoted other papers' praise of it.156

In Wellington the Evening Post, though it was critical of what Ballance

had actually said, admitted that 'the House (had) rarely listened to a

better maiden effort'.157 There was equal praise from Auckland158

and Christchurch.159

During the remainder of ‘the session, though Ballance concentrated
his attention on promoting the interests of the district he represented,

he did so through legislation embracing principles that he wished to

152. There was no guarantee, said Ballance, that immigrants would remain
in the provincial district to which they had been brought.

Also, if local bodies were to finance immigration, the General
Government might respond by reducing its own expenditure on that
item. PD, 1875, 17, p. 396.

153. Ibid.

154. Stafford, commenting on the fact that his old rival, Fox, was no
longer in the House, praised his successor, Ballance: 'we have
already seen that the mantle of Elijah has fallen on a worthy
successor; and there could not have been any speech more openly
and conscientiously spoken, or one that has been better received,
than that which has just been addressed to the House', PD, 1875, 17,
p. 465. See also Bryce's comments, ibid., p. 530. __'

155. As did Stout, who was also making his maiden speech.

156. EH, 18 Aug. 1875; EH, 19 Aug, 1875; EH, 27 Aug. 1875.

157. EP, 18 Aug. 1875. _

158. NZH, 19 Aug. 1875; AES, 18 Aug. 1875.

159. LT, 19 Aug. 1875.
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see applied to other parts of the colony.160 He moved the Municipal

Corporations Loans Bill, which gave local bodies the power, given the

approval of ratepayers, to contract loans.161 The Bill was defeated,

though Atkinson supported it and promised to have its provisions

included in a consolidating measure to be introduced the following

. 162
session.

Ballance also moved an amendment to the Abolition Bill, making
hospitals and charitable institutions the responsibility of
municipalities rather than central government. General Government
control, he said, would be the 'thin ;3;; of the wedge of poor laws and

State workhouses'%63 Finally he urged the Government to introduce a

bill next session providing for elementary education.164

The Abolition Bill passed its second réading fifty-two votés to
seventeen,165 though on condition that it was not to come into effect
until after the general election due at the end of the year. In late
October Ballance returned to Wanganui,l66 where there was already

speculation as to who might win the newly-created extra seat. Ballance

160. See, for example, Wanganui and Rangitikei District Court, PD, 1875,
17, p. 123; Wanganui and Manawatu Railway, PD, 1875, 17, p. 375.

161. PD, 1875, 18, pp. 363-68. —_

162. EH, 27 Sept. 1875.

163. The amendment failed; PD, 1875, 18, pp. 551, 554, 556.

164. PD, 1875, 19, p. 431. “Ballance's other activities include his
Successful lobbying, with Bryce, of the Government for an extra
member for Wanganui (under the new Representation Act), and
negotiation of Wanganui and Rangitikei claims to money voted by the
Provincial Council. EH, 15 Oct. 1875.

165. The members from Hawkes Bay, Taranaki and Nelson (the poorest
provinces) all voted in favour of abolition, as did members from
the outlying districts of Auckland, Wellington, Canterbury and
Otago. Members from the provincial capitals, e.g., Grey, Sheehan,
Fitzherbert, Bunny, Rolleston, Macandrew and Stout, made up the
bulk of the opposition.

166. EH, 23 Oct. 1875.
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had been asked by the Government to assess the likelihood of Vogel
filling the vacancy. Having spoken to a number of people about the
matter, Ballance telegraphed Wellington to say that he thought that
if Vogel stood he would be elected. He sought however, on the
electors behalf, an assurance that if Vogel (who was still in England)
was elected for other seats, he would sit for Wanganui. A meeting
was held in the town, at which Ballance supported the resolution,
carried unanimously, that Vogel be requested to stand. Ballance
believed that Vogel would soon return from London, and be able to
address the electors before christmas.167 His election would see
great advantages for Wanganui; his influence would promote the
settlement of the region, and he would be much preferable to the
alternative, most likely a provincialist and opponent of the

Government.168

Ballance's own campaign, for the Rangitikei seat, largely
reflected that éf the by-election held nine months earlier. He looked
forward to the abolition of the provinces, with part of the revenue
from land sales being distributed by the General Government.

Significantly, he did not oppose Grey's suggestion that the duties on

tea, sugar and other necessities of life be completely removed.169

Taxation in general should be 'even'; 'all should contribute according

to their means'.170 If there was to be new taxation, he would prefer a

167. Vogel didn't actually return until February 1876, a month after
the election!

168. Details of Ballance's communications with the Government, and of
the meeting in Wanganui, from EH, 12 Nov. 1875. The result of the
Wanganui election was: Bryce 379, Vogel 360, Watt 191 (EH, 15 Jan.
1876). There was substance to the argument that if Vogel did not
stand, a candidate (most likely Watt) much less sympathetic to the
Government would have taken the second seat.

169. What he did say was that Grey did not propose an alternative. See
J. Rutherford, Sir George Grey, London, 1961, p. 592.

170. EH, 16 Dec. 1875.
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'tax on great estates or land monopolists to an income tax'.171

Again he emphasised the importance of a state system of education.
Finally, land was for bona fide settlement and should not be viewed
as simply a means of raising revenue. Small settlers on deferred

payments must be encouraged rather than speculators.

James Bull, Ballance's opponent, was an established settler in
the Rangitikei, who had given the town of Bulls its name. He was a

sawmiller, builder, storekeeper and hotel-owner. His businesses

172

formed the commercial centre of the district. He had no political

experience, and was not a strong candidate. The Chronicle, in its

fairly luke-warm support for Bull, emphasised that he, unlike Ballance,

was a resident of the district.173 Though it tended to criticise

Ballance personally, rather than his policy, the Chronicle's labelling
of him as 'flashy' and 'dangerous', had distinct implications of his

political unacceptability:

We have from the first steadily and
consistently opposed his (Ballance's)

return; and we have done so- because,
notwithstanding the command of language

which enables him to charm a friendly

audience, and the possession of ability
sufficient to enable him to dilate pretty
freely upon public questions generally-

we esteem him to be an eminently unsafe man,
who is all the more dangerous because of the
flashy nature of his political accomplishments.
...It cannot be said that Mr Ballance
disappointed the expectations of his supporters
during the single session in which he
represented the district in Parliament. 174

171. EH, 27 Dec. 1875.

172. See L.J. Wild, The Life and Times of Sir James Wilson of Bulls,
Christchurch, 1953, pp. 18,22; M.H. Holcroft, The Line of the Road:
History of Manawatu County, 1876-1976, Manawatu County Council, 1977,
pp. 83-86. James Bull, settling in the district in 1858, 'seemed to
become without conscious effort the central figure of a settlement’.

173. WC, 7 Dec. 1875.

174. WC, 6 Jan. 1876. The Chromicle, as before, could not but support
the establishment represented by Bull.
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What made Ballance's victory more certain, were the doubts sown by
the Herald as to Bull's eligibility to take his seat if elected.

His firm of J. § C. Bull was involved in a government contract for
the building of the Oroua railway bridge, a fact that might well have

forced him to resign under the terms of the Disqualification Act.175

In a turnout of around seventy-five per cent, Ballance won with

a majority of seventy-four:

Marton Bulls Turakina Total
Ballance 124 34 43 201
Bull 59 41 27 127 1765

Bull was only just able to beat Ballance at Bulls, his home town.177

Shortly after the election the Herald made clear the direction of

Ballance's future policy, once the issue of abolition had been settled:

Those who retard settlement most are the land
monopolists. They buy and buy until they
swallow up half the country, to the exclusion
of population and of homes. Sheep take the
place of human beings, and civilization assumes
a stunted growth in the 'midst of a bleak and
desolate country'. The land monopolist will
be found in the future the greatest obstacle to
our progress, and an evil which will have to be
met. ...(I)t is the bounden duty of Government
to administer the Waste Lands so that they will
not pass into the hands of speculators and
monopolists... . 178

175. WH, 8 Jan. 1876.

176. Ibid.

177. There is little evidence to support Hunt's assertion that the
campaign was a 'bitter' one, (J.L. Hunt, 'The Election of 1875-6
and the Abolition of the Provinces', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1961,
p. 247). The Wanganui Chronicle, recognising the much greater
political ability of Ballance than of his opponent, was, if anything,
less antagonistic to the former than on many other occasions.

178. WH, 22 Jan. 1876. See also WH, 4 Mar. 1876.
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Electors elsewhere had returned a substantial majority of
abolitionist candidates. Only in Otago and Auckland were

provincialists at all successful. None of the Wellington City

candidates returned had stood on a provincialist platform.179

Before the opening of the new session Ballance made some changes

180

to the Herald. John Notman, who had worked on the Herald staff

before leaving for England, was persuaded to return to Wanganui to
assume editorial control of the paper when Ballance was in Wellington
attending Parliament.181 Willis, though still printing both the
papers, had withdrawn from his partnership with Ballance, and Notman

162 Ballance kept up with technological developments

took his place.
in the printing industry; a new 'labour saving' machine was imported

(the first to use water power and to incorporate the self-delivery of

papers when printed). Finally, Ballance changed the name of the

Evening Herald to the Wanganui Herald.

183

179.

180.

181.

182.

183.

See Hunt, p. 244. Young's thesis, that 'in the Auckland

Province, opposition to abolition was merely part of the radical
protest against the Vogel regime' (J. Young, 'The Political Conflict
of 1875', Political Science, XIII, 2 (1961), p. 78), is not
inapplicable to Ballance, though in an altered form. Ballance's
support for abolition centred on his belief that it was a necessary
precondition for the promotion of central government policies
favourable to working class settlers. The basis for his alliance
with Grey and Stout had already been laid. See also J. Young,

'"The Politics of the Auckland Province, 1872-1876', M.A. thesis,
Auckland, 1960.

Notman, born in London, came to New Zealand in 1868. After
spending some time on the Thames goldfield, he settled in Wanganui in
1870, being employed by the Herald in that year. Cyclopedia of New
Zealand, vol. 1, 1897, p. 1369.

Notman, who closely followed Ballance's political 'line', was

frequently sent material for inclusion in the Herald by the lattér
when in Wellington. Until Duigan's appointment as full time editor
in 1891, Ballance would resume editorial control on his return from
parliamentary duties. Some care is necessary, therefore, when
attributing editorials to Ballance when he was out of Wanganui.

See Y, 6 May 1893. Willis started his own bookselling and printing
business, Y, 17 June 1893.

WH, 25 Mar. 1876.
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Vogel resumed the Premiership on his return from England in
February 1876. With the abolition of the pfovinces now a certainty,
Ballance devoted the session to making the new constitutional
arrangements as favourable to the settlement and development of his
district as possible. Of especial interest was the Municipal
Corporations Bill, a largely consolidating measure which, however,
contained those powers of loan-raising that Ballance had sought to
introduce with his own Bill of the previous session (see p.123).

For Ballance it was not simply a matter of granting borrowing powers
to local bodies so that they might pursue public works of their own.
Through the rating system it involved an element of redistribution of

84

wealth.1 He was convinced that it was the belief that granting

borrowing and rating powers would 'endanger the rights of property’

that had destroyed his Bill a year earlier. He agreed with Stout

that local referenda held to decide on a special rate, should be on
the basis of one man one vote. Finally, he objected to that part of
the Bill that laid down that public meetings might be held only after
a licence had been granted by the Municipal Corporation,185 and carried

an amendment that extended the obligation of a Corporation to promote

local education.186

In August the question of abolition was finally settled. The

provinces were replaced by counties and boroughs, subsidies and

184. See Municipal Corporations Act, 1876, part X.

185. PD, 1876, 20, pp. 403-04. '"The right of public meeting was as old
as the municipal laws themselves- even older; and that right should
not be interfered with on slight grounds, or on the mere arbitrary
wish of a Municipal Council'.

186. WH, 5 Aug. 1876. In this session Ballance also showed his opposition
to temperance reform, speaking against Stout's Local Option Licensing
Bill. He didn't believe, he said, in legislating on this issue.
Combating drunkenness was 'a matter of education and of providing for
the comforts of the people', PD, 1876, 20, p. 482.
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obligations being laid down in the Financial Arrangements Act and
the Counties Act. With only relatively small revenue-raising powers,
it was clear that local bodies were to play a very limited role in

developing the country, and that centralisation was to be almost complete.

Grey, fighting a rearguard action, proposed that the two islands
be separated. Ballance, admitting that the House was to assume
complete control over the administration of the land fund (though
money would be expended in the districts where raised), believed that
the new system could be altered to adequately meet local needs. In
one of his 'visionary set-pieces', he was adamant in his opposition to
separation in any form, seeing the future in a united, democratic,

independent New Zealand:

(I)t matters not whether we remain an
integral portion of the British Empire

or not- we should so lay the foundation

of our €onstitution, and lay it so broadly,
that whatever position we occupy in the
future we may be able to take our stand as

a great nation. That is the dream of my
ambition- that is the hope and goal which
should be in the mind of every New Zealander.
...We are now a united colony; we are
pursuing the path of constitutional
government, one of the first principles of
which is that whoever may sit on those (i.e.
the Government) benches...will remain there
only so long as they command the confidence
of this House. 187

Ballance's participation in the 1876 session was limited. This

was owing in part, no doubt, to a belief that the main concern of the

187. PD, 1876, 21, p. 214. Grey's motion was lost 32 to 47. Of Ballance
the following speaker, De Lautour, said: 'I recogniged at once, when
he spoke, that we had as able a statesman before us, advocating the
cause he believed in, as had arisen in thesHouse for many a long day'.
Vogel sent Ballance a personal letter congratulating him on his
'splendid' speech, Vogel to Ballance, 10 Aug. 1876, BMSS, 2.
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Assembly, abolition, was a fait accompli, and that there were

sufficient members only too willing to spend the time firmly nailing
the 1id on the Provincial coffin. As well as this, Ballance was

ursuing other interests at 'grass roots' level. He spent a
P P

considerable amount of time promoting small farm associations.188

As Arnold points out, there was a limit to the role such associations

played during the sponsorship of special settlements and public works

189

under Vogel's scheme. By 1876, however, the growing demand for

land could not be met by government promotion alone, and a new batch

of associations were formed.190

Through the Herald Ballance encouraged the formation of small

farm associations; outlining how they might be set up and the methods

to be employed to obtain grants of land.191 He was intimately involved

in the formation of the Wanganui Small Farm Association in June 1876,192

which wanted the Government to make available a suitable block of land,

near a market, for settlement on deferred payment. Improvements should

>

be stipulated.19 The Government was unresponsive, arguing that the

Association would have to compete in the open market for land being scld

194

on deferred payment. This was precisely the unrealistic argument

188. He had earlier been involved with the Manawatu Small Farm
Association, see e.g., EH, 13 June 1870.

189. See R.D. Arnold, 'The Opening of the Great Bush, 1869-1881', Ph.D.
thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1971, p. 358.

190. As well as in Wanganui, associations were formed at Bulls, Normanby,
Masterton and Hutt. The Herald followed the activities of these
organisations closely, e.g., WH, 10 June 1876; WH, 15 July 1876;
WH, 9 Dec. 1876; WH, 15 Dec. 1877.

191. Colonial prosperity, he had said, rested on the promotion of the
'right kind' of settlement- colonists with 'moderate' capital,
experienced in agriculture, and self-reliant. EH, 15 Sept. 1874.

192. WH, 3 June 1876. _

193. WH, 24 June 1876.

194. WH, 9 Dec. 1876.
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that Ballance had been fightiﬁg against. Free competition in land
meant that the ordinary séttlef would be excluded; only the large
capitalists and speculators could afford the high prices that were
inherent in a competitive system. It was for this reason that

associations were seen to be necessary in the first place.

The Wanganui Association disbanded in February 1877, its members
'irritated and disappointed' at their lack of success. Ballance,

though disappointed and angry at the Government's attitude,  urged the

Association to be patient.195 At the same time he launched attack

after attack on.what he saw as the increasing alienation of land by

monopolists and land sharks:

In a few years in many if not all of the
Provinces the open agricultural land will
have passed into the hands of the monopolist
and the landshark. Then will arise a great
democracy demanding the bursting up of the
large estates, the abolition of the nominee
Chamber of the Legislature, and the enactment
of all articles in the democratic creed.
Would it not be wiser to prevent this by a
patriotic effort to secure the availabie lands
for actual settlement? 196

It was an unresponsive Government, and the frustration of organisations
that epitomised his vision of New Zealand as a land of small, independent,
'yeoman' farmers, that, combined with the political realignments inherent

in the settling of the abolition issue, laid the basis for Ballance's own

break with Atkinson.

195. WH, 3 Feb. 1877.

196. WH, 24 Feb. 1877. This vision of a rising 'great democracy' was in
many respects to be fulfilled in his own Premiership between 1891 and
1893. The large estates were subdivided, the Legislative Council
tamed, the franchise extended to include women, the property vote
abolished and so on. See also, e.g., his attack on land sharks on
the Waimate Plains, WH, 10 Feb. 1877.
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Signs of Ballance's dissatisfaction with the Ministry were
already apparent by January 1877. He had been disappointed when
Vogel resigned the Premiership the previous August to go to London
as Agent-General.1 The Government had been reconstructed under
Harry Atkinson. Though his numerical majority was strong, his
supporters were 'inert and supine'; there seemed 'a total want of
healthy vitality in the body politic'.2 An early problem arose when
Atkinson appointed more members to his Ministry than was permissible
under the Constitution. Grey objected and after a few weeks
wrangling in the House Atkinson was forced to reconstitute his Cabinet.
Ballance was particularly unhappy, and surprised, when this included
Whitaker as Attorney-General.3 Frederick Whitaker, an Auckland

businessman, was an archetypal land speculator detested by Ballance.

In his end of session speecﬁ to his constituents at Marton, on
16 January 1877, Ballance showed that he was already a far from
committed governﬁent supporter. Public Qorks expenditure, he said,
along with interest on loans and the costs associated with the
abolition of the provinces, would produce a deficit in the current
financial year.4 To resolve this problem, Ballance argued that
further taxation would be necessary. Given the current rapidly
increasing land prices, he felt that this should be in the form of a

land tax:

-
.

WH, 9 Sept. 1876.

2. Jane Maria Atkinson to C.W. Richmond, 19 Sept. 1876, G.H.
Scholefield (ed.), The Richmond-Atkinson Papers, vol. 2,
Wellington, 1960, p. 426.

3. WH, 9 Sept. 1876.

4. T1In fact the deficit was £2.75m, not as large as the previous

year's deficit of £3.4m, AJHR, 1888, B-12.
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...it was just that some portion of the
unearned wealth should be contributed to the
necessities of the colony. Small proprietors
should be exempt, as they were already large
contributors through the customs to the
revenue. 5

Ballance was concerned about the sale of 80,000 acres of the Piako

Swamp to the Auckland speculator, Russell, particularly the way in

which it was effected.® Finally he thought Whitaker to be an

ill-fitted member of the Ministry: his appointment could only

'extinguish the enthusiasm of the party'.7

It was the first time that Ballance had specifically mentioned

the desirability of a land tax. The Herald was soon repeating the

theme.8 It pointed out, for example, that the general election in

Victoria was being fought on the question of a progressive land tax

as a means of bursting-up the large estates. Soon New'Zealand’s

large landowners would be faced with such a progressive tax: '(t)he

efforts of the people of Victoria to plant and maintain a yeomanry

population, will find many sympathisers in New Zealand'.9 A land

boom had begun, and with rising prices ordinary settlers were increasingly

"5.

6.

WH, 20 Jan. 1877. My emphasis.. A land tax was of course

anathema to Atkinson.

The law required that land should be sold for at least 5/= per acre,
but in this instance the Government sold it for less on the grounds
that it was largely swamp and of poor quality, intending to

legalise the sale by proclamation. Grey objected. A select
committee upheld the Government but admitted that there was a
technical error to be corrected the following session. See PD, 1875,
17, pp. 271, 323, 402, 659. _

WH, 20 Jan. 1877.

The Herald had begun criticising the Atkinson Government as early as
November 1876, when the Evening Post noted that 'the Atkinson
Ministry have in some way wounded the self-love of Mr Ballance, and

so we find his organ, the 'Wanganui Herald' turning upon them in the
most savage manner' (quoted by WC, 25 Nov. 1876). The Post

suggested that Ballance was disappointed at not being included in
Atkinson's Cabinet. A year later the New Zealand Herald reported the
rumour that Ballance had been offered a place (2 Nov. 1877).

WH, 19 May 1877.
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at a disadvantage.lo Land was 'either being swallowed up in the
rapacious maw of the land shark, or passing into the hands of large
proprietors.' Finally, the Herald complained that small farm
associations were impotent, whilst government policy (for example
the Waste Lands Act of the previous session) encouraged 'speculative

settlement associations' such as the Manchester Corporation at

Pﬂglding.ll

This last accusation was unreasonable. The Herald's argument
was that the wrong type of settlement was being promoted. There
were 'village residences and small suburban plots' where there should
have been productive small farms. Given the favourable conditions
(government concessions, good quality land and a rail connection with
Foxton), more land ought to have been brought under cultivation.
The Herald pointed to the Hutt'Small Farm Association settlement at
Sandon, where conditions were not so propitious, as a greater success.
In fact the 1878 census shows that Sandon (including the town of
Sanson) had a population of only 536. The Manchester block, purchased
by the Corporation in late 1871, contained 1,700 settlers. Even if the
rate of new land cultivation in the former was greater, the value,

scale and success of the later scheme was undeniable.

The Manchester Corporation was philanthropic rather than
speculative. Indeed in 1872 Ballance had welcomed the scheme, believing
it would result in a 'population of hardy and industrious settlers...

who as ''producers' (would) add to the material wealth of the country,

10. C.G.F. Simkin, The Instability of a Dependent Economy. Economic
fluctuations in New Zealand, 1840-1914, Oxford, 1951, p. 160.
11. WH, 12 May 1877,
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and as "consumers'' augment its customs revenue'.12 What lay behind
the later charge was Ballance's political preference for land

settlement by local small farm associations rather than under English
schemes linking settlement to immigration. It was true that the
Government's emphasis was on immigration (free passages were given

and a certain amount of paid employment guaranteed) rather than on

land settlement per se. Yet Ballance's suspicion of a private

venture that undoubtedly contributed to settlement, appears inconsistent
given his own connection with another similar enterprise, the New

Zealand Land and Loan Company (c.f. pp. 169-72).

Three factors help explain this ambiguity. First, the Manchester
Corporation was competing for land with organisations from Ballance's
own district. .What had stimulated Ballance's criticism was the
Government allowing the Corporation to withdraw a 'large and valuable
block of land from all occupation other than that promoted by itself'.
There was resentmentﬂat privileges being given to 'strangers'.13
Second, scattered small farm settlement was preferable to concentrated
settlement around a town that might come to rival Wanganui. Neither
of these considerations were applicable to the property of the Land and
Loan Company in the south island Waimea Plains. Finally, Ballance
would have been suspicious of the organisation's aristocratic patronage.
The Corporation's ideals looked very similar to those of the Wakefield
colonisation companies of the 1840s; the aim being to establish

settlements whose social structure mirrored that of England.
Disillusioned with the performance, policy and personnel of the

12. EH, 1 Feb. 1872.

13. WA, 12 May 1877. See T.A. Gibson, The Purchase and Settlement of the
Manchester Block, Feilding, 1936; AJHR, 1877, H-27, 27a (report on
the Manchester settlement).
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Government, and at the frustration of settlement in his own district,
Ballance could not but be exasperated when Atkinson opened the new |
session of Parliament saying that the country needed a time of
'political rest'. Charles Woolcock, the independent member for
Grey Valley, did not agree: shortly after the Financial Statement
he moved that the incidence of taxation be changed. It was a
fundamental challenge to a Government already weakened by further
personnel changes (along with Vogel, Richardson had retired and
McLean had died) and a disintegration of policy once the removal of
the abolition issue broke what was often the sole bond holding its
supporters together. A debate on taxation followed, with Grey,
through an amendment, specifying that the change sought was a tax
upon income and property, and a reduction of customs duties.14
Ballance spoke on 22 August; it was one of ﬁi; major 'set-pieces'.
A 'new era of legislation' had dawned, he said. With abolition
settled the House could only now consider fundamental questions in an

unbiased light.l®

In his speech Ballance attempted to find an
acceptable compromise between the Government's position and that of
Grey. Political rest was, 'to a certain extent' necessary.16
Despite the fact that in the critical vote Ballance sided with the
Government, it was clear that he supported a change in taxation.17

A 'readjustment' was needed since current taxation 'presses severely
on the industrial classes, and because it does not press sufficiently

on the wealthy classes, who ought to contribute more'.18 He favoured

a 'reasonable' property tax, but was particularly eager to see the

14. PD, 1877, 24, 227ff.

15. 7It would have been an impossibility' said Ballance, 'for any
Superintendent to have brought down a question of this nature - a
question in which a proposition was made for relinquishing a large
portion of the Customs revenue', PD, 1877, 24, p. 579.

16. Ibid., pp. 580-81. -

17. Tbid., p. 615.

18. 1Ibid., p. 584.
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more specific land tax:

I have no apprehension of the future of

this colony if a tax, fairly adjusted and
wisely considered in the first instance, is
put on the land. It will discourage the
creation of those large landed estates, than
which nothing can be more destructive to the
welfare of a young community. The monopolist
will be checked in that land-greed which causes
him to take up the best land of the colony,
and to hold it without improving or using it
in any way. ...Our Land Fund is our capital;
and,when that is exhausted, what are we to
fall back upon? ...The small-farmer class must
be encouraged. The great runholders are not
the basis of colonial prosperity. ...(A)bove
all, we have a right to see that in the
alienation of new territory it should not be
alienated to monopolists, but should be
conserved for the benefit of the people. 19

Two important considerations prevented Ballance's wholehearted
support for Grey's amendment. Both foreshadow later problems of
liberals in securing an alliance of urban and rural interests, and
are worth stressing for that reason. First, pointing out that duties
served protective as well as revenue purpeses, he realised that
reducing them could harm local industries. This marked for Ballance
a distinct move away from a free trade policy, and indicated the
general liberal dilemma that protection made sense only once taxation
had been shifted away from essential goods.20 Only with the burden
of taxation placed on the larger landowners and capitalists, could the
urban working class and rural small farmers be expected to support
a protectionist policy. Secondly, though reductions would afford
relief to the working classes (whom Ballance described as the

'stalking horse' of the debate), he complained that the interests of

19. 1Ibid., pp. 585-86.

20. This move towards protection, hinted at for a number of years (for
example when Ballance talked about giving local industries 'bonuses')
was predicted by the Herald (WH, 23 June 1877).
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the small farmer had been entirely excluded from consideration.21
Again this shows the extent to which Ballance saw the need for future

liberal policy to accommodate rural as much as urban interests.

Grey's amendment was lost by ten votes and the Government, though
now beginning to lose other divisions, was temporarily reprieved.

As for Ballance's speech, the Evening Star said it was not as good as

his major effort of the previous session, though it noted that his

views on colonial finance had caused 'quite a flutter amongst the

lords in the gallery'.22

Ballance's attitude to the Government became more clear with his
criticism of the Native Land Court Bill. The Bill, initiated by
Whitaker, removed the remaining restrictions to free trade in_Maori
land. In the Herald Ballance had already voiced his objection; when

the Bill was published just before the start of the session:

Next to the fallacy of '"free trade' in

Native Lands is that of the policy of

getting the land from the natives without
regard to the use to which it is applied.
...Let (the Native estate) remain in the

hands of its... owners until in the first
place the colony can acquire it for

settlement, and, in the next, until, the

first condition being satisfied, the native
shall obtain a fair and reasonable price for
the land he desires to sell. Depend upon

it that there is no distinction between the
interests of colonisation and fair play to

the Maori. It is the speculator or monopolist
who wishes for laws to wrest from the native
his land by fair means or foul; and it is the
distinguishing character of the Native Lands
Bill... that it is framed to serve that purpose.
...Has it then come to that deplorable result

21. PD, 1877, 24, p. 582.
22, AES, 23 Aug. 1877.
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that the party of abolition is governed
and largely composed of the members and
friends of land rings? 23

In August Ballance moved an amendment to the Bill using arguments

along these lines. The Bill ought to be withdrawn he said, and its

conditions altered. It was 'immoral'. The object should be 'to get

for the natives the highest price possible for their land', which was

24

quite consistent with the work of bonia fide settlement. The Herald

was again, as it could afford to be, more blunt. The Bill it said,

was produced at the instigation of landsharks, and with increasing

support for Ballance's amendment both inside and outside the House,

the Government was in danger of being defeated.

25

In fact the Bill was dropped. Less than a year later Ballance

said that he had been told by Atkinson that seven Government supporters,

'intimately connected with land speculation' had said that they would

put the Government out if the amendment passed.26 The Herald explained

that Ballance's action was 'direct and simple':

23.

24.
295
26.

~ "Speculation in Native lands must be stopped;
and not only in Native land, but all other
must be protected against speculators and
monopolists. The present Government are
chiefly supported by a landed aristocracy and
a landsharking horde of vultures outside the
Houses of Assembly. ...The time has come when
we must wring from the Government a liberal
land policy, and if they resist, they must be

WH, 23 June 1877. Ballance could now beat the humanitarian and
anti-monopolist drums at the same time. Atkinson had condemned a
number of articles written by Ballance during the recess, see Ballance
to Vogel, 1 Mar. 1878, Vogel MSS.

PD, 1877, 24, p. 261.

WH, 11 Aug. 1877.

WH, 18 May 1878.
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at once, for the welfare of the country,
destroyed. He (Ballance) has commenced

on the Native Lands Bill, but he will not

end until the land of the colony shall be

used for the settlement of the people, nor

until the class now ruling the country shall
have no privilege above the man of 40 acres. 27

Ballance now saw his role as fighting for a class of small farmers
(or prospective farmers) against the power of a government backed by
large landowners. The political party system was being realigned
along this fundamental division of interests. Speaking just prior to
his formal break with Atkinson, Ballance said he believed that there

would soon be 'two clear parties' in the House:

They will be formed, not upon temporary OT
fleeting questions or principles, but upon
principles that will endure- namely, the
principles of conservatism and liberalism.

Why, those principles are now embodied in this
House- all ground it. ...I must give (Grey)
credit... for being the advocate of those
principles which, in my opinion, should govern
the country. I may say that I have done all I
possibly could to prevail on the Government to
adopt those principles... . ...(T)he people of
this colony will rule this colony. I believe
that to a large extent in the past it has been
ruled by cliques. I believe that now the first
man who appeals to the people will obtain the
victory. 28

This was a major statement of Ballance's own position, and of the

development of party politics in general. The Lyttelton Times viewed

it as undoubtedly the speech of the debate; although Ballance's vote

was given to the Government, 'his speech was the most telling omne

against them'.29 Ballance felt bound to support the Government until

27. WH, 25 Aug. 1877.

28. EE, 1877, 26, p. 107. See also his speech of 29 October on the same
theme, ibid., p. 542.

29. LT, 3 Oct. 1877.
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he had formally notified Atkinson of his change. He 'votes with
the government' Ellen told Sarah Jane Spinks, 'but cannot agree with

them'.30

Having consulted Bryce, Ballance finally wrote to Atkinson
on 3 October, saying that he should no longer be considered a
Government supporter.31 'No one could have listened to his strong and

emphatic denunciation of the Ministry', said the Evening Post, 'without

asking how long he would support a government in which he had no faith,
and to which he accorded no respect'.32 Ballance was expected to
bring over others with him. Bryce and W.W. Johnston followed days
later. It was a fatal blow to Atkinson: on hearing of Ballance's

switch the New Zealand Herald was certain that the Ministry was doomed.33

The Evening Star complained that Ballance ought to have made the move

much earlier, and making the inevitable pun pointed out that now the

opposition hopes had 'risen with the oscillation of the balance'.34

In later yéars Ballance stressed that this switch was not a
sudden impulse but the consequence of théught and events over a léng
period of time. He emphasised his consistent opposition to the
Government's legislation of the session; his realisation that Atkinson,
increasingly the 'puppet of the most powerful combination of the hour',
would be unlikely to pursue a liberal policy that he (Ballance) had

always pressed for.35

Though Ballance's alienation from the Ministry had indeed been

apparent for some time his final break with Atkinson was clearly

30. Spinks Diary, 2 Oct. 1877.

31. Ballance to Atkinson, 3 Oct. 1877, BMSS, 4. See also Ballance's
later account, WH, 2 Aug. 1879.

32. EP, 4 Oct. 1877.

33. NzH, 5 Oct. 1877.

34. AES, 4 Oct. 1877.

35. WH, 2 Aug. 1879; WH, 30 Apr. 1881; EP, 10 Jan. 1878.
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calculated to maximum effect. Six days after Ballance's defection,
Atkinson was defeated in a no confidence motion moved by Larnach.
Despite Ballance's later claim that at the time he believed the
Government to be secure, it was clear that his change of sides,
followed by others, was going to be critical.36 More important, as
the instigator of these final desertions, he was placed in a crucial
position when the time came for a decision on Atkinson's replacement
to be made. A 'middle party' of ex-Atkinson supporters had already
emerged, including Montgomery, Gisborne, Fitzherbert and Rolleston.
Only after he had dismissed the possibility of a government being
formed from this group, did Ballance commit himself to Grey.37 At
the Opposition caucus meeting following Atkinson's defeat, it was

Ballance who nominated Grey as leader.38

Having proposed Grey it is curious that Ballance did not take up
the invitation of a place in thé Cabinet when Grey came to form his
administration. The offer of the Colonial Treasury was certainly made,
most likely on 12 October; Larnach was not appointed Treasurer until
15 October.39 Ballance did not join the Ministry until early January
1878. As late as 10 December he told his brother-in-law, David

A
Anderson, that he still refused a Cabinet post.‘r0

This initial reluctance needs some explanation. There were three
major reasons for Ballance's hesitation. First, the Grey Ministry was
dangerously weak. Grey urged the Governor to grant a dissolution

confident that he had strong support in the country. Ballance kept his

36. WH, 2 Aug. 1879.

37. The Lyttelton Times (6 Oct. 1877) reported that Ballance had actually
joined the middle party.

38. WH, 18 May 1878; LT, 12 Oct. 1877.

39. AES, 12, 13 Oct. 1877; LT, 13, 15 Oct. 1877; WH, 13 Oct. 1877;
NZH, 15 Oct. 1877; New Zealand Gazette, 15 Oct. 1877.

40. Spinks Diary, 10 Dec. 1877.
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options open: the middle party had split on Grey's accession to

power and an election might actually strengthen the non-Greyite
liberal faction sufficient to make it the basis of a viable ministry.
An election would also remove the possibility of an Atkinson comeback
in coalition with the other wing of the middle party.41 Not until
the end of the year did the Governor finally refuse Grey's request for
a dissolution, and the possibility of an alternative liberal

government disappear.

Secondly, Ballance was worried about a revival of provincialism.
Though he argued in the House that Grey was committed to centralised
government, only after Larnach's Financial Statement of 20 November
announcing that the Government was to take complete control of the
land fund was the 'separation bogey' finally laid at rest.42 Ballance,
and other abolitionists such as William Gisborne, could now feel more

comfortable in their support of Grey. ~ The Miniétry was in consequence

substantially strengthened.

A third factor was Robert Stout. Stout had entered Parliament,
as Member for Caversham, in the same year as Ballance. Son of a
Shetland landlord and merchant, he made his mark on Otago provincial

politics as a liberal who saw the future in a 'nation of small holdings,

43

secured by the state'. From the very start of their political

careers Stout and Ballance shared many fundamental beliefs. Both

emphasised land as a central political issue, seeking more liberal

41. PD, 1877, 26, pp. 539, 542. The Evening Post (31 Oct. 1877),
anti-Grey and anti-Atkinson, agreed with Ballance that an election
would make party lines even clearer.

42. PD, 1877, 26, p. 537; T.G. Wilson, 'The Rise of the Liberal Party,
1877-1890', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1951, pp. 47-48.

43. D.A. Hamer, 'The Law and the Prophet: a political biography of Sir
Robert Stout (1844-1930)', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1960, p. 2.
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land laws and in particular the leasing of land. Both were concerned
with the political power of large landowners, and sought reform of the
Legislative Council. Their ideology rested firmly in a belief in
individual self-help. The 'new world' offered a great opportunity
for the establishment of a system facilitating self-improvement. From
their first meeting in 1875 they quickly formed a close personal
friendship. '"Their reading followed similar lines, and their views,
except with regard to provincial questions, were in accord. A
friendship... was formed that remained firm and mending till the last.
They were, when both were in the House, continually together; and
after the House rose, at whatever hour, they would be seen walking
together'.44 Their wives too became friendly, spending time with

each other when both were in Wellington.45

Ballance and Stout undoubtedly conéerred on their responses to
offers made by Grey to join his Ministry. With the possibility of an
election dismissed, and the Government considerably strengthened, the
remaining condition was that they would only join if the other was also

asked.46

This desire for mutual inclusion, alongside the earlier hope
of an alternative, reflected not only their personal and political
friendship, but suggests that both men foresaw personality difficulties

in a Ministry led by Grey.

When Ballance was appointed Commissioner of Customs and Minister
of Education on 12 January 1878 it was on the understanding that he

would take over the Treasury when Larnmach left for England to negotiate

44. Sir Robert Stout, 'Character Sketch: The Hon. John Ballance’,
Review of Reviews for Australasia, May 1893, p. 109.

45. See e.g. Spinks Diaries, 8 Sept. 1878.

46. WH, 15 July 1879; A. Saunders, A History of New Zealand, vol. 2,
Christchurch, 1899, p. 387.
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a loan.47 In fact Ballance was acting-Colonial Treasurer from the
start.48 As there was a constitutional limit to the number of salaried
portfolios, Stout was not appointed Attorney-General until Larnach
resigned on 18 March.49 It was to be a brief tenure for both Ballance
and Stout. Pleading an urgent need to return to his law practice

Stout resigned in late June of the following year. Ballance, after a

much publicised quarrel with Grey, followed days later.

Ballance's appointment to a key cabinet position was remarkable
for one so inexperienced. He had been in the House less than three
years. Press comment on his suitability was largely predetermined by
political bias. His youth, lack of reputation and experience were

serious flaws for the Dunedin Herald, whilst the Hawkes Bay Herald

pointed out that as he was 'poor and ambitious', Ballance had from the

first sought a Cabinet post. The Canterbury Press was sure Ballance,

‘who had 'theories of his own', would only 'encourage the most flighty

50

and impracticable fancies of his chief'. But Ballance did have a

reputation, gained through his few 'set orations, carefully thought out,
elaborately constructed, and ingeniously worded' that, delivered in the
House, attracted attention outside. Most papers were prepared to wait
and see how he performed in office. Vogel was pleased. 'I cannot say

I am surprised', he wrote, 'for since I first met you I have been firmly

persuaded (that such a) distinction awaited ybu’.s1

47. EP, 11 Jan. 1878; AES, 15 Jan. 1878. Larnach also aimed to assist
Vogel to float the New Zealand Agricultural Company. See D.A. Hamer,
'"The Agricultural Company and New Zealand Politics 1877-86",
Historical Studies, 10, 38 (1962), p. 145.

48. Ballance was dealing with Treasury correspondence from at least the
end of January, though his appointment was not gazetted until 12 July.
See T1 (1878) in the National Archives.

49. New Zealand Gazette.

50. These adverse comments were quoted by, not surprisingly, the WC, 12,
16 Jan. 1878.

51. Vogel to Ballance, 12 Apr. 1878, Vogel Letter Book.
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In the following eighteen months Ballance gained invaluable
political and administrative experience. He learnt a number of
lessons that were to critically influence his later Premiership. In
this respect his participation in the Grey Government had a greater
impact upon his later political activity than did the Stout-Vogel

Government of 1884 to 1887. The period also revealed important

traits in his character.

Above all, Ballance found that the exigencies of colonial finance
placed considerable restraints on his ability to pursue liberal
policies. The instability of the land revenue and dependency on
overseas borrowing and prices negated any impact he might hope to make
on the direction of policy. Liberal ideology was surrendered to
economic necessity. The financial position of the colony deteriorated
drastipally between 1878 and 1879: the surplus Ballance had inherited
became a largevdeficit. Initially discouraging, ultimately this
experience confirmed Ballance in his views. He had already argued
the need for greater economic and political independence.  Speculators
at home and financiers abroad had both to be tamed if a basis for
liberal legislation was to be successfully laid. Revenue needed to be
placed on a broader base. Ballance was to become practically paranoid
about deficits. In later years, time and again, he would explain how
the 1879 deficit had arisen. It was not simply that he was a
'conservative' financier. He hated deficits because they made him
dependent upon factors beyond his control, factors that could therefore

undermine liberal policies.

The most important measure of his term as Colonial Treasurer was,
for Ballance, the land tax. Theoretically desirable it was shown

(despite some initial technical difficulties) to be politically and
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administratively workable. It placed the burden of taxation upon
those capable of bearing it, and encouraged genuine settlement through
penalising aggregation. 'The Land Tax had been carefully thought out
by him', Stout wrote later, 'and to him belongs the main credit of its
introduction. He arranged the details, formed the estimates, and
thought the system out'.52 A land tax was to be a central feature

of the 1890 Liberal platform, and the 1878 tax the precedent.

Third, Ballance learnt that political reform required support
from below not merely initiative from above. Grey led the way with a
'country-wide stump' during the recess of 1877-78 which considerably
strengthened the Government and shook its opponents. Organisation

at grassroots level was essential if a liberal party was to survive.

Further, Ballance learnt that internal dissen<ion and conflict
at cabinet lével could prove fatal. Alongside changed economic
circumstances this was the major cause of the fall of the Grey
Government. It was a matter of both personality and policy clashes.
Grey's leadership was autocratic and dogmatic; his touchiness and

inability to compromise with strong-willed colleagues disastrous.

Finally, Ballance showed new sides to his character. His
passion for politics included a fetish for administrative labour.
A 'workaholic', a man of great activity, he liked to get things done
rather than talk zbout them. He also showed flexibility when possible
but strength of will when it mattered; a major characteristic of his

later Premiership. Following his appointment the New Zealand Times,

52. Stout, p. 109.
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with foresight as well as precision, said that he had 'ideas and
a tolerable amount of combativeness, and Sir George Grey may find

it a hard job to have it all his own way with him'.53

Ballance began his work with great vigour and enthusiasm.
He delayed his annual address to his electors until May, remaining
in Wellington absorbed in administrative duties and in acquainting
himself with the state of the colony's finances.54 In March the

Evening Post reported that he had 'achieved a somewhat notable

distinction':

At the present moment he is "running' the
Government of New Zealand single-handed.
All the other members of the Ministry are
scattered north, south, east, and west.
...He is "Monarch of all he surveys, and
his right there is none to dispute'..
...To his great credit... Mr Ballance
appears to accomplish wonders, and to get
through an enormous mass of work. 55

He was cheerful and optimistic. Support was growing in the country.

Reform Associations sprang up, advocating liberal land laws, changes

in the incidence of taxation, and an extension of the franchise.

A political 'revival' had begun. In Wanganui the Herald argued that
the division between conservatism and liberalism was clearer than ever.
Discipline and organisation were essential not only with the coming
election in mind, but as a means of setting up a more permanent party.57

Two great parties have been formed, echoed the Post, 'day by day men

e . 5
are joining either one or the other’. 5

53. Quoted by WH, 12 Jan. 1878.
54. WH, 19 Jan. 1878.

55. 4 Mar. 1878.

56. EP, 7 Mar. 1878.

57. 2 Mar. 1878.

58. 9, 12, Apr. 1878.



150.

Ballance's immediate concern was preparing his financial
statement to be delifered at the start of the coming session.
Customs duties and the proceeds from the sale of crown land made
up the bulk of colonial revenue. The former had been fairly
consistent over the preceeding years, whilst the latter varied
Deficits in 1875 and 1876 had been financed out of

considerably.

A large increase in the land revenue

the following year had produced a surplus.59

borrowing for public works.

The sale of land was critical to the colony's revenue. Some
land, for example in Canterbury, was already in the hands of the crown
and only awaited opening up. Much other land, in the North Island,
had still to be purchased from its Maori owners. For Ballance there
were important political as well as financial considerations. Land
Qhéuld be sold to genuine settlers. The Land Act of the previous
session, reorganising and centralising land administration, had extended
the system of deferred payment existing in a number of provinces to the
whole country. However at the same time it increased the price of
land on deferred payment by fifty per cent. In the open market, with
land prices in general rising rapidly, the prospective small farmer
rémained at great disadvantage. The situation was made worse when

Sheehan, Native Minister in Grey's Cabinet, stopped government

 purchasing of Maori land on the erounds that it produced 'jobbing' and
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abandoned' he wrote to Vogel, '§ I fear the sharks will gorge more
than ever'.61 The Cabinet soon reversed its policy. The
Government recommenced purchasing, and through proclamations excluding

: . : : . 2
private capitalists 'virtually restored' Crown pre-emptlon.6

In his first few months of office Ballance had reason to be
optimistic. There were few signs of trouble to come. After
sluggish growth from 1871 onwards, exports jumped from £5.5 million in
1876 to £6 million in 1877. Some export prices had begun to fall,
but this had been more than offset by increased quantities.

Ballance could announce a surplus on the current account. Major new
land purchases were to be made. Conditions were propitious for

liberal experiment.

Ballance;s Financial Statement of 6 August 1878 was the most
important one delivered since Vogel_annodnced his public works policy
in 1870. Part of it dealt with the reorganisation and simplification
of accounts following abolition. For us the more important part set
out the basic tenets of a liberal programme. 'This year has been
looked forward to with more than ordinary intere;t by the people of
the colony', said Ballance, 'as one in which large and extensive
reforms are to be inaugurated, especially in questions of finance and
taxation, when inequalities are to be removed and grievances redressed'.63
His analysis of the state of colonial finance was logical and
straightforward. He detailed the previous year's revenue and

expenditure. There was a surplus of £120,468. Exports had risen and

61. Ballance to Vogel, 1 Mar. 1878, Vogel MSS.

62. R.C.J. Stone, 'The Maori Lands Question and the Fall of the Grey
Government', NZJH, 1, 1 (1967), p. 59; Alan Ward, A Show of Justice,
Auckland, 1973, p. 278.

63. PD, 1878, 28, p. 80.
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the loan authorised successfully floated.64

Next Ballance announced his proposals. The tariff was to be
reformed, ad valorem being replaced by fixed duties. Imposing duty
on the value of goods had been a failure: fradulent undervaluation
was common and revenue had suffered. Imposing duty at a.specific
rate on the quantity of goods was more efficacious.  Some duties were
to be removed altogether, in particular those that 'clogged the wheels
of local industry'. Ballance believed that industry would be fostered

by removing duty on raw materials.65

Other duties were to be abolished as a means of changing the
incidence of taxation. Most important were two basic necessities,

tea and sugar:

(When we consider the immense proportion

of the taxation which these articles yield,
and that the labouring classes are the
principal consumers, we may be able to realise
the justice of the...(demand for a 'free
breakfast-table'"). 66

The duty on Australian wine was also reduced, in the hope that some
reciprocity towards New Zealand exports might follow, though that on

sparkling wine, which Ballance regarded as a luxury, was raised.

Having eased the burden of taxation on the 'wages class', Ballance

announced that to further equalise its incidence he would impose a new

64. Vogel had been keeping Ballance in touch with events in London, and
had advised him that despite the successful floating of the loan there
should be no new borrowing for 15 to 18 months. See Vogel to Ballance
12, 25 Apr. 1878; 20 June 1878, Vogel Letter Book.

65. PD, 1878, 28, pp. 88-89.

66. Ibid., p. 89.
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tax on the landowning class. Greater equality would reduce rather

than increase hostility between the classes. Land values had been
increasing largely as a result of government expenditure on immigration
and public works, and so a tax of 1d in £ on land over £500 in value

was legitimate. Improvements would be exempt so that industry was
rewarded and speculation, 'which thrives only upon the labour of others',

discouraged:

We believe that no form of wealth is more
legitimately called upon to contribute a

ke eny

portion of the public reserve of the colony
than the value of land minus improvements. 67

The removal of duties on essentials and the imposition of a land
tax were for Ballance the core of a liberal policy. Reducing the
cost of raw materials was sufficient encouragement for local industry.
Defending the interests of the urban working class.through protection
was not yet a major issue. éirst musf come change in the basic
principles of taxation. That this was the main aim of Ballance's
statement is clarified by his remaining proposals. As well as a
land tax he proposed a tax of 3d in £ on the net profits of joint-stock
companies. Finally, as relief had been given to brewers through the
halving of sugar duty, and to recover revenue lost elsewhere, Ballance
recommended a beer tax of 13d a gallon. Compared with the duty on beer

in England, he said, this was a modest proposal.68

The effect of these changes Ballance calculated would be a gain

69

of £24,000. Deducting administrative costs, he predicted that the

surplus for the current financial year would be £15,273. In conclusion

67. Ibid., p. 90.

68. Ibid., p. 92.

69. He estimated revenue from the respective tax as the following: land
£100,000; beer £30,000; company £10,000, sparkling wines £1,000.
Total £141,000. Remissions £117,000. Ibid.
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he said that the proposals, as well as being just, would accelerate

the prosperity of the colony:

To maintain... those inequalities of

taxation which we propose to remedy would
benefit no man who intended to remain and

make his permanent home in the colony. It
would be vain to expect that all interests

can be blended in mutual compromise, or to
suppose that human nature can be changed to
break down the lines of demarcation between
the allies of resistance and the advocates of
progress; but we can easily imagine a
progressiveness arising from the constitutional
conflict of both elements... . ... {These
proposals) will show a country inviting labour
as well as capital from all parts of the world
by the justice and liberal character of its
legislation. It cannot be doubted that the
colony possesses inexhaustible resources; it is
true that Nature has bestowed upon it the most
lavish gifts; but the bounty of Nature must be
matched by the beneficence of our institutions,
and the equity of our public policy. 70

The speech, delivered in his now characteristic slightly monotonous
style, lasted one and three-quarter hours. It was well received.
Ellen and her sister Jessie, who had listened throughout, arrived at

the Spinks's 'in high spirits'; the statement was a great success,

they told Sarah Jane.71 The proposals were 'moderate and just', said

the Auckland Evening Star, and opinion throughout the colony favourable.72

The New Zealand Herald viewed it as the best financial statement for

years: 'all (members) admit that Mr Ballance has made a great hit,

both on principle and det:ail'.7:5 The Evening Post and Lyttelton Times

eulogised Ballance. The former called the statement the 'most
masterly production... ever laid before any New Zealand Parliament’;

Ballance had established himself as one of the leading men in the House,

70. Ibid., p. 93.

71. Spinks Diary, 6 Aug. 1878.
72. 7, 8 Aug. 1878.

73. 7, 8 Aug. 1878.
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a reputation that would last as long as his political career.74 'The
first thing that strikes one about it' said the latter, 'is the amount
of ability which it shows. It is evidently the work of a clever,

thoughtful man, master of his subject'.75

It was not simply Ballance's ability that produced such favourable
reaction. He gained reflected glory from the 'healthy' state of the
colony's finances, and given this optimism his taxation proposals were
seen as quite acceptable. Everyone loved a winner. The statement
was also well regeived because both public and politicians had been

prepared. The major points had been revealed in speeches during the

recess. Speaking at Marton in May, Ballance had mentioned both a
land and a company tax. 'The great principle the Government had in
view was the distribution of land', he had said. 'If the aggregation

of great estates was allowed to go on, the prosperity of the colony
would soon'cease'.76 Equally, Grey had committed the Government to

reductions in duties on necessities.

What made the land tax central to Ballance's philosophy was that
it killed three birds with one stone. It involved a change in the
burden of taxation from those who could least afford it to those that
could afford it most, it provided a more stable, predictable and
permanent source of revenue than that from land sales and it promoted
genuine settlement through penalising aggregation and rewarding

improvements. Above all it would guarantee the prosperity of the colony:

74. 7 Aug. 1878.

75. 8 Aug. 1878.

76. WH, 18 May 1878; EP, 14, 20 May 1878, 8 June 1878. At Marton
Ballance urged that land over 320 acres be taxed. Stout pointed out
that this would exclude many wealthy properties, so Ballance changed
the basis to over £500 in value. Wakefield gleefully noted the
alteration, PD, 1878, 28, pp. 628-36.
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We have over and over again written of the

small farmer as the life and soul of the
industrial element of the colony. ...It is

by him the continued growth and prosperity

must be maintained... .(T)his colony should

be made a country specially of yeoman farmers

and peasant proprietors. Much has been done

to make it not so. The public estate has

been, and is being, wasted, in order to meet

the necessities of empty treasuries, and to
aggrandise the power and influence of monopolists
and speculators. If further taxation be
required this is the class that should yield it. 77

Within a year Ballance was being held responsible for a major
depression in the economy as indiscriminately as he was now being
associated with its prosperity. Within two months considerable

opposition had arisen in the House to a number of his proposals.

The debate on the Land Tax Bill, opened by Ballance on 30 August,
covered the whole of the Financial Statement. There was criticism
of the land tax, and especially of the éompany and beer taxes, but
most members were content to wait until the committee stage before
proposing amendments.78 Not so Edward Wakefield, a nephew of Gibbon
Wakefield. He believed that there should be a general direct tax, and
then only when the government ceased to use taxation revenue to
subsidise local bodies. According to E.C.J. Stevens (the conservative
member for Christchurch) who also opposed the land tax, Wakefield,
apparently now given up drinking, had 'conceived an intense apathy for

Ballance', and was 'resolved to smash him'.79

In fact when the Bill returned for its third reading there were
grumblings that insufficient time had been allowed for alterations to

be made. One amendment, excluding leaseholders from taxation, had been

77. WH, 30 June 1877.
78. PD, 1878, 28, pp. 613-26, 628-46; 29, pp. 11-51, 58-66, 87-118.
79. TE.C.J. Stevens to Stafford, 3 Mar. 1878, Stafford MS, vol. 6.
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defeated by only two votes. Nevertheless the Bill passed, in

essence unaltered, forty-two votes to nineteen.80 It had been agreed
by both sides that the debate should be on the financial proposals

in general and the confusion that resulted, rather than an acceptance
of the principle of a land tax, produced the large majority. '"There
was a multiplicity of theories, a confusion of ideas, and a cross-fire
of arguments which gave the debate an appearance which may be described
as 'considerably mixed'. Conservatives and Liberals mingled together
in undistinguishable groups'.81 Ballance's reply to the debate

consisted of a defence of the beer and company taxes and of the

reduction of duties as much as of the land tax.

Quoting Mill, Ballance had argued that the state had a right to
appropriate the 'unearned increment'; that is, the increase in the
value of land owing to factﬁrs (government expenditure and rising
‘prosperity) independent of the owner's own efforts. Few speakers
accepted this as a fundamental principle, and as Wilson points out,
many saw the land tax as simply part of an inevitable movement towards

a general property and income tax.82

In practice the tax worked reasonably well. Valuations were
made on 1 February 1879, and returns showed that Ballance's estimate
was very accurate. However the cost of collecting the tax turned out

to be greater than expected.83 For the nine months to March 1880

the tax raised £92,803, alwmost the same as revenue from stamps.84

80. PD, 1878, 29, pp. 514-50.

81. LT, 13 Sept. 1878.

82. T.G. Wilson, The Grey Government, 1877-9, Auckland University College,
1954, p. 27.

83. Land Tax Act 1878; WH, 7 Dec. 1878; EP, 21 May 1879.

84. AJHR, 1888, B-12. o




158.

Ballance was determined to avoid an income tax, which he regarded
as difficult to administer (self-assessment produced fraud) and
inequitable. It could not be imposed 'with anything like fairness
or consideration for the large number of people earning small incomes'.85
Aside from his land tax, a company tax would place taxation on those
that could afford it. It would be a tax on profits from investments
made in the colony; an appropriation of 'surplus capital' which would

not seriously damage the companies involved:

By this tax we shall reach the great monetary
firms which derive large profits from their
investments. We shall reach the great
capitalists in this colony who are now reaping
large profits from joint-stock companies,
which are springing up every day. 86

There was considerable opposition to the tax. Some thought it unjust
to penalise companies that furthered the prosperity of the colony.87
Others said that ordinary people, not just wealthy capitalists, were
affected. 'The walls of the House rang with heart-rending accounts
of aged widows who had invested their small savings in a joint stock

company and were now to be unfairly penalised'.88 —

Similar objections were made to Ballance's beer tax: it would
hit the ordinary working man as much as the wealthy brewer. In fact

brewers would simply pass the tax on to consumers:

T'was said by Ballance in his speech,
"The beer-tax none will grudge it",
And spite of brewers not one foot from
His budget will he budge it.

85. PD, 1878, 28, pp. 667-68; 29, pp. 114-18.
86. PD, 1878, 29, pp.117-18.

87. NZH, 10 Aug. 1878.

88. Wilson, p. 27.
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"Three half-pence on a gallon is
Not much to any man;

The publicans can stand it if
The Auckland public can'.

The brewers, howsoever, view
This new tax as an ill,

And 25 per cent. stick on,
To balance Ballance's Bill.

Should publicans their price advance,
The working men will fear

That Ballance's beer tax has brought
Their barrel to its bier. 89

Ballance recognised this, arguing that beer was not 'altogether' a
necessity, that consumers would reduce their consumption, and that
this would not be a bad thing. However unlike Stout, Ballance was
not a temperance reformer. Ultimately he viewed the beer tax as

a means, alongside the land and company taxes, of avoiding an income
tax. Revenue from duty on English beer had consistently dropped as
the consumption of the'proéécted local product rose. Removing
protection would restore revenue, though Ballance much preferred the

alternative method of taxing colonial brewers.90

Ironically, Fox and other tee-totallers in the House voted
against the Bill. Having previously argued in favour of increasing
taxation on beer as a means of promoting temﬁerance, Fox now declared
that a new tax would only make the Government more dependent upon sales
of alcohol. An alliance of Foxites, brewing interests and those

who genuinely felt that the tax would harm the working man, defeated

the Bill by two votes.91

89. 'Ballance's Beer Bill' by a 'Working Man', AES, 9 Aug. 1878.
90. PD, 1878, 28, p. 609; EP, 22 Aug. 1878, a deputation of brewers
‘to Ballance. T
91. PD, 1878, 29, pp. 556-55; NZH, 5 Oct. 1878; AES, 4 Oct. 1878.
Ironically the succeeding Colonial Treasurer, Atkinson, imposed a
beer duty of 3d a gallon. Ballance had the rate reduced to this
from Atkinson's initial proposal of 6d a gallon! PD, 1880, 37, p. 606.
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A Cabinet meeting was hurriedly called to discuss the reverse.
Ballance and Stout urged that the Government resign.92 Grey, Sheehan
and probably Macandrew, disagreed. The following day, 4 October, Grey
announced that both the Beer and Company Tax Bills were being withdrawn.
He recognised that this would 'embarass the finances' of the Treasurer,

but there was such great feeling against the taxes that he had no choice.

Ballance and Stout had earlier declared that the Ministry would
stand or fall on the taxes. Members were quick to notice division in
the ranks of the Cabinet.93 According to a later account, Grey had
always opposed the taxes. Following the defeat Stout left the chamber
'burning with rage...declaring that he would resign next moment'.94
But for Ballance in particular it was a major upset. Principles had

been lost and finances needed reorganis_ation.g5

The situation was especially serious as the Government had already
been defeated on Stout's Electoral Bill. This Bill extended the
franchise to all men who had been in the colony two years and in the
one district six months. In May Ballance had said that the intention
was to exclude only recent arrivals, to 'prevent the flooding of any
roll by the importation of immigrants by Government aid'. He defended
the retention of the property vote, as 'it was held that any man should
have a vote for property wherever that property existed.' He argued
that to be safe the constitution must rest on a broad base. Under the
Bill women ratepayers were to be permitted to vote, and Ballance said
that personally he would go further 'with respect to the equality of

the sexes'.96

92. PD, 1885, 51, p. 263. Stout's retrospective statement.

93. PD, 1878, 29, pp. 46, 568ff,

94, PD, 1879, 31, p. 193.

95. Ellen too was 'much vexed about political affairs', Spinks Diary, 6
Oct. 1878.

96. WH, 18 May 1878.
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Grey wished to see the property vote abolished, and voted for
an amendment to that effect. Ballance and Stout stuck to the
provisions of the Bill and the amendment failed.”” At this stage
Ballance viewed franchise reform as a liberal policy of only minor
significance. The extension of manhood suffrage from its present
level would, he said, have no great political effect. He was
insistent that 'political power should not rest in the hands of a few',98
but it was not until 1881 with his own electoral defeat by the narrow
margin of four votes, that he fully appreciated the consequences of
plural voting. The Bill passed through the House but was withdrawn by
Grey when the Legislative Council excised Maori rights to vote as
ratepayers. It was a politically immature act on the part of Grey.
A bill extending the franchise through a residence qualification,
albeit retaining the property vote he detested, would have been better
than nothing. The coming election ha& now to be fought on the

existing, limited franchise.99

Ballance put a brave face on the rejection of so many of his
key measures. Along with the beer and company taxes the House had

refused the duty on timber, though Ballance said later that this was

not originally part of his proposals.100 He announced that he would

use funds from the public works account, originally meant for harbour

101

defences, to make up the loss. Since demands on the land fund were

already great, new public works would be financed out of a loan to be

floated the following year. '"There is no fea;)ba%}ng extraordinary

97. PD, 1878, 29, p. 279.

98. PD, 1878, 28, pp. 355-58.

99. AES, 31 Oct. 1878. The New Zealand Herald (29 Oct. 1878) suggested
that the Legislative Council made the amendment in revenge over the
land tax (which, as a supply measure, it could not block).

100. WH, 23 Aug. 1879.

101. PD, 1878, 29, pp. 586-88.
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circumstances', he said as the session drew to a close, that 'if the
prosperity of the colony continues... we shall not obtain the money we

. . o a . At 102
require. I believe our financial position 1S sound in every respeet’.
Nevertheless when Ballance and other ministers deserted Wellington for
their respective homes, leaving only Fisher (the Postmaster-General)

behind, it was to lick their wounds after a bitter and disappointing

session.

+ 4+ + + + T

In 1879 the land boom burst. The price of agricultural land
was halved. At the same time export prices continued their downward
trend, wool from 103 to 90 and wheat from 122 to 105, (1870= 100).
The failure of the City of Glasgow Bank sparked off trouble in
Australasia, where it had financial interests. There was a rapid
contraction of credit; in New Zealand bank advances and discounts,
whi;hmhag increased £10 million from 1872 to 1878, now fell by £2 million
in a single year. Banks were reluctant to enforce the sale of
unprofitable mortgaged properties when the price of land was so low,
yet despite this bankruptcies rose from 2.4 to 4.0 per thousand.103

1A11 the loan money of the place is gone and the Banks are drained’',

Stevens wrote from Christchurch:

The price of wheat must also operate
powerfully in discouraging purchases of
waste lands to say nothing of the fact

102. PD, 1878, 30, p. 1068.
103. Simkin, pp. 160-61; W.B. Sutch, Colony or Nation?, Sydney, 1966,
pp. 12, 16.
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that the land especially in Canterbury

has gone. ...The prospects of Land Sales

is very poor. Present owners cannot

afford to add to their property this year.

The returns of the season will be short and
loan-money has risen to 9 and 10 per cent. 104

The remainder of this chapter will look at Ballance's attempts
to deal with the worsening financial situation and at his deteriorating
relationship with Grey. The two were connected. A series of
disagreements with Grey culminating in one particularly well-publicised
incident gave Ballance a pretext for resignation and allowed him to
avoid at least some of the disapprobation concommitant with economic
recession. Personal differences in turn rested in part on what
Ballance saw as Grey's refusal to accept measures that would help

restore the debilitated revenue.

Ballance's hopes of avoiding a large deficit rested initially on
the sale of land on the Waimate Plains and when that failed on an

extension of the land tax.

There was considerable Maori opposition to the sale of confiscated
land on the Waimate Plains, which lay to the south of Mount Egmont in
Taranaki. Sheehan, Grey's Native Minister, had stopped the surveying
of the land in December 1877. In May 1878 Ballance and Macandrew
(Minister of Public Works) urged the Cabinet to resume the survey, backed
up with sufficient armed constabulary support. Macandrew, who was
spending 'every farthing' he could collect, believed that the land would

fetch nearly €500,000.105 The survey began again in August, only to be

104. E.C.J. Stevens to Stafford, 3 Dec. 1878, 9 Jan. 1879, Stafford MS,
vol. 6. Stevens was a director of the anti-Government Christchurch
Press.

105. E.C.J. Stevens to Stafford, 3 Dec. 1878, Stafford MS, vol. 6.
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interrupted in December and February. By March 1879 Titokowaru
and Te Whiti had turned all the surveyors off the Plains. A
deputation of concerned local Maoris went to see Sheehan, who promised

them that adequate reserves of land would be made for their use.

Meanwhile Ballance desperately needed the revenue. He telegraphed
the Commissioner of Crown Lands instructing him to convene an emergency
meeting of the Taranaki Land Board (which under the 1877 Land Act was

the medium for land sales) 'to arrange for the sale of the Plains

within the next few weeks'.lo6 He then left with Macandrew for the

area. Though Ballance's telegram gave the impression that the Cabinet
had agreed to push on with the sale, this was not the case. Grey,
when he heard of what had happened behind his back, sent a telegram to

Ballance 'ordering' him to return, and when he did, proceeded to give

107

him a 'good dressing down'. The sale of the land was postponed

indefinitely shortly afterwards.

There was a brighter side to the retention of land by the Crown:

it would at least not pass into the hands of speculators.108 The

Herald had already gleefully reported that government proclamation

had removed about 50,000 acres at Waitotara from a 'knot of speculators’.

It was a 'fatal blow to Mr Land-shark' on that coast.109 Yet in the

short term it placed Ballance's finances in serious straits:

The great discrepancy between the amount
which the Colonial Treasurer estimated to
receive from Land sales and the amount
actually collected ...is, doubtless, a source

106. AJHR, 1880, G-2, pp. xxiv ff.

107. Fox's later account, PD, 1879, 31, pp. 71-72. See also NZH, 2 July
1879.

108. EP, 26 Apr. 1879.

109. 7 Dec. 1878. See also 14 Dec. 1878.
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of much trouble to the Government.

The inconvenience of the deficiency has
been alleviated, to a certain extent no
doubt, by the excess in other branches of
revenue; but the falling-off in the
Canterbury land sales, and the abandonment
of all hope of any return at present from
the Waimate Plains, must have caused Mr
Ballance many anxious hours of thought how
to make ends meet. 110

Ballance wrote of the situation to Vogel: 'The land Fund has fallen
off in a remarkable way... . By rigid economy I am trying to come

out with a surplus, but it is hard work to make up for a deficit in

the land estimate of probably £300,000.111 Meanwhile the New Zealand

Herald, now beginning to doubt Ballance's ability as a financier,

predicted that there would be no recovery in land sales before the

budget.112

Imposing a higher land tax was a second means of increasing revenue.

During the recess Grey 'talked wildly of raising the 1d. land tax to
4d. or 6d. in the £, and of breaking up the large estates'.113 By

June the Government was believed to be intending to increase the tax

114

on properties over £2500. In Wanganui the Herald carried on its

own campaign. Landed property could afford to bear a much greater
burden- the present tax, it said, was only the thin edge of the wedge.
A graduated tax would not only increase revenue, but would break up

the large 'unimproved' estates:

A class of land monopolists is always a source
of danger, and there can be no doubt that ’

110. EP, 26 Apr. 1879.

111. Ballance to Vogel, 25 Apr. 1879, LB I, p. 118.

112. 9 Apr. 1879.

113. J. Rutherford, Sir George Grey, K.C.B., 1812-1898: a study in colonial
government, London, 1961, p. 620; EP, 19 May 1879.

114. E.C.J. Stevens to Stafford, 19 June 1879, Stafford MS, vol. 6.
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political power necessarily follows and
remains with such a monopoly until... the
pressure becomes intolerable, and then a
violent popular upheaval shakes the very
foundations of society. Fortunately the

evil here is only in its infancy, and it can
easily be nipped now. A graduated land tax...
will render it impossible even for wealthy men
to indulge in the luxury of locking up from
profitable occupation broad acres of land, on
which people are hungering to settle. ...(T)he
State has a right to impose such taxation upon
land so held, that the owner will be obliged to
part with it... .We regard a land tax as far
more valuable in this direction than as a mere
means of raising revenue... . 115

There would be a struggle, however, concluded the Egzglg; it would

be a party one, a strﬁggle for politiéal power. Ballance undoubtedly
agreed, though he had to be more cautious. In politics, especially
in government, he could not always afford to be as radical as his own

paper.

There is some evidence'that Grey's eitreme-préposgls aimed to
destroy the tax entirely through stirring up strong feeling against it.
Ballance later said he believed this to be the case.116 Indeed the
financial proposals of Grey's Ministry, reconstructed following
Ballance's resignation, included a new income tax (which Ballance at
this stage opposed) but made no mention of an increased land tax.117
Although Ballance was to resign before the new session, for years
afterwards he felt obliged to explain how the deficit of 1879 had come
about. Had the land revenue not collapsed, he explained, the financial
situation would have been satisfactory. He insisted that he could
not be held responsible for circumstances, in particular the failure

of the City of Glasgow Bank, over which he had no control.113

115. WH, 14, 28 June 1879.

116. PD, 1885, 53, p. 353.

117. PD, 1879, 31, p. 6.

118. PD, 1879, 32, pp. 232-35; 1880, 36, pp. 185-88; 1881, 38,
PP

. 337-39; 1891, 72, pp. 116-17; AES, 12 July 1879.
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These problems over policy were reflected, and in turn reinforced,
by serious personal conflicts within the Cabinet. Splits were
already apparent by January 1879, and were eagerly reported by the

conservative Stevens:

I think that the failure of the Ministry to
either keep promises or perform any acts of
utility either administrative or legislative

has materially shaken Grey in the country.

It must, however, be observed that he cares
nothing for his government and loses few
opportunities of holding himself up as something
altogether distinct from them in sentiment and
motive. ...His colleagues are insubordinate and
both contradict and vote against each other.
...Grey continually puts forth one set of views
whilst his colleagues clip his wings in Cabinet
and propose to the House measures often
diametrically opposed to Grey's statements. 119

Over the following four months two disputes in particular deepened
the rift between Ballance and Grey.. Whilst opposition papers had a
field-day, pro-government journals were forced to take sides.
Ballance had become a director of two Wellington papers, both formed
a year earlier to promote the liberal cause. One was the morning
New Zealander, the other the Evening Chronicle. Neither survived

beyond 1880.120 The Chronicle was edited by Henry Anderson, previously

editor of the Post. Ballance was able to use it in particular to
defend his own position against Grey. The Chronicle's accounts of
Cabinet disagreements were based on information almost certainly provided

by Ballance.

The first incident concerned the appointment of D.M. Luckie as

Government Insurance Commissioner. Luckie had been a journalist, most

119. E.C.J. Stevens to Stafford, 3 Dec. 1878, 9 Jan. 1879, Stafford MS,

vol. 6.
120. G.H. Scholefield, Newspapers in New Zealand, Wellington, 1958, p. 35;
NZH, 5 Aug. 1879; PD, 1879, 31, p. 70.
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recently replacing Anderson as editor of the Evening Post. The

appointment was a political one: the Post had been a consistent
supporter of the Government and Ballance- though Ballance genuinely
thought Luckie able and as good a man as he could get.121 Ballance
wrote to Luckie on 10 January 1879 offering him the position at £800
per annum. They had discussed the arrangements verbally.122 It was
a salary a good deal higher than the £200 1laid down by Parliament.

Grey objected, insisting on the lower salary.123 Whitmore, a personal
friend who was now Colonial Secretary and a member of the Legislative
Council, wrote to Ballance pointing out that Grey's advocacy of reduced
civil service salaries was a trump card from the point of view of
public opinion. Luckie would accept £600 and on that basis they could
'stand by him'. Ballance agreed to the_g:ompromise.124 The Evening
Chronicle, on 26 February, reported that Grey had nqt‘opposed the
appointment when it first came before the Cabinét. . The following day
it seemed that Grey had accepted the £600 compromise. Only Sheehan

had joined him in pressing for £200; Stout, Whitmore and Macandrew all

siding with Ballance.125

However in April Grey renewed his objection, and the issue
broadened into the right of a minister to intervene in another minister's
appointment. Ballance argued that there were many precedents for the

larger salary, and proposed that the difference be charged to

unauthorised expenditure. Grey refused to shift from f200.126 The

121. Ballance to Sheehan, 28 Nov. 1878, LB I, p. 8.

122. Ballance to Luckie, 10 Jan. 1879, LB I, p. 22.

123. Grey to Ballance, 27 Feb. 1879, BMSS, 8; Evening Chronicle, 29 Jan.
1879.

124. Whitmore to Ballance, 24 Jan. 1879, BMSS, 6-7; Ballance to Whitmore,
12 Mar. 1879, BMSS, 9. :

125. Evening Chronicle, 27 Feb. 1879; NZH, 27, 28 Feb. 1879.

126. Grey to Ballance, 8, 16, 18, 23 Apr. 1879, BMSS, 12-30.
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issue then became simply a part of the widening gulf between the

two men. Relations were so strained by April that Whitmore, who was
leaving for New Plymouth to see Macandrew, advised Ballance to 'avoid
any contact' with Grey until he returned. Ballance left for Wanganui
the following day.127 Ironically Luckie's salary was finally fixed

at £800 by Parliament in December.128

An important cause of Grey's irritation with both Ballance and
Stout was their participation in the New Zealand Land and Loan Company.
The Company had been formed in 1878 to finance the settlement of the
Waimea Plains, land just north of Invercargill that was to be sold by
a second, Agricultural Company, to be floated in London. The land was
infested with rabbits, and only by selling it in London, where this
fact might not emerge, could the speculators involved hope to receive
a high price. As Hamer has shown, though Grey‘knew about the Loan
Company, of which Ballance and Stout were provisional directors, he
had no idea of its connection with the Waimea Plains and the Agricultural
Company.129 When Vogel announced, in early 1879, that he had joined the
board of the Agricultural Company, Grey insisted that it was incompatible
with his position as Agent-General, and instructed Vogel to resign from
the former. Vogel procrastinated and in the ensuing correspondence
it emerged that both Ballance and Stout knew of his association with
the Company. In an official letter of 26 April Ballance informed Vogel
of the Government's decision to insist on his resignation.130 In a
private letter of the previous day he had congratulated Vogel on the

success of the Company and regretted that he was being asked to retire.

127. Whitmore to Ballance, 11 Apr. 1879, BMSS, 1; WH, 12 Apr. 1879.
128. NZH, 3 Dec. 1879.

129. Hamer, 1962, p. 146.

130. AJHR, 1886, H-32.
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It was a Cabinet decision; personally Ballance had no objection to

Vogel's position.131

In January Ballance visited the South Island. At a banquet at
Invercargill he made a speech emphasising how crucial railways were
to the development of the land. The only reproductive railway finance
was that which directly promoted settlement.132 On 27 January he
turned the first sod of the Waimea Plains Railway. The railway was
an integral part of the Loan and Agricultural Companies' plans to dispose

of the land, and was being financed by a third, allied company.

Ballance telegraphed Vogel in London:

Line through magnificent country waiting
settlement by proposed Waimea Company.
Success must contribute prosperity colony,
and remunerate proprietors. 133

The telegram could not have arrived at a more fortuitous moment. The
London Times had found out about the rabbits just as the Company was to
be floated. Larnach had Ballance's telegram published and the Company

was successfully launched.

Ballance was criticised for using his position as a government
minister to promote a private undertaking. Criticism was minimal

however; most attention was focussed on Vogel, and in any case the

facts took some months to emerge.134 There were mitigating

circumstances. When sending the telegram Ballance could not have known

131. Ballance to Vogel, 25 Apr. 1879, LB L pp. 117-18; see also Ballance tc
Larnach, 25 Apr. 1879, LB I, pp. 119-20.

132. Evening Chronicle. 28 Jan. 1879.

133. Hamer, 1962, p. 146. See also PD, 1879, 31, pp. 30-36.

134. See e.g. NZH, 17 Apr. 1879; EP, 5 May 1879.
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that events in London had reached a critical stage: the Times article
revealing the presence of rabbits was not published until four days
later. Also, although Ballance was a provisional director of the

Land and Loan Company, most likely brought in by Stout, there is no
evidence to suggest that he had any personal financial interest in the
Agricultural Company. He referred to it as 'your company' when writing

to Vogel.135

More important, Ballance quite simply saw nothing wrong with the
venture. He viewed the Loan Company as a useful means of promoting
settlement. When Fox brought up the matter at the election in
September, Ballance had the prospectus of the Company printed in the
Herald, saying that he was not ashamed to be associated with it and
applauded in particular one of its chief objectives of subdividing
.large estates. A braﬁch of the Company in Wanganui would, he continued,
be of great benefit to thé district. Land belonging to the local
firm of Taylor and Watt might be cut up into fifty farms and disposed

of on deferred payment!136

Ballance and Stout's involvement Qigﬁ_theVCompany meant that their
relations with Grey deteriorated still further. The Premier felt
betrayed. He insisted that they resign their directorships, which
they did.137 Stout said later that they did not resign; rather they
were not asked to let their names be placed on the new prospectus of

the Company when it was transferred to London- but it amounted to the

-

38

same thing.1 Aside from contributing to the bad feeling already

135. Ballance to Vogel, 25 Apr. 1879, LB, p. 117, see also EP, 5 May
1879; and ch. 7 on the Agricultural Company. ——

136. WH, 6 Sept. 1879.

137. Hamer, 1962, p. 147.

138. See PD, 1886, 56, pp. 641-44.

<
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existing in the Cabinet the issue had no effect on Ballance's later
decision to resign. He undoubtedly realised that it could be

politically embarrassing but maintained that as it promoted genuine
closer settlement it was a legitimate exercise.139 There were much

better reasons for resigning.

By March 1879 disagreements within the Cabinet were being 'openly

paraded'. The Evening Post urged that differences be patched up:

Knowing what we do of the autocratic
idiosyncracies of Sir George Grey, we

are quite prepared to believe that he is
entirely in the wrong, and that he does not
treat his colleagues with the consideration
which they have a right to expect; but even
if this be so, he has a right to expect
loyalty from them while they remain his
colleagues. 140

Meanwhile the Evening Chronicle launched another attack on Grey. It

called him a coward for rushing off to his retreat on Kawau Island
when trouble erupted on the Waimate Plains in March. Sheehan was Grey's
last remaining ally in the Cabinet and the Chronicle sought to drive a
wedge between them. The Premier had from the start tied the Native
Minister's hands, it said. He was a stumbling block to progress whose
conduct the country could stand no longer.141 Echoing the Chronicle
the Herald in Wanganui pronounced Ballance the 'mainstay of the
Ministry'; Ballance and Stout pulled together whilst Grey was going

142

alone. J. Murray, of the Bank of New Zealand, wrote to Ballance

gravely concerned at the economic crisis- wool and wheat prices had

139. See Whitmore's explanation, PD, 1879, 31, pp. 34ff and Ballance's
. own later account, PD, 1885, 51, p. 273.

140. 29 Mar. 1879. -

141. 27 Mar. 1879.

142. WH, 19 Apr. 1879.
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never before been simultaneously low- and at Cabinet disunity.
'Grey makes no secret of his intention to '"put Ballance out"', he
reported. Murray hoped that if anyone was to go it would be the

Premier.143

By the beginning of May Ballance had decided to resign.144
Having read the correspondence relating to Luckie's appointment Bryce
advised him 'to take some means of retiring from the cabinet on
broader grounds- grounds which might secure you sympathy in some parts

of the colony at least‘.145 Cabinet meetings had now ceased

146 Stout had remained in Dunedin since the close of the

altogether.
previous session and by mid-May there were rumours of his resignation.
With his partner in his law firm ill and his own health not good, he

resigned a month later. The Wanganui Chronicle believed that the

excuse of 'private affairs' was only a 'loophole for escape' from a

148

'blundering' Ministry. Ballance too -needed an excuse. There was

no hope of a recovery of the economy beforé the financial statement-was
to be delivered. 'No one on the outside of a lunatic-asylum could
view (the) finance without amazement and loathing' wrote the partisan
Stevens. 'The Land Tax is a complete failure and its incidence is

unjust beyond belief'. He added gleefully:

Report says that Stout will resign his office

in the public interest. I shall not be sorry
for it in the public interest... .I expect great
fun from Wakefield this session. Last session
he flew at nearly everybody and would have flared

143. J. Murray to Ballance, 2 Apr. 1879, BMSS, 10-11.
144. Bryce to Ballance, 12 May 1879, BMSS, 31.

145. Bryce to Ballance, 25 May 1879, BMSS, 32-33.
146. PD, 1879, 31, p. 69; EP, 30 June 1879.

147. EP, 18 May 1879; NZH, 27 May 1879.

148. 16 June 1879. -

147
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up even more if he had not been next to a
sober animal like myself but this year there
will be no holding him and indeed I think I
shall set him at Ballance. 149

Grey was now ruling by decree, 'seeing Ministers individually,
telling them what he had decided and thinks should be done'.150 One
such summons provided Ballance with a practically ideal pretext for
resignation. He was called to Grey's office on Friday afternoon, 27
June. Grey had the Treasury Department draft estimates, prepared by
Ballance, in front of him. He was unhappy that the salary of the
Private Secretary to the Treasurer, E. Fox, had been removed from the
Treasury estimates and placed elsewhere. In fact Fox was Secretary
to the Cabinet and the Premier, and had long ceased to have any
connection with the Treasury. Grey was intent on a showdown. He
told Ballance that if this sort of thing was to happen he would take
over the Treasury himself. Ballapnce, who had tried to explain that
the estimates were only a draft and that if the Cabinet chose to charge
Fox's salary to a department with which Fox had no connection, so be it,
replied that in that case he had better resign. Grey, refusing to
listen to further explanation, ordered Ballance to leave the room.
Ballance, 'excited but calm' as a later report put it, claimed that as
long as he was a minister he had a right to free discussion with all his
Cabinet colleagues, from the Premier down. Grey threatened to have him
physically ejected. Ballance replied that he wouldn't move 'if all the
messengers in the building were summoned’'. Sheehan, the only other
person in the room, tried to quieten things down, but Grey left the room
'in a most excited state, crossed the passage, and entered Mr Fox's room

opposite, slaming both doors after him'. Ballance then emerged

149. E.C.J. Stevens to Stafford, 19 June 1879, Stafford MS, vol. 6.
150. NZH, 1 July 1879.
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4
"trembling with suRfessed excitement', apparently restrained by

Sheehan, whose hand was on his shoulder.151

Three days later Ballance tendered his resignation. Grey asked

152 The rift was

him to reconsider, but this was a mere formality.
too deep. It was inconceivable that relations might be patched up,
primarily because at heart neither men wanted them to be. Grey had
brought their conflict to a climax and Ballance was not going to let
the opportunity for resignation slip. The specific issue was
unimportant, though it angered Grey, who had consistently advocated
retrenchment in the civil service. In removing Fox's salary from the

Treasury estimates, Ballance revealed that Fox was in fact acting as

Grey's personal assistant.

It was a remarkable incident, not so much because it occurred,
but that it was so widely publicised afterwards. Ballance's version

appeared in the Evening Chronicle, which said that the whole thing had

been pre-arranged by Grey. Apparently, half an hour before Ballance
was sent for by Grey he received a telegram from Whitmore in Auckland,
saying that the papers there had just published an 'extra' containing

i Unfortunately no copies of this

news of a Cabinet disruption.
'extra' seem to have survived, but it is most likely that it referred
to Cabinet disputes in more general terms. Papers had for weeks been

speculating about splits in the Ministry. The New Zealand Times noted

that rumours of Ballance's resignation had reached it from Auckland in

mid-June. Further speculation on Ballance's position occurred shortly

151. This account is gleaned from Evening Chronicle, 30 June 1879;
NZH, 1 July 1879; EP, 1 July 1879; WH, 5, 12 July 1879.

152. Grey to Ballance, 30 June 1879, BMSS, 34.

153. 30 June 187S.
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before the specific incident took place.154 Ballance's resignation
may have been predicted, but it does not follow that Grey stage-managed
the whole affair. As it turned out, Ballance emerged in a more
favourable light than the Premier. Those papers that did criticise
Ballance, and they were in the minority, argued that he should not have
allowed the facts of the dispute to have been made public. The facts

themselves were not questioned.

Opposition papers were content to watch over the collapse of the -

Ministry. The New Zealand Times said that Grey 'quite forgot himself,

155

and used language such as no colleague' could condone. The New

Zealand Herald recognised that the dispute over Fox reflected more

fundamental differences between the men; Ballance had no choice but

156

to resign. The pro-Government journals split, with the Lyttelton

Times in Christchurch and the Evening Star in Auckland continuing to

support Grey. The Times said that Ballance had been a drag on Grey
and so his departure was the 'best thing' for the Liberal party.
Details of the incident ought not to have emerged, and those that did
were distorted. Politically Ballance was finished, for the Liberal

party would not forget his efforts to supplant Grey. As for the

Opposition, they viewed him

with scorn for reasons best known to
themselves. One of its organs... lately
informed him, in effect, that he is so black
that the very sight of him drives the
imagination of his critics into the
contemplation of all that is most white and
most beautiful, in order that his unpleasant
figure may be quickly lost sight of. 157

154. Quoted by WH, 5 July 1879.

155. Ibid. -

156. 1, 2, 4 July 1879.

157. LT, 5 July 1879; also 1 July 1879.
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He had not, recalled the Times, been a great success as Treasurer.
His ability on paper had never been matched by his performance and

influence in the House.

The Evening Post, on the other hand, agreed with the Evening

Chronicle that the whole incident was orchestrated by Grey. As we
have seen, Grey certainly used the dispute to bring his conflict with
Ballance to a head, though the particular incident need not have been
premeditated. The Post thought Ballance's version of the quarrel
'so entirely consistent with the course of action generally pursued
by Sir George Grey that it may fairly be accepted as accurately

158

representing what took place'. The Otago Daily Times urged that

parties be reorganised to the exclusion of Grey.159 In Wanganui the

Chronicle launched a series of fierce attacks on Ballance. He had
long been trying to split the Liberal party in his favour, it said,
but has now been found out 'people speak of him as a 'solemn humbug’,
and laugh at his finance with its ridiculous land tax, and no less
ridiculous reduction of duties on tea and... sugar’'. He had deserted

160

his post at a time of need. The Herald responded by reprinting all

those accounts favourablée to Ballance that had appeared in other papers.161

Ballance's resignation sealed the fate of the Liberal Ministry by
pushing already wavering supporters over to the Opposition. Parliament
opened on 11 July with the Government promising a new £5 million loan to
further public works and an increase in income tax to make up for the

deficit in land revenue. Fox, the newly chosen Opposition leader, moved

158. 1 July 1879.

159. Quoted NzZH, 3 July 1879.

160. WC, 7, 14 Aug. 1879. See also WC, 11 Aug. 1879.
161. WH, 5 July 1879.
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a no confidence motion almost immediately. There were suggestions
that Ballance's resignation from the Ministry would also involve his
defection from the Government benches.162 In fact that he remained
loyal to Grey was of secondary importance to the effect his resignation
had on the disintegrating Liberal party.  Supporters of the Government
who were already concerned at Grey's suitability as Liberal leader,

his radicalism or at the failure to carry through policies in general,
now lost all remaining confidence in him. The 'middle party'
re-emerged. On 23 July its leader, J.C. Brown, claimed that it
commanded seventeen votes, which would be given to the Government only
if Grey was replaced by Macandrew.163 In the event Brown voted with
Grey, but the middle party, reflecting the evident disunity amongst
ministerial supporters, had done its damage. The political situation
was very confused, said the Post on 22 July, political parties 'scarcely
exist'. A week later Fox's motion was carried by forty-seven votes to

thirty;three. The Governor acceded to Grey's request for a dissolution.

Throughout the debate Ballance remained quiet. Indeed he did not
utter a single word in the House the whole session. According to the

Evening Star he was annoyed at criticism of his actions in the press,

and was actively plotting against Grey:

Official life has apparently agreed with him.

He has grown very portly, and has a habit of

placing his hands behind his back, and inclining

his ear in a condescending style. He has been

busy lobbying this afternoon, and prophesies a

coup by the opposition. He inclines to the belief
that the session will not last more than a month. 164

162. See e.g., EP, 5 July 1879.
163. NZH, 24 July 1879.
164. 12 July 1879. He was right- the session ended on 31 July.
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There is no evidence to support the Star's allegation that Ballance,

to the extent of joining the Opposition, was working against the
Ministry. Though he could never again join a government led by Grey,
it was vital that his credentials as a consistent liberal be sustained.
He had, after all, left Atkinson for Grey less than two years earlier.
By emphasising personal rather than policy differences the circumstances
of his dispute with Grey also helped to ensure that Ballance continued
to be regarded as a prominent liberal. Ballance remained quiet
because he had nothing constructive to offer. He was certainly not
prepared to join the opposition in the condemnation of a Ministry of
which he had been a member. He believed defeat inevitable and looked
to the coming election as the only means of resolving the situation.

Soon he left Wellington to commence preparations for his own campaign;
165

according to the Wanganui Chronicle he was the first member to do so.

Grey never forgave Ballance. Their public reconciliation in
October, when Ballance, speaking at an opposition dinner, said he wished
bygones to be bygones, was never matched in private.l66 For Ballance,
Grey was a stumbling block to the formation of another liberal ministry.
Especially in Auckland Grey continued to have a personal following and
waild a personal influence that for a number of years made the formation
of a liberal government without him impossible.  Even when Premier
Ballance had difficulty maintaining the support of liberals in Auckland.
Had it not been for his deviousness, Ballance said later, Grey might

have continued leader of a Liberal party. Instead he had destroyed it:

Not by want of talent, but destroyed by want
of consistency, by want of political honesty

165. WC, 11 Aug. 1879.
166. AES, 13 Oct. 1879. See also NZH, 26 Sept. 1879, 6 Oct. 1879.
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and straightforwardness. This is what
wrecked the Liberal party, and the

honourable gentleman (Grey) as the possible
leader of it... .There/was\neverja man who
came into this House more endowed with all

the intellectual qualities and gifts to

become a leader of a great party in this
colony than the honourable gentleman. ...We
want something more as a test of statesmanship
than the making of great speeches before large
masses of people, without any attempt in the
slightest degree to give effect to what is
uttered. 167

167. PD, 1885, 53, pp. 352-53.
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Years of  Uncertainty and Change
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The years between the fall of the Grey Government and the
formation of the Stout-Vogel Ministry in 1884 were critical ones for
Ballance. Macandrew was chosen to replace Grey as Opposition leader.
Ballance was the most able politician of the non-Greyite liberals and
recognised Macandrew's inadequacies, yet he hesitated to put himself
forward believing that Stout (despite the fact that he was out of
Parliament) had prior claims. At the samé time Ballance's own financial
affairs were deteriorating. The depression which began in 1879 and
was to last until the mid-1890s hit the Herald hard (c.f. pp. 207-11.)
Finally, his defeat at the 1881 election was an unexpected blow to

his confidence and political career.

It was because of the uncertainties related with these events

that this period of Ballance's life was so important. Defeat gave

him time for reflection, re-assessment, time for his business affairs

and time for Wanganui. By 1881 he had reached his political maturity.
By then all the elements of what he was to regard as the central liseral
platform of 1890 were apparent. Ballance saw himself as a liberal

and long argued that politics ought to be fought along liberal versus
conservative lines. He was confident that ultimately they would be.

In 1884 he recognised that the formation of a ministry solely on the
liberal principles to which he was committed was not possible. He

accepted the delay and settled for second best.

The evolution of Ballance's philosophy involved an adaptation of
English liberalism to New Zealand conditions. The precise way in
which this was done was determined by Ballance's perception of politics
based on his Wanganui experience. His radicalism centred on land

reform because for Ballance politics in New Zealand was primarily a
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struggle for the control of land. His only published writing outside
the Herald was on land nationalisation. This reflected his belief
that as land held the key to prosperity, political debate and conflict
must inevitably revolve around it. At the same time land was the
core of his liberalism because it also held the key to individual
advancement. The State had a crucial role to perform in providing
the conditions under which individual self-help and self-reliance

could be maximised (see chapter 6).

In 1879 Ballance switched his seat from Rangitikei to Wanganui,
a recognition of his identification with the town's interests.
Wanganui's prosperity continued to depend upon servicing the country.
The close relationship between town and country was not to be
overshadowed by predominantly urban issues as it was in the larger
centres of population. The working classes in Wanganui continued to
think primarily in terms of moving onto the land as the meéns of
improving their economic circumstances, and for the town as a whole
the closer settlement of small farms made a good deal more sense than
an attempt to develop local industries. The solution to depression
was seen not in tackling unemployment and low wages through trade union
organisation and jndustrialisation, but in removing obstacles to the

opening up of the land.

Thus there was no paradox in a liberal 'rural'’ platform aimed
at an urban electorate, for a policy tailored to urban needs that saw
solutions in the land was particularly well suited to Wanganui. Land
nationalisation, or at least the leasing of land, was attractive to
prospective settlers in the town rather than established farmers.

Equally it drew support from those, content to remain in Wanganui, who
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saw that closer settlement was the best guarantee of the town's
prosperity. It would also, it was hoped, lessen those social evils

wellknown in the old country to be associated with urbanisation.

Specifically, Wanganui was a town dominated by labourers and
artisans. They comprised well over half the electorate in 1884.1
Ballance's land and protection policies were directed mainly at these
groups, and it was upon them that his political future rested. Such
a platform also attracted support from those shopkeepers and
businessmen who saw Ballance's primary aim as boosting the town's

economy .

The following two chapters examine how Ballance arrived at this
position on his return to power in the Stout-Vogel Government. This
chapter will look at his political activity first as a national figure
and second as a representative of Wanganui. It wili stress the effects
of the depression on Wanganui and on Ballance's own financial positioﬁ.
The chapter will conclude with a discussion of his electoral defeat

in 1881.

Chapter 6 deals with Ballance's political philosophy. while his
views and writings on land nationalisation are of particular importance,
this chapter also aims to show the broad base of his liberalism.

Ideology is intimately related to practical politics, and so the strands

=y
.

Calculated from 1884 Electoral Rolls.

2. Ballance's electoral support is examined in ch. 9, which
discusses the 1890 election. This was Ballance's first
election in Wanganui at which there was more than one polling
booth.
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of both chapters will finally be brought together in a discussion

of Ballance's 1884 election campaign.

+ F + 4+ F o+ o+ + o+

Liberal supporters of the Grey Ministry sought to fight the
1879 election along liberal versus conservative lines, and Liberal
Associations were formed to promote candidates and policy. The
Wellington Association established by Grey outlined a sixteen point
programme, which included a progressive land tax, the abolition of
plural voting at local government elections, redistribution of seats
-according to population, manhood suffrage, the promotion of village
settlements, encouragement of locallindustries.and the abolition of
Legislative Councillors' honorarium.3 The electioﬂ was the closest
the country had come to such a clear political cleavage. A major
source of opposition to the liberals came from conservative businessmen

and landowners unhappy with Ballance's land tax.

Yet reality was not as simple as the Greyites suggested. As
E. Bohan has pointed out with respect to the election in Canterbury,
candidates far from fitted in to such a neat categorisation. There
were opponents of the Grey Ministry, for example, who were distinctly
more liberal than some of its supporters.4 It is undeniabie that

Liberals, and Grey in particular, sought to impose such a cleavage;

3. NZH, 1 Aug. 1879.

4. E. Bohan, 'The General Election of 1879 in Canterbury', M.A.
thesis, University of Canterbury, 1958; see also E. Bohan,
'The 1879 General Election in Canterbury', Political Science, XII
(1960), pp. 45-61.
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Bohan simply argues that many at the time refused to accept it as
fundamental. Only in a minority of cases did it accord with

political reality.

As we shall soon see, in Wanganui too the liberal-conservative
split was complicated by other factors. However it remains true
that Ballance himself fought the election as a liberal, and was elected

as such. His own political platform was unambiguous.

Aside from the fact that genuine liberals and conservatives did
appear on the 'wrong' side, there were two other reasons why such a
clear division was lacking at the election. First, it suited many
conservatives to deny that politics was a matter of liberalism versus
conservatism. By emphasising the need for retrenchment, concentrating
on the maladministration of.the Grey Ministry, and at the same time
'adopting those -reforms (e.g. electoral) that were already widely
accepted, they obscured and defused the fundamental pleavage the
liberals hoped to create. Further, the label 'conservative' was used
with disapprobation, and so might be rejected by a candidate
irrespective of its applicability. Secondly, the genuine liberéls
were themselves divided. Many refused on past experience to accept
Grey's leadership, preferring Macandrew instead. Although Grey's
charisma and ability to draw large crowds was an asset to the liberals,
his domination tended at the same time to narrow the base of the party

to his personal following.

In fact the liberals had considerable success; more impressive

given these internal divisions, the problem of defending a Ministry

that had appeared ineffectual, and the background of economic depression.°

5. See T.G. Wilson, The Grey Government, 1877-9, Auckland University
College, 1954, pp. 41-49.




187.

Ballance's decision to stand for Wanganui rather than Rangitikei
made sense. He lived in the town and, as has been argued above, his
political platform was more suited to it than to the country constituency.
It was not simply that it would prove to be an easier contest. There
had been signs of growing opposition to Ballance in Rangitikei, and
his espousal of the land tax would no doubt stiffen it, but with such
a prominent figure as Fox standing in Wanganui, the result there was

: 6
by no means a foregone conclusion.

The Wanganui contest contained the same ambiguities as elections
elsewhere. There were three candidates for two seats. On the one
hand Ballance, a national liberal personality, faced Fox, the
conservative Leader of the Opposition. On the other hand the third
candidate, John Bryce, who was essentially a conservative, joined
Ballance in an alliance aimed solely at excluding Fox. It was a
classic case of personal considerations oferriding political differences.
Their friendship had survived because Bryce could sympathise with,
support and advise Ballance in his split with Grey; especially to the
extent that it involved what Bryce regarded as Grey's fundamental
weakness over native affairs. Beyond this there was now no common
political ground between the two men. Bryce voted for Fox's
no-confidence motion while Ballance remained loyal to Grey. Bryce
too had all along expressed doubts about the land tax.7 Writing to
Ballance in May he thought Fox to be 'gaining popularity' and believed
Watt to be standing alongside him.8 Bryce calculated that an alliance

with Ballance was the best means of defeating both.

6. See WH, 30 Nov. 1878; WH, 16 Aug. 1879.

7. For example see his speech, WH, 26 Jan. 1878.

8 Bryce to Ballance, 25 May 1879, BMSS, 33. In the event Watt
wasn't a candidate.
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Ballance preferred to see Bryce rather than Fox elected alongside
himself, and his election committee ran both their campaigns. He
emphasised how together they had supported abolition in the interests
of Wanganui; their more recent political differences were simply
ignored. Meanwhile Bryce's claim to be an 'independent' allowed him

to appeal to the 'middle ground' between Ballance and Fox.9

In his campaign Ballance was in the somewhat awkward position of
having to defend the Grey Ministry and his own role in it whilst
opposing Grey himself as leader of the party. He praised Grey's
liberalism but insisted that he lacked the qualities necessary for
leadership. He did not however specify who should replace him. In
Wellington the Chronicle did. The party, it said, should ditch Grey

for Macandrew.10 The Evening Post drew the distinction between 'true,

honest liberalism' and the 'Red Republicanism gone mad' of Grey. It
argued that the city's Liberal Association was a sham as its proposed

candidates, Hutchison and Fisher, were simply Grey nominees.11

With three such prominent personalities involved in the Wanganui
election interest ran high. Between four and five hundred electors
squeezed into the Oddfellows Hall on the evening of Tuesday 19 August
to hear Ballance speak. It was one of the largest meetings to have
been held in the town.12 Ballance began by saying that he had decided
to stand for Wanganui in order to fight Fox, whose articles in the

Rangitikei Advocate had been consistently attacking him. He then gave

an account of past sessions, defending his own actions and activities.

The most significant part of the speech however, concerned his views on

9. WC, 12, 20 Aug. 1879; WH, 23 Aug. 1879.
10. Evening Chronicle, 30 July 1879.
11. EP, 1, 4, 14, 15, 18 Aug. 1879. Fisher later retired from the

contest.
12. WH, 23 Aug. 1879; NzH, 21 Aug. 1879.
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land settlement.

First he argued that the land tax was the 'salvation' of bona fide

settlers as only the monopolist, whose aim was to 'drive the small
holder to the towns, and so retard the progress of the colony', would

be penalised. Improvements were exempt: the more improvements the
less tax to be paid. Fox had said that 'mechanics' and tradesmen had
no interest in a liberal land law. Ballance replied that 'there was
not an artizan in the colony who did not strive to get his little bit

of freehold, even if it was only a quarter-acre section. Did not every
man endeavour to provide for his family by leaving them a little
property?'%3 Five years later he would be much more explicit on the

advantages of a liberal land law to urban labour.

Recognising the need for finance to carry out improvements,
Ballance next proposed that an Agricultural State Bank be established
to provide loans for small farmers. The colony's trust funds in savings
banks would be transferred to the agricultural bank and money advanced

on freehold security at six per cent.

On the mechanism required to make land available Ballance said
that he had already drawn up an amendment to the Land Bill_due next
session, allowing for the establishment of village settlements alongside
the line of railways. He also argued that a ballot system should
replace the: auction of land on deferred payment. A few days earlier
Ballance had attended a meeting called to form a new small farm
association in the town. At it he had said that the association could
do little as no provision was made for special settlements under
existing laws; the selling of land on deferred payment by auction meant

that it simply went to the highest bidder.14

13. On land ownership as a working class ideal, see Miles Fairburn, 'The
Rural Myth and the New Urban Frontier', NZJH, 9, 1 (1975).
14. WH, 9 Aug. 1879. N

o e s g e e T Y
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Finally, Ballance said that closer settlement would have the
advantage of solving the 'native difficulty'. Where land was bought
up by speculators and 'scattered with a2 few shepherds' there could be
no guarantee of peace. 'Wherever the Government had a block of land
with a good title' they should settle it. 'Never mind the price so
much as planting settlers. They would repay the country by establishing

peace, and also through the Customs'.

Other speeches at Waverleyand Waitotara repeated these themes.
Ballance also again claimed that there were two distinct parties-
liberal and conservative- and that it was to the former he belonged.15

Meanwhile the Wanganui Chronicle launched daily attacks on Ballance

and his 'rowdy’ supporters.16 It brought up his involvement in the
Land and Loan Company,17 and argued that his 'sensational programme of
reforms' would, if he was returned to office, mean an impoverished

18
exchequer.

On the eve of the poll a minor issue entered the election. In
Otago and Canterbury associations had been formed to press for Bible
reading in schools. Ballance had said in his speeches that he was
not opposed to religious instfuction but that its proper place was in
church and at home. Introducing Bible reading into schools would
also force Catholic children to leave. The Chronicle suggested that
Ballance had actively wooed the Catholic vote by promising state aid to
private schools. It reported that a meeting on 31 August of the town's

Catholics had decided to support Ballance and Bryce.19 In fact the

15. WH, 30 Aug. 1879.

16. See for example, 12, 14, 21, 22, 25 Aug. 1879.
17. 15, 30 Aug. 1879. See ch. 4, pp. 169-71.

18. 1 Sept. 1879.

19. Ibid.
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Chronicle's allegation was unjust. The Herald pointed out that
Ballance had always supported a state secular system and denied that
he had made a deal with the Catholics. The Chronicle withdrew its
claim.20 Ballance's opposition to Bible reading in schools was
sufficient reason for Catholics to support him rather than the
unsympathetic Fox, but it was a small part of his programme and sprang
.from a liberal philosophy rather than expediency aimed at the Catholic

vote.

That Ballance saw politics as essentially a contest between the
landless poor in the towns and wealthy monopolists is shown by a

revealing piece of doggerel printed in the Herald at the time:

Oh, Paddy dear, and did ye hear,
The news that's going around,

The Land Sharks claim thave a right
To all New Zealand ground.

. So pluck that fond wish from your heart,

That brought you out from home;

You'll never own a sod of land
In all the time to come.

I met with Bryce and Ballance, and
They took me by the hand,

Says they '"Poor Man'' why don't you get
A little bit of land.

Och thin, says I, 'tis what I want,
But what's the chance for me,

When all the many acre'd sharks
Have said it shall not be.

I came out here because they said,
An honest man was bound,

If he'd work hard and sober keep,
To get a bit of ground.

If Parliament's returned by Sharks,
Without a hope I stand,

Say's they poor man there's more as thinks
That you should have your land.

20. WH, 6 Sept. 1879; WC, 3 Sept. 1879.
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And though the acred lordings here
Say Fox return you must,

If we but to ourselves are true,
We in ourselves may trust.

So vote for Bryce and Ballance, boys,
Who won't grind down the poor,

You all know well how much you'll get
From Watt and Peat and Moore. 21

The result of the election was close. In a high turnout (80.5
per cent compared to the national average of 66.5 per cent) Ballance was

thirteen votes behind Bryce, who headed the Poll:

Ballance Bryce Fox
Wanganui 424. 426 328
Waverley 72 81 116
Upokangaro 24 24 14
Maxwell 22 24 28
Marangai 5 5 15

547 560 501 22
Ballance's strongest support came.from the town. In the main country

settlement, Waverley, he polled fewer votes than both Fox (who lived
there) and Bryce. In such a close contest the Catholic vote, though
small, may have been critical to Ballance and Bryce. Though Bryce's
candidature confused the contest to a certain extent, there can be no
doubt that Ballance, who promoted himself as first and foremost a
liberal who saw politics as a struggle for the control of land, was
recognised by electors as such. Given a choice of three candidates
of varying opinions, the Chronicle continually pointing out Ballance's
'sensational' policies, and a national background where 'liberal' and

'conservative' labels (however accurately) abounded, it would be naive

21. 23 Aug. 1879. Note the expectations of the immigrant, and the
self-reliant theme in the final verse.
22. WwH, 6, 13 Sept. 1879.
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to suppose that he was elected upon any other basis.23

+ 4+ 4+ + + + + + + + +F

The result of the election nationally put the Government and
Opposition on nearly equal terms. The Herald in noting this welcomed
the clearer definition of parties; 'though nearly every one has claimed
to be a Liberal', in reality conservatives and liberals were quite

distinguishable from one another:

...instead of such issues as Provincialism,
Separation, and Federation, we have great
principles affecting the whole people awaiting
decision. This is surely a great gain... It
must not be supposed that parties have been
perfectly organised... but a great stride has
been made. 24

There was indeed to be some further realignment. Shortly after
parliament assembled Grey was defeated in a no-confidence motion by
two votes. The vote would have been tied had not Vincent Pyke of
Dunstan in Otago decided at the eleventh hour to side with the
Opposition. Hall, who had replaced Fox as leader, then formed a
Ministry. Meanwhile Grey stood down as leader of the liberals and
was replaced by Macandrew. Pyke and Downie Stewart, also from Otago,
then announced that they would no longer support Hall. It was only
the desertion of four members of Grey's Auckland party (promised a

fairer share of public works' expenditure for the city) that saved the

23. The writer disagrees entirely with Young's proposition that
'Ballance's use of party names bore little relation to political
principles'. T.J. Young, 'The Political Career of John Ballance,

1875-1890', M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1964, p. 6

24. 20 Sept. 1879.
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new Government.25

Ballance played a critical role in these manoeuvrings, and at
the same time made a half-hearted first bid for the leadership of

the liberals. The Evening Star had before the election suggested

that Ballance was the 'dark horse' who aspired to the office and was
believed capable of holding the party together.26 In the complicated
events that led to Hall's securing of a majority what seems to have
happened was as follows: Ballance and Pyke agreed that the latter
would vote against Grey, thus defeating the Government, but then refuse
to support Hall. This would leave the way open for the formation of
a Ministry including Ballance, Pyke and Macandrew. Such tactics
would involve little political embarrassment for Pyke (never a firm
Greyite) and none for Ballance, who could prove his loyalty and
consistency publicly by voting with Grey. Pyke could argue that he
simply wished to see greater Otago representation in the Government
(which was true as far as it went) and Ballance would accomplish his

aim of replacing Grey with an alternative liberal administration.

On the eve of the vote of no-confidence it seemed that Grey was

safe:

Mr Pyke's vote has been secured by the
Government. The Opposition had a deputation

to the number of twenty prepared to meet Mr

Pyke on arrival, with a carriage and pair, but
Mr Ballance got hold of him, and marched him off
in triumph, to the intense disgust of Messrs
McLean and Hall. 27

25. R.C.J. Stone points out the role of the 'native question' in the
motivations of the four 'Auckland Rats', 'The Maori Lands Question
and the Fall of the Grey Government, 1879', NZJH, 1, 1 (1967),
pp. 51-74.

26. 7 Aug. 1879,

27. AES, 1 Oct. 1879.



195.

Only when Pyke voted against Grey was it at all apparent what had

been going on. When the Opposition caucus met following the defeat
there were forty-three members; but only forty-two had supported Grey.
The addition was Pyke. Ballance toyed with the idea of putting himself
forward as leader, but Reader Wood proposed Macandrew arguing that

only he could unite the party. Macandrew was certainly more acceptable
to the Greyite faction than Ballance, and he was elected unopposed.28
Ballance may not have pressed the matter because he did not wish to
split the party further and in any case regarded Stout's return to

Parliament to assume the leadership as inevitable.

The formation of a ministry by Macandrew looked probable until
the four 'Auckland Rats'- including Wood(!)- changed sides. It was
not simply a case of provincial interests reasserting themselves.
In fact the four 'rats' were ali from the right wing of Grey's Auckland
coalition (all had business interests in that city) and their .

defection clarified the liberal/conservative alignment.29

The parties were evenly balanced and there was inadequate support
for an undiluted liberal government. A Grey coalition involving
conservative Auckland support was ruled out as past experience had alienatec

other liberals; and the four Aucklanders knew it. The Evening Post
30

had suggested an alternative: a Hall/Ballance/Macandrew coalition,
but this was never a possibility. Ballance himself moved a resolution
pledging the liberal caucus to resist combination.31 And in the event,

of course, Hall did not need it.

28. NZH, 8, 9, 11 Oct. 1879.

29, See Wilson, pp. 52-56.

30. Persistently! EP, 8, 9, 10, 23, 28 Sept. 1879.
31. AES, 7 Oct. 1879.



196.

Macandrew's leadership was not a success. With Hall secure,
the Opposition (which had held together as long as there was the
prospect of power) fell apart. Grey went his own way, to Hall's
comfort preventing 'an effective Opposition from coalescing‘.32
Without Ballance, who was ill at the time, to provide effective
criticism of the Government's financial proposals, a no-confidence

motion moved by Macandrew was a damp squib.

By mid-1881 Ballance was frustrated at Macandrew's inability to
gather about him a party espousing clear liberal principles. 'The
secret of the success of our party must depend on its reliance on the

people, and its firm adherence to its principles’, he wrote to Stout:

We sadly want a (liberal) programme...
that will lift the party from the dead
level where no one can discover who's who.
My own opinion is that without such a
programme we cannot expect to do much. 33

Ballance complained that Macandrew, by putting forward a policy
including the issue of paper money to pay for public works and Bible
in schools, and by not specifying what should replace the property tax
introduced by Hall, was failing to represent the opinions of his party.
Ye£ Ballance would not put himself forward as an alternative: he told
Stout that he believed himself 'utterly deficient' in the qualities

necessary for leadership.34

The Hall Government was a conservative one set on retrenchment as
a means of coping with depression. Its 'liberal' measures of

electoral reform it adopted because there was a consensus of opinion in

32. Judith Basset, Sir Harry Atkinson, 1831-1892, Auckland, 1975, p. 82.

33. Ballance to Stout, 23 May 1881, Stout MSS.
34, This point will be examined in detail in ch. 8.
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the country and Parliament in favour of them, and becauée in passing
them the Opposition could be further neutralised. There were
advantages to be gained in not resisting the popular mood, and in any
case retrenchment and the replacement of the land tax by a property
tax were more important. Ballance did what he could to promote
liberal policy. He proposed a radical amendment to the Electors Bill,
opposed the return to the property tax, and supported the
Representation Bill on the basis that it was a step in the direction

of a more equitable electoral system. Each will be looked at in turn.

The Qualification of Electors Bill gave the vote to all male
residents of twelve months, reduced the freehold requirement to £25,
abolished the ratepayers franchise, but retained the property vote.
Numbers of Maori voters on European rolls were halved when land held
communally was no longer considered eligible as a freehold qualification.35
In committee Baliance carried an amendment substituting the word 'person’
for 'man' in the freehold qualification, thus introducing a female
franchise. He attempted to do the same with the residential

% The time for

qualification, though this time the amendment failed.
discussion on the woman's franchise was singularly ill chosen, complained

the Wanganui Chronicle. And in any case, it said, the franchise was

not sought by New Zealand women. Though the weaker sex were as able as
men to take part in political discussions, few would vote if given the

opportunity.37

In fact the first amendment had been carried because many

conservative members supported the franchise for women freeholders simply

35. G.A. Wood, 'The 1878 Electoral Bill and Franchise Reform in Nineteenth
Century New Zealand', Political Science, 28, 1 (1976), p. 54.

36. PD, 1879, 33, pp. 173, 182.

37. 13 Nov. 1879. The Herald naturally supported Ballance, WH, 15 Nov.
1879.
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on the grounds of the rights of property. Ballance later indicated
that he would have accepted this limited franchise as a step in the
right direction, but was persuaded by friends to withdraw the amendment.
They were concerned at the political effect of only women property
owners voting: it should be all or nothing. Ballance was uncertain
at the time, but by 1890 was convinced that it had been just as well

he had taken the advice.38

The financial policy of the Colonial Treasurer, Harry Atkinson,
aimed at tackling the depression through administrative retrenchment,
stopping subsidies to local bodies, imposing a property tax and a
certain amount of 'bookkeeping'. He separated the land account from
consolidated revenue to remove the temptation to 'dissipate New Zealand's
land resources by selling land to raise revenue'.39 As Ballance had

 found to his cost land sales were most unpredictable.

Ballance, not Macandrew, replied to Atkinson's speech moving the
Property Assessment Bill. It was a strong condemnation of the
Government's financial proposals as a whole, the high point of what
was otherwise a dry debate.40 He claimed that the principle of the
land tax had been accepted in the country because it bore lightly on
the 'industrial' part of the community and heavily on the speculators.
The property tax on the other hand was unjust in its incidence: small
farmers would pay more under it than under a land tax, even if the land
tax were doubled. If there was tc be additional taxation to that on

land, it should be on incomes. A® income tax was a tax 'simply on the

38. PD, 1890, 68, p. 394. See ch. 12 on Ballance's support for the
female franchise.

39. Bassett, pp. 77-78, 82. ,

40. EP, 5 Dec. 1879; NZH, 6 Dec. 1879; WH, 6 Dec. 1879; G.F. Thompson,
TThe Politics of Retrenchment: the origin and some aspects of the
politics of the Hall Ministry, 1879-82', M.A. thesis, Victoria
University of Wellington, 1967, p. 79.
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capacity of the individual to pay it'. It would also be more
equitable as unlike the property tax it would not exclude the
professional class, 'one of the most prosperous in the country’'.
Ballance went on to defend his own actions as Colonial Treasurer,
and then gave a point-by-point criticism of Atkinson's proposals.
On the tariff he thought that the duty on tobacco should be halved,
but at the same time welcomed the bonuses given to protect home
tobacco production as they would benefit the small farmer, for whom
tobacco would become a staple item of production. His stance on
protection was therefore ambiguous. Again, if it could be
statistically proven that the removal of timber duties had damaged
colonial production and trade he would support their reimposition:

'T would not stand upon theory when I saw a great evil arising'. Yet

—

he thought that the real cause of falling colonial production was the
depression, and that while colonial industries might ge encouraged in
many ways, it would be 'very dangerous' to introduce a policy of
protection. Only as the depression deepened did Ballance become a

committed protectionist.

The main thrust of Ballance's argument was reasserted in his

conclusion:

...I affirm that there can be no greater
evil in a young country than (the)...
consolidation of large properties... .

..I deeply regret the abolition of the
land-tax. I think it will lead to a
continual agitation, and that the tax
will not be permanently repealed. I
believe that, while this agitation is going
on ...,while we are vacillating between one
system of taxation and another ...,great evils
will arise to the industrial prosperity of this
colony in the future. 41

41. PD, 1879, 34, p. 713. Ballance was later instrumental in having a
measure protecting colonial tobacco production introduced, see Y,
30 July 1881; Y, 20 Aug. 1881.



Kathleen Ballance, 1885
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In speeches over the following two years Ballance developed his

criticism of the property tax:

We should see that a tax, when proposed,

shall not take more out of the pockets of

the people than is absolutely required for
the services of the country. That is a
fundamental principle... . ..,(Further,)
property must not escape taxation while you
are piling taxes upon the working classes. 42

There was little opposition to the Representation Bill of 1881.
Few could deny that boundaries needed to be redrawn so that
representation was based more squarely on population. The Government,
however, sought to counteract the political consequences of this
redistribution by increasing the total number of seats.43 Ballance
supported the Bill as a move in the right direction. Ideally he would
wish Maoris to be included on the same basis as Eufopeans, and he hoped
ultimately they would agree to give up their special representation.
If they did, he believed that there would be more Maori members in the
House. More important, Ballance argued that town and country should
be equally represented according to population (under the Bill the
country remained over-represented). The country would not suffer;
quite the contrary, for the towns had an interest in encouraging the
maximum amount of settlement on the land. This was especially important
said Ballance, as the opposite was occurring: property was being
consolidated, large estates formed, and political power would inevitably
follow. Redistribution would assist what should be the first duty of
Government, 'the cutting-up of the land, the dispersion of property, and

the location of people upon the land'.44

42. PD, 1880, 37, p. 602. See also PD, 1880, 35, pp. 371-82; PD, 1881,
40, pp. 762-63. o "

43, Thompson, p. 206.

44. PD, 1881, 39, pp. 548-51.
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The urgency of closer settlement, and awareness of the relationship
between town and country in gemeral, were particularly acute with the
onset of depression. The population of Wangaﬁui town had virtually
doubled between 1871 and 1881, to 4646. The rate of increase over
the following decade, however, was considerably slower; 4901 in 1886
and 5011 by 1891. The settlement of the immediate hinterland was more
rapid. Wanganui and Rangitikei Counties, for example, increased in

population from 5901 in 1886 to 6719 in 1891.45

The town continued

to perform its basic role as a distributive and servicing centre for
country settlements. By 1885 it contained an iron foundry (no doubt
producing agricultural implements amongst other things), flour and bone
mills, a bacon factory that could handle 1500 pigs at a time, sale yards
and a large sheep dip, vineyards, an abattoir and preserving factory,
and a cheese factory. There were smaller firms producing for the

local market, for example a confectionary and biscuit business and a

sash and door company.46

The two major local development issues of the 1880s- the extension
of port facilities and the establishment of a freezing works- involved
key projects that were viewed as essential if the processing and
distributive functions of the town were to be maintained. Much
discussion took place on harbour improvements, though little was achieved
beyond an extra few feet to the breakwater; and that proved fairly
ineffectual in deepening the harbour. A freezing works opened in the

town in 1891. Until then Wanganui lost valuable trade to the Wellington

45. New Zealand Census for the respective years. The population of the
boroughs of Wanganui and Marton rose from 5809 to 5987. Any
changes in boundaries would distort the figures, but the slowing down
of the rate of population growth is undeniable.

46. L.J.B. Chapple § H.C. Veitch, Wanganui, Hawera, 1939, pp. 131-32.
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works. Once established the freezing works greatly boosted the
town's economy, as farmers from the district were able to get a
higher price for their sheep at Wanganui by saving the cost of rail

freight to Wellington.47

For Ballance the rate of settlement was disappointingly slow.
Legislation to promote it had been passed, but the Government seemed
reluctant to make use of it. The 1877 Land Act established the
system of selling land on deferred payment. Ballance was eager to see
the revenue obtained contribute to the development of that land.

He had successfully amended the Act (section fifty-nine) therefore, so
that one third of the price paid was handed over to local authorities

to be expended on new or improved road access to the land.

An Amendment Act twd years later introduced provisions for Special
and Village Settlements. fhe Special Settlement scheme involved land
being set aside for groups of prospective farmers. It would be sold
at an upset price of £1 per acre, with conditions of occupation and

improvement attached.48

It was particularly appealing to the small

farm associations that were beiﬂg'fb}medmaiivovef the north island.

Land set aside for Village Settlements could be sold on deferred payment.
Occupants would live on an acre of village land, sold at £5, and
cultivate what was termed a 'small farm allotment' not to exceed fifty
acres, and to be sold at f£1 per acre.49 The idea of Village Settlements

to get working class men and their families out of the towns and onto the

land. Given form by Macandrew, the Minister of Lands responsible for

47. See S.M. King, 'The Port of Wanganui and its Influence on Wanganui',
M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1964, ch. 3.

48. Land Act 1877 Amendment Act, 1879, sections 24 and 25.

49. 1Ibid., sections 20-23.
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this Act, it had earlier been introduced on a small scale by William

Rolleston in Canterbury.

In 1880 Ballance produced a 'Handbook of the Law Relating to
Crown Land in New Zealand', printed at the Herald. In the
introduction he said that existing legislation gave the government
adequate powers to settle the land. His single complaint was that
the Legislative Council had amended the deferred payment clauses of
the 1877 Act to the effect that when there was more than one
applicant for a block of land it was to be sold by auction (see
section fifty-four). Ballance had himself inserted the original
clause establishing a ballot. It was an important point; auctions
raised the price of land, frequently beyond the reach of working

class settlers, and encouraged speculation.50

Only when the revived Wanganui Small Farm Association came up
against an unresponsive Government (in the same way as the 1876
Association had done) did Ballance fuily appreciate the failings of
current legislation. Ballance assisted with the formation of the
Association in 1879, and frequently chaired its meetings.s1 The
Association soon appealed to the Government to set aside a block of
land under the Special Settlement regulationms. 'They had not a
large amount of capital’, said Ballance, 'but they had each a certain
amount of capital, which would have enabled them to take up a section

of land, to go upon it, and to cultivate it'.52 But the Government

50. Handbook of the Law Relating to Crown Land in New Zealand, Wanganui,
1880.

51. See e.g., Y, 10 Jan. 1880. The Association claimed a membership
-of eighty; Y, 24 Jan. 1880. 0f the four members mentioned by the
Yeoman on 9 Aug. 1879, the occupations of two have been identified;
one was a carpenter (Timms) and the other a labourer (Kelly).

52. PD, 1880, 35, p. 290.
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at first vacillated, and then finally refused to grant any land;
indeed it was not going to form any special settlement in the whole
district. Rolleston, the Minister of Lands, argued that the
provisions were aimed at attracting foreign capital, and that small
farm associations must look to the deferred payment system to obtain
land.53 Speaking in a debate on the setting up of a select committee
to consider the beét means of encouraging the settlement of the
working classes on the land, Ballance alleged that the Government had

no bona fide intention of using the special settlement clauses of the

Act:

~(T)hese clauses were passed for the benefit
‘of foreign capital, and not for the purpose am4-r;23
of seeing, the investment of the capital which *
was floating about the country in the
possession of the working-classes. ...(C)oncessions
were made to middle men and foreign capitalists,
who were entering into these matters for their own
particular benefit, when the working-classes with
some capital were debarred the privilege. 54

In a letter to the Wanganui Association Rolleston had said that
only English capitalists could comply with the conditions laid down
for special settlements. He cited the KatiKati special settlement
as an example. This had been established, with the cooperation of
the New Zealand Government, by a bankrupt Ulster linen manufacturer,
George Vesey Stewart. The first settlers, Protestant had a high
proportion being orangemen, had arrived in 1875. Ballance admitted
that such a scheme might prove beneficial to the colony, but was
suspicious, especially when Vesey Stewart, on gaining the concessions,

called a meeting in the district to persuade its Member to vote with

53. Ibid., pp. 287-88.

54. Tbid., pp- 290-91. See also WH, 8 May 1880; R.D. Arnold, 'The
Opening of the Great Bush 1869-1881', Ph.D. thesis, Victoria
University of Wellington, 1971.
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the Government. At the back of Ballance's mind was probably the
concern that Stewart's immigrants were not of the type he wished to
see settled in the colony. The second batch that arrived in 1878

for example, contained a large 'social element' of Ulster aristocracy
and a number of army officers. Certainly they had capital (believed
to be as much as £100,000) but few were experienced farmers.

The scheme bore a greater resemblance to the ideals of the Wakefield
settlements than to the government sponsored immigration of the early
1870s. Ballance was also suspicious of Stewart's motives. Stewart,
who had undoubtedly misrepresented the quality of the land to the
prospective emigrants in Ireland, made something like £6000 and 3500
acres of land out of the deal. Yet many would argue that this was
fair reward for a good deal of effort.55 As he had shown in the case
of the Manchester Corporation (see chapter 4), Ballance had at times an
unreasonable cynicism of private immigration-land settlement schemes,

while being himself to some extent connected with one.

Despite these criticisms Ballance did not come up with any real
alternatives. He merely pointed to the Hutt Small Farm Association
at Sandon as an example of what could be done if only existing
legislation were utilised. (The Sandon Special Settlement had been
established under provincial-regulations similar to those of the later
1879 Act; see chapter 4). This reluctance to propose major legislative
changes was reinforced by the fact that much of the 1881 session was
concerned with administrative reorganisation of local government finance.
Before returning to developments in Wanganui, Ballance's attitude to
these changes- his "tinkering’ with the system in order to facilitate

new settlement- will be examined.

55. See A.J. Gray, An Ulster Plantation, Wellington, 1950 (2nd ed.);
Evelyn Stokes, A History of Tauranga County, Palmerston North, 1980.
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Atkinson replaced subsidies to local bodies with rates levied
on crown and native lands. It was significant only to the extent
that it sought to use land rather than general revenue as the basis
for local expenditure, specifically that on roads. In doing so it
tied the expenditure of local bodies more directly to their ability
to raise revenue. Funds for road-making and maintenance would be
provided by rating the land through which the roads passed. It was
a convoluted system whereby the Property Tax Commissioner valued the
land to be rated and the Colonial Treasurer distributed the rates
collected to the local bodies concerned.s6 Ballance complained that
the control of the system by a Board in Wellington would, given the
inevitable political pressures that would be applied, result in money
being spent in districts already settled. Further, ratepayers would
not vote for new roads in unsettled regions in the first place: the
development of new land could seem of little bemefit to established
settlers: Thus money would be spent simély on maiﬁtaining existing

roads.57

With respect to the distribution of revenue from land sales, the
Government proposed to add a sum to the upset price of land to be given
to local authorities for road works. Ballance argued that the system
he had had successfully adopted for deferred payments, whereby one
third of the price of land was handed back to local bodies for new roads,
should apply to all crown land sales. This scheme gave the local
land board control over the way in which county and road boards
distributed the money, and in Ballance's view made it more likely that
funds would be spent on roads opening up new land. The road boards,

he said, ought to be elected on a popular basis instead of being

56. PD, 1881, 38, pp. 420ff. Crown and Native Lands Rating Act, 1882;
Rating Act, 1882.
57. PD, 1881, 39, p. 79.
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nominated. In general he thought that local government failed to
respond to local needs, since it 'exaggerated the power of property'.58
None of this got to the heart of the matter, which was that despite
legislation it was virtually impossible for men with limited resources

to get onto the land.

EE T T A A

Initially Ballance thought that though the depression was
'unprecedented', it was at the same time temporary. He had no
solutions to offer beyond halting immigration, removing duties on raw
materials used by New Zealand manufacturers, and generally furthering
. land settlement.Sg WObl and wheat prices‘fell, only beginning to
pick up at the end of the decade. Falling imports reflected reduced
purchasing power and lower wages. Bankruptcies rose and the marriage
rate dropped.60 Around Wanganui 'swaggers by the hundred roamed the
crude coach roads, searching vainly for work'. Food became
relatively dearer, and soup kitchens were set up. A considerable

number of townspeople migrated to Australia.61

The depression hit the Herald in two ways. Circulation declined

and advertising became more difficult to attract and sustain. Yet
the effect of depression took some time to be felt. In June 1880 the

Herald announced that it had the largest circulation in the district.

58. Ibid., p. 80. See also WH, 8 May 1880; WH, 12 June 1880.

59. WH, 8 May 1880. o o

60. C.G.F. Simkin, The Instability of a Dependent Economy, Oxford, 1951,
pp. 163-66; W.B. Sutch, Colony or Nation?, Sydney, 1966, pp. 26-32.

61. Wanganui Herald, 3 June 1967.
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To maintain this position it was going to make new changes. The

Evening Herald, which became the Wanganui Herald in 1876, had increased

in size at regular intervals.62 Now the Weekly Herald was to become

the new enlarged Yeoman. The paper's politics would remain the same:

Liberal land laws liberally administered
has been our battle cry in the past, and

so it will remain until the settlement of
the country shows us that the end has been
achieved. ...We have never lacked the
courage of our opinions, and it is not our
intention to learn timidity. Our interests
are bound up with the advancement and
prosperity of Wanganui, and for that end we
shall strive earnestly and zealously. 63

The first issue of the Yeoman appeared on Saturday 31 July 1880.

It aimed, as the Weekly Herald had done, to reach the country districts

not easily serviced by the daily Herald. By increasing the size of

the paper Ballance was able to include more material specifically
tailored to the ﬁeeds of farmers, as well as providing them with a more
detailed summary of the week's news. Every month a 'Farmers Supplement'
appeared, giving information on developments in agricultural science.

It was essential, said the Yedman, that farmers kept up with the latest
improvements. There were also regular columns on horticulture and
gardening, of interest to townspeople as well as country folk.

Politics was not ignored; indeed coverage gradually became more intensive
as Ballance's career progressed. Some later editors believed that his
use of the medium to advance his own opinions was ultimately damaging

to the paper's interests.64 The Yeoman was to publish many interesting

political articles that would because of their length have been difficult

62. WH, 25 Mar. 1876.

63. WH, 22 May 1880.

64. James Duigan, who became editor in 1891, for example. I am grateful
to his grand-daughter, Rev. S. Koreneff of Patea, for this
information.
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to fit into the daily Herald. W.L. Rees, a liberal Auckland
politician, wrote a series on 'New Zealand Politics and Politicians'
less than two months after the paper first appeared. It was a thinly

veiled attack on the Government.65 Later the Yeoman reprinted a

lecture given by Stout at Napier, on 'True Democracy'.66 A third
example, in early 1884, was a series on the 'Maori Wars', written by

a Maori and translated from Maori into English for the Yeoman.67

The use of the name Yeoman was of course highly significant. It
reflected Ballance's ideal of the nature of country settlement: small
independent farmers cultivating land to the maximum extent. Political

propaganda was an integral part of the paper, for policies had to be

changed if this ideal was to reach fruition.

The Yeoman was more successful than the Weekly Herald had been.

Statistics of newspapers delivered and posted in Wanganui were separated
from the'Wcllington'figures in 1879, and since only the Herald and
Chronicle groups were involved (the Chronicle also produced a weekly
paper), they give a good indication of the performance of the former.
Circulation rose from 367,884 in 1879 to 641,251 by 1881. In

September 1882 the Yeoman claimed that its circulation had trebled over

the previous three months and that it had now the largest readership of

68

a weekly outside Auckland. The June figure cannot have been high, for

1882 saw the start of a decline in total circulation that was to continue

for a number of years. By 1886 circulation in the Wanganui district

had dropped to 566,839.69

65. Y, 18 Sept. 1880.

66. Y, 14 Dec. 1883. Ballance disagreed with Stout's idea of dividing
New Zealand into two colonies.

67. See Y, 11 Jan. 1884.

68. Y, 15 Sept. 1882. The Auckland Weekly News was the most popular of
the colony's weeklies.

69. Circulation figures are from New Zealand Statistics of the respective
years.
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In 1882 Ballance reorganised his business, just as the effects
of depression began to be felt. In May his partnership with John
Notman (see chapter 3, p. 127) was dissolved. Notman, who was first
employed by the Herald in 1871 and had become Ballance's partner six
years later, set up his own business as a general commission and

insurance agent. He became a prominent figure in the town and was

70

at one time or another chairman of most local bodies. Ballance then

formed the Herald and Yeoman papers into a joint stock company. It
made sense given the lack of a new partner and the greater security of

limited liability. Editorial control, he said, would remain in his

hands.71 Ballance bought six hundred and eighty-six of the seven

hundred and fifty £10 shares himself. Other minor shareholders included
a reporter and compositor working on the paper, a labourer, storekeepers,
solicitors (including George Hutchison, one of Ballance's foremost
politiéal supporters in the town), a commission agent, an accountant,

a woman teacher and a 'lady'.72 There were seven directors.
Shareholders had a vote for every share up to ten, and an additional

vote for every thirty shares thereafter to a maximum of fifteen votes.73

Ballance's personal resources were not adequate to enable him to
finance the company on his own. He had already borrowed £1,700 from

his father-in-law, David Anderson, in 1881, and now he borrowed a

74

further £1,400. In September Anderson turned down Ballance's request

75

for another loan. As the depression deepened and circulation fell,

70. Wanganui Herald, 6 May 1882; Cyclopedia of New Zealand, vol. 1,
Wellington, 1897, p. 1369.

71. Wanganui Herald, 16 Oct. 1882; Y, 20 Oct. 1882.

72. Share Register, Wanganui Herald Newspaper Company Limited, in
Wanganui Museum.

73. Wanganui Herald: Memorandum of Association, Companies Office,
Wellington, dead file 13694. The directors were: Ballance, S.H.
Manson, M.V. Hodge, J.W. Jackson, B.N. Manley, W.C. Watkins, S. Austin.

74. Anderson kept an account of loans in the back of his diary. The 1882
loans were in two sums, £1,100 at 10% and £310 at 8%. See Anderson
Diary, 1881, 1882.

75. Anderson Diary, 22 Sept. 1882.
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Ballance found it increasingly difficult to repay these sums, and
a little friction between himself and David Anderson resulted.76 In
1884, when substantial repayments seemed to begin in earnest, Ballance
borrowed a further £1500. The money appears to have been finally

repaid during Ballance's tenure as Minister of Lands and Native Minister

between 1884 and 1887.

Ballance's own financial position therefore worsened in the early

. years of the depression. Both the Chronicle and the Herald were soon
losing money.77 The enlargement of the Yeoman cost money, and had

come at an unfortunate time. Forming a limited company gave Ballance
some security, though the dissolution of the partnership required him

to buy out Notman. Over the following years Ballance was able to sell
some of his shares in order to raise money. They were bought almost
entirely by people closely associated with the Herald: employees,
Anderson relatives, Ballance's nephew Robert McKnighf and Ellen Ballance

(who inherited some money on the death of her father in 1889).78

The rivalry between the Herald and the Chronicle intensified as
time wore on. The control of each company remained with two opposing
groups, each a 'family' of closely-knit prominent Wanganui citizens.

The papers established respective 'core' (at times fiercely loyal)
readerships- the one liberal and the other conservative- though the
Herald's political bias weakened following Ballance's death. The
amalgamation of the two companies nearly a century later was aisensitive

step for all, and a great disappointment for some. Rivalry in the

1880s was political rather than financial. The depression affected

76. Anderson Diary, 25 Oct. 1882, 11 July 1883, 6 Aug. 1883, 16 Aug. 1883,
4 Oct. 1883, 25 Jan. 1884.

77. Wanganui Herald, 3 June 1967. :

78. Share Register, share transfers.
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both papers, and as circulation fell there was little chance of
successfully poaching on.each other's readership. This would have

been less true had the political bias of the papers been less strong,
and if both had been morning or both evening papers (thus more obviously
alternatives). The only solution to falling revenue, a merging of

the companies, was not practicable. So both suffered together.

The rivalry between the Herald and the Chronicle was at times
more friendly than it appeared to be on the surface. Gilbert Carson
became owner and editor of the Chronicle in the 1880s. He was to be
not only Ballance's rival in journalism, but his political opponent as
well. He stood against Ballance at the Wanganui elections of 1887
and 1890. A story told in Wanganui about the two men shows that they
had a 'certain' understanding. Ballance and Carson had been engaged in

one of their frequent and long editorial wars on some particular issue,

when Ballance was called to Wellington on
Parliamentary duties. He went down to the
office of Carson and explained the position,
requesting a truce until such time as he
returned. '"No", came the reply from Carson,
""there will be no truce. You may go to
Wellington and I'l1l write both articles".

And write both articles he did- until Ballance
was back to occupy the Herald's editorial chair
again. He castigated the Herald's leader writer
in the columns of the Chronicle and in the
evening he replied to himself, denouncing the
vitriolic pen of the Chronicle's leader writer
and deploring his sad lack of logic. 79

The arguments were clearly predictable and one wonders if Herald readers

noticed the difference!

+ 4+ F o+ A+ o+

79. New Zealand Founders' Society, Wanganui Branch, 'Newsletter', 21
(1963), pp. 15-16.
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The December 1881 election was for Ballance full of indecision,

ambiguity and uncertainty. He lost his Wanganui seat by four votes.

At first sight he ought to have won easily. His opponent James Bamber,
an ex-Mayor and owner of a blacksmith's shop in the town, was a weak
candidate. He made no campaign speeches and indeed withdrew from the
contest in mid-November.80 It looked as if Ballance was to be returned
unopposed, until his old rival, W.H. Watt (sée chapter 3) declared his
candidature hours before nominations closed. It would be a disgrace

to Wanganui, said Watt, if Ballance were to have a walk-over.81

Though Watt was Mayor of the town and a well-known personality,
his entering the contest at the eleventh hour meant that Ballance could
still expect to win. Aside from the confusion of the opposition,
boundary changes operated in Ballance's favour. Wanganui constituency
was reduced in size, many country electors who would be less sympathetic
to his land tax being transferred to a new Wéitotara electorate. It
must be clear', said Ballance in opening one of his campaign speeches;
that he was 'more identified with the town of Wanganui than with the

country districts'.82

The cause of Ballance's defeat lies with his own uncertainty and
in the political issues that emerged. Ballance was unsure both of his
own political future and of the principles he ought to espouse. Writing

to Stout in May he had outlined what he believed to be the main points

80. The Herald printed a satirical account of an imaginary Bamber
speech, reported by a 'clairvoyant correspondent’. It concluded:
'An elector wanted to know Mr Bamber's views with reference to the
inscription of New Zealand Stock? Mr Bamber replied that he
believed all stock ought to be branded and ear-marked. (Great
applause)'! Y, 12 Nov. 1881.

81. WC, 2 Dec. 1881; Y, 3 Dec. 1881.

82. Y, 5 Nov. 1881.
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of a liberal programme, but only to emphasise Macandrew's deficiencies
and urge Stout to return to politics and assume the leadership.
Ballance's pre-sessional speech was woolly and generally unimpressive.8
He told Stout that in it he had not put forward a liberal platform

because doing so

...would have been interpreted in many
quarters as an ambitious effort to become
a leader, a position I wd shrink from even
if I thought I had the qualities... . 84

Ballance was unenthusiastic about the coming election. There are a
number of probable reasons for this. Politically, with Stout still
unwilling to re-enter Parliament, the Opposition split, and the
Government boosted by Bryce's 'success' in dealing with Te Whiti at
Parihaka, prospects were not bright. Personally, Ballance felt
unable to take on the leadership of the liberals himself, and given the
poor poli£ica1 oﬁtlook there was a strong case for his retiring from
politics (if only temporarily) and devoting his time more fully to

the Herald. Financial considerations may also have been an important
factor. Rumours of Ballance's 'indifference to his election' began
circulating in Wanganui; so much so that he found it necessary to

publish a denial in the Herald:

We beg to give the rumour the most unqualified
contradiction. Whatever Mr Ballance's

private feelings may be, his duty to his friends...

is to stand to his guns, and he will take all

proper means to inform the electors of his opinions. 85

83. Y, 14 May 188l1.
84. Ballance to Stout, 23 May 1881, Stout MSS.
85. Y, 15 Oct. 1881.
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In 1881 Ballance's political platform was more confused and
in one important respect at least less radical than it had been two
years earlier. He did not propose the reintroduction of the land
tax, arguing that changes in the type of taxation were damaging to
the country. Instead the property tax should be amended to include
the 'best features' of the land tax;improvements, agricultural implements
and machinery should be exempted, and a progressive tax on large
holdings added. Though this amounted to the same thing, there was
in his speeches noticeably less emphasis on taxation as a means of
promoting land settlement and more on revenue considerations. Ballance
also found himself in an awkward position over possible alternatives
to the existing Government. He was, as we have seen, unhappy with
Macandrew; Grey too was ruled out along with Stout. Pressed by
Carson, editor of the Chronicle, Ballance said that he regarded Ormond
(a large landowner from Hawke's Bay who had become leader of yet
another 'middle! party!in the House) as a Iibergl 'in most matters;,
and that he would be prepared to join him in a ministry. Ballance
did, however, change his mind on free trade. It was 'most suitable

for England' he said, but as Mill had argued, not for a young country.

Local industries ought to be protected 'by every means in our power

whether it means by import duties... or bonuses or taxation of raw

materials'.86

From the standpoint of the progression of Ballance's own political
philosophy this move to protection was highly significant. Yet in the

short term it made the general charge of inconsistency appear

well-founded. The quggnui Chronicle talked a lot about 'sham liberals’.

It pointed out that Ballance had 'recanted' from free trade to

86. Y, 5 Nov. 1881. For Ballance's two other campaign speeches see Y,
19 Nov. 1881; Y, 17 Dec. 1881.
87. WC, 12 Nov. 188T.

87
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protection, and from a land tax to a property tax. He had called
the 'acred' Ormond a liberal; in fact he had 'patted the moneyed

interest on the back'.88

At the same time Carson, with his own
inconsistency serving a political purpose, wrote that Ballance would

'sweep the large farmer off the face of the earth'. Ballance's

...views on the land question are of such a
character that no man owning an acre of land
in freehold... could feel himself safe if the
Wanganui apostle of Socialism had the power of
settling the affairs of the nation according
to his will. 89

It is ironic that Ballance was being labelled a socialist at a time

when he least deserved it.

What made Watt a much more formidable opponent than he would
otherwise have been was the support given him by Bryce. The rift
between Ballance and Bryce had become pernament when fhe latter joined
the Hall Government as Native Minister. The ending of a personal and
political friendship of ten years brought charges of inconsistency and
'treachery' from supporters of both men.90 The election came in the
wake of Bryce's occupation of Parihaka, the arrest of Te Whiti and the
subsequent breaking of Maori resistance to further European settlement
on the west coast. It was a considerable political success to the
Government in general and to Bryce, who was elected unopposed for
Waitotara, in particular. Earlier in the year the Herald had
criticised Bryce for resigning (temporarily as it turned out) as Native

Minister.91 In his election address . Ballance said that the trouble

on the west coast was the result of a history of Government

88. WC, 2 Nov. 1881. See also WC, 11, 12 Nov. 1881.
89. WC, 14 Nov. 1881, —

90. Y, 23 Apr. 1881.

91. Y, 2 Apr. 1881.



mismanagement, inconsistency and weakness. He urged the resumption

of crown pre-emption over 'mative' land. However he fully supported

Bryce's action when it came; things should not have been allowed to

drift for so long.

Despite this approval there were complaints that Ballance was
2

'soft! on Te Whiti.9 Part way through the campaign one of Ballance's

supporters, John Duthie, declared himself in favour of Watt. A

major cause of the defection was Duthie's belief that Ballance was

'ungenerous and unpatriotic’ in his attitude to Bryce's handling of

93

'native' affairs. (As we shall shortly see there was an additional

reason). Bryce's public support for Watt was undoubtedly a major

factor in the latter's victory. Watt was well aware of the

possibilities of attracting reflected glory from Bryce's success.

94

Ballance supporters managed to prevent Bryce from speaking at a Watt

election meeting- ‘they were throttling the freedom of speech, said

the Chronicle- but the damage was done.

95

Aside from Ballance's inconsistencies and his criticism of the

popular Bryce, there was a third element to the election. This

concerned the Harbour Board. The Board was formed in 1877 and

immediately set about deepening the harbour. Initial work involving

the extension of training walls was completed by 1880. The Board was

not, however, moving rapidly enough for some. A public meeting,

critical in particular of the lack of dredging work done, passed a vote

of no confidence in it. Two members of the Board, Duthie and Peat,

92.
93.
94.
95.

For example see the letter in WC, 31 Oct. 1881.
WC, 11 Nov. 1881, T

WC, 8 Dec. 1881.

7 Dec. 1881,
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resigned 'sick of the whole business' in June, Duthie being replaced
by Ballance. Ballance was re-elected in February 1881, and led a
'progress party' on the Board that sought to press ahead with further
improvements. He sﬁcceeded in having accepted a proposal for new
works at Castlecliff Heads that had originally been rejected by the

Board and Duthie.96

The harbour issue was therefore in part the cause
of Duthie's withdrawal of support from Ballance, and in that respect
undoubtedly proved damaging to the latter. Yet the town's election
of the 'progress party' onto the Board months earlier suggests that

Ballance's stance on harbour improvements would if anything have

attracted support.

The election was held on 9 December. Ballance polled three
hundred and ninety-three votes to Watt's three hundred and ninety-seven.

There was only one polling booth.97‘

It was later reported that seven
of Ballénce's supporters had arrifed too late to vote after their
carriage conveying them into town broke down.98 The Chronicle
attributed Ballance's defeat to the 'ill-advised action of his
supporters in connection with Bryce at Watts meeting'.99 In Wellington
the Post said that defeat was 'not quite unexpected', except perhaps for

100

Ballance himself. The Taranaki Herald, whilst recognising Ballance's

ability, pointed critically to his 'plastic political creed’.101

Stout was 'intensely vexed and disgusted at the result'.102

96. Y, 19 Nov. 1881; King, pp. 11-14, appendix M.

97. Y, 17 Dec. 1881,

98. NZH, 12 Dec. 1881. The Chronicle reported however that they
did make it in time to vote, 13 Dec. 1881.

99. 14 Dec. 1881.

100. EP, 10 Dec. 1881.

101. Quoted by NZH, 20 Dec. 1881.

102. Stout to Ballance, 10 Dec. 1881, Stout MSS (telegrams).
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Publicly Ballance said that his defeat was merely that of a wing
of the 'liberal' party, and put it down to Watt's superior organisation.103
He was in fact one of a number of prominent politicians to lose their
seats: Fox, Saunders, De Latour, Gisborne, Reader Wood and Ormond all
failed to get re-elected. Privately Ballance was taken aback by his
failure. He had tended to take success for granted. Paradoxically,
it was perhaps this over-confidence that was the source of his earlier

'indifference', as much as uncertainty as to his own political future.

Having committed himself to the contest Ballance was far from
pleased at coming out the loser. During the campaigning there had
been allegations of bribery and intimidation of voters. In March 1882
A.D. Willis, on behalf of Ballance, brought charges against John
Anderson, a cabinet-maker and a leading Watt supporter, under the
Corrupt Practices Act. With such a narrow margin of victory the
resuit might easily have been over-turned. Stout appeared for the
'petitioners, arguing that there had been two specific acts of bribery
and undue influence involving the promise of employment and money,
as well as other general cases. The hearing lasted a few days, the
evidence closely followed by the Herald. At its conclusion the
Chief Justice found against Willis and Ballance, mainly on the grounds
. that the threats were vague, and that there was no evidence of them

104

being carried out. The Herald disagreed, quoting the Wairarapa

Standard's view that the judge must have been 'most obtuse' not to

have recognised that intimidation had taken place.105 So Watt went

103. Y, 17 Dec. 1881.

104. Wanganui Herald, 15, 16, 17 Mar. 1882. See also the pamphlet printed
by the Herald: Report of the Proceedings in the Election Petition of
A.D. Willis and others against W.H. Watt, Wanganui, 1882.

105. Wanganui Herald, 24 Mar. 1882.
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to Wellington as Member for Wanganui. For Ballance defeat was
not as serious as he might at first have imagined. The 'continuous
ministry' remained in office, led first by Whitaker and subsequently

by Atkinson. There was little Ballance could have done.

If Ballance had been complacent before the election he was
certainly not so following it. The absence of the pressure of
parliamentary duties allowed him, as we have seen, to concentrate on
and reorganise the Herald. And being placed at a distance from the
centre of political activity enabled him to re-think old, and
formulate new, ideas. Precisely what these were, and how they fitted

into Ballance's broader philosophy, is a subject we shall turn to next.



CHAPTER SIX

Philosophy for Improvement: state-help and self-help
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The three years leading up to the 1884 election saw the

radicalisation of Ballance's political philosophy. The nature

of his liberalism prior to this period determined the form this
process was to take. He had viewed the promotion of land settlement,
through a land tax and a system of deferred payments, as of critical
importance. Now radicalisation simply brought this pre-eminent theme
to its natural conclusion. By 1884 Ballance was convinced that land
nationalisation and the leasing of land were essential to settlement,
and to progress and prosperity in general. They were the 'cure-all'

for society's ills.

Although Ballance was a pragmatic politician rather than a
political theoretician, the ideological basis for his political activity
was substantial and explicitly formulated. It involved an adaptation
of liberal philosophy to New Zealand conditions. The first part of
this chapter examines the core of his ideology- the nationalisation of
the land- against the background of the writings of John Stuart Mill
and Henry George. The second looks at other elements of Ballance's
liberalism: at his views on protection, religion, education, and
temperance. His support for the female franchise has already been
mentioned, and the issue will be returned to in the final chapter.
Chapters 10 and 11 discuss his attitude to constitutional reform.
Chapter 1 has already examined Ballance's stance on the 'Irish
question’. The final part of this chapter deals with the 1884
election. The election is emphasised because at it Ballance stood
on a new radical platform, and one that was not to change substantially

for the remainder of his life.

+ + + + + + + F o+ 4+ o+ +
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Land nationalisation for Ballance implied not only the right
of the State to purchase land, but the desirability of a programme
of compulsory repurchasing of private land. It went far beyond the
land tax that he had initially favoured, for it involved the State
assuming ownership of the land for posterity. A combination of
intellectual and political developments both in and beyond New Zealand
influenced Ballance in this change. These stimulations came together
in his realisation that the State's ability to promote new settlement
was severely curtailed by the simple fact of a decreasing amount of
available crown land. He also saw that the poor quality of the
remaining crown land was frequently a critical flaw determining the

fate of settlement schemes.

There was an upsurge of interest in land reform in England in the
late 1870s and early 1880s. This was 1a¥ge1y the consequence of the
onset of an agricultural depression. Britéin began importing food
from the New World, particularly from North America. Ireland was
worst hit, and the plight of its peasantry led to political agitation
that culminated in the formation of the Irish National Land League and
a 'land war'. The League, supported by many English Liberals, demanded
what was known as the 'Three Fs'; fair rent, fixity of tenure, and

the free sale of the tenant's interest in land (essentially an extension

of the Ulster Custom to all of Ireland; (see chapter 1). Land reform in

Ireland became a major concern of the Gladstone Liberal Ministry formed

in 1880.1

1. See Roy Douglas, Land, People § Politics. A History of the Land
Question in the United Kingdom, 1878-1952, London, 1976.
Land nationalisation was an 'extreme' form of land reform. One
of its principal advocates in England was Alfred Russel Wallace.
See his Land Nationalisation, London, 1882.
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The intellectual basis for Ballance's belief in land reform
came from the writings of John Stuart Mill and Henry George. Mill
had played a leading role in the formation of the Land Tenure Reform
Association in England in 1870. The Association aimed, he wrote,

to break up the remmants of the feudal system:

Our laws relating to land are the remains

of a system which, as history tells us,

was designed to prop up a ruling class.

They were made for the purpose of keeping
together the largest possible possessions

in the families which owned the land, and

by means of it governed the country. So

long as those families were not obliged to
share power with any other class, or with

the people, the Land Laws were in many
respects considerably worse than they are

now; but what is left of them has still the
same object: to contrive that the land of

the family shall descend unbroken to the
eldest son, and that the owner for the time
being not be at liberty to defeat this purpose
by selling the land. By these means the land
has been prevented, to a large extent, from
passing out of the hands of the idle into those
of the industrious, and its ownership has been
retained as the privilege of a small and
decreasing number of families. 2

The methods employed to break the monopoly of land were to include
the abolition of the law of primogeniture, the State acquisition and
leasing of land, the encouragement of agricultural cooperatives, and

the taxation of the future 'unearned increase of the rent of land’.

The notion of the 'unearned increment' was central to advocates
of land reform, especially to those like Mill and George who stopped

short of complete nationalisation. It was the 'rent' which the landlord

2. J.S. Mill, 'Explanatory Statement of the Programme of the Land
Tenure Reform Association', in Dissertations and Discussions,
vol. IV, London, 1875, pp. 240-41.
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received, not from the application of labour to land but from the
land's fertility and its value arising from the development of the
surrounding community. It excluded profits from improvements, and
was determined by the productivity of the most marginal land. That
is, rent on land brought under cultivation because increased
population makes it only just profitable to farm (i.e. land at the
margin) is zero. More fertile land yields an increasing profit and
rent; less fertile land remains virgin. As more land is brought
under cultivation total rent increases. The greater the population
.the more land brought under use, and the greater the difference (and
thus rent) between marginal land productivity and the productivity
of land already under the plough. This difference is owing to the
pressure of population and the progress of the community. It is the
unearned increment that could be justifiably appropriated by the

community.

Ballance's 1878 land tax attempted to recover, on behalf of the
country, part of this rent. During the debate on the tax Ballance
made it clear that he did not agree with Mill that the whole of the

unearned increment should be appropriated. They may have that right,

but it would not be wise on our part to
claim it, for the reason that it would
discourage industry, and would keep people
from investing money in that particular
class of property. 3

By 1882 Ballance had moved well beyond this cautious approach.

In doing so he was strongly influenced by Henry George's Progress and

Poverty, published in New York in 1879. The core of George's theory

3. PD, 1878, 28, p. 606.
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was that the tendency of rent to increase over time was the cause

of want existing alongside a general increase in the total wealth of
society. The idea was based on Ricardian economics: product = rent +
wages + interest, so that product - rent = wages + interest. In other
words wages and interest remained static as increases in production
were absorbed by those of rent. Though increased labour productivity
increased total wealth, labour suffered an increase in rent greater

than any increase in wages. Thus real wages fell over time.

Drawing in particular on his Californian experience, George
noted the cyclical development of a 'progressing' society; the rapid
increase in land values owing to land speculation (especially related
to railway monopolists) which ultimately only checked production; and
the subsequent excess of population over available land leading to
reduced real wages, depression, and falling land values. The
depression, through lower wages and rents, encouraged movement onto
the land; eventual fecovery then raised both; and so a new cycle
commenced. George argued that wages in the primary (agricultural)
sector were related, in the same way as profits, to those in the
secondary (industrial) sector. Increases in available land attracted
labour to agriculture, creating a shortage in the secondary sector

which raised industrial wages. For example:

It was the discovery of the placer mines in
unappropriated land to which labour was free
that raised the wages of cooks in San
Francisco to £500 a month, and left ships to
rot in the harbour without officers or crew
until their owners would consent to pay rates
that in any other part of the globe seemed
fabulous. 4

4. Henry George, Progress and Poverty, London, 1932 edn., p. 208.
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Land was therefore the key to the whole economy. For George
the solution to depression was simple: to make land common property
by confiscating rent through taxation.5 The advantages were clear.
The land tax would be the only tax, thus removing burdens from other
sectors and stimulating production through incentive. The tax
avoided nationalisation (and thus any 'shock to present customs and
habits') and an extension of state intervention. The whole taxation
system was in fact greatly simplified. The tax was on value and not
on production, and it would increase agricultural productivity through
destroying speculative rent. Finally it was equitable, since a tax
on rent was one on the development of the whole community: the value

of land would grow and be taxed as the community grew.6

The most potent implication of George's writings was the
identification of a single solution that could be easily understood
by, and fitted into the experiehces of, the land hungry of the New
World. And it was a solution essentially prophylactic. It raised
the issue of land to the forefront of politics (at the expense of all
else) in an effort to maintain the fundamental capitalist structure

from the threat of radical doctrines. For such radical ideas,

which bring great masses of men, the
repositories of ultimate political power,
under the leadership of charlatans and
demagogues, are fraught with danger. 7

Ballance never accepted George's theory in toto. He did not

believe in a single tax alone, and went beyond George by proposing the

Ibid., pp. 234, 286-89.
Ibid., pp. 298-99.
Ibid., p. 13.

N oo
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complete nationalisation of the land by the State. Yet George
influenced Ballance in one particularly important respect. He

provided theoretical support for something Ballance already suspected:
that the solution to New Zealand's problems lay in the land. Land
reform was to be the 'cure-all' for a new country's ills (see chapter 9),
It was a complete theory of prosperity and stability; the opening up

of land to closer settlement as a means of relieving pressure on towns
and avoiding the political consequences of economic want. It appealed
because it was an extension and adaptation of the ideas of English

land reformers such as Mill to the development of new lands, and

because it fitted Ballance's own experiences.

Ballance's views on land policy were set out in a series of
articles that appeared in the Dunedin Echo, which was at the time
edited by Stout, in 1882. In 1887 the articles were published with

an introduction as a pamphlét entitled A National Land Policy Based on

the Principles of State Ownership. Ballance acknowledged his debt to

Mill, George, and to Stout, who he said had 'long been the ablest and
most eloquent advocate of the Nationaligation of the Land in the

Colony'.8

In the pamphlet Ballance emphasised the difference between the
concepts of the unearned increment and land nationalisation. George
sought to avoid the latter through the State taxing the whole of the
former. Ballance accepted the principle of nationalisation, but
believed that it would only come about gradually and that it would be
encouraged in the short term by a progressive land tax aimed at

breaking up large holdings. A land tax was justifiable on two levels:

8. John Ballance, A National Land Policy Based on the Principle of
State Ownership, Wellington, 1887, p. 3.
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The appropriation of the unearned increment

is defensible, on the ground that the State

has the moral right to declare that no person

in future shall be entitled to progperity which
others, not the person, may earn. (Second),...
if a class enjoy exceptional privileges, it is
called upon, under a system of abstract justice,
to contribute more than do those classes which
are not in the enjoyment of those privileges. 9

Land nationalisation was for Ballance a separate goal, and he

defended it on different grounds:

In our opinion the principal reason in favour

of the nationalization of the land is that the

land of any country soon becomes a monopoly, the
possessors being few in comparison with the
population. The monopolists without effort grow
rich. The landless, continually increasing their
number, grow poor, and, having the franchise, live
in a state of agitation, and attack the

privileged. ...Let us suppose, now, that we have
only national land. The phenomena presented in
this case would be, on the one hand a body of
cultivators paying rent to the State; and on the
other a greater body living by wages, mainly in
towns, deriving a beneficial interest from the
rents, and remaining content in the knowledge that
they participate in the prosperity of the
agricultural tenant. On the ground of self-intcrest
the more numerous class will cast their votes
against the disturbance of a system which works in
their favour. 10

This was Ballance's ideal: a country of small farmers leasing from

the State. Wealth rested in the land, and only its equitable
distribution, through nationalisation, would meet the demands of urban
wage labour and thus guarantee political stability. Ballance saw grave
danger in towns being dependent upon the country when political power
rested with landed interests. 'The present system of monopoly is fast

arraying the landless and landowning classes against each other.

9. Ballance, pp. 17, 18.
10. Ballance, p. 8.
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'stronghold of individual property in land' would be assailed through

a system of progressive legislation:

A chess player who understands something about
the strategy of the game does not rush right
away and concentrate all his forces on the
quarters of the King, but operates on many parts
of the field at the same time, hoping that the
sum of his advantages will render his Majesty's
position ultimately untenable. In actual
warfare, great victories are won in the same
manner. 13

Specifically Ballance suggested that the State should begin by
repuréhasing estates above 10,000 acres. Compensation based on the
market value of the land would be given. Funds would come from
overseas borrowing, and then also from internal loans. He was hopeful
of the country's ability to raise the necessary finance, though a

later Yeoman editorial suggested that nationalisatién was limited by
factors affecting the colony's credit.14 Finally, Ballance argued
that compulsory expropriation would be postponed for as long as

adequate land could be purchased on the open market.

In the year following the publication of the Echo articles
Ballance developed these proposals. He divided land in the colony
into three. Land held by the crown (eleven million acres approximately)
was to be retained by the State and leased. The twelve million acres
of Maori land were to be either retained or leased by Maoris themselves,

15

or sold only to the State. That left land held by private

individuals, believed to be about fifteen million acres. Of that

ten million -acres were in holdings of more than five thousand acres.

13. Ballance, p. 8.

14. Ballance, pp. 18-19; Y, 1 Feb. 1884.

15. Y, 2 Nov. 1883. See ch. 7 on Ballance's re-introduction of crown
pre-emption when Native Minister.
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These were to be either broken up or repurchased by the State.
Only the remaining five million acres of smaller holdings would not,

for reasons of practical necessity, be nationalised:

The yeoman farmers... are the pillars on
which the colony is resting, and it would
be a dangerous policy to disturb them. 16

The early 1880s saw a surge of interest in New Zealand in land

‘ reform, and Ballance was only one of a growing number of advocates.

‘ John McKenzie, for example, a liberal land reformer who farmed part

\ of a sub-divided Otago run, was first elected to Parliament in 1881.
He was later to become Minister of Lands in Ballance's Government.

In explaining this growing agitation for land reform Frank Rogers and
Eric Charman both point to the influence of writers and events outside
New Zealand. Rogers emphasises the impact of George's ideas in |
particular,17 whilst Charman argues that Mill, and the land reform -
movement with which he was connected, were the chief inspirations of

the leading New Zealand reformers of the period.18

The importance of external influence can easily be overstated.
Two points can be made. First, land reformers such as Ballance and
McKenzie were not doctrinaire theorists. They sought to fit theory
to political reality, rather than vice versa, and the intellectual
support provided by George and Mill was utilised only as far as it

could be made applicable to New Zealand conditions. Secondly, an

16. Y, 16 Nov. 1883.

17. TFrank Rogers, 'The Single Tax Movement in New Zealand', M.A.
thesis, Auckland, 1949.

18. Eric Charman, 'Land Tenure Reform in New Zealand, 1875-1896: a
study of the opinions of some leading land reformers', M.A. thesis,
Auckland, 1953.
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emphasis on external influences blurs cause and effect. Land

reform was undoubtedly seen as a solution to the depression. Yet

it was not adopted with such vigour in New Zealand simply because

of its popularity elsewhere. Nor indeed does the depression itself
explain why that particular solution was sought. Liberals in New
Zealand, unlike their English counterparts, seized on land reform as
the answer to depression simply because New Zealand, unlike England,

was essentially an agricultural country. For the same reason the
demand for land reform was also prominent amongst early trade unionists.
For example two leading unionists, W.M. Bolt from Dunedin and H.W.

Farnall of Auckland were both followers of George.19

As Wilson points out, Dunedin was the one major centre in New
Zealand where 'liberal' issues retained some importance during this
period.20 Foremost amonggt these was the 'land question'. When
in March 1883. Stout formed a Land Nationalisation Society in the city,
Ballance urged that branches be established throughout the colony,
and that Stout become president of a national association.21 Months
later Ballance himself set up a Wanganui society.22 At a public
meeting in the town in October”hewééidmﬁﬁaf ;;;d nétionalisation was
'fast becoming a burning question in the colony'. He believed that
the towns would soon come to dominate the country, and in doing so

would tackle the political power of large landowners. The State should

begin by purchasing estates over 20,000 acres; the money to be borrowed

19. See the discussions of the 1890 election in ch. 9.

20. T.G. Wilson, 'The Rise of the Liberal Party in New Zealand, 1877-1890"',
M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1951, p. 136. Otago liberals elected in
1881 included Thomas Duncan, an Ulsterman who was later Minister of
Lands in Seddon's Ministry, John Bathgate, Vincent Pyke and C.A.
De Lautour.

21. Y, 30 Mar. 1883.

22. Wanganui Herald, 18 Dec. 1883. ‘
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using the land as security. In general Ballance thought that

capital should be invested in improving leased land, rather than

sunk in freeholds.23

These views came in for much criticism. Some argued that
they were communistic. Ballance replied that nationalisation would

involve greater individualism, not less, and that it was therefore the

24

antithesis of communism. The first number of an Auckland publication

entitled Land, edited by the liberal politician F.J. Moss, complained
that the issue would split. the 'Democratic' party.25 The Herald
however, argued that nationalisation would benefit 'all classes except

the mere land dealer':

We have little doubt that public opinion

will declare itself in favour of the change,
and consolidate the party that has made the
nationalisation of the land the chief plank

in its platform. ...The nationalisation of the
land (will) redress gross inequalities. It
will prevent those reaping where they have not
sown, and return to the community the profits
of its industry. There is no communism in
this, but only justice. But even were it
communism, it would be preferable to legalised
robbery of the many for the sake of the few. 26

That Ballance had now a strong commitment to leasing rather than

the freehold is shown in the circumstances surrounding the amendment

23. Y, 26 Oct. 1883.

24. Y, 24 Aug. 1883.

25. Unfortunately the present writer has been unable to trace any copies
of this journal. This information is taken from the Herald's
comments on it.

26. Wanganui Herald, 18 Dec. 1883; Y, 6 Dec. 1883. Ballance was echoing
Shelly's poem on the plight of the English peasantry:

The seed ye sow, another reaps:

The wealth ye find, another keeps;
The robes ye weave, another wears;
The arms ye forge, another bears.
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William Rolleston, the Minister of Lands, proposed to make to the

1877 Land Act. Rolleston sought to introducé a new perpetual leasing
tenure. Holdings would be leased by public tender at an upset rent
of five per cent per annum of the cash value of the land. The lease
would run for thirty years, with a right of renewal at the end of that
period for another twenty years.27 It was a significant change in
land law, and Ballance hoped that it would be the 'thin edge of the
wedge of nationalisation'.28 In fact he later claimed that his Echo
articles, published before Rolleston announced his proposal, had
influenced the latter's thinking. The second article in particular,
in which he put forward specific proposals for leasing, 'might really

7 . . 2
have served as instructions to the Parliamentary draftsman'. .

Rolleston would almost certainly have read Ballance's articles,
but there were other influences as well. Downie Stewart suggests

that Rolleston's. proposal sprang from observdation and experience, rather

than from an acceptance of any 'doctrinaire' tﬁeory.30 In the event
the Legislative Council insisted on inserting the right of purchase in
the amendment, which in effect turned the lease back into deferred
payment. The leasing principle was to apply only to educational
endowments and land in mining districts. Ballance correctly asserted
that the Council had destroyed the 'vital part of the measure'.31

Rolleston too was disappointed, especially when a second attempt in

the following session also failed.32

27. See W.J. Jourdain, Land Legislation and Settlement in New Zealand,
Wellington, 1925, pp. 27-28; E.J. Charman, 'Land Tenure Reform in
New Zealand, 1875-1896', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1953, ch. 6.

28. Y, 1 Sept. 1882.

29. Ballance, p. 4.

30. W.D. Stewart, William Rolleston, Christchurch, 1940, pp. 144-45.

31. Y, 28 July 1882.

32. Stewart, p. 147.
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In early 1884 a Herald editorial neatly summed up Ballance's

position:

We... think that no more of the public lands
whatever should be sold, but disposed of on
perpetual lease. With respect to private
land, we hold that nationalisation should be
applied to the lands of absentees and to
large freehold areas but that the cultivating

- occupiers of land, within certain limits as
to quantity, should be permitted to retain
their freeholds. There is no reason for
disturbing the freehold cultivator who wishes
to retain that tenure. Nor would it be wise
to interfere with a class forming the backbone
of the colony. 33

Finally, it was clear how central all of this was to Ballance. He

concluded his pamphlet on land nationalisation in the following manner:

If the Liberal party desire a nationmal policy
on which it might with confidence stake its
future prosperity and position, we know of
none which affords the same scope, or which
would yield such splendid results as the
nationalisation of the land. 34

+ +F o+ F A+ F o+ +

Ballance's commitment to protection was another means of
defending and promoting the interests of the town in the face of the
economic dominance of the country. The majority of settlers would
remain in the towns, their security depending not only upon the State's

appropriation of agricultural wealth through nationalisation, but on

33. Wanganui Herald, 15 Mar. 1884.
34. Ballance, p. 19.
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the development of local industries. 'A large population', he wrote,

'cannot be maintained by agriculture alone'.35

Ballance moved to protection slowly. His budget of 1878 was in

the Manchester School tradition of laissez faire liberalism: the

removal of duties and the provision of a 'free breakfast table'.

He followed Cobden and Bright, whom he had heard speak in England,36

and his only concession to protection was a system of bonuses to 'infant'
industries. However by 1882 Ballance was arguing that bonuses had

proved ineffectual:

...bonuses are Protection in its worst form;
and they have utterly failed. A small
additional duty on jams did more to induce
people to establish jam manufacturies than the
tempting bonus. It is notorious that the
bonuses have generally been claimed by persons
who did not continue the industry. ...(T)he
manufactures of England were established under
a system of the most rigid protection the world
has ever seen. It pays England now to advocate
Free Trade because she is the great capitalist
and carrier of the world. When New Zealand has
a great system of manufactures... she may be
prepared to reconcile Free Trade with her interests. 37

Ballance also pointed out that despite free trade and England's great

wealth, the country contained 'a seething mass of semi-pauperism living

from hand to mouth on scantiest fare'.38

In 1884 an Industrial Association was formed in Wanganui, in which

Ballance played a leading part. The Association sought protection as

35. Y, 1 Feb. 1884.

36. Sir Robert Stout, 'The Hon. John Ballance', Review of Reviews for
Australasia, May 1893, p. 113.

37. Y, 17 Nov. 1882.

38. Y, 18 Aug. 1882.
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a means of tackling the unemployment concomitant with depression.
In the longer term protection would enable the town to achieve some

independence from the country:

The old idea that the town depended on the
country ought to be exploded. The truth

is that they are mutually dependent. A
large town population, if well sustained by
local manufactures, is the best thing the
surrounding farmers could desire, for it
gives them a market at their own doors, and
the highest price for their produce. On the
other hand, where there are many producers in
the country we have a corresponding population
in the towns acting as distributors and
manufacturers. 39

The argument that protection favoured farmers as well as town-dwellers
was difficult to sustain. Ballance denied that protection would mean
higher prices for manufactured goods.40 However as farmers were aware
fhe small scale of production and the high cost of imported raw materials
usually made New Zealand manufactures more expensive than imported
equivalents. Advocacy of protection was to bring to the Liberal party
support from both urban wage labour and local manufacturers and
businessmen. At the same time it could only further alienate
established farmers already concerned at the possibility of land

nationalisation.

+ + F F + E o+ o+ + o+

39. Y,
40. Y,

27 June 1884. See also Wanganui Herald, 26 June 1884,
1 Feb. 1884.
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The next part of this chapter deals with Ballance's views on
religion. As we have seen in chapter 1 his experience of sectarian
feuding in Ireland had made him cynical of religion by the time of
his arrival in New Zealand. Some early Herald editorials reflected
this. They criticised, for example, the Anglican Church's ownership
of property; emphasising the alliance between clergy ('greedy land
sharks') and landlords in opposition to the people. Ballance warned
of the 'evils of ecclesiasticism' being introduced into the colony.41
Finally he pronounced religious debate to be of little value and

essentially backward looking:

If the brain tissue that is wasted in
unseemly wrangling over religious matters
were devoted to progressive knowledge, the
state of society would be improved, and
man, would attain a higher intellectual
state in the world. ...There is a higher
vocation for the mind than theological
speculations. 42

By the early 1880s Ballance was a convinced 'freethinker’. That
is, he became a secularist, believing in rational thought rather than
religious dogma. His freethought views were intertwined with other
important elements of his philosophy. A belief in science rather
than religion as the way forward for man led to an emphasis on
self-education. And the pursuit of knowledge meant self-reliance for
the individual; dependency on one's own intellectual resources rather
than on those of religion and the church. For Ballance, self-education
and self-reliance came together in practical form in societies such as
the Oddfellows (see chapter 3). Freethought was also a culmination of

his own experiences: a fusion of religious scepticism drawn from a

41. EH, 26 Apr. 1869, 11 Sept. 1869.
42. EH, 22 Sept. 1870.
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dissenting mother and observation of sectarian feuding, and his

self-education in Birmingham.

There was an upsurge of interest in freethought in the early
1880s, primarily the result of external influences. English

freethought had roots in Thomas Paine's Age of Reason, in religious

dissent and non-conformity, and later in utilitarianism, Darwinism
and the radical liberalism of men like Mill. What brought it to the
fore in the 1880s was the refusal of a freethinking politician,
Charles Bradlaugh, to take his oath on election to Parliament.
Freethought left the domain of philosophical speculation and entered
the sphere of practical politics. The stimulation was temporary but

it reached New Zealand.

As Lineham has suggested, freethought in New Zealand tended to ~
be wedk because opposition to it was minimal.43 The persecution which
made it flourish in England was largely absent in the colony.
Nevertheless the 1880s saw something of a freethought 'revival', led
by Ballance, Stout and others. Stout promoted his freethought views

in the Echo. The Echo had recommenced publication in early 1880 after

an absence of seven years, and was shortly afterwards purchased by a
Dunedin bookseller and freethinker, J. Braithwaite. Editorials
reflected the fusion of freethought and radical liberalism. As we

have seen the Echo published Ballance's articles on land nationalisation.
The paper also carried news of both freethought and land nationalisation

societies established in Dunedin at the time.44

43, P.J. Lineham, 'Secularists and Secularisation in Nineteenth
Century New Zealand', unpublished paper.
44. E.g. Echo, 1 Jan. 1881, 13 Aug. 1881, 24 Mar. 1883.



241. 1

A Wanganui Freethought Association was formed in mid-1883.
Ballance and A.D. Willis were amongst its leading members, and in

October they brought out the first issue of the Freethought Review,

a monthly journal aimed at promoting freethought throughout New Zealand.
The Echo ceased publication the following month, and so the Freethought
Review became the sole mouth-piece of the colony's associations.
Ballance wrote a number of editorials fér the Review, as did Robert
Pharazyn, an ex-Mayor of Wanganui and minor politician who was to be
appointed to the Legislative Council in 1885. Edward Tregear, who
became the head of Reeves's Labour Department in Ballance's Ministry,

also contributed some material.

The first number of the Review declared its aim as the 'happiness

of mankind in this life':

Whatever, in our opinion, may tend to
hinder the advance towards this ideal,

it will be our duty to assail. For
superstition and prejudices, as we feel

no reverence, we shall show no regard.
...Obedience to conscience is the highest
moral injunction, transcending all creeds.
Religious dogma covers over and obscures
this sublime lesson, and people wonder
that formalised religious instruction does
not make them better than they are. The
wonder rather is that it does not make them
worse. 45

The Freethought Review ran for two years. Aside from reports on the

activities of freethought associations, it contained articles on the
philosophical arguments in favour of freethought along with comment

on the role of the church in New Zealand society.46 Ballance's editorials

45. Freethought Review, 1 Jan. 1883.
46. E.g. Freethought Review, 1 Dec. 1883, 1 Jan. 1884.
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reflected the link between freethought and liberalism that had been
present in the Echo. He attacked christianity as having always been
a persecuting religion. Freethought aimed to undermine the 'enslaving
theology' of both the Roman Catholic and Protestant churches.

Freethinkers had their own creed. It was a higher faith,

...the enthusiasm of humanity- which will
give to the world a deeper morality and a
loftier conception of duty. Theology can
never supply the inspiration, as it cannot
afford demonstration of the truth of its
own dogmas, and, being based on rewards and
punishments, it does not appeal to the
highest sense of moral obligation. The
Freethinker, in a word, possesses an ideal
pure, lofty, and unselfish, attracting the
best and appealing to all- devotion to the
ever real and present cause of humanity. 47

Finally the spread of freethought was to be a part of a 'reforming

Liberalism, constructive rather than destructive in its effects'.48

Freethought associations were also formed in Christchurch,
Auckland, Wellington, Nelson, Picton and Woodville. They survived at
most a few years. A New Zealand Freethought Federal Union was formed
in March 1884. Stout was elected president and Ballance vice-president.
The Union met only this once. Aside from general sentiments on the
promotion of freethought in New Zealand, there was little concrete it
could focus on. Its programme included the abolition of religious
oaths, and it passed a resolution in sympathy with Charles Bradlaugh
in his 'arduous struggle against bigotry and injustice'.49 But that

was it: a meeting of minds but little else.

47. Freethought Review, 1 May 1884.
48. Freethought Review, 1 Oct. 1884.
49. Freethought Review, 1 June 1884.
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For Ballance freethought was a critical element to the full
development of individual liberty. It was much more than simply a
belief in a secular society. Ironically his zeal for freethought
bore resemblance to a religious crusade. Ballance seems ultimately
to have recognised this, at least according to a story told by John
Macmillan Brown, Professor or English, History and Political Economy
at Christchurch University at the time. In his memoirs Macmillan

Brown tells of am evening spent with Ballance in Wanganui:

Our host and I fell into a sharp discussion

on his lyceum teaching. I held that he was
contradicting his own tenets for he was

turning his anti-religion into a religiom.

So warm was he in defence of his practice that
when he came down next morning to see us off,

he began the discussion again and carried it

on till the train moved off. A few years
after, when he was Premier, I met him again

when going up the long staircase of the big
matchbox (the large wooden building in which

the Government Departments are housed) to see
Mr Habens in the Education Department.

We passed, saying 'good morning'; after a few
steps, he turned and came back and said to me,
'Do you remember that discussion we had in
Wanganui?' . I replied 'Yes' and he said, 'I have
come round to your point of view'. We parted
and saw each other no more for in the following
year his fatal malady carried him off.. 80 ~ .

The key remaining question is the extent to which Ballance's
freethought views affected his political career. The evidence suggests
that they did not. Freethought was never a political handicap.

Religion entered elections in Wanganui only in connection with education,
and Ballance's advocacy of a state secular educatioﬁ system was
supportéd by many members of the Protestant churches. As with his

opposition to Bible reading in schools, it was a cause independent of,

50. John Macmillan Brown, The Memoirs of John Macmillan Brown,
Christchurch, 1974, pp. 122-23.
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and easily separated from, his freethought views. In other words

it was not necessary to be a freethinker to add either plank to a
political platform. In general Ballance sought to separate religious
from political issues. The Herald reported the meetings of the
Wanganui Freethought Association but editorials never promoted
freethought views.51 For the remainder of his l1life Ballance stuck to
the opinion given to Stout in a letter written in 1881. The letter
also shows Ballance's belief in Positivism, the empiricist social

philosophy of Auguste Comte adopted by many nineteenth century radicals:

I sympathise very heartily with you in your
Freethought propaganda, § am quite delighted
with the tone and ability of the Echo. My
own opinions have long been attracted towards
Positivism, & later reflections have confirmed
my belief in the creed; but I think politics
so all important at the present stage of the
colony's growth, that I make religion a matter
for private contemplation. 52

+ + + + + + + 4+ + 4

This desire for a separation of religion and politics was reflected
in Ballance's views on education. He had held the education portfolio
whilst a member of the Grey Government. The Education Department was
a minor one, though it assumed greater importance with the passing of
the 1877 Education Bill, which established a system of free primary
education throughout the colony.53 Ballance was concerned mainly with

overseeing the implementation of the Act. Problems centered around

51. Y, 11 July 1884. See also pp. 255-56.

52. Ballance to Stout, 23 May 1881, Stout MSS.

53. See J. Mackey, The Making of a State Education System- the passing
of the New Zealand Education Act, 1877, London, 1967.
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financing the system, especially on the provision of school buildings

and the setting aside of land as education reserves.54

One of Ballance's first actions in the House of Representatives
was to urge the Government to introduce a bill for elementary education.55
He was committed to a free State education system as a matter of
liberal principle. In 1881 he said that despite the difficulties
that had arisen in connection with the 1877 Act 'there must be
education for the people'. Education was liberating as it 'gave the
people a great power to work their own ends'. He believed that a
free State system beyond primary level should be established no matter

56

how much it cost. These views were not inconsistent with Ballance's

belief in self-education and his support for Lyceums. Self-education
was a necessity, especially for the working class, only because of the

lack of State pfovision.

Thus from the start Ballance favour a State, non-sectafian
system of education. Religion had no place in schools, though
religious liberty would allow Catholics to maintain instruction of
their own children.57 Obstacles to a State system would have to be

overcome :

The intemperate opposition of religious partisans
or the groans and grumbles of irritated taxpayers,
should not be allowed to impede the progress of
education. At the most, their grievances are
inferior to the real interests of the State. 58

54. See e.g. PD, 1878, 28, pp. 104, 137-38, 183; PD, 1878, 30,
pp. 701, 790-91. -

55. PD, 1875, 19, p. 431.

56. Y, 5 Nov. 1881.

57. EH, 11 May 1874. See also the discussion of the 1879 election
‘campaign in ch. 5.

58. EH, 11 Dec. 1872.
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The State had a duty to provide all children with a 'liberal' and

'popular' education:

The hands of the labourer's child were not
made for the sole purpose of manipulating
yard-measures and tapelines, ploughs, and
pick axes. They could trace forms and hues
of beauty, and produce sounds of rapture,

as skilfully as those of his aristocratic
neighbours, if... taught to do so. His eye
could do higher and nobler things than scan
the pages of legers and day-books, if it were
taught to do so. ...The hereditary stock of
wisdom is not a thing to be locked up, and
transferred as idle capital from generation
to generation. It must be traded with and
increased, so that our children, when they
succeed us, may find the edifice of
civilisation a storey higher than their fathers
found it... . 59

Finally education was to be progressive:

To speak of the Greek and Latin classes as a
sine qua non of a good education is now only
usual with a few old-world folks, whom
nothing but the fear of ridicule prevents from
appearing in pig-tails and powder, if not in
togas and sandals. 60

T S e T I

This combination of State provision and individual self-help was
also characteristic of Ballance's opposition to prohibition. Ballance
believed that the State should tackle intemperance not through

prohibitive legislation but in the provision of the material wants, and

59. EH, 19 Feb. 1875.
60. Tbid.
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the encouragement of the self-respect, of the individual. He
presented a petition signed by nearly one thousand Wanganui citizens
against the Local Option Bill of 1877, and successfully amended the
Bill (which in the event failed to pass) to provide compensation for
publicans who would lose their licence.61 Ballance put forward his
views on temperance in a paper written in 1877 and read at a
Christchurch meeting held in anticipation of the Local Option Bill
coming before Parliament. His argument was that legislative
prohibition would not effect reform, and that temperance depended
instead upon 'the education and prosperity of the people'.62 He

used the experience of prohibition legislation in America and Sweden
to support his claim. Specifically, he objected to the Local Option
Bill on the following grounds: it allowed no middle course, it was all
or nothing; it attacked the rights of property of public house owners;
by introducing a referendum it reversed a basic principle of
representative constitutional government; and finally if would no£

reduce temperance in any case:

The great hope of diminishing drunkenness

must be by stimulating the intellect to

find food for its own nourishment.

Intemperance and ignorance go hand in hand,

and emancipation can only take place when
education finds pleasures more attractive

than strong drink. ...The cause of intemperance
must be discovered in the man, and not in the
facilities with which drink is supplied. 63

Ballance pointed out that public hcuses served a basic human need, and

criticised the paternalism and hypocrisy of temperance reformers:

61. PD, 1877, 24, pp. 446-49; WH, 1, 8 § 15 Sept. 1877.
62. WH, 21 July 1877.
63. TIbid.
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Nothing appears to my mind more unreasonable
than the denunciation of the public house by
those who have never done a single thing to
establish any other source of enjoyment.

Man is a social being, and there is in the
public house, apart from any craving for
alcohol, much that satisfied his social
instincts. ...The system of paternal
philanthrophy which would reform the working
classes by keeping them in leading strings, has
never yet succeeded, and is sternly resented by
their most intelligent leaders. The attempt to
deprive a working man of his glass while the
more opulent member of the club can enjoy his at
pleasure, or lay in a supply, is a specimen of
paternal regard which is fast losing its hold
even on the most philanthropically inclined. 64

The temperance issue varied in its political significance over time.
It assumed considerable importance in the mid-1890s for example.
Essentially Ballance argued that temperance reformers were attacking
the effect and not the cause. His opposition to prohibition was
simply the other side of a belief in géneral liberal legisiation aimed

at satisfying the individual's material and intellectual needs.

+ + + o+ F +FF o+ o+

The remainder of this chapter discusses the 1884 election in
Wanganui and Ballance's return to political life. By early 1884 the
Atkinson Ministry was running out of steam. It was tainted by the
deepening depression, and its chosen remedies of increased taxation
and retrenchment alienated many of its supporters. Increased grain
duties, for example, were anathema to Canterbury interests. However

neither Montgomery (who had replaced Macandrew as Opposition leader)

64. Ibid.




249.

nor Grey could form a viable alternative, and so both sides settled

on dissolution and a fresh election.

If Bryce's action over Parihaka had been the major factor in
the 1881 election, it was Vogel's return to politics that formed the
backdrop to the 1884 contest. The Agricultural Company was in dire
financial straits, as was the connected Waimea Plains Railway Company,
which was having difficulty collecting its rates. As Hamer has shown,
Vogel aimed to rescue the enterprise through his returning to power.
The new Government would restore confidence, end the depression and
raise land values. It would also purchase the ailing Railway Company.65
For Vogel an alliance with Stout was essential if enough support was
to be gathered to make such a Ministry possible. Together they
formulated the plan months before the election. Stout had interests
in‘the companies and connections with other South Island investors.
Politically he could defend such ventures as 'patriotic efforts to
develop thét voluntary cooperation on which he believed depended

The

'real growth and progress inl\masses".66

Ballance may or may not have known in advance of the agreement
between Vogel and Stout. His own involvement with the company was
minimal and had no bearing at all on his decision to stand again for
the Wanganui seat. Ballance was a career politician whereas Vogel and
Stout were not. Only Ballance's defeat in 1881 prevented him from

being in Parliament continuously from his entry into politics in 1875

65. D.A. Hamer, 'The Agricultural Company and New Zealand Politics,
1877-1886"', Historical Studies, 10, 38, (1962), pp. 150-52.

66. D.A. Hamer, 'The Law and the Prophet: a political biography of
Sir Robert Stout', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1960, p. 101.
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until his death in 1893. For Ballance what was important were the
political consequences of Vogel's return independent of the

raison d'etre of the agreement. Vogel was able to attract considerable

support through his own personal prestige. The suggestion that he
might end the depression through development policies associated with
the prosperity of the 1870s was for many irresistible. Given this
Ballance may well have seen, early on, that the only way of defeating
Atkinson in the country was through an alliance of liberals and Vogel.
The opposition was disorganised and disunited. Liberals comprised
only a part of it, for there had been many independents elected in
1881.67 It was a question of alternatives; or rather the lack of
them. Montgomery, like his predecessor, had not been an impressive
leader, and his advocacy of separation was anathema to Ballance.

Grey was a spent force, and there were in any case suspicions that he
was seeking a coalition with Atkinson in order to keep Vogel out.
Vogel's opposition to leésing and to land nationalisation would be an
embarrassment to Ballance if an alliance were anticipated. The
Herald also pointed to the legitimate doubt as to whether depression
could be overcome by new borrowing alone.68 Nevertheless by the
election Ballance was predicting that Vogel would become Premier, and
saying that 'he would not be sorry for it'. As for himself, he would

not accept office 'unless his principles were fairly represented'.69

Ballance's campaign reflected this contradiction between his

advocacy of a radical liberal programme and political reality. It

67. See T.G. Wilson, 'The Rise of the New Zealand Liberal Party,
1877-1890', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1951, ch. 7.

68. Wanganui Herald, 6 May 1884, 14 June 1884.

69. Y, 25 July 1884.
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was in part an attempt to fuse liberalism and Vogelism, (rapid
economic development through borrowing for public works) and as such
required concessions from both. Ballance's liberalism was undeniable;
but the need to accommodate Vogel meant that he was unable to fight
the election on the basis of a Liberal party. Indeed such a party
barely existed, and in his speeches Ballance made no reference to it.
He foresaw the need for coalition and argued that Vogel was the beSt

0

the opposition could come up with.7 As for Vogel's penchant for

borrowing, Ballance admitted that Vogel

...might be inclined to go too fast unless
he had a House which could put a drag on.
(But) it was better to have a statesman that
had a tendency to be a little too fast, rather
than one that did not move at all. 71

Ballance's major campaign speech was delivered on 8 July to a
crammed Princess Theatre in Wahganui. He was at his most radical.
He opposed Atkinson's suggestion of federation with the Australian
colonies on the grounds that it would involve a loss of sovereignty for
New Zealand. He criticised the giving and acceptance of colonial
titles.72 'It was more noble to.reject these honors' he said, 'and
die in the possession of the confidence of the people', than to be
covered with them. These were republican and nationalist sentiments
that would emerge again in Ballance's later life. He believed that
unemployment ought to be tackled through restricting immigration to

those 'fitted for country life' and those with capital. The property

tax ought to be replaced by a progressive land tax, for the former was

70. Y, 18 July 1884.

71. Y, 25 July 1884.

72. Sir Henry Parkes had recommended the creation of colonial earldoms,
and William Fitzherbert had just accepted a K.C.M.G.
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"taxing industry, discouraging enterprise, and heaping taxation upon
the working classes'. Though his advocacy of land nationalisation
was not as strident as in his Echo articles, its importance to him
was clear and it went far beyond anything he had proposed at previous

election campaigns:

With regard to the nationalisation of land,

he believed in the principle, and he would
support it when the people were willing that

it should be carried out. It was said now
that the only system desirable was that of
freehold, but he would ask anyone to look at
the extent of available land, and say how

long freeholds would be available for anyone

in New Zealand. They now parted with 12
million acres, and the natives owned yet about
12 million acres, while of those owned by the
Crown not more than 5 millions would be found
suitable for cultivation, or small farmers.
When the whole of this available land had
passed away, then those gentlemen who were now
crying out about the value of freeholds, would
then be sorry they had urged the Government to
part with it. ...(I)f the land was not valued
too highly, and if the ballot took the place of
auction, the value of the perpetual leasing
system would soon be seen, and the people would
come to believe in land nationalisation. Let
them look at the land already sold; they found
7,000,000 acres owned by 2500 people in the
colony... . Then there were seven men in the

colony owning 21 million acres, and 20 people - g

owned 4,000,000 acres. Could the colony
progress while these large blocks were thus held! 73

Progress, Ballance concluded, lay in promoting land settlement through

low rents and encouraging local industries through protective duties.
It was with respect to local development issues that Ballance's
attempt to utilise Vogelism emerged. For example he wished to see the

Wanganui River opened up so that the land through which it flowed might

73. Y, 18 July 1884.
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be settled. 'They would not have to ask Sir Julius Vogel twice to

do it' he said.’?

Yet though Ballanceraccepted that prosperity could
be restored by expenditure on new settlement, he was cautious as to
the extent to which a government ought to borrow for these purposes.
He said that if elected 'he would insist upon the curtailing of
borrowing, except judicious borrowing for railways and roads through
native lands'.75 This was an important qualification of the Vogel
tradition. It anticipated Ballance's later self-reliant policy (see
chapters 10 and 11), and at the same time reflected a natural bias in

favour of borrowing for the development of the North Island only.

In general Ballance argued that

...until they had taxation on properties
—which were benefitted by the construction
of public works, they should be careful

about spending on railways, §c. 76

There wés no place in Vogelism fof this, nor indeed for land
nationalisation. For Vogel, State intervention was aimed at promoting
rapid development, and would stop well short of restricting the profits
of private capital investment. It could also, of course, bail out a
company that claimed to be contributing to the settlement of the colony.
Ultimately therefore, Ballance's libefalism and Vogelism were
incompatible, though political circumstances might for a time force
them together. A radical programme involving a land tax and the
repurchasing of large estates would be seen by Vogel as needlessly

frightening capital away from the country (see chapter 10).

74. 1Ibid.
75. 1Ibid. There was no mention of borrowing to provide funds for

land nationalisation.
76. Ibid.
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At the election Ballance was opposed by the same two men whom
he had faced in 1875; W.H. Watt, the sitting member, and the lawyer
George Hutchison (see chapter 3). Watt's performance in Wellington had
not impressed his supporters. The Chronicle admitted that he was
'deficient in many of the qualities' that it would wish to see in a
representative, but supported him on the grounds that he was a safer
bet than Ballance.77 During the campaign it became clear fhat
Hutchison was the stronger of Ballance's opponents. Hutchison was
politically much closer to Watt than Ballance, and thus would split

the anti-Ballance vote.

The campaign was fought on both local and national issues.
Watt opposed Ballance's advocacy of both a rating bill to finance
further harbour improvements and the need for river development.
Hutchison, in hié one major disagreement with Watt, supporter the

78 Differences over the rating issue reflected the growing

former.
split between town and country, The Harbour Board and Ballance wished
to rate the country areas that the port served as well as the town
itself. Rural settlers however, despite their use of the port and
town as distribution centre, had little sympathy for the Board's
financial problems.79 They certainly did not feel obliged to dip

into their own pockets to help it out. One of the foremost critics

of the rating proposal was John Bryce. Like many other opponents of

the bill, he farmed land outside the town, and regarded the question

of harbour improvements as of no interest or responsibility of the

77. WC, 19 July 1884. See.also WC, 3 July 1884.

78. WC, 12 July 1884; Wanganui Herald, 3 July 1884.

79. See S.M. King, 'The Port of Wanganui and its Influence on Wanganui',
M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1964, p. 15; T.J.
Young, 'The Political Career of John Ballance, 1875-1890', M.A. thesis,
Victoria University of Wellington, 1964, p. 103.
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country. Ballance's later strenuous efforts to have the bill passed
(see chapter 8) identified him clearly with the town and Bryce equally

clearly with the country.

On broader issues Ballance was condemned both for his past record
and his present policy. The Chronicle criticised his desertion of
Atkinson and subsequent failure as Colonial Treasurer. It argued
that his political principles did not run deep, though somewhat
inconsistently at the same time deprecated his theory of land
nationalisation.80 There was some criticism of Ballance's freethought

views, in the form of correspondence to the Chronicle:

As a Freethinker and Infidel Mr Ballance ought
to be rejected by every right-thinking Christian
in the town. He who assists to pollute the
minds of the little ones is not worthy to be
trusted with the administration of the affairs
of this colony. ...Christians, unite, and drive
this infidel once more into private life. 81

And again:

...not content with denying his Maker,
(Mr Ballance) is anxious to teach our
children the tenets of a Bradlaugh or a
Besant. ...Orangemen, be true to your
colours, and refuse to be longer allied
to the snake in the grass. 82

The Chronicle was content simply to publish these letters. Neither
it nor Watt or Hutchison raised the issue to any significant extent
during the campaign. As it turned out Ballance's freethought views,

if they had any effect on his support at all, did him no harm. Yet

80. WC, 18 July 1884.
81. WC, 19 July 1884.
82. WC, 21 July 1884.
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he was sensitive to the mixing of religion and politics. If the
two were to be regarded as inseparable, he said, the election would

not be contested on a fair basis.83

The result of the electicn, at which there was only the one

polling booth at the Court House, was as follows:

Ballance 541
Hutchison 205
Watt 154 84

It was an impressive victory, by a margin that seems to have been
unexpected by Ballance and his supporters as well as his opponents.
There had been suggestions that his majority might be fifty or one

hundred. The Herald later described the scene as the crowd gathered

in anticipation of the declaration of the poll. Some enthusiasts,
running out of patience, began throwing eggs and. flour. When the
result was eventually announced so many Ballance supporters climbed
onto the hustings that the platform collapsed under the weight.

Ballance was then carried shoulder high to the Court House steps, where

" he briefly addressed the crowd. The result, he said, completely atoned

for his defeat three years earlier. He had never been prouder of

Wanganui.85

Three factors explain Ballance's large majority. First, though

out of Parliament he had remained in the public eye, through the

Herald, and on account of his activities on the Harbour Board and

participation in local organisations such as the Protection Association.

83. Y, 25 July 1884,
84. 1Ibid.
85." 1Ibid.
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Secondly, he clearly benefitted from the adverse reaction to Watt's
term as Member for Wanganui. Third and most important, Ballance's
platform was more forthright and positive than it had been in 1881.

It involved an unambiguous bid for working class support by

advocating land nationalisation and protection policies that aimed

to restore prosperity to the town, and to the country upon which the
town depended. For the same reasons Ballance also appealed to the
town's small businessmen and shopkeepers. His only reference to
'labour issues' per se came in answer to a question proffered at the
conclusion of one of his speeches. It concerned the length of the
working day, and Ballance replied that he believed in an eight hour

day but that there should be freedom of contract.86 Ballance's
radicalism was channelled primarily into land reform. Because of this
he was able to attract support from Wanganui's business sector, for
whom land nationalisation seemed at least of little danger, and'at most
(because of the larger market result from cloéer settlement) a positive

boon.

Ballance left for Wellington on 5 August, and Parliament met two
days later. When Atkinson resigned, acknowledging that a majority of
members opposed the Government, Vogel and Stout set about forming a
Ministry.  Stout persuaded Ballance to join.87 The Herald had said
on 6 August that Ballance's decision to accept office would rest
'mainly on how far his well known principles in connection with land
administration' were accepted by his colleagues. The use of the word

'administration' rather than 'nationalisation' or 'reform' was perhaps

significant. In fact Ballance joined as Native Minister and Minister

86. Y, 18 July 1884.
87. NzH, 12 Aug, 1884; ODT, 7 Aug. 1884.
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of Defence. Only in the second, reformed Stout-Vogel Ministry was
the Lands portfolio added. Even holding this post Ballance must have
been well aware of the difficulty in persuading a Government strongly

influenced by Vogel to adopt a radical land programme.

On 16 August Stout became Premier and Vogel Colonial Treasurer.
I11 health and a dislike of administrative chores stopped Vogel from
assuming the Premiership himself. This first Stout-Vogel Ministry
contained a number of fatal flaws: many were astounded at the
combination of liberals and 'conservative' speculators whilst the

Evening Post was disappointed that Vogel did not take on the

Premiership himself. Stout had not been recognised during the election

as a possible leader.88

Also in the Ministry were Macandrew,
Montgomery and Richardson; a South Island dominance that could not

hope to attract sufficient gupport from the north.89 'We doubt whether
any Government ever assumed office with a more decided phblic opinion

against it' wrote the Post.90

After less than a week in office the Ministry was defeated,
primarily owing to this lack of North Island (and especially Auckland)
representation.91 J.W. Thomson of Clutha then attempted to form a
Government . His failure was followed by that of Grey, who was unable
to entice the necessary support of Atkinson. Atkinson himself then
tried to form a cabinet with Vogel's support. When this too fell

through, Atkinson formed a Ministry on his own. Without the cooperation

88. EP, 12 Aug. 1884.

89. Wanganui Herald, 4 Sept. 1884.
90. EP, I8 Aug. 1884.

91. EP, 21 Aug. 1884.
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of either Vogel or Grey this attempt was also doomed, and indeed

lasted only six days.92

What resolved the impasse was Stout and Vogel's reconstruction
of their Ministry without Macandrew or Montgomery.93 It survived
because it was less radical and could attract Greyite support through
the inclusion of J.A. Tole from Auckland. The chain of events
favoured Ballance as a representative from the North Island. He
now held the important portfolios of Lands, Native Affairs and Defence.
Yet some evidence suggests that for a time he hoped for a different
outcome. On the eve of the vote of confidence on Atkinson's 'interim'
Ministry, George Fisher of Wellington sent Ballance a note seeking his
clarification as to the intention of the Opposition. Did they aim

to return to the original Stout-Vogel Ministry, or force a

combination if possible? Ballance replied:

Not to bring back the Stout-Vogel Ministry.
Hope the result will be a combination-
acceptable to House. But Atkinson lot must
first be defeated. 94

As we have seen the Stout-Vogel Ministry, with some minor albeit
important changes, did return. The question is whether Ballance
had a realistic expectation of the formation of a Ministry excluding
both Vogel and Atkinson, and including himself, Stout and perhaps Grey.

The Evening Post reported on 2 September that Macandrew and

Montgomery were seeking to reach agreement with Grey. Earlier Grey

had been advised by his supporters to attempt an accommodation with

92. See Judith Bassett, Sir Harry Atkinson, Auckland, 1975, pp. 128-29.
93. EP, 21 Aug. 1884.
94. Fisher to Ballance, and reply, 29 Aug. 1884, Fisher Family Papers.
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the Stout-Vogel faction.95 Ballance perhaps hoped to attract Greyite
support without having to include Grey himself, and in a sense this

is what happened. His desire to split Stout from Vogel was natural,
though it flew in the face of the position of the various factions in
the House. It also suggests that Ballance was not fully aware of
Stout and Vogel's commitment to each other, or that if he was he

attached little importance to such an agreement.

In the event Ballance accepted his enhanced position in the
reconstituted Stout-Vogel Government as second best. In further
correspondence with Fisher, who looked to Ballance for guidance, he

wrote:

The time has not yet come in this colony
when a pure Liberal party can be formed,
and until it does come we can only wait
and make the best of the position, yet
keeping in view the object we wish to
attain. The majority of the House is
probably (?) not guided by Liberal
principles, and no Govt. can go very far
ahead of public opinion. You and others
can do a great deal to hasten the time
when a distinctly Liberal programme can be
put forth by the party from the Hustings,
& when such a programme will be honestly
given effect to in Parliament. I hope the
day is not far distant... . 96

95. NZH, 26 Aug. 1884.
96. Ballance to Fisher, 31 May 1885, Fisher Family Papers.
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The Stout-Vogel Government achieved and maintained power
because a majority in the House believed it might end the depression
and restore prosperity. The Ministry drew its support in particular
from businessmen and merchants, lawyers and runholders. It also
depended heavily upon South Island members. Canterbury especially
had returned a high proportion of Vogelites; those of the 'commercial
and landed aristocracy' who had been hit by the collapse of wool and
wheat prices.1 They were represented in the Cabinet by a Christchurch
contractor, Edward Richardson, whom Vogel appointed Minister of Public
Works. The other members of the Ministry, aside from Stout, Vogel
and Ballance, were: J.A. Tole, a Greyite Auckland lawyer who became
Minister of Justice; Patrick Buckley, another lawyer who was Colonial

Secretary; and W.H. Reynolds, a Dunedin businessman and merchant.

The Yeoman described both the Cabinet and the support it received
somewhat extravagently as a mixture of 'placid conservatism and fervid
liberalism'.2 Those 'conservatives' were Vogelites much excited by
the prospect of new borrowing for development projects (especially
railway construction); though their vision of the role of the State
might go no further than this, they were quite distinct from the many
more 'comprehensive' (and generally rural baséd) conservatives in the
ranks of the Opposition, whose immediate reaction to depression was to
call for severe retrenchment. This diverse nature was a strength
because it enabled the Government to attract support from different

factions within the House, each believing that their own men in Cabinet

1. See T.G. Wilson, 'The Rise of the Liberal Party in New Zealand,
1877-1890', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1951, ch. 8; D.A. Hamer, 'The
Law and the Prophet: a political biography of Sir Robert Stout
(1844-1936)', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1960, ch. 5.

2. 28 Nov. 1884.
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would be a check on the others. The Ministry was recognised as

one of considerable ability and many conservatives (for example
Scobie Mackenzie) believed that they could 'keep the men in' but
their measures (especially liberal 'fads') out.3 It was a weakness
because the Ministry could survive only as long as controversial
legislation was avoided. When it became clear that Vogelism had
failed to reverse the depression, and when the call for protection
began to be loudly heard, the Ministry fell apart. In the meantime
there was little chance of liberal measures, such as the abolition of

plural voting, achieving a majority in the House.

Vogel and Stout's plan of rescuing the New Zealand Agricultural
Company ultimately failed. The Government did finally purchase the
Waimea Plains Railway, giving some relief to the Agricultural Company
which as the major owner of the land throﬁgh which the railway ran was
liable to the Railway Company for a considerable sum of rates.

However the Agricultural Company foundered as the depression continued,

and was wound up in 1890.%

The District Railways Leasing and Purchasing Bill passed through
the House in October 1884, but was subsequently thrown out by the
Legislative Council. The Bill enabled the Government to purchase
any district railway, whilst the Council insisted instead on separate
legislation. A second District Railways Purchasing Bill, for the
acquisition only of the Waimea Plains Railway, was successful two years
later. As the legislation was debated fresh allegations were made,

by Grey in particular, of the involvement of members of the Ministry

3. EP, 25 Sept. 188S5.
4. See D.A. Hamer, 'The Agricultural Company and New Zealand Politics,
1877-1886', Historical Studies, 10, 38 (1962).
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in the Railway and Agricultural companies. Vogel in fact

mentioned his connection with the Agricultural Company when he moved
the second reading of the 1884 Bill. When the Speaker ruled that
those with a pecuniary interest in the Company should not vote in the

division on the Bill, Vogel, Stout and Ballance all abstained.5

Ballance argued that though he had been associated with the
Company he had no financial interest in it. He had been connected
with it, but 'without any prospect of reward and without receiving one
penny'. In any case, he said, he was not ashamed of the Company.

It aimed at cutting up large estates for settlement, which was a
'perfectly legitimate' motive. Grey denied Ballance's statement that
he (Grey) had as Premier known of and given sanction to the
Agricultural Company. Grey correctly asserted that iniFially he knew
nothing of it, and that when he did find out about it he insisted on

Vogel's resignation from the Board of Directors.6'

The Government managed to play down the personal involvement
of Stout and Vogel in the companies in a number of ways. There were
other district railways in financial straits, so that the idea of
Government purchase had more general appeal. Secondly, only Grey and
a very few other members had any idea of the past history of the affairs
of the Company. Further it was difficult for Grey not to appear to
be motivated by personal spite. His accusations were inevitably
associated with his political estrangement from Stout and Ballance since

the fall of his Ministry in 1879.

S 22, 1884, 49, p. 433.
6. PD, 1886, 56, pp. 455-57, 641ff. See ch. 4.
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The Agricultural Company was certainly of some embarrassment
to Ballance, though as with the Loan Company (see chapter 4, pp. 170-71) he
never suffered politically from his connection with it. As a member
of the Cabinet he must have been aware of the reasons behind Vogel
and Stout's eagerness to see the Waimea Plains Railway purchased, and
would also have known of its link with the Agricultural Company .
In 1891, when Ballance was Premier, his involvement with the Company
was again mentioned in the House. Ballance, in a revealing statement,

sought to put the record straight:

Some person or persons were good enough

to put my name on the provisional prospectus.

I declare I never signed my name to that
provisional prospectus, and never consented

to its being placed there. It was placed
there without my consent; but when the real
prospectus came out my name was no longer
there.. I never subscribed to the company... .
The person who put my name on the provisional
prospectus did so without my consent. I did
not even know my name was on the provisional
prospectus until I was told about it some time
afterwards, and I never even saw the
provisional prospectus which contained my name.
I never placed a penny in it, and I had no
interest in it whatever. These are the simple facts. 7

That Ballance did not mention this earlier may well be explained by
his wish to protect Stout (who was most likely the person who put
Ballance's name on the prospectus) from further embarrassment. It
is clear that if Ballance is to be criticised over the affair, it
should be for keeping quiet about what was going on, rather than for

any personal financial involvement he had in the Company.

The financial policy of the Stout-Vogel Government was both

inconsistent and unable to deal with the depression which deepened after

3

7. PD, 1891, 72, pp. 125-26.
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1885. Export prices continued their long term decline and the
country's annual deficit rose from £147,000 in 1884 to nearly £ million
by 1887. Bank credit contracted further.8 Vogel's Financial
Statement of 1884 proposed to reduce the property tax by one half, to
convert the sinking fund and thus give some immediate relief to the
burden of debt, and to float a new loan for public works.9 Within a
year all optimism engendered by these measures had vanished. Vogel
restored the property tax to its original level and proposed an

IR It was an admission that Vogelism had failed.

increase in tariffs.
Plans for new loans were shelved with the collapse of the colony's
credit in London. The vast majority of the tariffs were rejected by a
House increasingly intent on retrenchment as the means of dealing with
depression. A motion proposed by W.R. Russell, Member for Hawke's Bay,
to reduce public works expenditure by £I million was carried by a

majority of fifteen.11

Economic depression and the politically diverse nature of the
Stout-Vogel Government's support were two major restrictions on
Ballance's room for manoeuvre during his three year tenure as Native
Minister and Minister for Lands. Further, Vogel himself would resist
any move towards land nationalisation or restriction of the free
market in crown or Maori land. He had gained the support of the
Canterbury members by assuring them that despite the presence of Stout

and Ballance 'all fads and nonsense would be dropped'.12 Despite these

8. C.G.F. Simkin, The Instability of a Dependent Economy. Economic
fluctuations in New Zealand, 1840-1914, Oxford, 1951, pp. 147, 165;
W.B. Sutch, Colony or Nation?, Sydney, 1966, p. 24.

9. PD, 1884, 48, pp. 351-61.

10. PD, 1885, 51, pp. 68-84.

11. PD, 1885, 53, pp. 573, 733-34.

12. EZE, 9 May 1885.
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limitations Ballance had considerable success in introducing innovatory
legislation. Some was later reversed, but important precedents were

set.

This chapter looks in turn at Ballance's policy and performance as
Minister for Lands, Native Minister, and as Minister for Defence (the
minor portfolio which he also held). Despite this separate treatment,
necessary for practical purposes, it should be stressed that land and
'native' issues were closely connected. There was increasing pressure
(an expanding population and contracting amount of suitable crown land)
to acquire Maori land for European settlement. Further, of particular
importance during Ballance's tenure was the purchase of the Maori land
through which much of the proposed North Island trunk railway was to run.
The rail aimed not simply at linking Wellington with Auckland, but at
opening up new land for settlement, especially that between Marton and

Te Awamutu.

i S T T S T SR A

As Minister for Lands Ballance aimed to maximise settlement;
that is, he aimed to place as many people as possible on a given acreage
of land. He encouraged leasing and reduced the amount of land sold
outright as a step towards nationalisation. James McKerrow, the
Secretary for Crown Lands, wrote rather sourly in his 1885 report that
there had been less crown land sold in the year ended March 1885 than

in any previous year. This had not been owing to any lack of
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purchasers, he said. Instead extensive areas had been withheld

from sale.13 Over the following three years cash land sales continued

to decline, and picked up only after Ballance left office.14 On the
other hand, as Condliffe has shown, the number of new settlers rose,
and the average size of holding fell, during Ballance's tenure.
Settlement more than doubled between 1886 and 1887, reaching a figure

unmatched by the Liberal Government of the 18905.15

Increasingly Ballance saw land settlement as a solution (alongside
the development of industry and halting of immigration) to the immediate
problem of urban unemployment.16 He extended existing, and devised
new, settlement schemes with this object in mind. These schemes were
at the same time the practical manifestation of ideas and propositions

that Ballance had arrived at by 1884.

The 1885 Land Act was a consolidating meaéure, replacing all
previous land law. It was a major piece of legislation for it also
established a number of new tenures and forms of settlement. The
overall objective of the Bill, said Ballance, was to get, and keep,
Eggé.figg settlers on the land. His short pithy speech on the second

reading of the Bill emphasised his preference for leasing:

..the best of all kinds of bona fide
settlement is that which enables the State
to retain control over the land, and which
enables the people who want land to cultivate

13. AJHR, 1885, C-1.

14. Cash land sales were as follows: 1886, 65,267 acres; 1887, 33,336;
1888, 28,626; 1889, 69,626. Figures are from AJHR, C-1 of the
respective years.

15. J.B. Condliffe, New Zealand in the Making. A survey of economic and
social development, London, 1930, pp. 186, 188.

16. See Ballance's speech at a banquet given in his honour in Wanganui ,
Y, 5 Dec. 1884.
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and not for speculative purposes to

go on the land and hold it so long as
they are complying with the conditions
of improvement and settlement. 17

Thus the freehold encouraged speculation, whilst 'where the object
is to settle down and to make a home... there is nothing in the world

which will compare with the system of perpetual leasing'.18

Under the Act land could be sold for cash or on deferred payment,
or it could be leased. Leased land was let by tender at an upset
price of five per cent of the capital value of the land. Owners of
more than six hundred and forty acres of land in the colony were
ineligible for leasing. There were residence and improvement
conditions. Finally, lessees were able to acquire the freehold after
six years.19 Ballance would have preferred there to be no freehold
right, but political pressure meant that its inclusion was essential
to the suécessful passage of the Bill. Nevertheless he p?edicted that

perpetual leasing would become the 'prevailing system in the colony'.20

In the Act Ballance introduced four new forms of settlement.
The first of these, the leasing of 'small areas', he placed great

emphasis on. Under this system town dwellers could lease up to fifty

acres of land bordering urban areas.21 It was aimed primarily at

labourers who, at times of temporary unemployment, could work and draw

sustenance from their land. 'TI maintain that the true outlet for the

17. PD, 1885, 52, p. 45.

18. Tbid. On the passage of the Act, see Y, 3 July 1885; EP, 18 July
1885, 24 Aug. 1885; NzH, 18 July 1885.~ T

19. Land Act, 1885, sections 135-160. This form of tenure was restricted
by the provision that the amount of leased land could not exceed one
third of the land open for sale in a given district.

20. PD, 1885, 52, p. 45.

21. Tand Act, 1885, section 161.
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labouring-classes', said Ballance, 'is to have small holdings in the

neighbourhood of large towns upon liberal conditions'.22 In fact only

fifty-two settlers on fifteen hundred acres of land were established

under this tenure. Ballance recognised the flaws in it, the most

serious of which was the lack of available land adjacent to centres of

population. He argued that given this the Government ought to

purchase the necessary land.2

3 The Yeoman, echoing his belief that

small area leasing was a major provision of the Act, also acknowledged

this problem. Success of the scheme, it said, would depend upon good

land and the availability of wage labour near by.24 There had been

criticism that lack of employment opportunities would quickly result

in the pauperisation of settlers.

Despite the fact that very few settlers were established under

this tenure, the scheme has considerable importance as a practicail

application of Ballance's philosophy.

25 It was a qﬁalification of the

Yeoman ideal, involving a 'half-way house' between urban and rural

living for the working classes. Advancement was achieved through

working the land, though a settler would remain socially bonded to the

town.

Significantly the regulations denied the settler the right to

acquire the land's freehold, a condition that would discourage those

who wished to become full-time farmers.

22,
23.
24.
25,

PD, 1885, 52, p. 45.
Tbid.

3 July 1885.

Given the scheme's negligible impact, it is not surprising that
historians have overlooked it. None of the following, who deal to
a greater or lesser extent with Ballance's land legislation, mention
it: T.J. Young, 'The Political Career of John Ballance, 1875-1890',
M.A. thesis, Victoria University of Wellington, 1964; E.J. Charman,
'Land Tenure Reform in New Zealand, 1875-1896. A study of the
opinions of some leading land reformers', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1953;
W.R. Jourdain, Land Legislation and Settlement in New Zealand,
Wellington, 1925; P.E. Dempsey, 'The Land Policy of the Stout-Vogel
Ministry, 1884-1887', M.A. thesis, Auckland, 1945,
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This dual urban-rural employment was a central feature of a
second, and much more successful, form of settlement introduced by
Ballance. This was the Village Settlement scheme. As we have seen
(chapter 5, pp. 202-03), Rolleston had established village settlements on a
small scale in Canterbury in the 1870s, and a colony-wide scheme was
provided for under the Land Amendment Act of 1879. The provisions
were little used however, despite such recommendations as the following

from the Evening Post:

Working men who live in the large cities

of the colony should direct their earnest
attention to the system (of village settlement)
by means of which they obtain freehold homes

for themselves and families. It is a serious
evil that so many working men should remain in
the large cities, often choking up the labor
market, when they would have a far widely (sic) —
scope for their exertions in some of the country
districts, besides the opportunity of acquiring
a permanent home of their own. 26

Under Ballance's scheme, villages were to be established with
each settler receiving up to one acre of 'urban' land, and up to
fifty acres of rural land. The land could be bought or leased.
The Act also gave the Minister the right to purchase land, with the

7 What was significant’

approval of Parliament, for such settlements.
however, was Ballance's later amendment of the regulations for village
settlements on perpetual lease, through an order in council of 1 September
1886. Leases for these Village Homestead Special Settlements, as they
were called, were to run for thirty years, with renewals for subsequent
periods of twenty-one years. There was no right to acquire the

freehold. Settlers were tc be given loans to enable them to construct

a house and clear the land, repayable along with the annual rent fixed

26. 4 Aug. 1885.
27. Land Act, 1885, sections 166-168.
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at five per cent of the value of the holding. Certain improvements
had to be made within a given period of time.28 Ballance's aim was
to establish whole working class families on the land. In particular
he hoped to attract, by fixing the rent and advancing sums for

improvements, the unemployed and under-employed who were 'crowding'

the towns.

Village Homestead Special Settlements were the most popular form
of village settlement. By 1890, 23,552 acres were held under the
scheme; 2,257 acres under the ordinary perpetual lease; 7,398 acres
sold on deferred payment and 5,782 acres sold for cash.29 Between
May 1886 when the scheme was announced and the end of March 1887, eight
hundred and ninety-six settlers took up land under the homestead
regulations.30 This initial 'rush' was the consequence of the
depression conditions prevailing and the incentives offered. As a
report on hémestead settlement published in 1891 pointed out, the scheme
was seen originally 'as a relief measure to absorb the unemployed workmen

who had congregated in the towns'.31

Out of the 1196 settlers established by 1889, seven hundred and
sixty-five were labourers and one hundred and three were carpenters.
There were only ninety who classified themselves as farmers.32 Over

half the homestead settlements were in the Auckland district, Canterbury

28. This order in council was published by Ballance as an appendix to
his A National Land Policy, Wellington, 1887. See also EP, 7 May 1886.

29. AJHR, 1890, C-1. '—

30. AJHR, 1887, C-1.

31. Report on the Village-Homestead Special-Settlement System in New
Zealand by Hon. W. Copley, AJHR, 1891 (Sess. II), C-5, p. 16. See
also 'Special Settlement Records, 1871-1903', Lands and Survey
Department, Series 22, National Archives, Wellington.

32. Jourdain, p. 29.
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and Wellington accounting for nearly all the remainder. The large
scale of the former scheme was owing mainly to the enthusiasm and
persistence of John Lundon, whom Ballance appointed to promote
settlement north of Auckland. Lundon had been M.H.R. for Maunganui
and Bay of Islands, and suggested to Ballance that the unemployment
situation in Auckland might be relieved by placing families on land

near the gumfields and sawmills of Northland.33

There were a number of problems with the scheme. As with the
small area leasing tenure, good quality land and a nearby source of
employment were needed; and both were lacking in many of the Auckland
settlements. By 1888 one hundred and thirty-three of the six hundred
and thirty-nine Auckland sections had been abandoned, and one hundred
and sixty-eight settlers were in arrears with their rent.34 There
was greater success in Canterbury, where the land was free of bush

and markets easily accessible.35

Ballance visited a number of village settlements in the South

Island in early 1885, before the homestead regulations appeared.36

He was parpicularly pleased with a 'small farm settlement' (a type of
village settlement held on deferred payment) called Beaconsfield, near
Timaru. Its success, he discovered, lay in the fact that all the
men, aside from farming their ten acre sections, had paid employment
in town. The general shortage of land in Canterbury, however, led

Ballance again to the conclusion that the Government ought to acquire

it by compulsory purchase.37

33. Y, 17 Sept. 1886, 5 Nov. 1886; J. Lundon to Ballance, 24 July 1892,
BMSS, 626.

34. AJHR, 1888, C-11. See also AJHR, 1887 (Sess. I), C-1, for comments
on problems of the Auckland schemes.

35. As at the Orari settlement, for example.

36. EP, 20 Apr. 1885.

37. Ballance described this visit in a speech, Y, 15 Jan. 1886.
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The village settlement, and in particular the homestead, schemes
attracted considerable criticism. Ballance was condemmned for the
large amount of money he had spent on road works in Auckland in order
to provide employment for the settlers. According to Lundon, Ballance
had avoided a vote of censure in the House only because of the
popularity of the scheme in Auckland.38 Not surprisingly Auckland
members welcomed any expenditure that might lessen unemployment in their
city. Aside from the high road works' expenditure there were two
other types of criticism. The general one was that the scheme was
basically unsound, evidence of which was the increasing sum of arrears
owed by many of the settlers.39 A specific one was made by Grey.

He complained that the regulations insisting on residence and limiting
the holding to fifty acres meant that the scheme amounted to
'quasi-slavery'. The land could not be sublet, added to, and it could
only be sold to a purchaser who agreed to the same terms as imposed
upon the original lessee.40 | The point of course was that Ballance

did not intend settlers to increase their holdings and become full-timé
farmers. The land was not meant to be the sole source of income.

In this respect the scheme contained an internal contradiction. To

be a successful solution to unemployment it required an adequate supply
of part-time work for the settlers. In other words it was particularly
vulnerable in the very depressed conditions that it hoped to tackle.
Ballance realised this, and thus the need for the £15,400 spent on

road making in north Auckland.41

38. J. Lundon to Ballance, 24 July 1892, BMSS, 626.

39. See the Yeoman's defence of the scheme, 17 June 1887, 26 Aug. 1887.

40. PD, 1886, 56, pp. 607-08.

41. AJHR, 1891, C-5, p. 12. Equally, the scheme would have less
appeal, though greater prospect of success, in times of fuller
employment.
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The Atkinson Ministry, which came to power in 1887, halted all
advances to settlérs and the rate of new homestead settlement was
brought to a virtual standstill. The scheme was revived, in an
altered form, by John McKenzie, Minister for Lands in Ballance's own

Government of the early 1890s:

Village Homestead Special Settlement

New Settlers Acres
1887 896 28,700
1888 309 9,451
1889 24 345
1890 20 270
1891 10 349
1892 140 2,213
1893 33 491 42

The 1891 report on village homestead settlements detailed the
problems that had been encountered, but said that the fault lay in the
lack of consideration given to the location of settlements, rather than
with the scheme itself. Good land, sufficient employment opportunities,
a near market for the sale of produce, good road access to the
settlement and the selection of suitable settlers were all critical to
success.43 Ballance meanwhile continued to defend his scheme,
especially as a solution to unemployment.44 Aside from criticism of
the practical working of the settlements, he faced political bias as
well. Foremost was the prejudice in favour of the freehold. Insistence
on leasing made the scheme another step, in the eyes of many supporters

and opponents alike, towards complete land nationalisation. The scheme

had dissipated, Ballance believed, 'that old bogey, the assumption that

42. Figures taken from AJHR, C-1 of the respective years.
43. AJHR, 1891 (Sess. II), C-5, p. 5.
44. PD, 1887, 57, pp. 605-06; PD, 70, pp. 38-9.
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people would not improve land unless they held it in the form of

absolute freehold'.

he said, 'the scheme has been a success'.

'Wherever proper conditions have been observed',

45

As for the settlers themselves, they were generally satisfied

with the progress being made and were optimistic of the future. New

born babies were named after Ballance,46 as was a settlement itself,

just north of Pahiatua on the edge of the Tararua Ranges. A meeting

of the Hukerenui settlement in the Bay of Islands passed the following

resolution in 1888, in expressing gratitude to Ballance:

Within the short space of eighteen months
a complete transformation has taken place in

this district.

What was then a comparative

wilderness, with only an isolated whare to be
seen at intervals along the main road, has now
given place to comfortable dwelling houses and
well grassed paddocks, in most cases securely
fenced, and the condition of the cattle etc.,
grazing therein is ample proof of the good
quality of the land. The settlers are with few
exceptions well pleased with their holdings...
.We recognise that the village scheme is the only
one which has successfully grappled with the
difficulty of placing the people on the land-
thereby dealing a death-blow at the iniquitious
system of '"land sharking" so long a veritable
curse to the colony. Notwithstanding the fact
that the scheme is looked upon with small favour
by the present Government and that we are
absolutely without roads- we have every

confidence in its ultimate success, and appeal to
all who claim to be the working man's friend, to

1ift up their voices in favour of its extension. 47

Two other accounts, both concerning Northland settlements, were in

similar vein.

45.
46.
47.

The first comes in a letter written to Ballance (when

Y, 7 Jan. 1887 (Ballance speech at Oamaru); AJHR, 1891, C-5, p. 10.

EP, 18 July 1888.
Y, 15 Sept. 1888.

See also Y, 7 Mar. 1891, 6 June 1891, and Lundon's

answer to criticisms of the north Auckland settlements, Y, 21 Mar. 1891.
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Minister for Lands) by the Pakahue village settlers, and the second

in a personal view from a Herekino settler:

The undersigned village settlers tender you

our sincere thanks for the assistance you

have rendered in placing us on the land.

We hope your efforts will, as they deserve,

be crowned with success. Some malicious

person, or persons, are circulating the

report that the settlers are leaving Pakahue.
This, we beg to state, is false. We are all
pleased with the place, and feel sanguine of

our future prospects. We believe the time

is not far distant, when, with ordinary industry,
we shall have gathered round us comfortable homes
in this most beautiful valley, teeming with the
good things of the earth... .

I like the place well, A few parties have gone
back to Auckland. The land is good in general.
I have a few acres cleared, and a hut up. I
have made it pretty snug. There is any
quantity of mullet and other fish in the river.
The man that would stop in Auckland looking for
work, deserves to starve. I had not a shilling
when I reached here, and I am quite satisfied I
can make a home here comfortably, and before
long the land will grow good crops... . 48

In terms of numbers the village homestead scheme made only a minor
contribution to settlement in New Zealand. They did not survive in
their intended form, that is, involving part farm work along with part
wage employment. A few, such as Pahiatua and Te Aroha, merged with
other settlements which grew into country towns. Others, for example
Ballance itself and Herekino, remained tiny villages. Many more
disappeared as settlers sold out and the land consolidated into larger
holdings. Their political significance, however, in pointing to the
practical means by which the land hungry in the towns might be satisfied,

and the unemployed relieved, was well out of proportion to their actual

48. Quoted by John Bradshaw, New Zealand of To-Day (1884-1887), London,
1888, pp. 194-95. See on village settlement in Wellington province,
S.H. Franklin, 'The Village and the Bush', Pacific Viewpoint, 1, 2
(1960), pp. 143-182; A.C. Bagnall, Wairarapa. An historical excursion,
Masterton, 1976, ch. XIII.
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success. They greatly enhanced Ballance's mana, for they held out
the prospect of what might be achieved. Finally, though the notion
of 'dual' employment proved to be impractical, it was central to the
rural myth of urban New Zealand: to the rejection of city and
idealisation of country life which to this day finds form in the

suburban section.49

A third type of settlement developed by Ballance was the Special
Settlement system. There had been such schemes before, whereby the
government granted concessions to organisations wishing to establish
whole new settlements. The KatiKati settlement has already been
mentioned. The other major special settlement was at Te Aroha.
Provision for special settlements had been made in the 1879 Land
Amendment Act, but as Ballance had complained it had been largely

ignored.50

The Land Act of 1885 limited the land that could be set aside
for special: settlements to one hundred thousand acres per year.

Land could be sold or (and this was a significant change to the 1879

51

legislation) leased. Associations would deal directly with the

government, for it was Ballance's aim to 'cut out the middle-man'.
The price would be fixed by valuation; there would be no auction or

tender. The land thus gained would be distributed amongst the members

of the association wishing to settle by ballot.52

49. On this theme see Miles Fairburn, 'The Rural Myth and the New
Urban Frontier. An approach to New Zealand social history, 1870-1940",
NZJH, 9, 1 (1975).

50. See ch. 5, pp. 202-05.

51. Land Act, 1885, sections 162-165.

52. PD, 1885, 52, p. 46. See also Y, 12 Dec. 1884.
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The detailed regulations for the formation of special settlements
were set out in orders in council of November 1884 and March 1885.
By the latter date thirty associations of about two thousand members
had applied for 203,900 acres of land. The applications of twelve
had been accepted. Associations were to consist of at least twenty-five
persons. Full time residence was required, though a selector was

allowed to appoint a substitute, the object being that

...while the principle is maintained of
residence being made compulsory on every
section, it meets a difficulty which has
long been felt in the case of persons in
trade or resident in towns desirous of
having improved land to retire to after a
time, but who cannot avail themselves of the
deferred payment system because of the
residence conditions, and yet are willing
to expend their saving in effecting the
improvements required through the agency of
another. 53
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